
 

 

 

15 February 2021 

At 2.00 pm 

 

Corporate, Finance, Properties and 
Tenders Committee 

 



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 

  

Agenda 
  

 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   2020/21 Quarter 2 Review - Delivery Program 2017-2021 

3.   Investments Held as at 31 December 2020 

4.   Investments Held as at 31 January 2021 

5.   Land Reclassification - Harold Park, Forest Lodge 

6.   Land Classification - 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria 

7.   Affordable Housing Opportunity - City Owned Land 

8.   Exemption from Tender - IT Maintenance and Support Contract 

Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee 

9.   Ad Hoc Grant - Western Harbour Precinct - Business Improvement District Trial 

 



 

 

 
 

Disclaimer, Terms and Guidelines for 
Speakers at Council Committees 
As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to speak directly to Councillors during 
Committee meetings about items on the agenda. 

Webcast  

In accordance with the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice, Committee meetings are recorded and webcast 
live on the City of Sydney website at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au.  

Members of the public attending a council or committee meeting may have their image, voice and personal 
information (including name and address) recorded, publicly broadcast and archived for up to 12 months.  

Consent  

By attending a council or committee meeting, members of the public consent to this use of their image, voice and 
personal information.  

Disclaimer 

Statements made by individuals at a council or committee meeting, and which may be contained in a live stream 
or recording of the meeting are those of the individuals making them, and not of the City. To be clear, unless set 
out in a resolution of council, the City does not endorse or support such statements. 

The City does not accept any liability for statements made or actions taken by individuals during a Council or 
Committee meeting that may be contrary to law, including discriminatory, defamatory or offensive comments. Such 
statements or actions are not protected by privilege and may be the subject of legal proceedings and potential 
liability, for which the City takes no responsibility. 

Guidelines  

To enable the Committee to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time available, we 
encourage people interested in speaking at Committee to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Secretariat on 9265 9310 or emailing secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 
before 10.00am on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the Committee report before speaking, as it may address your concerns so 
that you just need to indicate your support for the recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker (with a warning bell at two minutes) and 
prepare your presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and information that the 
Committee may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to nominate three 
representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how many people they are representing. 

Committee meetings can continue until very late, particularly when there is a long agenda and a large number of 
speakers. This impacts on speakers who have to wait until very late, as well as City staff and Councillors who are 
required to remain focused and alert until very late. At the start of each Committee meeting, the Committee Chair 
may reorder agenda items so that those items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

Committee reports are available at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au  

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice and the City of 
Sydney Code of Conduct, Councillors are required to disclose pecuniary interests in any 
matter on the agenda for this meeting. 

Councillors are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

1

Item 1.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

2020/21 Quarter 2 Review - Delivery Program 2017-2021 

File No: X025796 

Summary 

This report reviews the City’s operating and capital results against budget for the 2020/21 
financial year, and progress against the performance measures identified within the 
Operational Plan 2020/21, being the fourth year of the Delivery Program 2017-2021. 

The Covid-19 pandemic, and the City's response to support its community through this 
crisis, has had a significant impact on the City's operations and adversely impacted its 
financial performance. At Quarter 2, the City’s forecast financial performance for the full year 
remains ahead of a budget that was framed to account for the impact of the Covid-19 virus. 

Unfortunately, the pandemic and its impacts upon the City, its businesses and community, 
have lasted longer than could be anticipated when the budget was adopted. As a result, a 
number of financial risks continue to evolve, and now include further anticipated reductions 
in commercial property income, venue hire and parking related income, along with changes 
to planned expenditure in a number of areas across council, as outlined within this report. 

The uncertainty around the breadth and duration of the pandemic was considered when 
developing the 2020/21 budget, and as a result, the budget incorporated a significant CEO 
Contingency to provide for this risk. However, while the financial results for council’s overall 
operations are just ahead of the adopted budget, individual business units with income 
budgets heavily impacted by the pandemic are under significant pressure and forecasting 
unfavourable results. 

The City’s forecast financial performance continues to be closely monitored, and at this 
stage, no further amendments are recommended to the adopted 2020/21 operational 
budget. However, should the forecast results, particularly in respect of our commercial 
property income indicate significant further downturn, it may yet be necessary to revise the 
budget later in the year, as proved necessary last year at the height of the pandemic.   

Council’s financial performance at Quarter 2 reflects an Operating Result of $62.3M, against 
a YTD budget of $44.0M. After allowing for interest income, capital grants and contributions, 
depreciation and capital project related costs, the Council has achieved a YTD Net Surplus 
of $31.9M against a YTD deficit budget of $37.2M, results that incorporate the City's final 
contribution of $40.9M to the NSW Government for the Light Rail. At Quarter 2, the full year 
forecast is for a favourable Net Surplus variance of $54.6M, predominately reflecting 
favourable variances in operating expenditure, capital grants and contributions, a gain on 
sale of assets, partially offset by unfavourable operating income results. The major variances 
to the budget are discussed in the body of this report, with full details provided at Attachment 
A. 

The Capital Works Program expenditure of $129.9M compares to a YTD budget of $148.8M. 
The annual forecast for the program has been revised to $247.9M against a full year budget 
of $290.4M. A summary of the 2020/21 capital project expenditure and forecast is outlined 
within the body of this report, and detailed at Attachment B.  

1

Item 2.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

The Information Services capital expenditure, for projects developed internally, was $9.7M, 
which is $1.8M favourable when compared to the YTD budget, and a full year forecast of 
$23.6M against the budget of $21.1M, with a recommended increase to budget as outlined 
within the body of this report and detailed in Attachment B. 

The Plant and Equipment expenditure at Quarter 2, net of disposals, was $2.9M against a 
YTD budget of $7.6M, with a full year forecast of $13.9M in line with a budget of $14.4M. 

Property net divestments at Quarter 2 are $42.1M, with a full year forecast divestment of 
$76.3M at this stage, as outlined within this report.  

Progress against the Delivery Program performance measures is generally satisfactory, with 
full details provided at Attachment C, and a number of operational achievements are 
highlighted within the body of this report. 

The additional supplementary reports, which include details of contracts over $50,000, major 
legal issues and the Quick Response, Banner Pole and Reduced Rate Grant Programs, are 
provided in Attachment D for information.  

The Quarterly Environmental Sustainability progress report provides further details on the 
achievements against the targets in the Environmental Plan for both the local government 
area and the City’s own operations. This is provided at Attachment E. 

An update on the progress of the Community Recovery Plan is provided at Attachment F. 

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) note the financial performance of Council for the second quarter, ending 31 December 
2020, including the Quarter 2 Net Surplus of $31.9M and the full year Net Surplus 
forecast of $32.1M, as outlined within the report and summarised at Attachment A to 
the subject report; 

(B) note the Quarter 2 Capital Works expenditure of $129.9M and a revised full year 
forecast of $247.9M, and approve the proposed adjustments to the adopted budget, 
including bringing forward $0.03M of future year's funds into 2020/21 and approve 
$1.0M from the capital works contingency, as detailed at Attachment B to the subject 
report; 

(C) note the Information Services capital expenditure of $9.7M (net of disposals), the full 
year forecast of $23.6M, and approve the proposed adjustments to the adopted 
budget including bringing forward $2.1M of future year's funds into 2020/21 and 
approve $0.3M from the capital works contingency, as detailed at Attachment B to the 
subject report; 

(D) note the Quarter 2 Plant and Assets expenditure of $2.9M, net of disposals, and the 
full year forecast of $13.9M; 

(E) note the Quarter 2 net Property Divestment proceeds of $42.1M, and the full year 
forecast net Property Divestment of $76.3M;  

(F) note the operational performance indicators and Quarter 2 achievements against the 
Operational Plan 2020/21 objectives, as detailed at Attachment C to the subject report; 

(G) note the supplementary reports, including contracts issued over $50,000, major legal 
issues and the Quick Response, Banner Pole and Reduced Rate Grant Programs in 
Quarter 2, as detailed at Attachment D to the subject report;  

(H) note the Environmental Sustainability Progress Report, as shown at Attachment E to 
the subject report; and 

(I) note the second quarter Community Recovery Plan report, as shown at Attachment F 
to the subject report. 

 

  

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Financial Results Summary 

Attachment B. Capital Expenditure Financial Results 

Attachment C. Second Quarter Operational Plan Report 2020/21 

Attachment D. Second Quarter Supplementary Report 2020/21 

Attachment E. Environmental Sustainability Progress Report 

Attachment F. Second Quarter Community Recovery Plan Report 2020/21  

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Background 

 The City's 2017-2021 Delivery Program and 2020/21 Operational Plan, including the 
2020/21 budgets, were adopted by Council on 29 June 2020. 

 The Local Government Act 1993 requires quarterly progress reports against the 
financial objectives and six-monthly reports against the Operational Plan. 

 This report provides the second quarter (Q2) and full year forecast financial results for 
the 2020/21 financial year, and the achievements to date against the Operational Plan 
objectives. 

 A Q2 Financial Results Summary, together with a detailed breakdown of income and 
expenditure items, and a separate report showing operating results by the principal 
activities identified within the Operational Plan, are provided at Attachment A. 

 The Capital Expenditure results to Q2, together with a summary of project expenditure, 
and proposed budget adjustments for 2020/21 and future years, are outlined within the 
body of this report and detailed at Attachment B. 

 Additional reports, including expenditure against contingency funds, contracts over 
$50,000, major legal issues and the Quick Response, Banner Pole and Reduced Rate 
Grant Programs, are also provided at Attachment D for information.  

 The Quarterly Environmental Sustainability progress report provides further details on 
the achievements against the targets in the Environmental Plan for both the local 
government area and the City’s own operations. This is provided at Attachment E. 

 The Community Recovery Plan progress report provides an update on the current 
state of the City, business and community confidence, and the activities undertaken in 
respect of the six agreed action areas. 

2020/21 Operating Budget 

 The adopted 2020/21 budget projected operating income of $591.4M and operating 
expenditure of $500.8M, for an Operating Surplus of $90.6M. After allowing for interest 
income of $5.8M, capital grants and contributions of $33.1M, depreciation expenses of 
$102.9M, capital project related costs of $8.0M and outgoing contribution for light rail 
of $41.1M, Council budgeted for a Net Deficit of $22.5M. 

Second Quarter Operating Results  

 The Q2 Operating Surplus was $62.3M against a YTD budget of $44.0M, a favourable 
variance of $18.3M. After allowing for interest income, capital grants and contributions, 
depreciation, capital project related costs and a gain on sale of assets, the Net Surplus 
was $31.9M against a budget deficit of $37.2M, a favourable variance of $69.1M. 

 The Q2 YTD Net Surplus result includes favourable variances for operating 
expenditure of $21.5M, capital grants and contributions of $14.1M, and a net gain on 
sale of assets of $43.3M, which are partially offset by unfavourable variances in 
operating income of $3.2M, depreciation of $5.3M and capital project related costs that 
do not lead to the creation of council assets of $1.3M. 

 The full year forecast Operating Surplus is $96.9M against a budget of $90.6M, a 
favourable variance of $6.3M. The Net Surplus is forecast to be $32.1M against a 
budget deficit of $22.5M, a favourable variance of $54.6M. 

5



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 The forecast Net Surplus predominantly reflects favourable variances in operating 
expenditure of $20.9M, capital grants and contributions of $7.0M, and net gains on the 
sale of assets of $43.3M, partially offset by unfavourable operating income variances 
of $14.6M.  

 The primary operating income variations to the budget are detailed in the table below: 

Income Type 2020/21 YTD 
Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full 
Year Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Advertising 
Income 

($0.2M) ($1.7M) Banner pole income and advertising 
from street furniture is reduced due to 
the ongoing impacts of Covid-19.  

Aquatic 
Facilities 
Income 

$0M $0.7M The aquatic facilities contractor has 
provided an improved estimate on 
their anticipated revenue share. 

Child Care 
Fees 

($0.3M) ($0.7M) Reduced fees, particularly in out of 
school hours services, as some 
families have kept their children at 
home. In addition, the State 
Government decision to support 
Covid-19 free fees for preschool care 
continues to the end of the calendar 
year, which is offset by an increase in 
grants and contributions income. 

Commercial 
Properties 

($0.7M) ($4.6M) The unfavourable result reflects 
reduced income from tenants, in line 
with the Federal Government's Code 
of Conduct for commercial tenancies 
and New South Wales (NSW) 
government legislation. The lessee of 
the QVB has also recently revised 
their estimate for shared ground rent. 

Community 
Properties 

($1.3M) ($2.1M) Reflects waiving of rent for Childcare 
accommodation grant tenants for July 
to September, and the postponement 
of an accommodation agreement with 
MOCA (Museum of Chinese in 
Australia) for the former Haymarket 
library. 

 

6



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Income Type 2020/21 YTD 
Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full 
Year Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Enforcement 
Income 

$2.1M $2.0M Enforcement activity recovering as 
parking resumed in the City, while 
noting that fine collection is lower 
than normal as Revenue NSW 
paused their recovery of outstanding 
fines for a period of the pandemic.   

Footway 
Licenses 

($0.3M) ($0.9M) Council resolved post budget to 
extend the waiver of footway license 
fees for the financial year. 

Grants and 
Contributions 

$0.6M $2.5M Increase in State Government Child 
Care subsidy for preschools to 31 
December. Meals on Wheels income 
increased due to an expansion of 
these services. There were also 
unbudgeted contributions for the 
temporary 'pop up' cycleways from 
Transport for NSW. 

Other Building 
Fees 

$1.0M $1.5M Increased crane and hoarding fees as 
a result of increased building activity 
in CBD, particularly for Sydney Metro. 

Parking Meter 
Income 

($0.8M) ($1.5M) Council resolved to extend free 
parking for essential workers to 31 
March, and the impact from Covid-19 
has exceeded budget allowances. 

Parking 
Station Income 

($1.2M) ($1.9M) Council resolved to extend free 
parking for essential workers to 31 
March, and the impact from Covid-19 
has exceeded budget allowances. 

Rates and 
Annual 
Charges 

($0.5M) ($1.2M) Changes in rating category from 
business to residential, internal rates, 
offset by additional waste charges 
arising from the ongoing bin audit.  

 

 

7



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Income Type 2020/21 YTD 
Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full 
Year Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Venue/Facility 
Income 

($1.3M) ($6.5M) Significant reduction reflects the 
temporary closure and restrictions 
within Council's venues, due to public 
health orders, and a slower than 
anticipated recovery as the pandemic 
and restrictions have continued. 

Work Zone $0.8M $1.9M Increased building activity in CBD 
and payment for temporary road 
closures and work-zones in LGA. 

 The primary operating expenditure variances to the budget are detailed in the table 
below: 

Expenditure 
Type 

2020/21 YTD Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full 
Year Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Employee 
Related 

$5.8M $9.7M Predominately relates to 
permanent vacancies (partially 
offset by an increase in 
agency used to backfill). 
Recruitment has slowed while 
the City navigates through the 
impacts of Covid-19 and 
financial recovery.  

Enforcement 
and 
Infringement 
Costs 

$1.1M $1.5M The revenue share agreement 
with the State (based on cash 
received), is lower than 
budgeted due to the impact of 
Covid-19, and Revenue 
NSW’s decision to pause 
recovery of outstanding fines. 

Event Related 
Expenditure 

$4.0M $4.5M Ongoing impact of Covid-19 
on many projects across the 
City, in particular, Sydney 
New Year’s Eve and the 
Christmas events. 

8



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Expenditure 
Type 

2020/21 YTD Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full 
Year Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Expenditure 
Recovered 

$0.1M ($1.9M) Removal of the monorail will 
not take place this year. 

Facility 
Management 

$1.0M $1.3M The City's Aquatic Centres 
contractor has advised a lower 
than budgeted holding cost. 

Grants, 
Sponsorships 
and 
Donations 

$1.4M $0.5M Later timing of payments, 
including the affordable 
housing grant. The forecast 
relates the accommodation 
grant for Haymarket library will 
start later than expected, and 
there is no payment for the 
Business Event Sponsorship 
program in 2020/21. 

Infrastructure 
Maintenance 

$1.9M $0.6M The monorail station will not 
be removed this year. There is 
delayed timing of some works 
relating to parks, landscaping 
and street tree maintenance, 
increased road maintenance 
and changes to the costs of 
street furniture maintenance 
as we transition the contract. 

IT Related $1.2M $1.5M Reflects the timing for the 
commencement of the 
managed security services 
project. 

Other 
Operating 
Expenditure 

$0.6M $0.7M Predominately reduced bank 
charges from parking meters 
and stations, and reduced 
traffic management costs as 
the City's New Year's Eve 
event did not go ahead. 

Property 
Related 
Expenditure 

$1.1M $0.0M Timing for costs required for 
annual fire safety statements 
defects and remediation.  

9



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Expenditure 
Type 

2020/21 YTD Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full 
Year Budget 
Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Waste 
Disposal 
Charges 

($0.9M) ($1.5M) Waste generation tonnages 
and processing charges have 
increased in all categories 
from domestic bins, recycling, 
and general clean ups as 
more people have worked 
from home due to Covid-19. 

 

Income 
Type 

2020/21 YTD 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full Year 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Capital 
Grants and 
Contributions 

$14.1M $7.0M The timing of contributions is 
always challenging, and the 
State has now deferred 
payments for Section 7.11 
from construction to 
occupation certificate. 
However, these contribution 
variances relate to 
developments north and south 
of the Martin Place Metro 
Station, and works in kind for 
Epsom and Rosebery 
precincts.  

 

  

10



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Expenditure 
Type 

2020/21 YTD 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full Year 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Depreciation ($5.3M) $0.0M The unfavourable variance 
relates to the revaluations of 
some infrastructure asset 
classes at year end and 
changes to componentisation 
of several buildings. The 
forecasts are being reviewed 
throughout the year. 

 

Expenditure 
Type 

2020/21 YTD 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full Year 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Capital 
Project 
Related 
Costs 

($1.3M) ($1.9M) The variance reflects the 
timing of expenditure on 
works that cannot be 
capitalised (e.g. demolition 
costs and NSW Government 
owned traffic signals). 

 

Expenditure 
Type 

2020/21 YTD 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

2020/21 Full Year 
Budget Variance 

Favourable / 
(Unfavourable) 

Comment 

Gain on Sale 
of Assets 

$43.3M $43.3M The gain reflects the sale 
proceeds exceeding the 
asset book value of heritage 
floor space at Capitol 
Theatre, 90 Regent Street, 
the former Epsom Road 
depot, and a compulsory 
divestment of three parcels 
City-owned land at 
Observatory Hill to the NSW 
Department of Education. 

11



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 The adopted 2020/21 operating budget was framed to account for the impact of the 
Covid-19 virus, with reductions to the budgeted income expected from many pandemic 
impacted operations including properties, parking related operations, and venue 
management. In addition, given the uncertainty as to when the pandemic would be 
finished and normal operations resumed, the budget incorporated a significant CEO 
Contingency to provide for this unquantifiable risk.  

 At Quarter 2 the City’s forecast financial performance for the full year remains just 
ahead of the adopted budget, however, while the financial results for council’s overall 
operations are favourable, there are some individual business units with income 
budgets more severely impacted by the pandemic than originally estimated that are 
under significant pressure and forecasting unfavourable results.  

 The Properties unit is currently forecasting an unfavourable result of $8.3M due to the 
Federal Government's Code of Conduct for commercial tenancies and New South 
Wales (NSW) government legislation, which requires landlords to support qualifying 
tenants by waiving and deferring rent proportionate to their reductions in turnover, 
noting the ongoing impact of the pandemic has extended beyond the initial timeframes 
envisaged. The team continue to work with each individual tenant to provide ongoing 
support, which unfortunately is a lengthy process, with the current forecast reflecting 
their best estimates of the full year impact at this time.  

 In addition, the lessee of the QVB have recently advised the City that they have had to 

revise their preliminary estimates for their own tenancies, which will have a significant 

adverse impact on the City’s budgeted share of the ground rent. The unit’s income was 

also impacted by Council's resolution to extend the waiver of footway licences for the 

full year in support of the local businesses while they work to recover. 

 The Parking and Fleet Services unit are forecasting an unfavourable result of $2.1M 
which reflects the extended impact of the pandemic on the parking meters and parking 
station operations, and Council’s resolution to extend the free parking arrangement for 
essential workers until 31 March. The Venue Management unit have been heavily 
impacted by the public health orders, and the associated restrictions on attendance 
numbers, and as a result are forecasting an unfavourable operating result of $3.3M. 

 All units continue to manage their operations within their adopted expenditure budgets, 
the unfavourable forecasts only reflect the Covid-19 impact on their income budgets 
which is outside of their control. At this stage, the Council’s overall operational budgets 
are favourable, reflecting forecast operational expenditure savings and reliance on the 
CEO Contingency funds, to remain within the adopted Net Operating Result. 

Capital Expenditure 

 The Capital Works program achieved expenditure of $129.9M against a YTD budget of 
$148.7M. 

 The full year forecast of the capital works program has been reduced from a budget of 
$290.3M to $247.9M following the latest review, which assessed the expected delivery 
of the projects and revised cost estimates for each individual project. 

  

12



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 Capital Works projects that are finalised with savings may be utilised to offset the 

additional expenditure in programs requiring additional funds for project completion. 

Progress on a number of projects has also advanced beyond that included within the 

program budget projections for 2020/21. Approval is therefore sought to bring forward 

funds of $0.03M from future years' capital works forward estimates and approve $1.0M 

from capital works contingency and to reallocate funds from within relevant programs, 

into the 2020/21 budget to continue the progress on these projects. 

 There are also a number of changes proposed within the future years' forwards 

estimates. Full details are provided in Attachment B. 

 A number of projects are currently forecasting variances within the capital programs 
asset enhancement group for the 2020/21 financial year: 

(a) Green Infrastructure: 

(i) Renewable Energy Projects – Solar Panel: Program is nearing completion 
as most opportunities for installation of photovoltaic panels on existing City 
buildings are complete. The City now has 2.1 MWs for Solar PV in 
operation, four times the amount of any other council in the Sydney 
Metropolitan area. 

(ii) Major Properties Efficiency Improvements: Contract variation endorsed by 
Council late 2020. Work scheduled to commence early 2021. 

(b) Green Square Aquatic and Recreation Centre: Project completed. Practical 
completion signed 17 December 2020 starting 1 year of Defect Liability 
Period. Opening 1 February 2021. 

(c) Properties - Community, Cultural and Recreational: 

(i) George Street – Lend Lease Circular Quay VPA: Payment of contribution 
to business innovation space fit out now in line with preferred operator's 
construction program. 

(d) Public Domain asset enhancement: 

(i) McDonald Street Widening Works: Latent Condition required revised 
methodology. Work scheduled to commence early 2021. 

(ii) Zetland Avenue (West) – Paul Street to Portman Street, Existing Streets 
(Portman Street) upgrade and Zetland Avenue – Mid (Joynton Avenue to 
Portman Street): Capital forecast reduction due to operational costs being 
delivered earlier than anticipated. No change to the overall project. 

 Significant variances are also forecast for a number of the 2020/21 capital programs 
asset renewal budgets and future years' forward estimates, including: 

(a) Open Space and Parks renewal:  

(i) Archibald Fountain and Water Stairs Waterproofing: Project investigative 
works will be completed this year. Works will be undertaken next year. 

(ii) Hyde Park Tree Replacement & Other Works: forecast budget variance is 
based on rail authority requirements to finalise the project delivery. 

13



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

(b) Property Assets: 

(i) Town Hall Arcade (Sydney Square) Waterproofing: Delay in consultant 
engagement and alignment of timing for access with interrelated projects. 

 A financial summary of the Capital Works program, the proposed budget adjustments, 

and a status report on all active capital projects exceeding $5.0M in value is provided 

at Attachment B. 

 Information Services capital expenditure, for internally developed projects, is $9.7M 
against a budget of $11.5M with a forecast of $23.6M which is slightly above the full 
year budget of $21.1M. Approval is sought to bring forward funds of $2.1M from future 
years' forward estimates and approve $0.3M from capital works contingency into the 
2020/21 budget to continue progress on these projects.  

 The Plant and Equipment expenditure incurred during the year to date, net of 
disposals, was $2.9M against a budget of $7.6M due to timing of delivery, with only a 
slight underspend of $0.5M forecast for the full year.  

 The Property Acquisitions and Divestments result at Q2 reflects the divestment of 
heritage floor space at Capitol Theatre, 90 Regent Street, and the former council depot 
at Epsom Road as endorsed by Council, along with a compulsory divestment to the 
Department of Education for three parcels of land at Observatory Hill. Settlement of 
the latter had been delayed awaiting new land surveys to address historic anomalies, 
and the Valuer General determination of market value for the freehold property owned 
by the City. These divestments were partially offset by the acquisition of land to 
ultimately create new open recreation space in Alexandria.   

Operational Highlights 

 There were a number of operational highlights, including: 

(a) The Martin Place Christmas tree was displayed in the CBD together with Pitt 
Street Mall canopy of light, Christmas pole decorations and a light curtain on 
the corner of George and Bathurst Streets. Christmas trees were also 
displayed throughout the villages including Glebe, Kings Cross, Taylor 
Square, Pyrmont, Surry Hills, Erskineville, Green Square and at Town Hall, 
Cathedral Square and Customs House. The City developed a free self-guided 
walking tour of Christmas lights, trees and shopping destinations across the 
local area. To ensure the safety of the community during the Covid-19 
pandemic, programming during December included roving characters and 
musicians throughout the Sydney CBD and pop up music performances in the 
City’s villages. This year’s charity partner was OzHarvest. 

(b) In September, the City announced that the NSW Government would take 

temporary custodianship of Sydney's New Year's Eve celebrations, due to the 

Covid-19 pandemic. The NSW Government kept New Year’s Eve 2020 

celebrations to a seven-minute pyrotechnic display at midnight. To keep 

residents and visitors safe, crowd numbers were strictly controlled by the 

NSW Government. 

  

14



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

(c) In December 2020, Council adopted the Al Fresco City program, a $20M joint 
funding partnership with the NSW Government, including $5M from the City 
and $15M from the State Government, aimed at boosting the city centre 
economy, supporting businesses and creatives and inviting the public safely 
back into the city. This partnership and funding commitment align with the 
objectives of our Community Recovery Plan. The program includes the 
following initiatives: transforming the city into an outdoor summer cultural 
experience; creating a summer of outdoor dining; funding projects that enliven 
public spaces, venues, laneways with music, performance and public art; 
keeping Sydney's cultural institutions open into the evenings; and, working 
with Destination NSW to promote this activity to Sydney and interstate and 
local visitors. Activities underway to deliver the Al Fresco program include fast 
tracking footway dining applications and waiving associated fees until 31 
October 2021, enlivening the city and supporting artists by commissioning 
four temporary art installations that reimagine underused city spaces, a CBD 
Activation Grants program supporting economic recovery by encouraging 
businesses and creatives to activate spaces in venues and the public domain 
with cultural programming, roving entertainment through the CBD at lunchtime 
and the installation of a temporary outdoor stage at Cathedral Square that will 
host Sunset Piazza, a series of Covid-safe concerts from January to March 
2021. Additionally, in December 2020, the City in collaboration with NSW 
Police and NSW Health, hosted a “How to Deliver A Safe Event” seminar in 
Lower Town Hall which was attended by over 130 people both in person and 
online through a live stream. 

(d) In December 2020, the City opened a new $6M skate park in Alexandria. 
Featuring the largest public flow bowl in Sydney, a beginner’s bowl and an 
expansive skate plaza, the Sydney Park spaces cater for people of all abilities 
on skateboards, BMX bikes and scooters. The skate park has three distinct 
areas and features; an extensive plaza with obstacles for street-style technical 
tricks, including banks, rails, ledges, stairs, vertical wall and quarter pipe; a 
beginner’s bowl; and, an international competition-standard large flow bowl 
with depths of up to 3.3 metres for advanced skaters and riders. Viewing 
areas, seats and trees are scattered throughout the skate park. New picnic 
areas and barbecues have been installed and a final piece of a path now 
connects the entire park. 

(e) The City was recently awarded the Australasian Project of the Year award at 
the 2020 International Association for Public Participation (IAP2) awards 
ceremony for Planning for 2050, the City’s engagement program to inform the 
development of the forthcoming Sustainable Sydney 2050. This is the top 
Australasian award recognising community engagement. The project also 
received the Planning award. The awards recognise excellence in public 
participation and are judged on the IAP2 core values. 

(f) In October 2020, the City launched the three-part Reboot webinar series. This 

was developed as a direct response to what businesses told us they needed 

to help them adapt and be more resilient in this time of uncertainty. The 

Reboot series allowed local retail and hospitality, start-up entrepreneurs, 

creatives and professional services businesses to call on the expertise of 

some of Australia's fastest growing companies including Pilot, Vinomofo, 

TEDxSydney, Pedestrian.tv and Brighte.  

  

15



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

(g) The City’s Food Scraps Recycling Trial has been running for around 17 
months now. The trial has diverted 374 tonnes of food scraps from landfill and 
is available to more than 9,000 households across the city. Phase two of the 
trial commenced at the end of September. Since the trial started, 705 new 
houses and 10 new apartment buildings have joined the scheme. By the end 
of phase two, the trial will be available to more than 21,000 households as 
more apartment buildings are brought into the trial. The introduction of new 
properties has increased the average amount of food waste recycled each 
week from five tonnes to eight tonnes a week. 

(h) In November 2020, the City commenced trialling an on demand recycling 
pickup service for tricky items including clothes, soft plastics, small electronics 
and expanded polystyrene. The trial will help reduce waste sent to landfill, 
illegal dumping, and expand the items our residents can recycle. The aim of 
this service model is to make it more convenient for customers to recycle 
common items the City currently does not collect from the kerbside for 
recycling, in a manner that maximises recovery and minimises contamination. 
It also fills the gap for those residents who cannot wait or cannot travel to the 
City’s next quarterly recycling drop-off event. 

(i) The Green Square Library and Plaza took out the Woods Bagot Award for 
Best Public Building at the 2020 Property Council of Australia / Rider Levett 
Bucknall Innovation and Excellence Awards. In addition, the Green Building 
Council has awarded the Green Square Library and Plaza a 6 Star Green Star 
rating under the As Built certification. The Green Star rating system is an 
independent assessment by the Green Building Council of Australia of the 
sustainability of a project at various stages of development. The As Built 
rating reflects the independent measurement of the project at the end of the 
construction phase. It determines the level of contribution this development 
makes to achieving a more sustainable environment for our community. 

(j) The Garden of Cloud and Stone in Sydney’s Chinatown received the Award of 
Excellence in the Australian Institute of Landscape Architects 2020 National 
Landscape Architecture Awards. The collaborative project was recognised as 
“an elegant, cleverly curated place for the community”. The artwork, based on 
Feng Shui principles, comprises a series of elements: ‘Scholars Rocks’, 
resembling naturally occurring rocks traditionally appreciated by Chinese 
scholars; a water feature and seating in natural stone; ‘Moongate,’ composed 
of ‘flung’ bronze components embedded in the paving at the intersection of 
Hay and Thomas Streets; and ‘Cloud Gate’, a series of circular shade 
sculptures hung, like floating clouds, above Thomas Street. 

Financial Implications 

 Financial performance in all principal activities, as defined within the Delivery Program 
2017-2021, continues to be satisfactory, while noting that integrated transport for a 
connected City’s budget reflects the impact of Covid-19 on parking related operations. 

 At Quarter 2 the YTD Operating Result was $62.3M, with a full year forecast Operating 
Surplus of $96.9M against a budget of $90.6M, a favourable variance of $6.3M.  

 At Quarter 2 the YTD Net Surplus was $31.9M, with a full year forecast Net Surplus of 
$32.1M against a deficit budget of $22.5M, a favourable variance of $54.6M. 

  

16



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 The 2020/21 year end cash position is forecast to be $516.9M, which is $207.8M 
favourable to the adopted budget, reflecting a higher opening cash balance than 
budgeted and changes to the properties acquisition program as we focus on the City’s 
financial recovery.  

 In the current year, the Covid-19 pandemic continues to have a significantly adverse 
impact on a number of the City's key income streams, and the City has continued to 
expend significant sums in support of its local economy and community, including a 
number of additional grant programs and the 24-hour Al Fresco initiative in conjunction 
with the NSW Government. This poses some challenges to our annual operational 
budget and planned financial recovery, however, we have also tightly managed our 
operations, and at this stage the City is forecast to remain slightly ahead of our 
adopted budget.  

 Overall, the City remains in a strong financial position, in line with the financial targets 
published in its long term financial plan, underlining its capacity to deliver its 
operational and capital expenditure improvement commitments. Surplus funds not yet 
required for projects are generally being directed towards specific cash reserves 
(restrictions), in accordance with Council’s resolution and the City’s long term financial 
plan, while the majority of the unrestricted cash is required to fund those capital 
programs without a specific reserve. 

 As the challenging operating environment is expected to continue this financial year 
and beyond, Council has adopted a financial recovery plan and will continue to review 
its operational and capital programs regularly, and revise them as required, to ensure 
that they remain affordable in the current environment to ensure our long-term financial 
sustainability. 

Relevant Legislation 

 The Local Government Act 1993 and Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 
require quarterly progress reports against the financial objectives and regular reports 
(at least six monthly) against the Operational Plan. 

 Section 406 of the Act requires councils to comply with the Integrated Planning and 
Reporting Guidelines, issued by the Chief Executive of the Office of Local 
Government. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

 The quarterly report is due to be submitted to Council within two months of the end of 
the respective quarter. 

Public Consultation 

 The information contained within this report reflects Council’s financial performance in 
the 2020/21 financial year. 

BILL CARTER 

Chief Financial Officer 

17



Attachment A 

Financial Results Summary      

 

 

 

18



Financial Summary

City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

Full Year

$'000
Current

Budget
Actual

Variance

Fav/ (Unfav)

Original 

Budget
Adjustment

Current

Budget

Annual

Forecast

Variance 

Fav/ (Unfav)

 Operating Income 290,600 287,392 (3,208) 591,371 9,209 600,580 585,935 (14,645)

 Salary Expense 122,293 116,457 5,835 240,954 486 241,441 231,786 9,655

 Expenditure 124,326 108,658 15,669 259,819 8,722 268,541 257,272 11,269

 Operating Expenditure 246,619 225,115 21,504 500,773 9,209 509,982 489,057 20,924

 Operating Result (Before Depreciation, Interest, Capital-

Related Costs and Capital Income) 
43,981 62,277 18,296 90,598 0 90,598 96,877 6,279

Add Additional Income:

 Interest Income 3,009 3,013 4 5,817 (0) 5,817 5,817 (0)

 Capital Grants and Contribution 15,148 29,245 14,097 33,108 (0) 33,108 40,108 7,000

Less Additional Expenses:

 Depreciation 54,653 59,963 (5,310) 102,904 (0) 102,904 102,960 (57)

 Capital Project Related Costs 3,776 5,105 (1,329) 8,017 (0) 8,017 9,932 (1,914)

 Light Rail Contribution to NSW Government 40,900 40,900 0 41,100 0 41,100 41,100 0

 Gain (Loss) on Investment Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets 0 43,336 43,336 0 0 0 43,336 43,336

Net Operating Surplus/(Deficit) (37,191) 31,903 69,094 (22,497) 0 (22,497) 32,146 54,644

Capital Works 148,718 129,863 18,855 280,659 9,705 290,364 247,927 42,437

Capital Works TDS 11,497 9,720 1,777 12,299 8,808 21,107 23,648 (2,541)

Plant and Equipment 7,626 2,915 4,711 8,000 6,435 14,435 13,932 503

Property Acquisition / (Divestment) 0 (42,142) 42,142 121,430 0 121,430 (48,735) 170,165

Capital Expenditure Total 167,841 100,356 67,485 422,388 24,948 447,336 236,772 210,564

Available Funds

Opening Balance 632,794 632,794 0 598,153 34,641 632,794 632,794 0

Cash Surplus/(Deficit) (106,704) 1,760 108,464 (291,927) (31,755) (323,683) (115,901) 207,781

Closing Balance 526,090 634,554 108,464 306,225 2,886 309,111 516,892 207,781

Year-to-date

19



Quarterly Income Statement

City of Sydney | Q2 - 2020/21

$'000
Current

Budget
Actual

Variance

Fav / (Unfav)
Variance %

Original

Budget
Adjustment

Current

Budget

Annual

Forecast

Variance

Fav / (Unfav)

OPERATING INCOME

 Rates & Annual Charges 186,172 185,672 (500) (0%) 372,343 0 372,343 371,147 (1,196)

 Child Care Fees 889 551 (338) (38%) 1,778 (0) 1,778 1,122 (656)

 Private Work Income 2,803 2,970 167 6% 5,546 (0) 5,546 5,576 30 

 Parking Station Income 4,269 3,099 (1,170) (27%) 8,168 0 8,168 6,300 (1,868)

 Parking Meter Income 17,899 17,096 (803) (4%) 33,383 (0) 33,383 31,900 (1,483)

 Building & Development Application Incom 3,223 2,906 (317) (10%) 6,445 0 6,445 5,852 (594)

 Building Certificate 583 611 28 5% 1,166 0 1,166 1,213 47 

 Other Building Fees 5,090 6,124 1,035 20% 10,179 0 10,179 11,668 1,489 

 Aquatic Facilities Income 0 29 29 0% 0 0 0 729 729 

 Advertising Income 3,446 3,210 (236) (7%) 6,756 0 6,756 5,074 (1,682)

 Work Zone 6,761 7,559 797 12% 13,829 0 13,829 15,771 1,942 

 Venue/Facility Income 1,756 477 (1,279) (73%) 8,301 0 8,301 1,768 (6,534)

 Library Income 63 10 (53) (84%) 176 0 176 88 (88)

 Health Related Income 45 19 (26) (58%) 493 0 493 486 (7)

 Other Fees 1,466 1,826 360 25% 3,525 0 3,525 3,698 173 

 Enforcement Income 14,432 16,503 2,071 14% 32,867 0 32,867 34,894 2,028 

 Community Properties 4,124 2,863 (1,261) (31%) 247 8,255 8,503 6,401 (2,102)

 Footway Licences 312 36 (276) (89%) 935 0 935 78 (857)

 Commercial Properties 28,962 28,290 (672) (2%) 68,477 (8,255) 60,222 55,588 (4,633)

 Sponsorship Income 197 3 (194) (98%) 234 0 234 4 (230)

 Other Income 86 93 7 8% 513 (141) 371 445 74 

 Grants and Contributions 6,830 7,445 615 9% 14,166 9,350 23,516 26,041 2,525 

 Other Revenue 0 (0) (0) 0% 0 0 0 0 0 

Income (Excluding Internals) 289,407 287,392 (2,015) (1%) 589,528 9,209 598,737 585,845 (12,892)

 VIK Income 1,193 0 (1,193) (100%) 1,843 (0) 1,843 90 (1,753)

Operating Income 290,600 287,392 (3,208) (1%) 591,371 9,209 600,580 585,935 (14,645)

OPERATING EXPENDITURE

 Salaries and Wages 98,393 92,255 6,138 6% 195,738 69 195,808 186,463 9,344 

 Agency Contract Staff 4,603 6,142 (1,539) (33%) 8,043 461 8,504 11,814 (3,310)

 Travelling 90 18 71 79% 215 0 215 125 90 

 Employee Oncosts 4,256 4,612 (356) (8%) 6,842 (64) 6,778 5,692 1,087 

 Superannuation 11,231 10,290 940 8% 22,269 20 22,288 20,489 1,799 

 Workers Compensation Insurance 2,070 2,070 (0) (0%) 4,140 0 4,140 4,140 (0)

 Fringe Benefit Tax 357 355 3 1% 715 (0) 715 715 (0)

 Training Costs (excluding salaries) 586 257 329 56% 1,402 0 1,402 1,082 319 

Full YearYear-to-date

20



Quarterly Income Statement

City of Sydney | Q2 - 2020/21

$'000
Current

Budget
Actual

Variance

Fav / (Unfav)
Variance %

Original

Budget
Adjustment

Current

Budget

Annual

Forecast

Variance

Fav / (Unfav)

Full YearYear-to-date

 Other Employee Related Costs 707 458 250 35% 1,590 (0) 1,590 1,265 325 
0 0 

Salary Expense 122,293 116,457 5,835 5% 240,954 486 241,441 231,786 9,655 

 Bad & Doubtful Debts 690 495 195 28% 1,380 (0) 1,380 1,593 (213)

 Consultancies 1,568 1,117 451 29% 4,032 (0) 4,032 3,826 206 

 Enforcement & Infringement Costs 3,985 2,908 1,077 27% 8,489 0 8,489 6,984 1,505 

 Event Related Expenditure 5,422 1,385 4,037 74% 11,440 3,076 14,516 10,060 4,456 

 Expenditure Recovered (2,514) (2,635) 121 (5%) (6,845) (0) (6,845) (4,904) (1,942)

 Facility Management 4,281 3,270 1,011 24% 10,162 0 10,162 8,860 1,302 

 General Advertising 687 417 270 39% 1,568 371 1,939 1,615 324 

 Governance 861 804 58 7% 1,779 0 1,779 1,750 29 

 Government Authority Charges 3,848 3,758 90 2% 7,799 0 7,799 7,595 203 

 Grants, Sponsorships and Donations 15,732 14,337 1,396 9% 26,258 4,300 30,558 30,059 498 

 Infrastructure Maintenance 21,202 19,320 1,882 9% 46,438 (592) 45,846 45,209 637 

 Insurance 2,019 2,005 14 1% 4,039 (0) 4,039 4,232 (193)

 IT Related Expenditure 6,491 5,243 1,248 19% 13,602 (0) 13,602 12,135 1,467 

 Legal Fees 1,614 1,360 254 16% 3,548 5 3,553 3,201 353 

 Operational Contingencies 0 0 0 0% 7,000 (210) 6,790 6,790 0 

 Other Asset Maintenance 1,627 1,202 426 26% 3,233 (2) 3,231 3,082 150 

 Other Operating Expenditure 5,840 5,206 633 11% 10,740 708 11,448 10,774 674 

 Postage & Couriers 724 674 50 7% 1,484 (0) 1,484 1,278 207 

 Printing & Stationery 881 680 201 23% 1,904 98 2,002 1,899 103 

 Project Management & Other Project Costs 607 510 97 16% 1,188 0 1,188 1,136 52 

 Property Related Expenditure 15,094 14,026 1,068 7% 31,478 145 31,624 31,668 (44)

 Service Contracts 10,027 10,358 (331) (3%) 22,327 10 22,337 22,215 122 

 Stores & Materials 2,579 2,203 376 15% 4,723 804 5,528 5,280 248 

 Surveys & Studies 1,052 1,095 (42) (4%) 2,235 0 2,235 2,094 141 

 Telephone Charges 1,425 1,241 184 13% 2,826 0 2,826 2,767 59 

 Utilities 5,895 5,373 521 9% 11,973 (0) 11,973 11,555 418 

 Vehicle Maintenance 1,305 1,191 114 9% 2,778 8 2,786 2,575 210 

 Waste Disposal Charges 10,192 11,115 (923) (9%) 20,400 (0) 20,400 21,856 (1,456)

 Expenditure 123,133 108,658 14,475 12% 257,976 8,722 266,698 257,182 9,516 

VIK Expenditure 1,193 0 1,193 100% 1,843 (0) 1,843 90 1,753 

 Expenditure Including VIK 124,326 108,658 15,669 13% 259,819 8,722 268,541 257,272 11,269 

21



Quarterly Income Statement

City of Sydney | Q2 - 2020/21

$'000
Current

Budget
Actual

Variance

Fav / (Unfav)
Variance %

Original

Budget
Adjustment

Current

Budget

Annual

Forecast

Variance

Fav / (Unfav)

Full YearYear-to-date

 Total Operating Expenditure (Excl Depreciation) 246,619 225,115 21,504 9% 500,773 9,209 509,982 489,057 20,924 

 Operating Result (Before Depreciation, Interest, Capital-

Related Costs and Capital Income) 
43,981 62,277 18,296 42% 90,598 0 90,598 96,877 6,279 

Add Additional Income:

 Interest Revenue 3,009 3,013 4 0% 5,817 (0) 5,817 5,817 (0)

 Capital Grants 14,148 18,230 4,082 29% 31,108 (0) 31,108 28,108 (3,000)

 Capital Grants - Works In Kind 1,000 11,015 10,015 1002% 2,000 0 2,000 12,000 10,000 

Less Additional Expenses:

 Capital Project Related Costs 3,776 5,105 (1,329) -35% 8,017 (0) 8,017 9,932 (1,914)

 Depreciation 54,653 59,963 (5,310) (10%) 102,904 (0) 102,904 102,960 (57)

 Light Rail Contribution to NSW Government 40,900 40,900 0 0% 41,100 0 41,100 41,100 (0)

 Gain Loss on Sale of Assets 0 43,336 43,336 0% 0 0 0 43,336 43,336 

Net Operating Surplus/(Deficit) (37,191) 31,903 69,094 (22,497) 0 (22,497) 32,146 54,644 

Capital Expenditure

Capital Works 148,718 129,863 18,855 13% 280,659 9,705 290,364 247,927 42,437 

Capital Works ISU 11,497 9,720 1,777 15% 12,299 8,808 21,107 23,648 (2,541)

Plant and Assets 7,626 2,915 4,711 62% 8,000 6,435 14,435 13,932 503 

Property Acquisition / Divestment 0 (42,142) 42,142 0% 121,430 0 121,430 (48,735) 170,165 

Total Capital Expenditure 167,841 100,356 67,485 422,388 24,948 447,336 236,772 210,564 

22



Actual v Budget Operating Result by Division & Unit

City of Sydney | Q2 - 2020/21

Division/Unit
Budget Actual Variance Fav/(Unfav)% Variance0 Budget Forecast Variance Fav/(Unfav)% Variance0 Budget Forecast Variance Fav/(Unfav)% Variance

$'000 Budget Actual
Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance

Chief Executive Office -                       4,071 3,461 611 15% (4,071) (3,461) 611 15% 

Chief Executive Office -                        774 717 57 7% (774) (717) 57 7%

Councillor Support -                        1,086 876 210 19% (1,086) (876) 210 19%

Office of the Lord Mayor -                        1,736 1,452 284 16% (1,736) (1,452) 284 16%

Secretariat -                        475 416 59 12% (475) (416) 59 12%

Chief Financial Office 236 247 11 5% 5,184 4,894 289 6% (4,948) (4,647) 301 6% 

Business Planning and Performance -                        670 624 46 7% (670) (624) 46 7%

CFO Administration 1 1 -                        692 661 31 5% (692) (659) 33 5%

Financial Planning and Reporting 1 1 -                        1,371 1,388 (16) -1% (1,371) (1,387) (15) -1%

Procurement 1 1 -                        1,345 1,214 131 10% (1,345) (1,213) 132 10%

Rates 236 244 8 3% 1,106 1,008 98 9% (870) (764) 106 12%

Chief Operations Office 385 472 87 23% 11,447 10,360 1,087 9% (11,061) (9,887) 1,174 11% 

Chief Operations Office 87 236 149 170% 683 638 45 7% (596) (402) 194 33%

City Conversations -                        460 439 21 5% (460) (439) 21 5%

City Design 89 106 17 18% 1,368 1,188 181 13% (1,279) (1,082) 197 15%

City Transformation 20 20 (0) -0% 401 275 127 32% (381) (255) 127 33%

Green Infrastructure -                        478 337 142 30% (478) (337) 142 30%

Green Square -                        315 273 42 13% (315) (273) 42 13%

Indigenous Leadership and Engagement -                        384 269 115 30% (384) (269) 115 30%

Project Management Office -                        166 166 (0) -0% (166) (166) (0) -0%

Strategic Community Engagement -                        507 438 69 14% (507) (438) 69 14%

Strategy, Urban Analytics & Communications 189 110 (78) -41% 5,852 5,571 281 5% (5,664) (5,461) 203 4%

Sustainability -                        831 765 66 8% (831) (765) 66 8%

City Life 6,675 3,148 (3,527) (53%) 45,583 35,130 10,452 23% (38,908) (31,982) 6,926 18% 

City Business & Safety 500 178 (322) -64% 2,097 1,664 434 21% (1,597) (1,485) 112 7%

City Life Management -                        924 868 57 6% (924) (868) 57 6%

Creative City 2,385 281 (2,104) -88% 15,357 8,911 6,446 42% (12,972) (8,629) 4,343 33%

Grants and Sponsorship 58 57 (2) -3% 15,113 13,574 1,539 10% (15,055) (13,517) 1,537 10%

Social Programs and Services 3,387 2,324 (1,063) -31% 10,429 8,869 1,560 15% (7,042) (6,545) 497 7%

Sustainability Programs 344 308 (37) -11% 1,662 1,245 417 25% (1,318) (937) 380 29%

City Planning Development and Transport 8,870 9,589 718 8% 22,129 20,633 1,496 7% (13,259) (11,045) 2,214 17% 

City Access 91 326 235 258% 2,090 1,858 232 11% (1,998) (1,532) 467 23%

Construction & Building Certification Services 4,737 5,780 1,043 22% 1,379 1,271 108 8% 3,359 4,509 1,151 34%

Health & Building 475 193 (282) -59% 7,886 6,944 942 12% (7,411) (6,751) 660 9%

Planning Assessments 3,162 2,958 (204) -6% 7,301 7,058 243 3% (4,139) (4,100) 38 1%

Strategic Planning and Urban Design 405 331 (73) -18% 3,474 3,503 (29) -1% (3,069) (3,171) (102) -3%

Income Expenditure Operating Result

23



Actual v Budget Operating Result by Division & Unit

City of Sydney | Q2 - 2020/21

Division/Unit
Budget Actual Variance Fav/(Unfav)% Variance0 Budget Forecast Variance Fav/(Unfav)% Variance0 Budget Forecast Variance Fav/(Unfav)% Variance

$'000 Budget Actual
Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance

Income Expenditure Operating Result

City Projects and Property 33,641 32,576 (1,065) (3%) 29,004 28,050 954 3% 4,636 4,525 (111) (2%)

City Property 33,641 31,392 (2,249) -7% 24,086 22,896 1,190 5% 9,554 8,496 (1,059) -11%

CPP - Development and Strategy 62 62 -                        1,876 1,297 579 31% (1,876) (1,235) 641 34%

CPP - Infrastructure Delivery 1,066 1,066 -                        472 1,523 (1,051) -223% (472) (457) 15 3%

CPP - Professional Services 56 56 -                        2,570 2,334 236 9% (2,570) (2,278) 292 11%

City Services 51,848 52,707 859 2% 99,462 91,895 7,567 8% ## (47,614) (39,187) 8,427 18% 

City Greening and Leisure 260 398 138 18,362 16,019 2,343 13% (18,102) (15,620) 2,482 14%

City Infrastructure and Traffic Operations (CITO) 13,940 14,570 630 5% 20,359 18,873 1,486 7% (6,420) (4,303) 2,116 33%

City Rangers 14,120 16,492 2,373 17% 12,940 11,339 1,601 12% 1,180 5,154 3,974 337%

City Services Management -                        244 268 (24) -10% (244) (268) (24) -10%

City Services Strategy -                        444 498 (54) -12% (444) (498) (54) -12%

Cleansing & Waste 599 609 9 2% 33,397 32,592 804 2% (32,798) (31,984) 814 2%

Parking and Fleet Services 22,168 20,244 (1,925) -9% 8,260 7,472 788 10% 13,908 12,771 (1,137) -8%

Security & Emergency Management -                        3,266 3,162 103 3% (3,266) (3,162) 103 3%

Venue Management 761 394 (367) -48% 2,190 1,671 519 24% (1,429) (1,277) 152 11%

Corporate Costs 187,696 187,379 (316) (0%) 1,784 4,772 (2,988) (167%) 185,912 182,607 (3,304) (2%)

Legal and Governance 13 2 (11) (86%) 6,532 6,444 88 1% (6,519) (6,442) 77 1% 

Council Elections -                        430 511 (81) -19% (430) (511) (81) -19%

Governance -                        328 276 53 16% (328) (276) 53 16%

Internal Audit -                        307 304 3 1% (307) (304) 3 1%

Legal Services 0 (0) -100% 3,121 3,029 92 3% (3,121) (3,029) 92 3%

Risk Management 12 2 (11) -86% 2,346 2,324 22 1% (2,334) (2,323) 11 0%

People Performance and Technology 1,236 1,271 35 3% 21,423 19,476 1,947 9% (20,187) (18,205) 1,982 10% 

Business and Service Improvement -                        410 404 6 2% (410) (404) 6 2%

Customer Service 1,226 1,262 36 3% 3,816 3,402 414 11% (2,590) (2,140) 450 17%

Data and Information Management Services 10 9 (1) -11% 3,637 3,590 47 1% (3,627) (3,581) 45 1%

Internal Office Services -                        148 145 3 2% (148) (145) 3 2%

Technology and Digital Services -                        8,390 7,274 1,116 13% (8,390) (7,274) 1,116 13%

Workforce Services -                        5,022 4,661 361 7% (5,022) (4,661) 361 7%

Total Result 290,600 287,392 (3,208) (1%) 246,619 225,115 21,504 9% 43,981 62,277 18,296 42% 

24



Full Year Budget v Full Year Forecast Operating Result by Division & Unit

City of Sydney | Q2 - 2020/21

Division/Unit

$'000 Budget Forecast
Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance

Chief Executive Office -                      8,021 7,407 614 8% (8,021) (7,407) 614 8% 

Chief Executive Office -                        1,528 1,411 116 8% (1,528) (1,411) 116 8%

Councillor Support -                        2,153 2,076 77 4% (2,153) (2,076) 77 4%

Office of the Lord Mayor -                        3,399 2,978 421 12% (3,399) (2,978) 421 12%

Secretariat -                        942 942 0 0% (942) (942) 0 0%

Chief Financial Office 472 472 0% 10,256 9,922 334 3% (9,783) (9,449) 334 3% 

Business Planning and Performance -                        1,391 1,314 78 6% (1,391) (1,314) 78 6%

CFO Administration -                        1,376 1,309 66 5% (1,376) (1,309) 66 5%

Financial Planning and Reporting -                        2,669 2,832 (163) -6% (2,669) (2,832) (163) -6%

Procurement -                        2,651 2,428 222 8% (2,651) (2,428) 222 8%

Rates 472 472 0% 2,169 2,038 131 6% (1,697) (1,566) 131 8%

Chief Operations Office 1,302 1,910 608 47% 22,980 21,899 1,081 5% (21,678) (19,990) 1,688 8% 

Chief Operations Office 175 573 398 227% 1,443 1,430 13 1% (1,268) (858) 410 32%

City Conversations -                        1,003 966 37 4% (1,003) (966) 37 4%

City Design 370 480 110 30% 2,988 2,586 402 13% (2,618) (2,106) 512 20%

City Transformation 80 80 0% 528 409 119 23% (448) (329) 119 27%

Green Infrastructure -                        936 693 243 26% (936) (693) 243 26%

Green Square -                        650 604 46 7% (650) (604) 46 7%

Indigenous Leadership and Engagement 100 100 0% 865 817 48 6% (765) (717) 48 6%

Project Management Office -                        324 324 0 0% (324) (324) 0 0%

Strategic Community Engagement -                        999 819 180 18% (999) (819) 180 18%

Strategy, Urban Analytics & Communications 577 677 100 17% 11,740 11,785 (45) -0% (11,163) (11,108) 55 0%

Sustainability -                        1,504 1,465 39 3% (1,504) (1,465) 39 3%

City Life 19,879 15,481 (4,399) (22%) 94,657 83,809 10,848 11% (74,778) (68,328) 6,450 9% 

City Business & Safety 3,900 3,900 0% 7,450 7,295 155 2% (3,550) (3,395) 155 4%

City Life Management -                        1,833 1,776 57 3% (1,833) (1,776) 57 3%

Creative City 6,654 3,905 (2,749) -41% 31,358 24,128 7,230 23% (24,705) (20,224) 4,481 18%

Grants and Sponsorship 1,558 1,558 0% 30,488 29,980 508 2% (28,930) (28,421) 508 2%

Social Programs and Services 7,393 5,759 (1,634) -22% 19,981 17,604 2,377 12% (12,588) (11,845) 743 6%

Sustainability Programs 374 358 (16) -4% 3,547 3,025 522 15% (3,172) (2,667) 506 16%

City Planning Development and Transport 18,186 18,886 699 4% 43,771 41,105 2,667 6% (25,585) (22,219) 3,366 13% 

City Access 225 225 (0) -0% 4,243 3,975 268 6% (4,017) (3,750) 268 7%

Construction & Building Certification Services 9,475 10,881 1,406 15% 2,708 2,501 206 8% 6,767 8,380 1,613 24%

Health & Building 1,353 1,107 (246) -18% 15,781 14,400 1,381 9% (14,428) (13,294) 1,135 8%

Planning Assessments 6,324 5,863 (461) -7% 14,440 13,915 525 4% (8,116) (8,052) 64 1%

Income Expenditure Operating Result

25



Full Year Budget v Full Year Forecast Operating Result by Division & Unit

City of Sydney | Q2 - 2020/21

Division/Unit

$'000 Budget Forecast
Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance Budget Forecast

Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)
% Variance

Income Expenditure Operating Result

Strategic Planning and Urban Design 809 809 0% 6,601 6,314 287 4% (5,791) (5,504) 287 5%

City Projects and Property 70,162 63,796 (6,366) (9%) 59,048 59,261 (213) (0%) 11,114 4,535 (6,579) (59%)

City Property 70,162 61,676 (8,486) -12% 49,475 49,256 219 0% 20,687 12,420 (8,267) -40%

CPP - Development and Strategy 987 987 -                        3,672 3,262 410 11% (3,672) (2,275) 1,397 38%

CPP - Infrastructure Delivery 1,085 1,085 -                        907 2,269 (1,362) -150% (907) (1,184) (277) -31%

CPP - Professional Services 48 48 -                        4,994 4,474 520 10% (4,994) (4,426) 568 11%

City Services 110,782 106,766 (4,016) (4%) 203,268 193,482 9,787 5% (92,486) (86,715) 5,771 6% 

City Greening and Leisure 560 1,309 749 134% 37,542 35,155 2,386 6% (36,982) (33,847) 3,135 8%

City Infrastructure and Traffic Operations (CITO) 29,190 29,533 343 1% 43,629 42,694 935 2% (14,440) (13,161) 1,278 9%

City Rangers 32,242 34,559 2,317 7% 26,156 23,687 2,469 9% 6,086 10,872 4,787 79%

City Services Management -                        482 482 0 0% (482) (482) 0 0%

City Services Strategy -                        815 844 (29) -3% (815) (844) (29) -3%

Cleansing & Waste 997 1,334 337 34% 65,930 64,519 1,411 2% (64,933) (63,185) 1,748 3%

Parking and Fleet Services 41,551 38,290 (3,261) -8% 16,593 15,413 1,181 7% 24,958 22,877 (2,080) -8%

Security & Emergency Management -                        6,578 6,362 215 3% (6,578) (6,362) 215 3%

Venue Management 6,243 1,741 (4,502) -72% 5,542 4,325 1,218 22% 701 (2,583) (3,284) -469%

Corporate Costs 377,293 376,102 (1,191) (0%) 10,441 18,252 (7,811) (75%) 366,852 357,849 (9,003) (2%)

Legal and Governance 25 25 0% 13,625 13,646 (21) (0%) (13,600) (13,621) (21) (0%)

Council Elections -                        1,087 1,155 (68) -6% (1,087) (1,155) (68) -6%

Governance -                        646 645 1 0% (646) (645) 1 0%

Internal Audit -                        670 670 0 0% (670) (670) 0 0%

Legal Services 0 0 0% 6,488 6,248 240 4% (6,488) (6,248) 240 4%

Risk Management 25 25 0% 4,734 4,928 (194) -4% (4,709) (4,903) (194) -4%

People Performance and Technology 2,477 2,497 20 1% 43,914 40,275 3,639 8% (41,437) (37,778) 3,659 9% 

Business and Service Improvement -                        954 885 70 7% (954) (885) 70 7%

Customer Service 2,457 2,477 20 1% 7,809 6,668 1,141 15% (5,351) (4,191) 1,161 22%

Data and Information Management Services 20 20 0 0% 7,380 7,179 201 3% (7,360) (7,159) 201 3%

Internal Office Services -                        292 288 4 1% (292) (288) 4 1%

Technology and Digital Services -                        17,505 15,718 1,787 10% (17,505) (15,718) 1,787 10%

Workforce Services -                        9,975 9,538 437 4% (9,975) (9,538) 437 4%

Total Result 600,580 585,935 (14,645) (2%) 509,982 489,057 20,924 4% 90,598 96,877 6,279 7% 

26



Capital Budget Review Statement
City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

All figures in $'000 Current
Budget

Actual
Variance Fav / 

(Unfav)
Original
Budget

Adj.
Current
Budget

Proposed
Adj.

Proposed
Budget

Bicycle Related Works 5,243 2,830 2,413 7,406 2,740 10,147 10,147 
Green Infrastructure 4,802 2,704 2,099 8,745 1,665 10,410 10,410 
Green Square Aquatic and Recreation Centre 16,542 17,809 (1,267) 12,763 5,680 18,443 18,443 
Open Space & Parks 11,369 11,345 24 21,795 2,601 24,396 1,040 25,437 
Properties - Community, Cultural and Recreational 2,647 791 1,856 9,860 1,103 10,963 30 10,993 
Properties - Investment and Operational 601 263 338 2,312 293 2,605 2,605 
Public Art 1,017 475 541 1,999 240 2,239 2,239 
Public Domain (Light Rail Contribution) 40,900 40,900 (0) 41,100 41,100 41,100 
Public Domain 25,736 19,203 6,533 77,103 (7,729) 69,374 69,374 
Stormwater Drainage 1,405 378 1,028 3,141 269 3,409 3,409 

Capital Programs Asset Enhancement 110,263 96,698 13,565 186,225 6,862 193,087 1,070 194,158 

Infrastructure - Roads Bridges Footways 7,636 9,726 (2,090) 17,646 (849) 16,797 16,797 
Open Space & Parks 9,957 9,585 372 18,757 2,885 21,642 21,642 
Properties Assets 12,287 6,851 5,436 32,542 3,373 35,915 35,915 
Public Art 497 373 124 1,689 (323) 1,366 1,366 
Public Domain 6,084 4,832 1,253 13,875 1,661 15,536 15,536 
Stormwater Drainage 1,993 1,798 196 4,925 (567) 4,358 4,358 

Capital Programs Asset Renewal 38,455 33,165 5,290 89,434 6,179 95,614 95,614 
Contingency - Active (0) (0) 5,000 (3,337) 1,663 (1,340) 323 
Project expenditure not creating asset value (1,967) (1,271) (696) (4,500) (4,147) (4,147)

 Net Capital Expenditure 146,751 128,591 18,159 276,159 10,058 286,217 (270) 285,947 

 Plant and Assets 7,626 2,915 4,711 8,000 6,435 14,435 14,435 

 TDS Capital Works Projects 11,497 9,720 1,777 12,299 8,808 21,107 2,448 23,555 

 Property Acquisition / Divestment (42,142) 42,142 121,430 121,430 121,430 

Capital Funding

Domestic Waste Reserve 911 920 (9) 1,807 1,807 1,807 
Stormwater Management Reserve 1,798 1,798 2,862 2,862 2,862 
Developer Contributions (General) 53,977 68,480 (14,503) 80,879 2,981 83,860 83,860 
Infrastructure Contingency Reserve 196 176 20 208 (12) 196 196 
Green Infrastructure Reserve 4,474 2,655 1,818 7,458 1,852 9,310 9,310 
Renewable Energy 329 48 281 2,248 (1,148) 1,100 1,100 
City Centre Transformation Reserve 40,900 40,900 (0) 200 40,900 41,100 41,100 

Specific Reserve Funding 102,584 114,977 (12,393) 95,663 44,573 140,236 140,236 

General Funding 63,290 (15,893) 79,182 322,225 (19,272) 302,953 2,178 305,131 

Total Funding 165,874 99,085 66,789 417,888 25,301 443,189 2,178 445,367 

Year-to-date Full-year

27



Cash and Investments Budget Review Statement
City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

Op.Balance

All figures in $'000 Actual
Transfer

to
Transfer

from
Actual

Transfer
to

Transfer
from

Forecast

Externally Restricted

Developer Contributions (General) 84,820 14,843 (68,480) 31,183 19,500 (73,720) 30,600
Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants 153 10,473 (8,632) 1,994 20,946 (21,099) -
Domestic Waste Reserve 31,042 29,088 (25,443) 34,687 57,857 (50,888) 38,011
Stormwater Management Reserve 612 1,034 (1,646) - 2,254 (2,862) 4

Total Externally Restricted Cash and Investments 116,627 55,438 (104,201) 67,864 100,557 (148,569) 68,615

Internally Restricted

Affordable and Diverse Housing Fund 8,475 - - 8,475 - (4,030) 4,445
City Centre Transformation Reserve 41,100 - (40,900) 200 - (41,100) (0)
Commercial Property 88,038 10,000 - 98,038 10,000 - 98,038
Employee Leave Entitlement Reserve 6,887 1,179 (899) 7,168 2,311 (1,740) 7,458
Green Infrastructure Reserve 17,477 - (2,655) 14,821 - (5,828) 11,649
Green Square Reserve 86,325 - - 86,325 - - 86,325
Infrastructure Contingency Reserve 2,280 - (176) 2,104 - (213) 2,067
Public Liability Insurance Reserve 404 - - 404 - - 404
Renewable Energy 7,747 - (48) 7,699 - 7,747
Performance Cash Bonds 23,345 11,772 (6,716) 28,401 19,250 (17,321) 25,274
Workers Compensation Reserve 22,880 - (4,525) 18,354 - (5,123) 17,757

Total Internally Restricted Cash and Investments 304,958 22,952 (55,920) 271,989 31,561 (75,355) 261,164

Total Restricted Cash and Investments 421,585 78,389 (160,122) 339,853 132,118 (223,924) 329,779

Unrestricted Cash and Investments 211,208 294,701 187,113 

Total - Cash and Investments 632,794 634,554 516,892 

Year-to-date Full-year 

28



Summary of Income and Expenditure by Principal Activity

City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

$'000  Budget  Actual 
Variance 

Fav / (Unfav)
 Budget  Actual 

Variance 

Fav / (Unfav)
 Budget  Actual 

Variance 

Fav / (Unfav)

A globally competitive and innovative city 14,659 16,679 2,019 25,126 20,114 5,011 (10,466) (3,435) 7,031

A leading environmental performer 607 609 2 38,044 36,370 1,674 (37,437) (35,761) 1,676

Integrated transport for a connected city 36,976 34,882 (2,094) 24,032 24,197 (165) 12,944 10,685 (2,258)

A city for walking and cycling -                  1,105 1,105 2,285 739 1,546 (2,285) 366 2,651

A lively and engaging city centre -                  -                  -                  156 151 4 (156) (151) 4

Resilient and inclusive local communities 3,063 3,352 288 47,360 43,262 4,098 (44,297) (39,910) 4,386

A cultural and creative city 910 (29) (939) 3,862 2,943 919 (2,951) (2,972) (20)

Housing for a diverse community -                  -                  -                  2,697 1,637 1,061 (2,697) (1,637) 1,061

Sustainable development, renewal and design 10,350 10,849 499 24,086 22,894 1,192 (13,735) (12,044) 1,691

Implementation through effective governance and 

partnerships 224,034 219,945 (4,089) 78,972 72,809 6,163 145,062 147,136 2,074

Total Council 290,600 287,392 (3,208) 246,619 225,115 21,504 43,981 62,277 18,296

Operating income Operating expenditure Operating result

29



$'000 CEO General 
Capital 
Works

Total

Adopted budget - contingency 4,500 2,500 3,998 12,000

Less Approved Contingency Allocations:
Approval Date

24/08/2020 Feasibility study of the Minerva / Metro Theatre, Kings Cross (10) (10)

24/08/2020
Purchase of reusable cloth masks and the distribution of masks and health 
relate material to support vulnerable communities

(200) (200)

9/11/2020 Capital Works Q1 Budget Adjustments (2,335) (2,335)

26/10/2020 Moore Park Golf Proposal (20) (20)

15/02/2021 Capital Works Q2 Proposed Budget Adjustments (1,340) (1,340)

15/02/2021
Restrict CEO Contingency for City Projects and Properties as noted in the Q2 
report

(4,500) (4,500)

Allocated: (4,500) (230) (3,675) (8,405)

Funds Available:
Operational -                 2,270
Capital 323

Unallocated contingency -           2,270 323 3,595

Contingency Report
City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

30



31



Attachment B 

Capital Expenditure Financial Results      

 

 

 

32



Capital Works Expenditure Summary

City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

All figures in $'000 Prior Year 

Actual

Dec YTD 

Budget

Dec YTD 

Actual

Variance 

Fav / 

(Unfav)

Life-to-date 

actual

(Prior Years + 

YTD)

2020/21

Current Budget

2020/21

Current 

Forecast

Variance 

Fav / 

(Unfav)

4 Years Budget 

Total

2024/25 - 2029/30

Budget Years Total

Budget Forecast Variance 

Fav / 

(Unfav)

Bicycle Related Works 20,587 5,243 2,830 2,413 23,417 10,147 9,175 972 79,789 12,787 113,163 112,755 409 

Green Infrastructure 34,513 4,802 2,704 2,099 37,217 10,410 6,372 4,038 16,261 3,775 54,550 53,912 638 

Green Square Aquatic and Recreation Centre 84,587 16,542 17,809 (1,267) 102,396 18,443 18,830 (387) 19,881 0 104,468 103,417 1,051 

Open Space & Parks 64,290 11,369 11,345 24 75,635 24,396 23,642 754 93,809 87,433 245,532 237,055 8,477 

Properties - Community, Cultural and Recreational 69,634 2,647 791 1,856 70,425 10,963 5,199 5,764 77,982 55,506 203,122 203,187 (65)

Properties - Investment and Operational 770 601 263 338 1,033 2,605 2,215 390 7,130 0 7,900 7,818 82 

Public Art 2,530 1,017 475 541 3,006 2,239 2,052 187 8,230 1,373 12,134 12,188 (54)

Public Domain 96,151 25,736 19,203 6,533 115,354 69,374 52,138 17,236 165,845 83,778 345,773 337,696 8,078 

Public Domain (Light Rail Contribution) 178,900 40,900 40,900 (0) 219,800 41,100 41,100 (0) 41,100 0 220,000 220,000 (0)

Stormwater Drainage 78,579 1,405 378 1,028 78,957 3,409 2,612 797 27,288 30,501 136,368 136,279 89 

Capital Programs Asset Enhancement - Active 630,541 110,263 96,698 13,565 727,239 193,087 163,335 29,753 537,314 275,153 1,443,008 1,424,305 18,703 

Infrastructure - Roads Bridges Footways 7,636 9,726 (2,090) 9,726 16,797 16,660 137 49,679 89,483 139,162 139,354 (192)

Open Space & Parks 9,957 9,585 372 9,585 21,642 19,523 2,118 80,147 128,706 208,853 210,251 (1,398)

Properties Assets 12,287 6,851 5,436 6,851 35,915 27,577 8,338 101,999 146,038 248,037 244,359 3,678 

Public Art 497 373 124 373 1,366 227 1,139 4,448 5,147 9,595 9,543 52 

Public Domain 6,084 4,832 1,253 4,832 15,536 14,645 891 61,561 69,728 131,289 130,564 725 

Stormwater Drainage 1,993 1,798 196 1,798 4,358 4,293 65 12,458 22,535 34,993 34,928 65 

Capital Programs Asset Renewal - Active 38,455 33,165 5,290 33,165 95,614 82,924 12,690 310,292 461,637 771,929 768,998 2,931 

Contingency - Active (0) 0 (0) 0 1,663 1,668 (5) 1,663 0 1,663 1,668 (5)

Grand Total 630,541 148,718 129,863 18,855 760,404 290,364 247,927 42,437 849,269 736,790 2,216,600 2,194,972 21,628 

Year-to-date Full-year Total Project 

33



Capital Works Commenced projects   -  Individual Projects > $5M

City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

Project Name Cost to date Total budget Q2 December 2020 Status Comments

 Town Hall Trigeneration Precinct 10,383 11,387 Practical completion reached and contracted operation and maintenance is on-going.

 Ebsworth St, Tweed Pl,  Fellmonger Pl, Barker St (North) 13,663 13,672 The remaining works are to be carried out by the developer under a Voluntary Planning Agreement (VPA). 

 Zetland Avenue - Mid (Joynton Ave to Portman St) 2,145 7,238 
Work has progressed on the south side of the road with the north side programmed for commencement in 

March.

 Existing Streets (Portman St) Upgrade 2,202 10,560 Works proceeding. 

 Geddes Avenue & Paul Street (North) 17,641 17,760 Procurement method for contractor is being reviewed. Design requirements have been finalised.

 Hinchcliffe St (North), Woolpack St & Barker St (South) 257 6,800 These works are to be carried out by the developer under a Voluntary Planning Agreement (VPA).

 Zetland Ave (West) - Paul St to Portman St 1,426 9,019 
Work has proceeded well. Mirvac have handed over their works zone and we are progressing the full corridor 

towards completion of the northern side for Mirvac's access in July 21.

 Joynton Av upgrade (Hansard St to Elizabeth St) 23,377 26,308 Works are scheduled for completion in early February.

 Zetland Avenue – East (Joynton Av to Victoria Park Pde) 13,991 14,703 Defect rectification is substantially complete and the road will be opened for use in late January.

 Green Square to Ashmore Connection 6,907 27,000 Design progressing, awaiting land access agreement with Ausgrid to complete early works package.

 Town Centre Interface Works 8,030 8,146 Minor services work - Ausgrid pole removal being the outstanding item.

 McDonald Street Widening Works 2,162 13,277 Work is now proceeding under latent condition for dewatering. Progress is accelerating on site.

 Kings Cross Public Domain - Macleay Street 2,394 11,000 

Construction started on 6 October 2020. Works started with underground electrical trenching and footings 

for the new Smart poles, which is approximately 70% complete. Works ceased 30 November 2020 to 

support businesses in the lead up to the Christmas and New Year period. Work recommenced on 18 January 

2021. 

 Drying Green Park 8,381 22,630 Below ground works now complete.  Above ground works construction progressing on site.

 The cresent lands at Johnstons creek 10,024 12,885 Alternate contractor is progressing with the construction works with the aim to finish early in 2021.

 Wimbo Park Surry Hills 721 6,215 

Planning modification lodged to amend Development Application. Detailed design and documentation 

progressing. Additional time required due to delayed handover of site by Acciona and project planning 

approvals.

 City Centre Playground Works 888 6,280 

The playground planned for Cook + Phillip Park has been delayed to ensure compliance with legal 

obligations relating to the Crown Land. A Plan of Management Plan is being prepared for the site. 

Construction on the city centre playground will likely commence in 2023. 

 Urban Skate Park - Sydney Park 7,420 8,282 Project complete and Skate Park opened to the public 23 December.

 Synthetic Sports Field Installations - Perry Park 281 8,483 Head consultant is progressing with concept design. 

$'000

34



Capital Works Commenced projects   -  Individual Projects > $5M

City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

Project Name Cost to date Total budget Q2 December 2020 Status Comments

$'000

 Alexandria School and Park Synthetic Sportsfield - Joint Use 375 6,225 Department of Education is progressing with their Development Application modification approval. 

 Perry Park - Stage 2 Basketball Court 1,590 7,970 
Contractor has been appointed and has commenced construction with the aim to complete the works late 

2021.

 Synthetic Sports Field - Turruwul Park 61 5,888 Head design consultant engaged. Preparing for public consultation.

 Synthetic Sports Field - Waterloo Oval 53 8,496 Head Consultant for design appointed January 2021.

 Gunyama Park Aquatic and Recreation Centre 102,396 104,468 Construction complete on 17 December 2020.  Opening 1 February 2021. 

 Moore Park Road Cycleway 1,468 22,912 Awaiting funding confirmation from TFNSW.

 Erskineville Alexandria Precinct Cycleway Links 354 8,317 
Community consultation undertaken, preparing traffic and scope reports for Council. Construction start 

expected late 2021

 Castlereagh Street Cycleway - North 561 22,369 Site investigations and design development underway.

 SSHS - Stage 2 (Cultural/Community/Health Facilities) 109 24,719 
Design development for the Green Square Integrated Community Facility and School continues in 

preparation for the development application and tender package.

 Huntley Street Recreation Centre - Development 533 19,380 
Concept design completed with scoping report endorsed by Council. Development Application package 

completed and released to the Community for notification.

 George Street - Lend Lease Circular Quay VPA 358 8,838 Discussions with preferred operator of Business Innovation Space underway.

 Joynton Avenue Stormwater Drainage Upgrade 2,800 24,916 
Procurement of additional geotechnical investigation is underway at present. Expression of Interest for the 

main works has been called and closes in mid February.

 Light Rail – CBD to South East 219,800 220,000 Handover complete. Final $200k payment now due.

 Hyde Park Tree Replacement & Other Works 21,861 22,124 

Construction of Hyde Park Café and associated Landscape works will be completed early 2021. This will 

conclude the 4 stages of work for this project (Tree planting around Archibald Fountain, Pool of Reflection, 

Path Rationalisation in Hyde Park North, Hyde Park South Café).

 Open Space Renewal - Hyde Park Lighting 326 6,400 

Concept development in progress. Light fixture prototypes (opalescent sphere and grey poles) on primary 

and secondary paths endorsed in consultation with Heritage NSW (approval body) and the City's Design 

Advisory Panel.

 Sydney Town Hall External Works Stage 3 2,129 16,495 Project is in construction stage with works on the stone façade and glass window restoration.

 George Street South Pedestrianisation 326 43,500 
Planning and Road Authority approvals received. Detail design well underway. Construction approvals from 

Light Rail and Utility Authorities are being sort for a March 2021 construction commencement. 

 Customs House – Façade Upgrade stage 2 586 6,927 Scope finalised and tender documentation ready.

35



Capital Works Budget Adjustments 
City of Sydney | Q2 2020/21

$'000

 Project Name Full year 
budget

Contingency fund
In-year budget 
adjustments

Brought 
forward from 
future years

Proposed 
adjusted budget

2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25
 2025/26 - 
2027/30

Current project 
budget

Proposed project 
budget Q2 2020/21 status comments

Liverpool St link (Castlereagh St to 
Elizabeth St)

0 150 150 455 605
To enable implementation of the Liverpool, Oxford and College St pilot 
cycleway designs developed by the City and TfNSW

Alexandra Canal South Cycleway 43 (40) 3 873 833 As per above

Kent Street at Gas Lane Pedestrian and 
Cyclist Crossing Impr

1,032 (110) 922 1,600 1,490 As per above

Sydney Park Impact Mitigation Works 81 81 (412) 412 2,347 2,347 Budget to be incorporated in the budget planning for FY21/22 onwards

Pyrmont Community Centre Upgrade 230 30 260 (1,504) 943 531 3,030 3,030 Budget to be incorporated in the budget planning. 

Eora Journey - Redfern Terrace 30 30 (400) (301) 465 236 1,150 1,150 Budget rephased to align with the revised program.

Redfern Terrace - Internal Structural Works 98 98 (98) 30 68 98 98 Budget rephased to align with the revised program.

The cresent lands at Johnstons creek 4,413 1,040 5,453 12,885 13,926
Additional construction contingency to cover the increased remediation 
works.

Alexandra Childcare Centre Rectification 
works

65 9 74 27 65 100
Additional budget required for the shortfall in construction costs for the 
extent of works required.

Alexandria Child Care Centre - Upgrade 
Kitchen Playroom Kit

145 (9) 137 (27) 460 425 As per above

Parks Water Re-use : Erskineville Parks 
Cluster

0 84 84 239 0 323 Project under the program get approved to go to concept design.

Parks Water Reuse Projects 1,682 (84) 1,598 (239) 5,671 5,348 As per above

Open Space Renewal - Archibald Fountain 
and Water Stairs

496 496 2,100 580 2,680
Additional funding required for consultancy construction stage services 
and construction of Archibald Fountain. Funded from the Heritage 
Conservation fund.

Total Capital Works 8,314 1,040 0 30 9,384 (314) 1,084 1,064 236 0 29,214 32,354

Contract Mgt Sys 725 170 895 (170) 1,500 1,500 Bring forward funds as works proceeding ahead of scheduled program.

Online Business Services 320 80 400 (80) 6,966 6,966 Bring forward funds as works proceeding ahead of scheduled program.

IWMS Trirga 2,178 500 2,678 (500) 6,651 6,651 Bring forward funds as works proceeding ahead of scheduled program.

City Connect 1,071 450 1,520 (450) 2,655 2,655 Bring forward funds as works proceeding ahead of scheduled program.

Unified Customer View 1,688 39 1,727 (39) 2,990 2,990 Bring forward funds as works proceeding ahead of scheduled program.

One CRM Platform 1,089 310 1,399 (310) 1,089 1,089 Bring forward funds as works proceeding ahead of scheduled program.

Pathway Enhancement 705 164 869 (164) 1,173 1,173 Bring forward funds as works proceeding ahead of scheduled program.

Integration Program 553 300 853 1,660 1,960
Additional budget required to onboard resources needed to 
accommodate the integration between the systems.

Smart Digital Forms 1,289 1,289 1,418 1,119 1,816 4,353
Additional budget required to include the digitisation of key forms form 
the Centre of Excellence project and higher vendor costs

Future TDS Initiatives 0 0 (1,418) (1,119) 0 (2,537) As per above

Core Network Infrastructure Upgrade 941 692 1,634 941 1,634 Additional funds are requested to cover expanded scope 

PAIT Refresh 148 (148) 0 148 0 As per above

SOE Annual Refresh 200 (110) 90 595 486 As per above

Future TDS Initiatives 0 (435) 435 0 (435) 0 (435) As per above

Total TDS 10,907 300 0 2,148 13,355 (2,148) 0 0 0 0 28,185 28,485

2020/21 Financial year Proposed budget adjustments in future years Total

36



Attachment C 

Second Quarter Operational Plan Report 
2020/21   

 

 

 

37



City of Sydney – Operational Plan Report – Quarter 2 2020/21 
 
 
Table of Contents 
1 A globally competitive and innovative city .............................................................................. 4 

1.1 Plans are in place to accommodate growth and change in the city centre and other key economic areas. .............. 4 

1.2 The city economy is competitive, prosperous and inclusive. ..................................................................................... 4 

1.3 The city economy is an integrated network of sectors, markets and high performing clusters. ................................. 6 

1.4 The city economy is resilient. .................................................................................................................................... 6 

1.5 The city enhances its global position and attractiveness as a destination for people, business and investment. ..... 7 

1.S.1 Performance Measures ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

2 A leading environmental performer ........................................................................................ 11 

2.1 Greenhouse gas emissions are reduced across the city......................................................................................... 11 

2.2 Waste from the city is managed as a valuable resource and the environmental impacts of its generation and 
disposal are minimised. ................................................................................................................................................ 12 

2.3 Across the city, potable water use is reduced through efficiency and recycling and gross pollutant loads to 
waterways are reduced. ................................................................................................................................................ 14 

2.4 City residents, businesses, building owners, workers and visitors improve their environmental performance. ....... 15 

2.5 The City of Sydney’s operations and activities demonstrate leadership in environmental performance. ................ 16 

2.6 The extent and quality of urban canopy cover, landscaping and city greening is maximised. ................................ 18 

2.7 The city’s buildings, infrastructure, emergency services and social systems are resilient to the likely impacts of 
climate change. ............................................................................................................................................................. 20 

2.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 21 

3 Integrated transport for a connected city ............................................................................... 25 

3.1 Investment in public transport and walking and cycling infrastructure encourages more people to use these forms 
of transport to travel to, from and within the city. .......................................................................................................... 25 

3.2 Transport infrastructure is aligned with city growth. ................................................................................................ 25 

3.3 The amenity of the city centre and villages is enhanced through careful management and integration of transport.
 ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 

3.4 Public transport, walking and cycling are the first choice transport modes within the city. ...................................... 27 

3.5 Transport services and infrastructure are accessible. ............................................................................................. 28 

3.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 29 

  

38



Page 2 of 67 

4 A city for walking and cycling ................................................................................................. 30 

4.1 The city and neighbouring areas have a network of accessible, safe, connected pedestrian and cycling paths 
integrated with green spaces. ....................................................................................................................................... 30 

4.2 The city centre is managed to facilitate the movement of people walking and cycling. ........................................... 31 

4.3 The number of people who choose to walk and cycle continues to increase. ......................................................... 31 

4.4 Businesses in the city encourage their staff to walk and cycle more often. ............................................................. 32 

4.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 33 

5 A lively and engaging city centre ............................................................................................ 34 

5.1 The city centre has safe and attractive public spaces for people to meet, rest and walk through at all times of the 
day or night; with George Street as a distinctive spine. ................................................................................................ 34 

5.2 The city centre provides diversity of built form, uses and experiences. .................................................................. 34 

5.3 Innovative, creative, retail, hospitality, tourism and small business activity is supported in the city centre. ............ 35 

5.4 The city centre is a place for cultural activity, creative expression and participation. .............................................. 35 

5.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 36 

6 Resilient and inclusive local communities ............................................................................. 37 

6.1 Our city comprises many unique places – a ‘city of villages’ – for communities to live, meet, shop, study, create, 
play, discover, learn and work. ..................................................................................................................................... 37 

6.2 Our city is a place where people are welcomed, included and connected. ............................................................. 38 

6.3 Local economies are resilient, meet the needs of their community, and provide opportunities for people to realise 
their potential. ............................................................................................................................................................... 39 

6.4 There is equitable access to community facilities and places, parks and recreational facilities to support wellbeing 
in daily life. .................................................................................................................................................................... 39 

6.5 The community has the capacity, confidence and resilience to adapt to changing circumstances. ........................ 41 

6.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 42 

7 A cultural and creative city ...................................................................................................... 47 

7.1 Creativity is a consistent and visible feature of the public domain and there are distinctive cultural precincts in the 
city and its villages. ....................................................................................................................................................... 47 

7.2 The city supports and encourages individual creative expression by ensuring opportunities for creative 
participation are visible, accessible and sustainable. .................................................................................................... 48 

7.3 Sydney’s cultural sector and creative industries are supported and enhanced leading to greater sector 
sustainability, productivity gains, and innovation. ......................................................................................................... 48 

7.4 The continuous living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities is visible and celebrated in our 
city. ............................................................................................................................................................................... 49 

7.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 50 

  

39



Page 3 of 67 

8 Housing for a diverse community ........................................................................................... 51 

8.1 The supply of market housing in the city meets the needs of a diverse and growing population. ........................... 51 

8.2 The supply of affordable housing supports a diverse and sustainable community and economy. .......................... 51 

8.3 The supply of safe and sustainable social housing in the inner city is available for those who need it. .................. 52 

8.4 People who are homeless or at risk of homelessness have access to safe and sustainable housing and support. 53 

8.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 54 

9 Sustainable development, renewal and design ..................................................................... 55 

9.1 The City of Sydney leads by example to facilitate great places. ............................................................................. 55 

9.2 The city is beautiful, sustainable and functions well. ............................................................................................... 55 

9.3 There are great public buildings, streets, squares and parks for everyone to use and enjoy.................................. 56 

9.4 Sydney plans for the long-term and the benefit of future generations. .................................................................... 57 

9.5 The urban environment promotes health and wellbeing. ........................................................................................ 57 

9.S.1 Performance Measures ....................................................................................................................................... 58 

10 Implementation through effective governance and partnerships ...................................... 59 

10.1 The City of Sydney is well governed. .................................................................................................................... 59 

10.2 The City of Sydney has the culture, capability and capacity to deliver Sustainable Sydney 2030 priorities. ......... 60 

10.3 The City of Sydney is financially sustainable over the longer-term. ...................................................................... 62 

10.4 The City of Sydney makes a positive contribution to the governance of metropolitan Sydney. ............................ 63 

10.5 The community is engaged and active in shaping the future of the city. ............................................................... 63 

10.6 Strategic partners and collaborators support the delivery of Sustainable Sydney 2030. ...................................... 64 

10.S.1 Performance Measures ..................................................................................................................................... 66 

 

40



Page 4 of 67 

 

1 A globally competitive and innovative city 
Keeping Sydney globally competitive is central to Sydney’s and Australia’s future. The city must focus on the global economy and sustained innovation to ensure continuing prosperity. 

1.1 Plans are in place to accommodate growth and change in the city centre and other key economic areas.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

City Planning  

Conduct strategic studies and reviews to inform planning control 
amendments that protect and grow jobs in line with the Local 
Strategic Planning Statement. 

The Central Sydney Planning Strategy and revised planning proposal identifies opportunities for employment growth. 
It was placed on public exhibition with consultation events for community, stakeholders and industry. Submissions 
were reviewed and final planning controls were approved by Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee in 
December 2020. The City will now implement the controls with the NSW Government. Planning and Urban Design 
Studies to protect and grow jobs are being carried out for Botany Road Corridor, Oxford Street and Enterprise Lands. 

On Track 

City Development  

Provide strategic input into State Government and major public or 
private development projects to ensure that public domain outcomes 
support public life, activation, and are integrated with surrounding 
areas. 

The City has ongoing involvement, input and advocacy as required into state government led projects including 
Circular Quay, Central Station, Metro station precincts, North Eveleigh precinct, Redfern Station upgrade, and 
Hickson Road (the Hungry Mile) at Barangaroo. Major private development projects include AMP Circular Quay 
precinct, Alfred and George Street Circular Quay and Green Square urban renewal area. 

On Track 

Service Delivery  

Deliver City Services to meet the needs of a Global City. The draft City Services Vision is in the final stages of completion. On Track 

1.2 The city economy is competitive, prosperous and inclusive.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Economy  

Continue to implement the OPEN Sydney Strategy to develop a 
vibrant, safe and sustainable night time economy that offers a diverse 
range of leisure and entertainment options for all ages and interests, 
with inviting and safe public spaces, easily accessible information and 
connected transport. 

In October 2020 Council approved fee waivers and changes to the City’s Outdoor Dining Guideline, streamlining the 
approval process for outdoor dining on footways and in reallocated road space to support recovery of hospitality 
businesses. The City's Nightlife and Creative Sector Advisory Panel met twice to discuss key issues and needs in 
light of the pandemic. Their feedback has helped inform the City's approach to supporting businesses. Many 
recommendations made by the City were included in the Liquor Amendment (24-hour Economy) Bill 2020 and will 
strengthen the City’s Open and Creative planning reforms, which are being finalised post public exhibition. These 
reforms will enable later trading shops and businesses, more small-scale cultural activities and better sound 
management for nightlife and live music venues. The City provided input into the NSW Government 24-Hour 
Economy Strategy for the Greater Sydney Area, which was launched on 14 September 2020. 

On Track 

41



Page 5 of 67 

Develop and implement the International Engagement Framework 
focused on promoting Sydney globally. 

The City has continued to progress initiatives to support international students and businesses to engage globally, 
guided by the Economic Development Strategy. The City participated in a virtual global seminar on international 
education “The Promotion of Cities as Study Destinations”. The event aimed to champion global cities’ work in 
supporting the sector during Covid-19 and share insights on promoting cities towards international students post 
Covid-19. The seminar attracted a live audience of 356 and 318 viewers of the post recording.  Haymarket HQ has 
completed the Sydney Landing Pad program, supported by the City through Knowledge Exchange Sponsorships. The 
program successfully recruited 17 international high-growth small to medium sized enterprises and scaleup 
organisations and provided them with knowledge and connections necessary to set up in Sydney. The program helps 
retain and attract international talent, grow jobs and position Sydney as a major innovation hub in the Asia Pacific 
region. 

On Track 

Implement priority projects and programs from the Retail Action Plan 
that create great experiences, build capacity and resilience, remove 
barriers, and engage with the sector. 

Retail trade is down 8% in the period July to September 2020 (compared to the same period in 2019).  To support the 
sector the City has continued to engage with the sector to gather evidence of impacts and needs as we turn our 
attention to recovery. 
 
During the October to December quarter the City encouraged retailers and major shopping centres to work with the 
creative/cultural sector and apply for CBD activation grants. $3m has been approved in grant funds to support the 
activation of the city and in particular, the retail, tourism and hospitality sector. 
 
In addition the Alfresco program was launched to support the retail, food and beverage sector to encourage food and 
beverage businesses to apply for outdoor dining permits at no cost until October 2021 to help activate the local 
government area. 

On Track 

Implement priority projects and programs arising from the Tech Start 
Up Action Plan to support the growth of the tech start-up ecosystem. 

The  Business Innovation Space (currently under construction at 182 George Street) project continued to progress. 
Negotiation with the finalist from the Request for Offer stage for the operator has started. 
 
Reboot webinar series by the City launched in October 2020. It offers free weekly webinars for small businesses and 
entrepreneurs to increase their digital skills and helps them to explore potential solutions to current challenges. 
 
Conversation with the startups ecosystem in Sydney continued. The global ranking of Sydney's tech startups 
ecosystem by Startup Genome slipped again by 4 places to 27th in 2020. Sydney's ranking also dropped by 12 
places to 31st in the recently released ranking by Startup Blink. 

On Track 

Implement priority projects and programs from the Eora Journey 
Economic Development Plan that focus on support for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander business owners, employees and education 
success. 

The City continues to meet with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Panel to seek advice and insights.  
 
Work is ongoing to progress the combined work across the new Stretch Reconciliation Action Plan and Eora Journey 
Economic Development Plan including progressing the work on 119 Redfern Street.  
 
Successful grants during this period include an extension of the Jarjums Program at Glebe Public School, a cookery 
program to enhance employment opportunities at Tranby National Indigenous Adult Education & Training Centre and 
support for Blak Markets Enterprise. Acting on feedback from the community, steps have already been taken to 
improve the grant process including the opportunity to submit verbal applications. 

On Track 

Strategic research, analysis and knowledge sharing  

Collect data, undertake strategic analysis, and provide demographic 
and economic development information to industry, academia, 
government and business. 

The 2020 Housing Audit, Residential Monitor, Commercial Development Monitor and Visitor Accommodation Monitor 
have all been completed and uploaded to the website for use by industry, academia, government and business.  
EconomyID module has been included in Council's suite of demographic data (Community Profile, Social Atlas and 
Population Forecasts). 

On Track 

42



Page 6 of 67 

1.3 The city economy is an integrated network of sectors, markets and high performing clusters.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Knowledge and skills  

Implement appropriate projects and programs to support the recovery 
of the International Education sector impacted by Covid-19. 

Currently there are over 140,000 international students in NSW and over 54,000 studying off-shore awaiting the re-
opening of borders. Australia’s overall international student enrolments are only 7% lower than last year, but this is 
likely to drop further if the borders remain closed.  
 
12 projects took place in Q2 to support international students in our community. International student wellbeing 
remains a primary concern, and the City continues advocating for their voice to be heard in collaboration with the 
sector, for example in November a request was made to the State Emergency Operations Centre (SEOC) to support 
international students and other temporary visa holder who are sleeping rough or at risk of sleeping rough.  
 
Through Ozharvest a dedicated international student hamper hub remains in place providing approx. 1,000 hampers 
weekly to international students in need. It is one of the organisations supported by the City which is providing food 
relief to vulnerable international students.  The City also worked with StudyNSW on the Summer Engagement 
Program for international students which is an online resource of programs, resources and services to support 
international students over the summer period when education providers traditionally are closed.  
 
In November, at the International Education Association of Australia (IEAA) Research Summit the City presented 
'Beyond Campus Life' as part of a panel discussion on support for international students during the pandemic. 160 
people registered for the virtual event and approx. 100 logged on.  
 
To support the planning for a safe return of international students to Sydney, the City is now part of the NSW Vice 
Chancellors Committee (NSWVCC) Student Wellbeing Working Group, which currently has universities working 
together on pilot plans. The City has continued to meet virtually with the sector, such as through MOU meetings with 
both the University of Sydney and the University of Technology, Sydney (UTS) and state government counterparts. 

On Track 

Affordable spaces - economic  

Manage the use of City owned properties as affordable space within 
the context of the City’s economic action plans. 

The Business Innovation Space project (182 George Street) continued to progress. The negotiations with the 
preferred operator, short listed from the Request for Offer stage has started. This project will deliver over 3,800 sqm 
affordable space at Circular Quay to support the tech startup sector. 

On Track 

1.4 The city economy is resilient.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Economic Resilience  

Contribute to metropolitan and state-wide strategic economic 
planning. 

NSW Treasury is developing an Economic Development Strategy for the Tech Central precinct. City staff participated 
in the working group and contributed to the preparation of the scope of works. The City will continue to support the 
project as it progresses.  
 
As a member of the Western Harbour Alliance, the City is involved in Western Harbour Precinct - Business 
Improvement District trial project. The proposed three-year formal trial of the internationally -proven business 
improvement district model is planned to commence in 2021. Early discussion of the project commenced in December 
2020. 

On Track 

43



Page 7 of 67 

1.5 The city enhances its global position and attractiveness as a destination for people, business and investment.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Major events  

Deliver appropriate major events that support the social and 
economic recovery of the city. 

The Martin Place Christmas tree was displayed in the CBD together with Pitt Street Mall canopy of light, Christmas 
pole decorations and a light curtain on the corner of George and Bathurst Streets. Christmas trees were also 
displayed throughout the villages including Glebe, Kings Cross, Taylor Square, Pyrmont, Surry Hills, Erskineville, 
Green Square and at Town Hall, Cathedral Square and Customs House. The City developed a free self-guided 
walking tour of Christmas lights, trees and shopping destinations across the local area. To ensure the safety of the 
community during the Covid-19 pandemic, programming during December included roving characters and musicians 
throughout the Sydney CBD and pop up music performances in the City’s villages. This year’s charity partner was 
OzHarvest. 
 
In September, the City announced that the NSW Government would take temporary custodianship of Sydney's New 
Year's Eve celebrations, due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  The NSW Government kept New Year’s Eve 2020 
celebrations to a seven-minute pyrotechnic display at midnight. To keep residents and visitors safe, crowd numbers 
were strictly controlled by the NSW Government. 

On Track 

Visitor Experience  

Implement priority projects and programs from the Tourism Action 
Plan that focus on destination development, destination management 
and destination marketing. 

The impact from Covid-19 pandemic continues to have a significant impact on the Tourism/Visitor economy. The City 
has participated in many stakeholder workshops and engagement sessions with the sector to continue to gather 
evidence of impacts and future needs to support the sector as we turn our attention to recovery in the later half of 
financial year 2020/21.   
 
The tourism sector has been encouraged to apply for appropriate CBD activation grants to support the recovery of the 
CBD and those events/activities will be scheduled throughout 2021. 

On Track 

Business and Investment Attraction  

Work with the State Government and other partners on initiatives to 
promote Sydney, and with Business Events Sydney to attract 
international conferences to Sydney. 

The City has worked closely with media partners through the ‘365 Days of Local Economies’ initiative to promote over 
1,200 businesses including a campaign with Time Out to highlight local business innovations and adaptations as lock-
down measures eased, ‘shop local’ promotions with Concrete Playground and a series of Christmas shopping guides 
with Broadsheet.  
 
Despite the immediate and significant impacts of Covid-19 to the global conference industry, Business Events Sydney 
has rescheduled 70% of meetings from this year into future years and has 85 meetings and incentives confirmed for 
Sydney from 2021 to 2026. While borders remain closed, the City is also working closely with Business Events 
Sydney to target the national events market to secure more domestic events for Sydney over the next 12 -18 months. 

On Track 

Safety  

Develop robust partnerships with emergency services, relevant 
agencies and the community to build capacity and resilience to 
prevent, respond and recover from emergencies. 

The City continues to coordinate the activities of the Local Emergency Management Committee (LEMC), including the 
response to Covid-19. This includes regular reporting on response and recovery activities and emerging issues. 
Progress update includes: 
- City of Sydney Resilience Risk Assessment and Action Plan is nearing completion. 
- Revised Local Emergency Risk Assessment is nearing completion and feedback is being sought from the LEMC. 
- Revised Local Emergency Management Plan is in progress. 

On Track 

44



Page 8 of 67 

Cleansing and waste  

Provide high quality, customer focussed street cleansing service that 
meets the needs of the community. 

In Q2 the City collected 16,616.3 tonnes of residential and cleansing waste. The total recycling component was made 
up of 180.9 tonnes of mattresses, 282.38 tonnes of whitegoods/metals, and 44.23  tonnes of E-waste from recycling 
events and contractor streaming. 

On Track 

Monitoring and compliance  

Maintain inspection programs to monitor legislative compliance in the 
areas of fire safety, building compliance, late night trading premises 
and public health. 

The City manages compliance with applicable fire safety regulations through regular structured monitoring of 
properties and compliance programs. Due to the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic some programs were either subject 
to a temporary pause or subject to a temporary stay of enforcement as owners were unable in a number of situations 
to comply with regulatory standards. Late night and licensed premises inspections and boarding house/backpacker 
inspections remain suspended due to Covid-19 related concerns. 
 
The retail food safety inspection program continued to be undertaken during Q2 - 652 inspections were completed. 
Additionally, an audit program was completed of all cooling towers located within the vicinity of Circular Quay prior to 
New Year's Eve.  
 
Unauthorised sex premises present a risk to the health and safety of workers and customers. The City continues to 
investigate complaints. 
 
The City has also continued to manage rodent baiting programs across all public spaces and parks. This involves 
approximately 920+ bait boxes. The targeted laneway inspection program continues with increased monitoring to 
address rat harbourage and waste management with approximately 20 laneways receiving satisfactory audits. 
Inspections of swimming pool barriers also continued in Q2. 

On Track 

Operate proactive patrols to monitor legislative compliance and 
respond to customer complaints including but not limited to 
development consents, companion animals, noise, litter and unlawful 
trading. 

In the first quarter of the year City Rangers spent over 14,398 hours in patrols to monitor legislative compliance and 
respond to customer complaints including but not limited to Development Applications, companion animals, noise, 
litter and unlawful trading. A further 14,138 hours of patrols were conducted in Q2. 

On Track 

1.S.1 Performance Measures  

City Development  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Commercial development approved m2 307,491 275,036 - 46,370 37,357 - - 83,727 Includes two buildings with approximately 

10,000m²; one in Chinatown and one in Green 
Square. 

Indicator 
Only 

Commercial development completed m2 131,138.63 141,594 - 2,557 1,872 - - 4,429 There were no major commercial 
developments completed in Q2. 

Indicator 
Only 

45



Page 9 of 67 

Business Events Sydney  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Bids for business events submitted No. 24 25 - - 1 - - 1 One bid submitted - IEEE International 

Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality 
(ISMAR) 2022. 
 
Low number of bids reflects the current 
environment due to Covid-19. 

Indicator 
Only 

Events secured No. 20 19 - - 0 - - - Given the current environment with Covid-19, 
Business Events Sydney is seeing a hesitancy 
from international meeting decision makers. 
This in turn is reflected in these figures. 

Indicator 
Only 

Delegate numbers of events secured No. 16,340 11,126 - - 0 - - - Given the current environment with Covid-19, 
Business Events Sydney is seeing a hesitancy 
from international meeting decision makers. 
This in turn is reflected in these figures. 

Indicator 
Only 

Economic impact of events secured $M 70 41.4 - - 0 - - - Given the current environment with Covid-19, 
Business Events Sydney is seeing a hesitancy 
from international meeting decision makers. 
This in turn is reflected in these figures. 

Indicator 
Only 

Delegate days of events secured No. 72,530 43,696 - - 0 - - - Given the current environment with Covid-19, 
Business Events Sydney is seeing a hesitancy 
from international meeting decision makers. 
This in turn is reflected in these figures. 

Indicator 
Only 46



Page 10 of 67 

Support for the Economy and Business  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Grants approved by the City of Sydney 
including all commercial creative and 
business events and relevant knowledge 
exchange grants 

$ '000 778.65 739.76 - 144.02 281.28 - - 425.3 In the first half of the year, 18 economic grants 
were approved by Council for a year to date 
total of $425,304 in cash and value-in-kind. 
These projects were awarded through the 
City’s Knowledge Exchange Sponsorship and 
includes support for Bicycle Food Delivery Co-
op, Global Cities After Dark Sydney and the 
Youth Innovation Challenge. 

Indicator 
Only 

Grants approved by the City of Sydney 
for major events 

$ '000 5,540.7 5,662.4 - 423.25 0 - - 423.25 In the first half of the year, the City supported 
the Sydney Fringe Festival and Vogue 
Fashion’s Night Out to value of $423,250 in 
cash and value-in-kind. 

Indicator 
Only 

Diverse and inclusive economy  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
City of Sydney suppliers who identify 
themselves as Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander 

No. 156 178 - 180 192 - - 192  Indicator 
Only 

International Students  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
International students studying in the 
City of Sydney LGA 

No. 175,000 140,000 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

  

47



Page 11 of 67 

2 A leading environmental performer 
The City of Sydney has adopted ambitious targets for the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, potable water use and waste to landfill. 

We will work towards a sustainable future that mitigates environmental impact and adapts to a changing climate. 

We also understand the importance of green space and urban biodiversity. We have developed comprehensive policies and clear targets to increase the urban canopy, biodiversity, 
waterway health and the physical greening of the city. 

2.1 Greenhouse gas emissions are reduced across the city.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Energy efficiency and renewables  

Continue to identify and implement initiatives to facilitate the 50% 
renewable by 2030 target for the city. 
 

2023 10 Phase one projects under development include Ausgrid Power2U, renewable 
energy help centre and other programs.  The suite of initiatives is being reviewed 
as part of preparatory work to the Environment Strategy and Action Plan. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Energy efficiency and renewables  

Leverage fleet analytics to drive a reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions and set targets. 

The City is continuing to improve data quality, procedures and analytics to enhance the ability to drive efficiencies and 
reductions in emissions. Work is nearing completion on an upgrade of Ausfleet to assist these processes, and to 
integrate data sources. Work is also underway to tailor driver education programs to take into account the insights 
from data generated by the new telematics system. In addition to the Eco Safe driving handbook, Fleet Services are 
developing a green strategy to outline the increased take up of more energy efficient vehicles. Emissions across the 
fleet continue to drop, and emissions targets are being reviewed and are likely to be further reduced based on the 
data to date which shows continued reductions. 

On Track 

Actively manage Ausgrid to replace LED lights for all public domain 
light types (street lights, parks etc.) in the city area in a timely 
manner. 

Ausgrid recommenced works in June 2020 to replace Ausgrid owned conventional street lights in the City with energy 
efficient LED’s. In November, Ausgrid reported that 3,018 out of a total of 3,073 fittings were upgraded to LED on 
residential streets.  Ausgrid are planning to upgrade the remainder of the fittings by March 2021. 
 
Ausgrid anticipate commencing the rollout of Stage 2, on high trafficked roads in March 2021 subject to the planning 
of works. 

On Track 

Sustainable Planning  

Develop a pathway for the City’s current planning controls to be 
strengthened over time to deliver net zero energy building standards. 

Key project actions  completed include: seeking feedback from Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, 
Greater Sydney Commission, Northern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils and forum partners on the draft 
performance standard pathways; drafting planning controls; preparation and event management for the industry and 
government forum planned in March 2021. 

On Track 

Investigate the inclusion of Development Control Plan (DCP) 
provisions that introduce NABERS Energy Commitment Agreements 
for new hotel buildings and major hotel refurbishments. 

A cost benefit analysis has been completed on three hotel typologies, as new builds and major refurbishments. The 
findings are being incorporated into the pathways to net zero buildings project. 

On Track 

48



Page 12 of 67 

Advocacy  

Advocate for higher BASIX targets for residential buildings. The evidence base to identify higher BASIX targets for high rise development and improvements to the BASIX tool 
forms part of the City’s Net Zero Planning Pathway program. The evidence base is being complemented by 
discussions with a number of developers. The recommendations for changes will be presented to Government with 
the pathways project. 

On Track 

2.2 Waste from the city is managed as a valuable resource and the environmental impacts of its generation and disposal are minimised.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Managing waste and resources  

Continue investigating opportunities to divert residential food waste 
from landfill. 

2022 69 As at the end of December 2020, the residential food scraps collection and 
recycling trial had been operational for seventeen months. So far, the trial has 
diverted 374 tonnes of food waste from landfill.   
 
Implementation of Phase II of the trial is well underway. In the past 3 months the 
City has recruited an additional 18 apartment buildings into the trial, taking the 
total number of participating properties to 117 apartment buildings and 1,025 
houses, and effectively making the service available to more than 9,500 
households. At full roll out of Phase II, the service will be available to more than 
21,000 households across the City. 
 
In November City staff completed and submitted the Milestone 2 report for the 
$1.29M Waste Less Recycle More grant for the food scraps trial project. This 
report included a full evaluation of Phase I of the trial. 
 
Interest in the trial from the waste industry and councils across the country has 
been strong. In recent months staff have delivered multiple presentations on the 
project to industry groups and councils including the Waste Management & 
Resource Recovery Association of Australia (WMRR) NSW waste education 
group, SSROC, NSROC, ACT NOWaste, waste consultants and local councils. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Sustainable Planning  

Review and update standard waste conditions to comply with new 
guidelines for waste management in new developments. 

Conditions will be developed through the regular review of standard conditions of consent in financial year 2020/21. On Track 

Monitoring and reporting waste  

Integrate organisational waste reporting on the City's digital 
environmental platform. 

Strong progress on the integration of Construction Services waste data into the organisational environmental data 
platform has been achieved. The integration of operational waste data from City assets has been completed. 

On Track 

49



Page 13 of 67 

Managing waste and resources  

Implement the Resource Recovery Engagement Action Plan to 
reduce waste, recycle more and work with the community to reduce 
illegal dumping. 

To expand the items our residents can recycle easily, the City is trialling an on-demand recycling service for tricky 
items including clothes, soft plastics, small electronics and expanded polystyrene for 12 months. As of November 
2020, City residents can book a contactless collection of these items directly from the resident’s door. 
 
The aim of this service is to make it more convenient for residents to recycle common items the City currently doesn’t 
collect from the kerbside for recycling and to cater to those residents who can’t wait or travel to the City’s next 
quarterly recycling drop-off event. 
  
As part of National Recycling Week, 4 x recycling pop-up events were undertaken at Broadway and Tramsheds 
shopping centres where residents were encouraged to bring their old batteries, light bulbs, mobile phones and soft 
plastics for recycling and were educated about safe reuse options. 221 people attended and City Outreach Officers 
engaged directly with 196 people and collected 26.5kg of recyclables. 
 
The first phase of the Recycling Helper Service was completed in December which provided 14 apartment buildings 
with custom support to increase yellow bin recycling rates. Initial results show a reduction in both contamination levels 
indicating consistent visual prompts supported by education can encourage better recycling behaviours. 
 
The annual Household Chemical Cleanout Drop-Off event was held in October 2020 collecting 17.8 tonnes of 
household hazardous waste from 492 attendees. The second ‘Recycle It Saturday’ event was held in December 2020 
with 384 attendees recycling approximately 7 tonnes. 

On Track 

Management and compliance  

Conduct targeted patrols in the public domain to address illegal 
dumping, discarded cigarette butts, littering and other activity which is 
contrary to the provisions of the Protection of the Environment 
Operations Act. 

In the first quarter of the year 256 patrol hours were conducted and 11 notices were issued. In Q2 a further 1,069 
patrol hours were conducted with 33 notices being issued. 

On Track 

Advocacy  

Advocate for state allocation of appropriate land resources to waste 
treatment, improved waste data, expanded product stewardship, 
maintaining landfill levy. 

The City, through its membership of the Southern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils, has been involved in a 
project to determine future waste infrastructure and data needs. The City also provided a submission to the NSW 
Government as input toward their preparation of the Draft 20 Year Waste Strategy, which is expected in 2021. 

On Track 

50



Page 14 of 67 

2.3 Across the city, potable water use is reduced through efficiency and recycling and gross pollutant loads to waterways are reduced.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Recycled water  

Facilitate delivery of large-scale recycled water projects in new and 
established areas of the city. 

2021 75 The Green Square town centre water recycling scheme is in operation and 
supplying recycled water to customers. Production of recycled water is increasing 
as more apartments within the Green Square Town Centre are connected to the 
network. Further installation of the last piece of reticulation infrastructure is 
pending (known as Separable Portion 6 in the design and construct contract with 
Flow Systems). Recycled water pipes are installed for future use along the light 
rail route in George Street and Wynyard Walk. This infrastructure is planned to be 
incorporated into a CBD recycling scheme operated by a private water utility. An 
EOI is being prepared for this scheme. Sydney Park Water Reuse relocation and 
upgrade completed construction and is in operation. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Sustainable Planning  

Develop a process to ensure that water sensitive urban design in all 
developments is assessed (against technical guidelines or by a 
suitably qualified specialist) to meet or exceed Development Control 
Plan stormwater quality requirements. 

The City continues to update the model as additional assets are constructed that contribute to Water Quality targets. 
This software model allows development applications to be assessed for compliance with the City's stormwater quality 
targets. 

On Track 

Investigate opportunities for development to use water efficiently and 
improve the health of waterways through changes to the planning 
controls in line with the Local Strategic Planning Statement. 

A NABERS Water control for non-residential buildings will be developed as part of the update to the Local 
Environment Plan and Development Control Plan. A review of Water Sensitive Urban Design planning controls is 
programmed for FY21/22. 

On Track 

Advocacy  

Advocate for urban renewal areas to meet world’s best practice 
environmental standards. 

In the last quarter the City has advocated to the NSW Government for environmental outcomes aligned to City targets 
for the following projects: Pyrmont Place Strategy, Circular Quay Renewal, Waterloo Estate, Waterloo Metro Quarter 

On Track 

Stormwater quality / waterway health  

Continue to include raingardens in road and streetscape renewal 
designs where feasible to contribute to water quality targets and 
reduce urban heat. 

Raingardens continue to be included in road renewal works where feasible. On Track 

Continue to identify and implement opportunities to include Water 
Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) infrastructure in all new City 
projects. 

Ongoing -A watching brief is being maintained on major developments in the local government area (LGA) with a view 
to identify and implement opportunities to include Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) infrastructure. 

On Track 

Where possible, retrofit the City’s stormwater system with gross 
pollutant traps to reduce solids discharged to waterways via 
stormwater run-off. 

Gross pollutant traps will continue to be added to the stormwater drainage network in the City's local government area 
to assist in achieving stormwater quality improvement target for receiving waterways. 

On Track 

51



Page 15 of 67 

2.4 City residents, businesses, building owners, workers and visitors improve their environmental performance.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Commercial office engagement  

Implement priority projects, programs and advocacy arising from the 
City’s Sydney’s Sustainable Office Plan. 

Action is delivered largely through the flagship programs of the Better Buildings Partnership and CitySwitch Green 
Office.  
 
In the first half of this year the City delivered information through the Good Environmental Choice circular economy 
conference; The Energy Efficiency Council annual conference, with a CitySwitch report on Office Energy; and the 
World Energy forum where the Better Buildings Partnership presented a safety study on installation of batteries. In 
December the Partnership’s annual executive event was held where interim annual results were presented.  
 
The Better Buildings Partnership has continued to lead industry innovation with the release of research pieces on 
circular economy, energy demand, and battery safety. CitySwitch delivered a tool for better tracking of occupancy 
numbers and energy performance in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

On Track 

Business engagement (non-office based)  

Implement priority projects, programs and advocacy arising from the 
City’s Making Sydney a Sustainable Destination Plan. 

Action to deliver the Making Sydney a Sustainable Destination Plan has been significantly impacted due to the health 
and economic impacts of Covid-19. The following progress has been made this year against the following goals. 
1. Activate Upgrades: The City has continued to promote and offer subsidised building ratings to the sector through 
the provision of grants.  
2. Build Capacity and Foster Leadership: The Sustainable Destination Partnership is the key platform through which 
the City builds the sector capacity and demonstrates leadership. After a quiet period due to Covid-19, the Partnership 
has delivered an annual workplan, annual reporting and a workshop on renewable Power Purchase Agreements.  
3. Promote and Recognise: The City is working with the Sustainable Destination Partnership to promote Sydney as a 
safe and sustainable destination. 

On Track 

Residential Engagement  

Implement priority projects, programs and advocacy arising from the 
City’s Residential Apartment Sustainability Plan. 

Since 2016 the Smart Green Apartments program has reduced 20,324 tonnes CO2e, 697ML water, saved $4.19 
million in operational costs, and installed 652kW onsite solar.  
 
Highlights this financial year to December 2020 include: 
- 32 Ratings grants were awarded to owners’ corporations 
- An energy efficiency webinar was delivered to 45 building managers 
- A grant was awarded to Strata Answers to generate digital content about fundamentals of strata living. 
- The City and Owners Corporation Network ran a webinar on electric vehicle charging in apartment buildings 
with 128 attendees.  
- The City sponsored the Environment Award at the 2020 Strata Community Australia Gala Awards.  
- The City supported a four-day online summit for apartment owners hosted by Your Strata Property.  
- Eight newsletters were distributed through Sustainable Apartment News to 3,016 recipients. 
- The quarterly Strata Sustainability Reference Group was held in August and November. 
- 89 apartment buildings have a NABERS rating.  
 
The City continued to advocate for improved minimum environmental standards for apartment buildings. The City is 
participating in the NABERS National Steering Committee. 

On Track 

52



Page 16 of 67 

Provision of grants and other cross sector support  

Continue to support the community’s adoption of renewable energy in 
line with the City’s 50% renewable electricity by 2030 target. 

There is 14.4MW of rooftop solar installed in the city. The Power2U program has installed 270kW.  We continue to 
support the provision of solar feasibility reports, case studies and promote offsite renewables through our sector 
programs. Smart Green Apartments buildings have installed 652kW. A webinar on Power Purchase Agreements was 
held for the Sustainable Destination Partnership. The City also produced articles on GreenPower which had 9,652 
views online. 
 
The City is accelerating renewables access through innovation grants. The Ultimo community is developing a 
roadmap to 100% renewables; another grant demonstrating world-first renewable energy solution developed by a 
Sydney-based clean tech company has 20 households trialling software to enable the purchase renewable energy 
directly from the solar/wind farm.  
  
The City’s renewables promotional campaign around our own Power Purchase Agreement won a global Carbon 
Neutral Cities Alliance award with marketing campaigns with an estimated reach of 700,000 views. 

On Track 

2.5 The City of Sydney’s operations and activities demonstrate leadership in environmental performance.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Capital Projects  

Install solar PV and energy storage infrastructure on suitable City 
properties and sites to maximise uptake of renewable energy. 

2027 75 The level of solar PV on City rooftops has reached about 2,200 kW, generating 
about 3,000 MWh of clean energy a year. Current projects with a combined 
capacity of about 250 kW are underway. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Environmental Management Systems  

Improve monitoring, reporting and verification of waste, energy and 
water data and other sustainability metrics for the local government 
area and our own operations. 

The Environmental Sustainability Platform has been implemented and records local government area sustainability 
metrics for energy, water and waste data. A project has commenced to review sector emissions intensity for future 
reporting. Progress also continues to improve the collection and reporting of construction waste from the City 
construction services contracts. System improvements continue with the incorporation of Climate Active (previously 
National Carbon Offset Standard scheme) datasets being implemented through the Sustainability Management and 
Reporting Tool (SMART) which monitors City operations energy, water usage and property waste data. 

On Track 

Continuously improve the systems, processes and organisational 
capability for managing utilities and other sustainability metrics within 
City-owned assets. 

The Sustainability Management System (SMART) and Working Group is established to track, manage utility trends, 
variances and opportunities. The SMART Working Group continues to action utility variance with investigations and 
corrective actions where required, whilst continuously improving the associated system, people and processes. 
Updates for the last quarter include: Construction and Demolition data uploads and process finalised; updates for new 
financial year variance tracking; benchmarking trial commenced for Aquatics and Sportsfield parks; system upgrades 
to include interval water data and recycled water data are now complete. 

On Track 

Capital Projects  

Adapt infrastructure design to account for current and future climate 
change (including water sensitive urban design, stormwater 
management, roads and pavement). 

The City’s Technical Specifications incorporate sustainable infrastructure outcomes and consider climate change 
impacts. The City continues to explore new opportunities and to participate in initiatives that improve outcomes and 
resilience with regards to climate change.  A recent example is participation in the SSROC sustainable pavements 
tender to include crushed recycled glass and other recycled products into road building. 

On Track 

53



Page 17 of 67 

Asset Management  

Improve energy and water efficiency at the City’s most resource 
intensive sites through identification, prioritisation and installation of 
efficiency measures and changes in management practices, including 
required metering and monitoring under the Major Properties 
Efficiency Project (MPEP). 

Under the MPEP Program Implementation, the LED lighting upgrades under Stage 1 works are close to completion 
(at 7 sites). Stage 2 LED lighting design has been completed and ready to commence installation. Wilcox Mofflin 
chiller replacement specifications have been developed. Other completed works include Cooling Tower and 
Rainwater Systems audits, installation of operational efficiency upgrades, 343 George St Air conditioning audits and 
various other facility management actions. 

On Track 

Review and update recycling streams and collection receptacles in 
City properties, and implement an education and behaviour change 
program to increase recycling and reduce contamination. 

A Property Waste Improvement Action Plan will continue to deliver actions and initiatives to support reducing the 
generation of waste as a priority, improvements in recycling, and continuing to achieve our greater than 70% diversion 
of waste from landfill for City Properties. The expansion of the food scrap collection service now includes Town Hall 
House, Sydney Town Hall, Pittsway Arcade (food court), Customs House, Alexandra Canal Depot and all the City's 
owned and operated child care centres. The introduction of new internal collection receptacles and complementary 
signage has commenced and will be delivered across the whole portfolio as required to further support the desired 
outcomes. Complementary capital works projects are also underway with the elimination of paper towels project 
replacing bathroom towels with hand dryers and Food Dehydrators project are in procurement stage. 

On Track 

Manage and analyse new energy efficient fuel options for the City’s 
light and heavy vehicle fleets to encourage low emission driving 
behaviour and reduce CO2 emissions. 

To assist with both fuel consumption reduction and emission reduction, the City has now completed the installation of 
vehicle telematics and is in the process developing reports and data from the system. This technology will provide 
much higher quality data than was available previously, which will help to improve overall driving habits, safety, 
optimise routes and monitor fleet utilisation.  
 
Fleet Services is also expecting delivery of the City's first fully electric commercial vehicle as part of a strategy to 
expand electric vehicle numbers. This vehicle will be trialled and assessed with a number of business units over the 
coming 12 months to assist and inform future purchasing decisions. Further electric (or low emissions) alternatives to 
other plant and equipment are being progressed. 

On Track 

Procurement, grant assessment & contract management  

Implement Social and Sustainable Procurement Guidelines, Supplier 
Code of Conduct, Returnable Schedule on selected procurement 
activities – major construction materials, consumables, major 
contract, event management and supplier due diligence. 

Social and Sustainable Procurement Guidelines, Supplier Code of Conduct, Returnable Schedule on selected 
procurement activities – major construction materials, consumables, major contract, event management and supplier 
due diligence has been completed and now monitored for effectiveness 

On Track 

54



Page 18 of 67 

2.6 The extent and quality of urban canopy cover, landscaping and city greening is maximised.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

City Farm  

Continue City Farm operations. 2020 50 Farm volunteer sessions continued in line with Covid-19 Safety Plan guidelines. 
82.5 volunteer hours were recorded in Q1, with numbers limited by Public Health 
Orders. Pilot zoom education classes were trialled attracting 70 attendees to 6 
sessions in Q1. 
 
426 volunteer hours were contributed at the Farm during Q2. A New Farm Hand 
self-guided volunteer program was launched. 86 people attended Farm education 
programs, with face-to-face education classes re-commenced while online zoom 
education classes continued. 
 
Farm orchard construction drawings were completed. Onsite orchard hardscape 
construction, and farm site water and electricity service connection is being 
planned to commence in early 2021. 

Watch 

Greening Sydney Plan  

Continue the review of the Greening Sydney Plan to identify targets 
and strategic priorities to increase the extent of greening that will cool 
and calm the city. 

2020 70 The review of the Greening Sydney Strategy is progressing. A draft Strategy has 
been prepared and includes strategic directions to deliver a cool, calm and 
resilient city. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Community Greening  

Support and promote the development of community gardens, 
footpath gardening, and sites maintained and managed by 
community volunteer groups. 

The City supports 20 community gardens, two footpath gardens, five Bushcare / Landcare groups and one community 
composting group by providing ongoing assistance, donation of materials and encouragement to become a self-
managed group to a high standard. A new garden group at Elger Street, Glebe is currently being formed. In the past 
12 months the community gardens at Frances Newton Park (East Sydney) and Lawrence Hargraves Reserve (Kings 
Cross) commenced operating and the stage 2 extension to Bourke Street Community Garden was completed. 

On Track 

Urban Forest  

Continue to deliver tree planting programs to maximise urban canopy 
and reduce the impacts of the urban heat island effect. 

Projects to increase canopy cover have continued. 360 street trees have been planted YTD. Planting will 
recommence in autumn when cooler weather returns. Ongoing delivery of the inroad planting projects continued, with 
the civil and understory planting works completed in Boyce St Glebe and Jones Bay Rd Pyrmont, and projects have 
been designed and planned for Crystal St Plaza and Bunn St Ultimo. 

On Track 

55



Page 19 of 67 

Urban Ecology  

Continue to expand, improve and protect bush regeneration areas in 
the City’s parks and open spaces. 

Core bush restoration sites continue to be maintained according to best practice to improve habitat value for flora and 
fauna. Extensive works on Prince Alfred Park native plant roof continue to significantly reduce exotic grass growth. 
The third and final stage of planting will commence in March 2021 with an additional 2000 plants to be installed. A 
work plan for Prince Alfred Park meadow has been developed to coordinate large scale removal of exotic grasses. In 
total, 1325 tubestock have been planted across the bush restoration sites. Ecological interpretive signage has been 
installed at prominent sites to raise awareness about the City's works in these areas as another tool to further protect 
the integrity of these sites. 

On Track 

Monitor the diversity, number and distribution of priority fauna species 
reported on the local government area. 

No reporting over this quarter. Formal fauna and flora surveys are due to commence in 2022 to assess any changes 
over the last 10 years in line with the Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan. The online fauna database is still being 
upgraded with the GIS team that aim to display community sightings on the City’s website. 

On Track 

Greening Sydney Plan  

Continue to deliver the public domain landscaping program. 3566 m2 was delivered in the second quarter. The stimulus footpath works package increased the amount completed 
for the financial year to end December to 7909 m2. 

On Track 

Deliver Living Colour floral displays throughout the city during spring 
and summer. 

Christmas display were removed in December after a successful 6 week display. 
 
Hanging baskets, greenwall, alfresco dining and light rail displays are currently in place enhancing and greening the 
City. Hanging baskets and greenwall are to be on display for 9 continual months 
 
A summer display will begin in mid-January for 8 weeks. 5 new display locations will be added for summer. 

On Track 

Parks Water Savings Action Plan  

Improve water efficiency at the City’s parks through installation of 
efficiency measures and changes in management practices. 

Water consumption in Parks for the 12 months ending September 2020 was down 31% on the same period the 
previous year, due to:  
- Contractors and parks staff utilising more recycled water by filling water trucks from the City’s non potable sources  
- Favourable rainfall and weather conditions   
- Savings beginning to be realised from interval water data being provided by the Organisational Wide Metering 
Project   
- Automatic wet weather shut off of irrigation systems  
 
Other achievements:  
- Delivery of Smart Watering proof of concept commenced. Soil moisture sensors   have been installed in Alexandria 
Park.   
- Tender for water recycling system operations and maintenance contract has concluded.  On track to commence new 
contract in February 2021 which will deliver improved asset management, performance management, data monitoring 
and analysis and water quality management. 

On Track 

Identify opportunities to connect parks to recycled or alternative water 
sources. 

A final review of opportunities was completed at the end of 2020.  
A business case for implementation of a new combined scheme to serve Erskineville Oval, Harry Noble Reserve and 
Solander Park is under development. 
Further investigation of opportunities for the following parks is proposed to be undertaken: Rushcutters Bay Park, 
Redfern Oval and Park, Victoria Park, Wentworth Park   
The following parks are proposed to be connected to future CBD recycled water network: Hyde Park, Belmore Park, 
Prince Alfred Park, Observatory Hill. 

On Track 

56



Page 20 of 67 

2.7 The city’s buildings, infrastructure, emergency services and social systems are resilient to the likely impacts of climate change.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Climate change  

Advocate for improvements to the national construction code. Technical and advocacy contributions were made to Australian Sustainability Building Environment Council (ASBEC) 
working group meetings including the Compliance Working Group, Building Codes Task Group and the Residential 
Energy Efficiency Advisory Group (REEAG). City representative on the Nationwide House Energy Rating Scheme 
(NatHERS) National Stakeholders Consultative Group (NSCG). The REEAG and NSCG provide input to inform the 
National Construction Code update 2022. 

On Track 

Extreme weather events  

Continue to work with emergency services, relevant agencies, and 
the community to build capacity to prepare for, respond, and recover 
from extreme weather events. 

The City continues to coordinate the activities of the Local Emergency Management Committee (LEMC), including the 
response to Covid-19. This includes regular reporting on response and recovery activities and emerging issues. 
Progress update includes: 
- City of Sydney Resilience Risk Assessment and Action Plan is nearing completion. 
- Revised Local Emergency Risk Assessment is nearing completion and feedback is being sought from the LEMC. 
- Revised Local Emergency Management Plan is in progress. 

On Track 

Urban heat island effect and flooding risk mitigation  

Continue research and trials in monitoring and reducing the urban 
heat island effect. 

The City has engaged the University of Technology Sydney to deploy, operate and maintain 7 new temperature 
sensors to monitor urban heat in the LGA in addition to 14 existing sensors. 

On Track 

Continue to implement the City's Floodplain Management Policy, and 
work collaboratively with asset owners and developers to fund and 
implement flood risk management plans, incorporating climate 
change scenarios. 

The City's Development Control Plan includes flood related development controls that ensure developments continue 
to be assessed in keeping with the City's Floodplain Management Policy. Staff continue to collaborate with owners 
and developers to implement the Policy and to meet the objectives of Floodplain Risk Management Plans. 

On Track 57



Page 21 of 67 

2.S.1 Performance Measures  

Greenhouse emissions  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Overall greenhouse gas emissions for 
all City of Sydney operations – total all 
emissions 
 
Baseline 2006 data – 52,972 tC02e 
 

Tonnes 
CO2 

39,354 37,925 - 3,926 3,877 - - 7,803 From 1 July 2020 the City began using 100% 
renewable electricity. This significantly 
reduces operational emissions from buildings, 
street lights and parks. Further details can be 
found in the City’s Green Report, July 2020 to 
December 2020. 

Indicator 
Only 

Greenhouse gas emissions for City of 
Sydney local government area – total all 
emissions. Baseline 2006 data - 
5,815,521 tC02e (Includes emissions 
from electricity, gas, refrigerants, 
transport and waste) 

Tonnes 
CO2 

4,607,575 4,548,443 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions 
in the local government area based on 
2006 levels - 5,815,521 tC02e (data 
from previous financial year; target of 
70% by 2030 & net zero emissions by 
2050) 

% 21 22 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Percentage of electricity demand in the 
local government area met by 
renewable sources 
(target of 50% by 2030, data from 
previous financial year) 

% 20 23 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Water Usage and Stormwater  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Potable water use from City operations - 
2006 baseline (431,000 kL) 

kL 477,224 378,361 - 74,018 75,150 - - 149,168 The data for the FY21 Q1 & Q2 periods is the 
best estimate available at time of the 
publication. For FY19 and FY20, Sydney 
Water upgraded their billing system and some 
data has been revised. Data for these financial 
years has now been updated as per the most 
recent actual data provided by Sydney Water. 

Indicator 
Only 

Potable water usage from the local 
government area – 2006 baseline 
(33,712) (data from previous financial 
year) 

ML 37,977 38,486 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

58



Page 22 of 67 

Waste - Local Government Area  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 

  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Total residential waste collected Tonnes 65,298 68,809.01 - 17,729.28 17,565.18 - - 35,294.46 There is a slight reduction in total residential 

waste collected compared with the previous 
quarter. 

Indicator 
Only 

Total residential waste collected per 
capita 

Kg/Capita 279.9 286.29 - 71.97 71.3 - - 143.27 There was a marginal increase in the total 
amount of residential waste collected per 
capita compared to this time last year. 

Indicator 
Only 

Percentage of source separated 
recycling of total residential waste 

% 26.38 26.57 35 28.13 27.5 - - 27.82 There is an increase in the source separated 
rate compared to this time last year indicating 
that more residents are using the City’s 
recycling services, programs and trials 
including the expansion of the Food Scraps 
Recycling Trial and new 'Recycle It Saturday' 
drop-off recycling events. 

Attention 
Required 

Percentage of recycling and recovery of 
residential waste 

% 48.67 45.52 70 50 46.5 - - 48.25 Recovery rates are still suffering from low 
facility diversion rates as a result of legislative 
changes that no longer allow organic material 
that is mechanically separated from red bin 
waste to be recovered and used as a 'mixed 
waste organic output' or soil amendment. 

Attention 
Required 

Sustainable management of waste and resources  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Total waste collected from City 
managed properties including aquatic 
centres 

Tonnes 897.33 816.38 - 209.52 210.1 - - 419.62  Indicator 
Only 

Recovered and recycled waste collected 
from City managed properties including 
aquatic facilities 

Tonnes 259.44 362.75 - 191.73 194.22 - - 385.95  Indicator 
Only 

Resource recovery of waste from the 
City’s parks, streets and public places 

% 42 46 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

 

59



Page 23 of 67 

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Resource recovery of waste from City 
managed properties including aquatic 
centres 

% 29 46 - 91.5 92 - - 91.75 The City's owned and managed buildings now 
achieve an average of 92% resource recovery 
meaning 92% of waste from our buildings is 
diverted from landfill.  This exceeds our 2021 
target to achieve 70% resource recovery. 
Much of this has been achieved through 
recycling paper and cardboard, other mixed 
recyclable items such as drink and take away 
containers and recycling food scraps.  
Additionally, in separating and recycling food 
scraps from the general waste stream the 
general waste stream is kept ‘drier’.  This in 
turn allows for a significant increase in 
resource recovery from the general waste that 
is usually sent to landfill.  
The City property services new waste 
collection contractors who own and operate 
their own resource recovery facility, processes 
our ‘dry general’ waste into a Resource 
Derived Fuel (RDF) that can be used in 
cement kilns.  Using RDF displaces the use of 
traditional fossil fuels normally used in cement 
production.  
Higher recycling rates and resource recovery 
from our general dry waste supports the 
reduction of carbon emissions associated with 
waste disposal from the City’s buildings. 

Indicator 
Only 

Greening Sydney  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
New plants planted in City parks and 
street gardens 

No. 69,708 78,725 50,000 36,018 19,983 - - 56,001 Infill planting and new planting undertaken at 
parks and streetscapes across the local 
government area including Forbes St, Danks 
St, Reseve St, Renwick St, Hiles St, Maddox 
St, Boyce St, Prince Alfred Park and Victoria 
Park. 

On Track 

New and renewed public domain 
landscaping installed (nature strips, rain 
gardens, traffic treatments) 

m2 5,940 8,272 7,500 4,343 3,566 - - 7,909 Significant projects completed in December 
include Maddox St, Hiles St, Euston Rd, 
Lawrence St and Belmont St in Alexandria, as 
well as Hardie St, Darlinghurst. 

On Track 

Maintain or increase number of 
indigenous bird species observed 
(2009/10 baseline - 63 species) 

No. 67 68 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Extent of locally-indigenous bushland ha 12.2 12.9 13.5 - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

60



Page 24 of 67 

Environmental Grants  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Environmental grants approved by the 
City of Sydney 

$ '000 1,599.89 1,135.2 - 294.68 698.41 - - 993.08 In the first half of the year, 90 Environmental 
grants were approved by Council for a year to 
date total of $993,084 in cash. These projects 
were awarded through the City’s two 
Environmental Performance Grant programs 
(Innovation and Ratings and Assessments), 
Knowledge Exchange Sponsorships and 
Matching Grant programs.  
This includes support for an upgrade to the 
Kings Cross Community Garden and the 
development of a shared vegetable garden in 
a Redfern apartment building, the Australasian 
Waste & Recycling Expo 2021 and a 
demonstration project aiming to salvage and 
transform plastic containers from businesses 
and homes into usable products. 

Indicator 
Only 

  

61



Page 25 of 67 

3 Integrated transport for a connected city 
Quality transport will be a major driver to sustainability, amenity, ease of mobility and the economic competitiveness of our city –  the city must offer a variety of effective and affordable 
transport options. 

3.1 Investment in public transport and walking and cycling infrastructure encourages more people to use these forms of transport to travel to, from and within the city.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Planning  

Work with the State Government transport cluster to ensure all traffic 
and transport related proposals in Central Sydney comply with 
policies such as the Sydney City Centre Access Strategy, Movement 
and Place, and Central Sydney on-street parking policy. 

The City has worked with Transport for NSW to develop a City Centre Action Plan, which have been informed by the 
City Centre Access Strategy and Movement and Place.  
 
The City is also currently partnering with Transport for NSW to prepare an update to the City Centre Access Strategy, 
This document will be guided by Future Transport 2056 and other State policies and by the work coming from the 
2050 technical studies. 

On Track 

Advocacy  

Work with the State Government and other stakeholders to develop 
Future Transport projects for Sydney to increase public transport 
accessibility and capacity to and within the City of Sydney, including 
planning for Metro West and new Metro initiatives. 

The City continues to advocate for Future Transport projects to be implemented as soon as possible.  The NSW 
Government announced in December 2020 that Pyrmont Station is included in Metro West. As part of the NSW 
Government's Camperdown Transport Strategy, the City is advocating that the City-Zetland/Randwick metro link 
should be completed and operational by 2030, and include a stop serving Sydney University/RPA Hospital as well as 
Central 

On Track 

Partnership  

Work with the State Government and taxi industry to implement more 
taxi ranks in better locations with improved safety in the city centre 
during the evening and late night. 

The City is continuing to work with the Taxi industry and State Government to review taxi rank locations. This occurs 
through the Transport for NSW run Late Night Transport working group. This is also part of the City Centre Action 
Plan and will be included in the Strategy for Streets 

On Track 

3.2 Transport infrastructure is aligned with city growth.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Partnership  

Work with the State Government to ensure the best outcomes are 
achieved for the community on large public transport and road 
projects. 

Transport for NSW is currently working on the business case for King Street Gateway which will impact on the timing 
of the delivery of the project. The City had advocated for the King Street Gateway project to commence immediately, 
following the opening of the M8.  We are continuing to work with TfNSW and Inner West Council to minimise any 
delay and ensure the reallocation of space on King Street and Sydney Park Road from vehicles, to people who walk 
and bike.   
 
Following advocacy on behalf of the City, the State government has now confirmed a station at Pyrmont for Metro 
West. The City will be seeking to work with Sydney Metro on the location and detailed design of the station.    
 
The City is continuing to work with Sydney Metro City & Southwest in relation to the design of Barangaroo, Martin 
Place, Pitt Street, Central and Waterloo stations. 

Watch 

62



Page 26 of 67 

Advocacy  

Work with the State Government to ensure understanding of transport 
implications of development in the city area. 

The City has engaged with Transport for NSW to understand the role each organisation plays in dealing with the kerb-
side space use and freight and logistics challenges facing Sydney CBD. These insights will help develop options for 
new and existing developments. The City continues to prosecute how the 'movement and place' approach should be 
applied to better provide for people walking in the city centre and village centres. 

On Track 

Parking  

Continue to implement the neighbourhood parking policy. The City continues to use the Policy to address parking issues arising from pop-up cycleways, and potential for 
outdoor dining as part of Covid-19 recovery planning. The City is currently finalising a report on potential changes to 
visitor parking permit allocation. 

On Track 

Freight and Servicing  

Work with State Government and businesses to develop new and 
innovative solutions to freight and servicing, including more 
productivity from loading spaces and exploring higher-amenity 
options for “last mile” distribution. 

Following on from the kerbside insights study and the review of the DCP onsite loading requirement, the City is 
undertaking analysis of trends in last mile freight and servicing for  the Sydney City Centre, the space and location 
requirements for loading and servicing off street and the opportunity to provide for these requirements. This stage of 
work is scheduled to be completed this financial year. The City continues to work with the State Government on 
increasing productivity from on street loading spaces and exploring other last mile options through the City Centre 
Action Plan working group, the DA process and sharing work findings. This is ongoing. 

On Track 

Regional Collaboration  

Continue to build relationships with neighbouring councils and 
collaborate on transport projects where infrastructure or impact is 
across the boundaries. 

The City has developed strong working relationships with neighboring councils in relation to WestConnex and Metro. 
This includes the upcoming King Street Gateway project. The City has also collaborated with Randwick, Bayside and 
Inner West on the South East Sydney Transport Strategy (NSW Government). The City has provided perspectives to 
Inner West and Bayside on their integrated transport strategies. The City is collaborating with Inner West on the early 
scope development for the Camperdown Ultimo transport strategy. Cross-council collaboration also encompasses 
promoting the Inner Sydney Regional Bike Network. 

On Track 

Technology  

Partner with the State Government to facilitate innovation in transport 
management, ensuring technology assists in achieving agreed urban 
and transport outcomes. 

The trackless tram project for Green Square is continuing. Technology will be a key enabler of the "Strategy for 
Streets" update of the Sydney City Centre Access Strategy, with innovation in traffic signals the most likely 
opportunity to reduce waiting times for people walking. 

On Track 

3.3 The amenity of the city centre and villages is enhanced through careful management and integration of transport.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Traffic calming initiatives  

Develop and deliver a range of initiatives to help support change of 
behaviour by traffic calming. 

The City continues to work with Transport for New South Wales and the Centre for Road Safety under the Road 
Safety Partnership to deliver traffic calming devices to help reduce speeds within the Council area. 

On Track 

Speed reduction  

Continue to work with the State Government to look for opportunities 
to reduce traffic speeds and speed limits throughout the City of 
Sydney. 

The City is continuing to work with Transport for NSW (TfNSW) to achieve speed limit reduction. TfNSW have 
commenced new speed zone reviews on state roads in Newtown, Enmore and Erskineville. The City is also working 
with TfNSW to review the requirements to allow the implementation of the conditionally approved 40km/h speed zone 
in Kings Cross 

On Track 

63



Page 27 of 67 

Road safety partnerships  

Continue to build relationships with Transport for New South Wales 
through the local government road safety program to improve road 
safety within the LGA. 

The City is continuing to collaborate with the State government on a number of road safety initiatives through the 
Road Safety partnership. 

On Track 

Manage amenity  

Manage the scheduling of waste collection services to ensure the 
least disruption to the community. 

Schedules reviewed based on need and amended if needed to further improve the waste collection service and 
reduce noise disturbance. There were few early start complaints logged, however, they may have been due to 
approved early starts to accommodate Covid-19 social distancing. The City and Cleanaway resolved the complaints 
by adjusting starting times. 

Watch 

Community programs  

Facilitate a range of road safety education programs for the 
community. 

The City's Road Safety Program is beginning to resume following a change in service delivery as a result of Covid-19. 
Our Child Restraint Program has continued throughout however most other programs have been suspended. We are 
hopeful of both Learner Drivers and Seniors Course resuming in the 2nd quarter. We are continuing our ongoing road 
safety work with schools. 

On Track 

3.4 Public transport, walking and cycling are the first choice transport modes within the city.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

City transformation  

Continue to support the implementation of light rail down George 
Street and in wider local government area. 

Approval from Transport for NSW (TfNSW) to not reopen George Street to southbound traffic between Bathurst Street 
and Rawson Place has been given and the project is underway to pedestrianize George Street south in the same 
manner as north of Bathurst Street. The City is also working with TfNSW to trial zero emission buses between Green 
Square and the City Centre in the short term. Route and service planning is underway. 

On Track 

Behavioural  

Advocate for measures aimed at increasing the use of public 
transport, walking and cycling along major corridors to the city. 

The NSW Government confirmed Pymont Metro in late 2020. The six pop-up cycleways on key corridors are 
operational and are under evaluation. A second tranche of pop-ups is under consideration with NSW Government. 
The City will be using the "Strategy for Streets" collaboration with NSW Government to advocate more generally for 
improvements to walking conditions in the inner city, primarily reduced wait times at signals.  
 
Advocacy for the new Metro link to Sydney University/RPA Hospital, Zetland and Randwick continues, via multiple 
collaborative projects with Transport for NSW. The NSW Government's investigations into transport options for 
Victoria and Parramatta Roads have moved to options assessment.  The City plays a leading stakeholder role in 
these projects, and the related (for Parramatta Road) Camperdown Ultimo Transport Strategy. The City made 
significant comments to a draft Strategy in late 2020. 

On Track 

64



Page 28 of 67 

3.5 Transport services and infrastructure are accessible.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Parking  

Manage the demand for parking to ensure there is equitable access 
to the constrained supply. 

Rangers proactively monitor parking across the Local Government Area (LGA) to ensure turnover and parking space 
availability for the community. 

On Track 

Advocacy  

Ensure the needs of all community and customers are considered in 
the master planning for transport and urban growth projects. 

The City is advocating for high quality public domain outcomes for Metro station precincts, Central Station planning 
and Redfern Station upgrade. Ongoing advocacy and input into major State Government development projects 
including Waterloo estate and North Eveleigh. 

On Track 

Transport infrastructure  

Advocate to ensure public transport infrastructure meets the needs of 
users. 

The inclusion of Pyrmont Station in Metro West will bring significant benefits, with the station improving accessibility 
for resident, worker and visitor populations. 
 
The City continues to advocate for improved outcomes for residents and businesses from WestConnex Stages 2 and 
3. The King St Gateway will reduce the traffic volumes, speed and capacity of Sydney Park Road, As part of the 
pandemic response, a pop up cycleway is in place, speed limits reduced, parking placed on the southern side of 
Sydney Park Road and a new pedestrian crossing west of Mitchell Road is installed but not yet operational. 

On Track 

65



Page 29 of 67 

3.S.1 Performance Measures  

Parking and road management  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Car share bookings No. 233,527 239,637 - 70,395 73,521 - - 143,916  Indicator 

Only 

Residents who are members of car 
share schemes 

No. 45,126 52,529 - 53,291 55,571 - - 55,571  Indicator 
Only 

Resident drivers who are members of 
car share schemes 

% 35.12 40.7 - 41.3 42.7 - - 42.7  Indicator 
Only 

Length of streets across the local 
government area with a speed limit of 
40km/h or less 

Km 165.6 271.59 - 271.59 271.59 - - 271.59 No speed changes on local roads since last 
reported quarter. Some localities have 
received pre-approval for speed reduction. 

Indicator 
Only 

Roads maintenance  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Road renewed/treated program m2 32,785 29,021 20,000 644 9,282 - - 9,926 The current program of works is on target to 

be achieved by Q4. 
Watch 

Traffic calming  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Transport-related projects (footpath 
widening, traffic calming measures, 
intersection upgrades, etc.) delivered as 
part of the City’s Pedestrian, Cycling 
and Traffic Calming (PCTC) plans 

No. 8 6 10 2 1 - - 3  On Track 

  

66



Page 30 of 67 

4 A city for walking and cycling 
A safe, comfortable and attractive walking and cycling network linking the city’s streets, parks and open spaces. 

4.1 The city and neighbouring areas have a network of accessible, safe, connected pedestrian and cycling paths integrated with green spaces.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Cycling  

Improve bicycle safety, access and amenity through small scale 
infrastructure changes and improved on street facilities throughout 
the local government area. 

2023 26 Projects completed include cycleway pavement and drainage improvement works 
at Kent Street, Sydney. Projects In progress include a new shared zone in St 
Peters and Premier Lanes, Darlinghurst, and upgrade of the Lang Road/Driver 
Avenue signalised intersection in Moore Park. 

Watch 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Walking  

Deliver the Central Business District Streetscape Improvement 
program, including the installation of Smartpoles, upgraded and 
improved LED street lighting, traffic signals, street furniture and the 
installation of granite paving. 

The Central Business District Streetscape Improvement program is on track for 2020/21 - 1,830m2 of granite has 
been laid. 

On Track 

Cycling  

Complete the City’s high priority regional routes, with separated 
cycleways where possible. 

Construction of Lawson Street cycleway completed this quarter and is one of four NSW Government funded 
permanent projects. Two of the four funded projects are on track to start construction in the third quarter; Liverpool 
Street western link, Chalmers Street link. The fourth funded project, Saunders Street and Miller Street is under 
construction. Procurement of the design consultant for Pitt Street north is complete. Consultation completed in 
December 2020 on the cycleway links in Erskineville and Alexandria to the Ashmore Precinct, Mitchell Road, Huntley 
Street and Oxford Street. 

On Track 

Partnerships  

Work with neighbouring councils, state and federal governments to 
implement the Inner Sydney Regional Bike network. 

City staff continue to assist with Transport for NSW completion of a final business case for cycling infrastructure which 
will then support the Inner Sydney Regional Bike Network (ISRBN) submission to Infrastructure NSW and 
Infrastructure Australia. All pop up cycleways within the City are consistent with the ISRBN. 

On Track 

Civil Infrastructure  

Continue to implement priority actions from the Liveable Green 
Network, including the Footpath Renewal program, pedestrian and 
cycling safety improvements, new furniture installations, pedestrian 
lighting upgrades, installations of green verge/street gardens and new 
cycleways. 

All programs of work continue to implement priority actions of the Liveable Green Network. On Track 

67



Page 31 of 67 

4.2 The city centre is managed to facilitate the movement of people walking and cycling.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Walking  

Work with the State Government to decrease waiting time and 
journey time for pedestrians on priority routes in the city centre, and 
Liveable Green Network routes throughout the local government 
area. 

The City has continued to advocate for pedestrian priority in the city centre via the City Centre Action Plan. This 
includes reduced waiting times, improved space and improved quality of the public domain for people walking. This is 
particularly important as people return to work as part of our Community Recovery Plan from Covid-19. Improved 
priority at crossings will reduce pedestrian crowding at signalised intersections and support physical distancing 
requirements. Improving priority for pedestrians in the City Centre is also one of the draft outcomes as part of the 
Strategy for Streets work we are undertaking in collaboration with Transport for NSW. 

On Track 

Cycling - city centre  

Advocate to the State Government to complete the City Centre 
Access Strategy cycleway network. 

Transport for NSW are planning to jointly fund new City Centre cycleways on Oxford Street (Taylor Square to 
Castlereagh) and College Streets. 

On Track 

Partnerships  

Collaborate with the State Government to integrate walking and 
cycling with George Street Light Rail and pedestrianisation project. 

The permanent closure of George Street was approved by Council and Traffic Committee in December. Planning 
approval has been granted and construction works will commence in early 2021. 

On Track 

4.3 The number of people who choose to walk and cycle continues to increase.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Modal shift  

Promote the benefits of walking and cycling. * We have been running a promotion and education program associated with the new pop-up cycleways, focused on 
improving people's capability to use the bike network.  
* Between July and December, 188 adults completed the cycling course (15 of those with the Rusty Riders version 
and 106 with the 1on1 version), and 61 adults completed the bike maintenance course. Schools courses restarted in 
November and December and 101 children attended. 
* We held 63 Share the Path education sessions in Q1 & Q2, where 553 people had their bikes tuned-up, 2,180 maps 
were provided and 418 bells and 144 lights were mounted on bikes. 

On Track 

Walking and cycling for leisure  

Lead and/or support events celebrating and focusing on walking and 
cycling. Promote attractive routes and open spaces. 

Only small scale, Covid-safe events are able to be run. To encourage cycling, particularly with the new pop-up 
cycleways, we are running just small try-a-bike sessions, pop-up bike maintenance displays, and guided rides, all with 
Covid-safe plans. 

On Track 

Monitor  

Monitor walking and cycling participation and trips, attitudes and 
safety. 

Transport for NSW have added new bike counters on the pop-up cycleways. Together with Transport for NSW we 
have done additional monitoring and evaluation for the pop-up cycleways, including community telephone surveys 
and cycleway intercept surveys. 

On Track 

68



Page 32 of 67 

Behaviour  

Ensure all road and path users have information and training 
available that enables them to exhibit the correct and safe 
behaviours. 

* We published a video "Everything you need to know about cycling in Sydney" which covers road rules and safe and 
courteous riding on our website cycleways.sydney.  
* Between July and December, 188 adults completed the cycling course (15 of those with the Rusty Riders version 
and 106 with the 1on1 version), and 61 adults completed the bike maintenance course. Schools courses restarted in 
November and December and 101 children attended.  
* We held 63 Share the Path education sessions from July to December. 

On Track 

4.4 Businesses in the city encourage their staff to walk and cycle more often.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Journey to work - commuting  

Encourage the use of walking and cycling for commuting to work in 
the city area. 

City staff are working with the NSW Government's Travel Choices to provide them with the activities to support their 
program, including cycling courses for workplaces.  
We have been running a promotion and education program associated with the new pop-up cycleways, focused on 
improving people's capability to use the bike network. 

On Track 

69



Page 33 of 67 

4.S.1 Performance Measures  

Cycleways/Shared paths/Courses  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Length of separated cycleways provided Km 0.31 2.89 0.47 6.78 0.21 - - 6.99 Lawson Street cycleway open for use On Track 

Length of on-road cycleways 
provided/upgraded 

Km 2.35 0.7 2.6 0 0.6 - - 0.6 Kent Street cycleway pavement markings 
(including green high friction surfacing at 
intersection approach and driveways) 

Attention 
Required 

Length of shared paths 
provided/upgraded 

Km 0.06 2 2.4 0 0 - - - No shared paths were provided/updated Oct-
Dec 2020. The focus this year was on 
delivering separated cycleways. More shared 
paths are planned for delivery in the coming 
year. 

Attention 
Required 

Growth in cycling activity at key 
intersections around the City of Sydney 

% 7 (26) - - (15) - - (15) Bike trips during the morning and afternoon 
peaks in October 2020 were down 15% on 
October 2019 counts, due to the impact of 
Covid-19. Fewer people are commuting into 
the city by all modes, though cycling has held 
up fairly well. There has also been a growth in 
bike trips outside of peak times which is not 
captured by the peak hour counts but can be 
seen in the data from the permanent counters. 

Indicator 
Only 

Attendees at cycle safety courses No. 167 233 - 91 97 - - 188  Indicator 
Only 

Footpaths  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Footway renewed m2 14,392 10,993 10,000 5,449 4,122 - - 9,571  On Track 

Footway replaced by green verge m2 2,448 2,365 2,000 183 751 - - 934 The current program of works is on target to 
be achieved by Q4. 

On Track 

New granite infill paving m2 1,054 1,000 1,500 1,749 81 - - 1,830  On Track 

  

70



Page 34 of 67 

5 A lively and engaging city centre 
Our international iconic status will be maintained and our distinctive character enriched with great streets, vibrant public spaces, a rich cultural life and a well-planned and functioning city 
centre, both day and night. 

5.1 The city centre has safe and attractive public spaces for people to meet, rest and walk through at all times of the day or night; with George Street as a distinctive spine.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Public Domain Planning  

Continue to develop Public Domain Plans for the city centre. Draft public domains plans for Town Hall precinct and City South (Central Station) precinct completed. Additional 
project co-ordination with State Government on Central Station precinct planning and city centre bus plan is currently 
required to finalise plans. 

On Track 

Safety  

Work with police and emergency services to deter, detect, delay, and 
respond to incidents in crowded places. 

The City is a member of a number of precinct security groups including Martin Place, Town Hall, Pitt Street Mall and 
Circular Quay. These groups provide an opportunity for businesses and landowners to collaborate and coordinate 
efforts to ensure the safety of crowded places. 
 
The City continues to support police through the operation of the Street Safety Camera Program, processing 256 
applications for CCTV footage in Q2 and releasing 173 items of footage to support police investigations and 
prosecutions. 

On Track 

5.2 The city centre provides diversity of built form, uses and experiences.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Public domain improvements  

Continue to deliver public domain capital works projects. The Sydney Harbour Bridge Southern Cycleway (formerly Harbour Village North Cycleway) will be delivered by 
Transport for NSW. The City are currently managing the design development in consultation with relevant 
stakeholders and government bodies. 

On Track 

Planning  

Implement actions from the Central Sydney Planning Strategy that 
enable commercial space and activity. 

The Central Sydney Planning Strategy and associated changes to planning controls were amended and endorsed by 
Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee in December 2020. 
 
This follows a public exhibition of the Strategy and proposed planning controls for 10 weeks from May to 10 July. 
Submissions were reviewed and reported with amendments to the planning controls. The adopted controls are with 
the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment for drafting and making of the local environment plan. 

On Track 

71



Page 35 of 67 

5.3 Innovative, creative, retail, hospitality, tourism and small business activity is supported in the city centre.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Business space  

Facilitate access to appropriate space in the city centre for 
businesses within identified priority sectors including Tech Start-ups 
and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander business. 

While 2020 has been a challenging year, advances have been made through the City’s Knowledge Exchange 
Sponsorship program which has continued to support business ownership and employment opportunities for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander business owners, a good example of a 2020 project success is IndigiSpace, who 
acquitted their funding in October 2020. With the City’s support, IndigiSpace successfully secured more funding from 
various organisations which allowed them to double the number of businesses participating in the program (compared 
to what was originally proposed) delivering two programs in the 12-month period for a total of 30 Indigenous 
businesses to help them promote and support Indigenous business and cultures, and create more opportunities for 
growth and development. IndigiSpace developed the program with global early-stage investment group, Investible. 
They have also teamed up with Sydney Commons Lab to further their work. 
 
Other successful grants during this period include an extension of the Jarjums Program at Glebe Public School, a 
cookery program to enhance employment opportunities at Tranby National Indigenous Adult Education & Training 
centre and support for Blak Markets enterprise. 
 
Discussions continue internally to progress the combined work across the new Stretch Reconciliation Action Plan and 
Eora Journey Economic Development Plan including progressing the work on 119 Redfern Street, which will soon go 
to the consultation phase.   
 
Council also endorsed $1 million of support for the Indigenous College at UTS, which will enhance access to tertiary 
opportunities. 
 
Work continues on securing an operator and design/construct of the Business Innovation Space project at 182 
George Street which will deliver over 3,800 sqm affordable space at Circular Quay to support the tech startup sector. 

On Track 

Tourism provision  

Develop and deliver appropriate tourist information programs to meet 
visitor requirements. 

Tourism has been significantly impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic with Visitor Services suspended from 17 March 
2020. 

Watch 

5.4 The city centre is a place for cultural activity, creative expression and participation.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

City centre creative activity  

Support and facilitate the growth of creative and cultural activities in 
the city centre. 

The City continues to support and facilitate the growth of creative and cultural activities in the city centre. On Track 

72



Page 36 of 67 

5.S.1 Performance Measures  

City centre public life  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Footway dining in the city centre m2 2,598.82 2,273.74 - 1,821 1,214 - - 1,214 December's Footway area has declined 

almost 600sqm compared to the September 
2020 report and we understand that this is due 
to the impacts of Covid-19, as advised by 
some Footway Approval operators. 

Indicator 
Only 

  

73



Page 37 of 67 

6 Resilient and inclusive local communities 
Building communities through enhancing the capacity of our people and the quality of their lives. 

6.1 Our city comprises many unique places – a ‘city of villages’ – for communities to live, meet, shop, study, create, play, discover, learn and work.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Learning and Creative Programs  

Deliver a welcoming cultural program within relevant City cultural 
venues. 

During this period staff delivered online programs to meet social connection and digital citizenship outcomes. 
Highlights included the launch of live laser cutting and 3D printer workshops, the 2020 Microflix Film Festival in 
collaboration with UTS and Little Fictions as well as the continuation of Adobe Creative workshops and online, 
fortnightly lunchtime conversations. 
The pre-recorded Auslan Storytime program continued to expand through the production of new video content. 
Audiences were able to visit the Customs House exhibition, Developing Sydney: capturing change 1900 – 1920, with 
the gradual re-opening of Customs House Library to the public. 
A total of 91% of surveyed program participants learned something new and felt welcomed and included in the 
programs offered, while 90% agreed that they gained new knowledge. 

On Track 

Public Domain  

Maintain and enhance public domain across the local government 
area through an ongoing program of improvement works. 

Programs of work continue to deliver public domain enhancements across the Local Government Area. On Track 

Green Square  

Delivery of new community/cultural facilities, public domain and 
infrastructure to a high standard in Green Square. 

The City continues to implement a network of new streets, infrastructure upgrades, new community facilities, open 
spaces and pedestrian/bike links in line with the City’s public domain strategies, design codes and technical 
specifications. These works are of a high standard and designed to achieve high environmental performance, amenity 
and active and public transport. Examples of completed projects are the Green Square Community and Cultural 
Precinct, Green Square Library and Plaza, Dyuralya Square and the Green Square stormwater drain. 
 
In recognition of their deign and built quality, these projects have been awarded numerous prestigious architecture, 
engineering and landscape architecture prizes. The Green Square town centre has also been awarded a Six (6) 
Green Star - Communities rating by the Green Building Council of Australia. The rating recognises the sustainability 
attributes of planning, design and construction of large scale development projects at a community scale. It is the 
highest possible rating, denoting ‘World Leadership’. 
 
New facilities in the pipeline include Gunyama Park Aquatic and Recreation Centre, planned to open in early 2021, 
and The Drying Green Park which is under construction and planned for completion in mid-2022. Planning for a new 
Green Square primary school and community shared use facilities on the Community and Creative Precinct is 
underway. 

On Track 

Lead placemaking and community engagement activities for the 
growing Green Square neighbourhood. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has continued to prevent the City from providing our usual community engagement and 
activation programs and services due to physical distancing and health orders. Community programs are being 
developed and updated for online engagement as part of the broader City response which include those offered by 
the libraries network. The programs in particular address community needs generated as a result of the pandemic 
such as building resilience. End of year programs also offered online included a workshop for building and strata 
managers on emergency response, crime prevention and waste management in high rise buildings, and Christmas 
Singalong. 

On Track 

74



Page 38 of 67 

Social Strategy  

Implement the Social Sustainability Policy and Action Plan. Within the Social Sustainability Action Plan there are 59 actions across four strategic directions. The majority of these 
actions have commenced, three actions have been completed and five actions are now continuing as business as 
usual. 

On Track 

6.2 Our city is a place where people are welcomed, included and connected.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Social Programs and Services  

Implement the Inclusion Disability Action Plan. •The City's Inclusion (Disability) Advisory Panel discussed the impacts of Covid-19 for people with disability and 
provided feedback on the consultation for the Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan for 2021-2025.  
• There were 1,031 unique views of the City's online accessibility map.   
• In partnership with the Council for Intellectual Disability, the City participated in a program aimed at reducing barriers 
to employment for people with intellectual disability. This program included staff training to increase capacity to 
support staff with intellectual disability in the workplace.  
• The City launched its new Inclusion (Disability) Awareness Training for all staff.  
• Online Art and Maker classes were produced and published on the City’s website to ensure access to programs 
during the Covid-19 pandemic. All videos include Auslan interpreting, closed captions and an accessible PDF with 
step-by-step instructions to increase access for people with disability. 

On Track 

Offer affordable social programs and services that promote social 
inclusion, connection and participation. 

The Covid-19 pandemic prevented normal operations. Community centres had phased reopenings to ensure 
community safety. Sedentary activities recommenced in this period, and a range of free online classes and programs 
were offered to ensure ongoing community social inclusion, connection and participation.  A total of 581 free online 
sessions were delivered to over 6,500 attendees and 1,895 phone calls made to individuals experiencing social 
isolation during the pandemic to ensure wellbeing and offer referrals where required.  
Highlights include:  
• 20 sessions of online programs/events were offered to vulnerable communities impacted by Covid-19 including 
international students, temporary visa holders. 
• 9,000 views of the Transgender Day of Remembrance online film event  
• 63 per cent of Connect Sydney fundraising and grant writing workshop attendees were from organisations 
supporting Aboriginal communities   
• 194 attendances at online English classes delivered in partnership with TAFE NSW through Ultimo Community 
Centre 

On Track 

Deliver programs that support community safety. Over 330 people were engaged through community safety activities delivered in partnership with NSW Police, Health, 
Department of Communities and Justice, non-government organisations and resident groups.  
 
The City delivered six initiatives to build community capacity to identify and respond to domestic and family violence. 
Events included an Author Talk, Domestic Violence Prevention and Ally Training, and Responding with Compassion 
Training. Over 195 people attended. Of those who completed surveys over 90 per cent would recommend attending 
to others, reported an increase in skills and knowledge, felt confident to apply what they had learned and agreed that 
they know where to get help if needed.  
 
The City hosted a “How to Deliver A Safe Event” seminar. This event was attended by over 130 people both in person 
and online. Of those who attended 100 per cent stated they know where to get help. 

On Track 

75



Page 39 of 67 

Social Justice  

Undertake advocacy activities promoting social justice, community 
resilience and cohesion. 

Within the Social Sustainability Action Plan there are several actions which commit the City to act as an advocate on 
behalf of our communities. The focus of our advocacy work for the next twelve months will be on the themes of 
financial security, housing, social cohesion and community spaces and places. This has included a submission to the 
Review of the Management of NSW Public Housing Maintenance Contracts recommending increased investment in 
new and old social housing stock, ongoing positive collaborations with the City to enhance safety, liveability and 
amenity of social housing neighbourhoods and the importance of place based community development workers. 

On Track 

6.3 Local economies are resilient, meet the needs of their community, and provide opportunities for people to realise their potential.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Information and research  

Provide demographic, visitor and sector data and analysis to local 
businesses to assist in decision making and sustainable growth. 

The 2020 Housing Audit, Residential Monitor, Commercial Development Monitor and Visitor Accommodation Monitor 
have been completed and uploaded to the City's external website.  EconomyID added to the City's demographic suite 
of data.  Includes impacts of Covid-19 on the economy. 

On Track 

Support small business  

Strengthen the activation of precincts, with events, programs and 
services and develop resources that support existing and new 
business. 

The City produced a free capacity building program, the Reboot Webinar Series, to help businesses adapt, innovate 
and thrive in light of the pandemic. The series included six webinars with an unprecedented 2,800 businesses 
registered and more than 88% of attendees stating the knowledge gained will help grow their businesses. 
  
With the easing of restrictions, the City worked closely with grant recipients to safely reactivate the city, including a 
hybrid version of the annual Vogue’s Fashion Night (In); precinct activations like the Eastside Sydney ‘Happy Hours’ 
and the ‘Shop Late’ initiative in Potts Point; as well as coordinated more than 200 events to be held from December 
onwards across the local government area. 

On Track 

6.4 There is equitable access to community facilities and places, parks and recreational facilities to support wellbeing in daily life.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Community Planning  

Provide strategic direction for community facilities delivery to meet 
changing community needs and aspirations. 

Ongoing social planning and strategy advice is being provided on City and State Government planning projects. 
These include: the Waterloo South redevelopment, the Waterloo Metro site, the Pyrmont Place Strategy, and the 
Blackwattle Bay and Fish Market site. Ongoing social planning and strategy advice is also being provided on City 
owned community assets to meet changing community needs and aspirations. 

On Track 

76



Page 40 of 67 

Community well-being  

Provide education and care services and facilities across the local 
area, including preschool, long day care, occasional care and out-of-
school hours services. 

The City’s education and care services have supported essential workers through Covid-19 by continuing to operate 
long day care, occasional care, pre-school and outside school hours care.  
Highlights include:  
• Zoom workshops with children to develop ideas for the Aboriginal Welcome Murals that will be painted on the 
facades of some early learning centres; 
• Zoom reading sessions with children led by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community members and Elders; 
• Gardening projects for the children across the services; 
• Child-oriented art projects that drew inspiration from various artists including Matisse, Vincent Van Gogh and Frida 
Kahlo; 
• The Amazing Race game, where children had the opportunity to work as teams and compete in a range of 
challenges, and; 
• Dramatic play experiences including “Talk Like a Pirate Day” and “Knights and Dragons” that were all sparked from 
children’s interests. 

On Track 

Support a diverse, inclusive and accessible range of community 
programs and projects through community facilities. 

The Covid-19 pandemic prevented normal operations. Community centres phased reopening to ensure community 
safety.  Sedentary activities recommenced in this period, and a range of free online classes and programs were 
offered online to ensure community access to diverse, inclusive and accessible programs and activities.  A total of 581 
free online sessions were delivered to over 6,500 attendees, including 476 parents who participated with their babies 
and toddlers. Three online programs were delivered to support increased digital literacy skills. 
Highlights include:  
• 1,883 attendances at King George V Recreation Centre, Juanita Nielsen and Pyrmont Community Centre gyms 
• 2,720 attendances across community centres to access free public access computers and connect with other 
community members and staff 
• Redfern Community Centre hosted two community wakes for members of the local Aboriginal Community, in 
accordance with NSW Health requirements 
• 172 Meals on Wheels clients received free Christmas meal hampers 

On Track 

Community Facilities Delivery  

Develop a property portfolio that ensures community facilities 
optimise investment opportunities and community needs. 

A Community Property Strategy is currently being developed.  This will focus on optimising the use of community 
facilities to meet community needs. 

On Track 

Parks and recreation facilities  

Maximise the availability and quality of facilities to meet demand for 
participation in sports across the community. 

Ongoing projects that contribute to maximize the availability of quality recreational facilities include:  
New Aquatic and Fitness Centre at Gunyama Park (opening 1 February) 
New skate parks at Sydney Park - completed and opened in December 2020; 
New skate plaza at Federal Park (expected to be open late 2021);  
New outdoor gym completed and open at Pirrama Park in October 2020; 
New outdoor gym completed and open at Garraway Park December 2020;  
New indoor multipurpose courts at Perry Park under construction expected to be completed early 2022); 
Sports field development program - planning underway for new outdoor synthetic sports fields at Perry Park, Turruwul 
Park, Waterloo Oval and The Crescent.  
New synthetic sports field at Alexandria Park Community School (Joint Use Project) 
New change-rooms, toilets and storage facility for Jubilee Oval - planning and consultation with sporting groups 
underway. 

On Track 

77



Page 41 of 67 

6.5 The community has the capacity, confidence and resilience to adapt to changing circumstances.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Social services  

Refer to 6.3.2 "Strengthen the activation of precincts, with events, 
programs and services and develop resources that support existing 
and new business." 

  

Social strategy, research and planning  

Monitor Community Wellbeing Indicators to identify change and 
wellbeing trends in the community. 

There have been no updates to the Community Wellbeing Indicators (CWI) in the past six months.  The existing CWI 
data has been used to inform the Pyrmont Place Strategy and the proposed Sydney 2050 targets.  The results from 
the Wellbeing Surveys (2011, 2015 and 2018) have been included in a PowerBI app for internal use (available 
through urban analytics). 

On Track 

Emergency Planning  

Work with the community, emergency services and relevant agencies 
to build capacity and resilience to prevent, respond and recover from 
emergencies. 

The City continues to coordinate the activities of the Local Emergency Management Committee (LEMC), including the 
response to Covid-19. This includes regular reporting on response and recovery activities and emerging issues. 
Progress update includes: 
- City of Sydney Resilience Risk Assessment and Action Plan is nearing completion. 
- Revised Local Emergency Risk Assessment is nearing completion and feedback is being sought from the LEMC. 
- Revised Local Emergency Management Plan is in progress. 

On Track 

Customer service  

Effective and efficient delivery of relevant information and services 
that meet community needs. 

The Contact Centre and Service Centres continued to assist the community with their service needs. The City 
Concierge assisted small business and community groups with information relating to grants, financial assistance and 
Covid-safe information.  The Community Hotline continued to assist the community with information about Covid-19 
testing centres, masks and restrictions. 

On Track 

78



Page 42 of 67 

6.S.1 Performance Measures  

Local economies  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Amount of footway dining in the Village 
Centres 

m2 3,646.76 3,021.06 - 2,439 3,129.4 - - 3,129.4 Despite the impact of Covid-19 on some 
businesses which has resulted in Footways 
being vacated, there has been a growth in 
footway area of 690sqm since September 
2020. 

Indicator 
Only 

Economic grants approved by the City of 
Sydney 

$ '000 1,023.59 3,656.77 - 2,439.33 437.39 - - 2,876.73 In the first half of the year, 264 economic 
grants were approved by Council for a year to 
date total of $2,876,725 in cash and value-in-
kind. These projects were awarded through 
the City’s and Events Sponsorship (Village) 
Business Support Grants and Matching 
Grants. This includes support for live music 
across inner city venues, Sneaker 
Customisation Classes and Fenghuang Lion 
Dancing. 

Indicator 
Only 

Libraries and learning  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Active library memberships No. 73,232 86,048 - 82,905 83,034 - - 83,034 Membership level has been maintained 

through Covid-19 service disruptions due to 
availability of digital membership, with 
community members able to access library 
resources online. 

Indicator 
Only 

Items accessed from City libraries 
(physical and digital) 

000 1,552.8 1,470.43 - 192.6 287.58 - - 480.18 Overall access levels have decreased 
compared to the same time last year. Physical 
loans have decreased 55% due to the impacts 
of service closures through Covid-19, however 
digital loans have increased 36% due to 
availability of digital membership and 
increases in online resources. 

Indicator 
Only 

Attendance to City libraries 000 1,319.71 1,266.72 - 17.99 75.3 - - 93.29 Visits to library sites down 84% compared to 
same period last year, due to service closures 
in response to Covid-19 public health orders. 

Indicator 
Only 

79



Page 43 of 67 

Child & Family Services  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Children supported through City 
operated Children’s Services 

No. 1,108 1,020 - 570 33 - - 603 The current pandemic resulted in lower than 
usual attendances, particularly in the outside 
school hours care services, causing a 
decrease of 25% compared with the period 
last year (802).  
Note that the data measures children enrolled 
in care at the beginning of the financial year, 
and additional new enrolments occurring 
during the year. 

Indicator 
Only 

Approved Early Education and Care 
places (long day care, occasional care 
and preschool) in the City of Sydney 

No. - - - - - - - - Not yet due to report.  

Sessions of care provided at the City’s 
Education and Care Services (long day 
care, occasional care, preschool, out of 
school hours care) 

No. - 63,830 - 16,595 15,276 - - 31,871 The current pandemic resulted in lower than 
usual attendances, particularly in the outside 
school hours care services, causing a 
decrease of 13% compared with the same 
period last year (17,543) 

Indicator 
Only 

Discounted and free sessions of care 
provided at the City’s Education and 
Care Services (long day care, 
occasional care, preschool, out of 
school hours care) 

No. - 23,666 - 6,989 6,347 - - 13,336 The NSW Government extended the free 
preschool fee funding scheme, resulting in a 
52% increase in the number of free sessions 
of care provided compared with the same 
period last year (4,188) 

Indicator 
Only 

Community health and well-being  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Attendances at targeted initiatives to 
improve community health and 
wellbeing 

No. 517,859 372,418 - 4,543 3,762 - - 8,305 Attendances were significantly lower due to 
Covid-19 public health orders. All programs 
were delivered online. 

On Track 

Usage -v- capacity of sports fields 
(booked use) (hours used -v- hours 
available) 

% 96.5 72.5 85 75 85 - - 80  Watch 

Parks and open space managed by the 
City of Sydney 

ha 209.8 211.9 191 - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Attendances at aquatic and leisure 
centres 

000 1,643 1,179.75 - 182 293 - - 475 Attendances have been tracking above 
expectations since re-opening in June 2020. 
December 2020 showed a marked decrease 
resulting from Northern Beaches lockdown 
and Greater Sydney Covid-19 restrictions. 

Indicator 
Only 

 

80



Page 44 of 67 

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Peak Occupancy - Perry Park 
Recreation Centre 

% - - - 58 59.2 - - 59.2 High interest continues for City run weekly 
sports competitions of volleyball, futsal and 
netball. Other sports run include basketball, 
badminton, roller skating, kendo and multi-
sports. 

Indicator 
Only 

Peak occupancy - City’s outdoor tennis 
courts 

% - - - 62.5 75 - - 75 The City’s tennis centres have been 
experiencing high levels of court usage. Whilst 
some competitions have had to be curtailed, 
the courts have been able to operate to allow 
the public access for exercise and recreation. 
The operators have reported positive 
feedback from customers around their ability 
to access the courts when other forms of 
exercise have been unavailable has led to 
positive mental health benefits. 

Indicator 
Only 

Social Programs and Services  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Social grants approved by the City of 
Sydney 

$ '000 2,696.67 6,531.49 - 3,555.98 285.48 - - 3,841.46 In the first half of the year, 93 Social grants 
were approved by Council for a year to date 
total of $3,841,459 in cash and value-in-kind. 
These projects were awarded through the 
City’s Festivals and Events Sponsorship 
(Community), Knowledge Exchange 
Sponsorship and Matching Grants and 
includes support for Woolloomooloo NAIDOC 
Celebrations, Millers Point Community Garden 
and Playgroups in the Park. 

Indicator 
Only 

Revenue forgone by the City through the 
accommodation grants program – 
leases for social initiatives 

$ '000 2,907.42 3,024.03 - 726.01 692.04 - - 1,418.06 Accommodation Grant Program. Indicator 
Only 

Programs/events delivered that promote 
social inclusion and connection 

No. 1,129 986 - 20 16 - - 36 Number of programs delivered were 
significantly lower due to Covid-19 public 
health orders. All programs were delivered 
online. 

Indicator 
Only 

Passengers trips delivered by the 
community transport service for 
programs and/or events delivered or 
supported by the City 

No. 18,825 13,796 - 975 673 - - 1,648 Due to Covid-19 restrictions, only the City's 
Outside School Hours Care, which are exempt 
from many health restrictions, accessed 
Community transport services in this period 

Indicator 
Only 

Subsidies provided through the City’s 
community bus-hire scheme 

$ - 38,920.25 - 3,641 2,499 - - 6,140 Due to Covid-19 restrictions hire of the City's 
community buses was significantly lower this 
period, with only two organisations requiring 
hire. 

Indicator 
Only 

 

81



Page 45 of 67 

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Meals provided through the City’s Meals 
on Wheels service 

No. 37,655 35,056 - 11,028 11,401 - - 22,429 The City took on 36 additional clients from the 
Inner West Council Meals on Wheels service 
from 1 July, resulting in a 23.5% increase in 
meals provision compared with the same 
period last year. 

Indicator 
Only 

People surveyed accessing City 
programs and services who report an 
increase in their connectedness to the 
community 

% 80 94 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

People surveyed accessing City 
programs and services who report an 
improvement in their physical health 

% 85 83 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

People surveyed accessing City 
programs and services who report an 
improvement in their social wellbeing 

% 89 81 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Total bookings of City Spaces facilities 
and venues 

No. 20,003 14,874 - 146 549 - - 695 Due to Covid-19 safety requirements bookings 
were only open to self-help groups, weddings, 
wakes and some community groups on limited 
days. This has significantly impacted booking 
numbers. 

Indicator 
Only 

Total bookings of City Spaces facilities 
and venues at community rates 

No. 10,530 9,027 - 0 231 - - 231 Some hire for community groups 
recommenced but was limited by Covid-19 
safety requirements. This has significantly 
impacted booking numbers. 

Indicator 
Only 

Overall attendance at City Spaces No. 896,443 604,492 - 5,111 4,603 - - 9,714 Community Centres increased the number of 
days of operation, but activities were still very 
limited due to Covid-19 safety requirements.  
This figure includes attendance at community 
centres and participation in online programs.  
While still popular, there was a slight reduction 
in people attending online programs. 

Indicator 
Only 

Bus hires through the City’s community 
bus-hire scheme 

No. 533 353 - 51 35 - - 86 Due to Covid-19 restrictions hire of the City's 
community busses was significantly lower this 
period, with only two organisations requiring 
hire 

Indicator 
Only 

People surveyed accessing City 
programs and services who reported an 
increased sense of inclusion, belonging 
or awareness of diversity 

% 86 84 - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

82



Page 46 of 67 

Companion animals  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Dogs and cats impounded No. 216 142 - 29 34 - - 63 In Q2, City Rangers have impounded 20 dogs 

and 14 cats. 
Indicator 

Only 

Dog attacks No. 140 145 - 24 31 - - 55 There were 31 reported dog attacks in Q2. Indicator 
Only 

Dog declared menacing/dangerous No. 3 3 - 1 1 - - 2 There was 1 dog declared 'menacing' in Q2. Indicator 
Only 

  

83



Page 47 of 67 

7 A cultural and creative city 
The City is committed to supporting Sydney’s cultural life. We recognise the intrinsic and instrumental value of creativity as a cultural, economic and social force. 

7.1 Creativity is a consistent and visible feature of the public domain and there are distinctive cultural precincts in the city and its villages.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Creative Public Domain  

Deliver Art & About Sydney as a significant local and international 
program of public domain activity year-round. 

During the past period, Art & About continued to attract audiences at existing murals by Max Berry, Georgia Hill, Ash 
Keating, Numskull and the Gadigal Mural at the Australian Design Centre. There was an increase in audience 
numbers to approximately 20,000 with the return of workers and visitors to Sydney CBD. 

On Track 

Deliver hoardings activation program throughout the city. The Creative Hoardings program requires builders and developers to use Site Works, bespoke artworks or historic 
images to improve the visual impact of construction sites in the City. The program has continued, business as usual, 
throughout the Covid-19 pandemic. 
A total of 64 of the new suite of Site Works licenses have been approved for installation in the public domain since 
their release in September 2019. This includes 12 licenses issued in this period. 
The City approved the display of historic images on hoardings at six locations across the City, including at 77 Market 
St where a bespoke historic hoarding design showing the history of the David Jones menswear. 
All 10 Site Works artworks have been licensed for use on concrete roadside barriers that will be used for outdoor 
dining precincts created as part of the NSW Government and City's Al Fresco City program. This will raise the visibility 
of the program and the artists involved. 

On Track 

Delivery of art projects in the public domain. As part of the City Centre Public Art Plan there is a further laneway artwork in development and due for installation 
mid 2021. In addition to this the City is delivering four temporary artworks in city laneways to assist in activating the 
City over summer. These works will be installed from early January for up to six months. 
 
In Green Square the Connecting Project for Green Square Town Centre is currently in design development. Kerrie 
Poliness's ‘Stream’ is being delivered as part of the Drying Green Park currently under construction. 
 
The Eora Journey is progressing with ‘bara’ by Judy Watson to be installed in 2021. The Harbour walk is also 
underway with the first projects in development working with Place Management NSW. Stage two of the Redfern 
Terrace project is in development. 
 
Maintenance and conservation of the overall City Art collection is ongoing. 

On Track 

Living History  

Continue to implement the history and curatorial programs in 
alignment with the Cultural Policy. 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, history and curatorial teams have continued to share knowledge and deliver public 
programs, mainly through online channels during this period. The Things We Keep series about the archives, history 
and curatorial collections was well-received and will become an occasional online series going forward.  
Live attendances in the digital sphere were up compared to face-to-face events, demonstrating greater access and 
outreach. The exhibition at Customs House, Developing Sydney: Capturing Change, 1900-1920, has been adapted 
as both a virtual exhibition and physical installation. The public has been able to visit the exhibition as Customs House 
has re-opened.  
Digital delivery of self-guided walking tours is being enhanced by the production of accessible documents and The 
Stranger's Guide: Sydney 1861 tour on the Sydney Culture Walks app was awarded a National Trust Heritage Award.  
The House & Building Histories Guide has been updated as part of the corporate website upgrade and the Barani 
website continues to be a major access point for Sydney's Aboriginal history.  
History Week 2020 was delivered online and the recorded presentations have been made accessible through the 
History Council of NSW's YouTube channel. 

On Track 

84



Page 48 of 67 

7.2 The city supports and encourages individual creative expression by ensuring opportunities for creative participation are visible, accessible and sustainable.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Creative Participation Programs  

Deliver cultural infrastructure programs and liaise with providers to 
deliver programs. 

Joynton Avenue Creative Centre head tenant, 107 Projects (107), continues to support the artists, creative 
businesses and small creative organisations who lease the Centre's creative offices, which are currently at 95% 
occupancy.  
107 continued to provide a variety of online and at home activities delivered by artists, small creative businesses and 
some of the Centre’s creative office tenants.  107’s tenant, City People hosted an Accelerator for Arts & Culture during 
Covid-19 and beyond at the Centre, and a two day music event was held in the Centre’s Outdoor Room, aiming to 
promote outdoor events again.  Platform Live, an online one-day festival featuring some of Australia's boldest, 
creative, and most provocative artists and performers with disability was filmed from the Centre and 107’s tenant, The 
Story Mill filmed and streamed a mix of fashion shows, panels, comedy and performance from the Centre during this 
period.   
Brand X, the head tenant and operator of the upper floor of the East Sydney Community and Arts Centre, increased 
the occupancy of their rehearsal space to 80% capacity this quarter, as users continued to return to the space whilst 
adhering to the physical distancing measures within Brand X’s Covid-19 Safety Plan.  Brand X's 'Flying Nun Program', 
showcasing the work of the Centre's performing arts residencies, recommenced in a live format, adding to their online 
live performance program and their new 'On-Demand' online program which enables the public to purchase tickets to 
private viewings of shows from the 2020 season.  Brand X continue to deliver their ‘A(2)A’ (Artist-to-Artist) training 
sessions in an online format, enabling artists to share skills and technical knowledge with each other. 

On Track 

7.3 Sydney’s cultural sector and creative industries are supported and enhanced leading to greater sector sustainability, productivity gains, and innovation.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Regulatory Reform  

Develop planning and regulatory reforms to support the provision of 
cultural infrastructure and activities. 

The Open and Creative Planning Reforms, including encouraging later opening shops, new controls for cultural 
activities and new entertainment sound planning controls, have been approved by Council and the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee and exhibited. We are now considering submissions and will report back to Council in 2021. 

On Track 

Audience Development  

Provide support to a range of cultural groups that provide 
opportunities for creative participation, enhance creativity in the public 
domain and strengthen the sustainability and capacity of cultural and 
creative industries. 

In the first half of the year, 115 cultural projects were approved by Council for a year to date total of $2,696,259 in 
cash and value-in-kind. These projects were awarded through the City’s Cultural and Creative Grants and 
Sponsorship, Festivals and Events – Artform (excluding major events), Knowledge Exchange Sponsorship, Matching 
Grants, Venue Hire Support Grants and Sponsorship, Quick Response and Street Banners Sponsorship programs.  
This includes support for the Music NSW’s live music venue accessibility pilot, a production of a new Australian play 
held in Darlinghurst, the installation of a new public artwork in the Centennial Parklands and March Dance, a festival 
celebrating independent dance practice across Sydney. 

On Track 

85



Page 49 of 67 

Sector Development  

Support and deliver initiatives that encourage a community of diverse 
creative workers and organisations. 

The City supports its diverse creative communities through programs that develop skills and increase networks for 
artists and arts workers. Programs in development are being informed by Action 4 in the Community Recovery Plan: 
Protect and empower the cultural sector by prioritising the role of local creativity, cultural spaces, talent and 
knowledge. During this period the City delivered part one of four online grant writing training workshop series, Funding 
Fundamentals: get grant ready. The training series is designed to build the capacity of local artists and creatives 
applying for grant funding from the City and at state and federal level and 140 people attended the online workshop.   
Indigenous organisation Corporate Culcha provided online Cultural Respect training to tenants of the Creative Spaces 
programs to increase their understanding of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture and improve their knowledge 
of working with Aboriginal people. 

On Track 

7.4 The continuous living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities is visible and celebrated in our city.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Eora Journey  

Commission a series of public artworks as part of the Eora Journey. The City has launched 3 of the 7 public art projects in the Eora Journey program to take place over a 10 year period.  
Bara, Monument for the Eora by artist Judy Watson is due for completion in 2021.  
The second stage of the Redfern Terrace project is in development. 
The Eora Journey Harbour Walk project, which envisages new artworks and interpretations along a 9km harbour 
walk, is also in development in partnership with Place Management NSW and project partners including cultural 
institutions with the first projects underway. 

On Track 

Reconciliation Action Plan  

Develop, adopt and implement an updated Reconciliation Action 
Plan. 

The City's Stretch RAP was adopted by Council in November 2020. This followed consultation and approvals with City 
staff, Reconciliation Australia and the City's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advisory panel. The Stretch RAP is a 
three year plan. There will be quarterly internal reporting and annual public reporting. The RAP working group will now 
focus on supporting the Stretch RAP's implementation and reporting. 

On Track 

86



Page 50 of 67 

7.S.1 Performance Measures  

Culture and creativity  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Cultural grants approved by the City of 
Sydney (excluding major events) 

$ '000 2,168.96 5,767.88 - 1,979.84 716.42 - - 2,696.26 In the first half of the year, 115 cultural 
projects were approved by Council for a year 
to date total of $2,696,259 in cash and value-
in-kind. These projects were awarded through 
the City’s Cultural and Creative Grants and 
Sponsorship, Festivals and Events – Artform 
(excluding major events), Knowledge 
Exchange Sponsorship, Matching Grants, 
Venue Hire Support Grants and Sponsorship, 
Quick Response and Street Banners 
Sponsorship programs.  
This includes support for the Music NSW’s live 
music venue accessibility pilot, a production of 
a new Australian play held in Darlinghurst, the 
installation of a new public artwork in the 
Centennial Parklands and March Dance, a 
festival celebrating independent dance 
practice across Sydney. 

Indicator 
Only 

Revenue forgone by the City through the 
accommodation grants program – 
leases for cultural initiatives 

$ '000 1,569.71 1,914.74 - 483 429.82 - - 912.81 Accommodation Grant Program. Indicator 
Only 

Creative organisations in creative 
spaces supported by the City of Sydney 

No. 124 85 - 34 113 - - 113 The City provided 33 spaces to 113 
organisations this quarter through a number of 
programs: Accommodation Grants Program, 
William Street Creative Hub, and Short Term 
Empty Property Program. This figure includes 
34 subtenants that were not reported last 
quarter. The figures for the last two quarters 
are lower than previous quarters as they 
capture the period that tenants were most 
adversely impacted by Covid-19. 

Indicator 
Only 

Artists supported No. 2,047 1,887 - - 303 - - 303 Artists engaged include all City’s major events 
and library programs. The Covid-19 pandemic 
has prevented the City from delivering various 
programs and events which has meant fewer 
artists have been engaged during this period. 

Indicator 
Only 

Creative personnel supported No. 16,375 11,699 - - 780 - - 780 Creative personnel engaged include those 
through the Creative Spaces Programs, library 
programs and major events. The Covid-19 
pandemic has prevented the City from 
delivering various programs and events, 
therefore  fewer creative personnel were 
engaged this period. 

Indicator 
Only 

87



Page 51 of 67 

8 Housing for a diverse community 
An increased supply of diverse and affordable housing for our rapidly growing community. 

8.1 The supply of market housing in the city meets the needs of a diverse and growing population.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Housing supply  

Continue to facilitate an Alternative Housing Ideas Challenge to 
promote dialogue and policy development using new ideas. 

2021 95 The Affordable Housing Ideas Challenge  preferred models require financial 
lifecycle evaluation to determine partners and project size. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Housing supply  

Seek the NSW Government’s approval of the Housing Strategy and 
implement the actions through changes to the planning controls. 

The Housing for All: Local Housing Strategy has been adopted by Council and is with the Department Planning, 
Infrastructure and Environment for approval. 

On Track 

Monitor the balance of residential development to non-residential 
development in the city including the size and mix of dwelling types. 
 

As at 31 December 2020 there were: 
• 11,376 private residential dwellings approved or under construction in the city 
• 2,735 non-private residential dwellings approved or under construction in the city 
• 3,356 private residential dwellings lodged but not yet approved in the city 
• 2,315 non-private residential dwellings lodged but not yet approved in the city 
 
In the second quarter of 20/21 there were: 
• 842 private dwellings completed 
• 0 non-private dwellings completed 

On Track 

8.2 The supply of affordable housing supports a diverse and sustainable community and economy.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Partnerships  

Continue to investigate opportunities to use City owned land for 
affordable housing delivered through partnerships with government, 
not for profits and the private sector. 

Several opportunities continue to be tested. Opportunities will progressively be brought to Council for consideration.  
St George Community Housing is on schedule for completion of 160 units on the City's former depot at Gibbons 
Street, Redfern.  
Within Green Square, St George Community Housing's development of the City's surplus land is in the planning 
assessment stage having completed the design competition on a 115 unit development.  
City West Housing are finalising due diligence and contract on minimum 160 unit redevelopment of the City's surplus 
land also within 500 metres of Green Square Railway Station. 

On Track 

Planning  

Facilitate affordable housing through the planning system, optimising 
existing programs, developing new programs, encouraging site 
specific opportunities and investigating innovative approaches. 

The City is working with the State Government to implement an LGA wide levy that will result in over 1,100 additional 
affordable dwellings. The City has also prepared planning proposals for NSW Land and Housing Corporation sites at 
Cowper Street, Glebe and Elizabeth Street, Redfern which will increase social and affordable housing. The planning 
proposal request for Waterloo Estate is under assessment. 

On Track 

88



Page 52 of 67 

8.3 The supply of safe and sustainable social housing in the inner city is available for those who need it.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Advocacy  

Advocate to state government and housing providers for the retention 
of existing social housing and increase in supply. 

The City is currently reviewing the Waterloo South redevelopment planning submission. The City's response for the 
provision of community infrastructure is informed by ongoing research, data and evidence to support the current and 
future community. The City continues to engage and communicate with the Waterloo community and advocate for an 
increase in social housing supply across the redevelopment site. 

On Track 

Capacity Building  

Provide and support community capacity building initiatives in social 
housing neighbourhoods. 

The City delivered a range of capacity building initiatives to support social housing residents across the local 
government area over this period.  
 
Home Meal Delivery Service: in partnership with OzHarvest the City delivered 6,117 meals to residents’ homes. The 
program has provided regular food support to 73 residents during Covid-19. Fresh fruit and vegetable hampers and 
Christmas cards were delivered to residents on Christmas eve.  
 
Erskineville Safety Event: the City in partnership with NSW Department of Communities and Justice, NSW Police and 
NSW Health held a morning tea event for residents living on the Erskineville estate. Of those who attended the event 
90 per cent said they feel connected to their community and 100 per cent said they knew where to get help and 100 
per cent said they are willing to help a neighbour if needed. 

On Track 

Partnerships  

Collaborate with state government and non-government agencies 
and with residents groups to address safety and amenity issues for 
social housing residents. 

The City conducted safety audits in Glebe and Camperdown with local residents, Police, NSW Land and Housing 
corporation and Department of Communities and Justice.  A number of actions have been identified to improve safety 
including; lighting repair, tree management, pedestrian safety, and waste management.  
 
The City provided 26,500 reusable facemasks to vulnerable communities including: social housing residents, rough 
sleepers, boarding house residents, food distribution charity partners, young people engaged in City summer 
programs. The City further coordinated the donation of 10,000 facemasks to charity partners through Viral Kindness. 
 
The City in partnership with Department of Communities and Justice and NSW Land and Housing Corporation 
coordinate the Social Housing Operations Group to improve safety of the social housing areas in the city. In the 
period the group resolved a range of issues related to maintenance, rodent management, waste, and antisocial 
behaviour. 

On Track 

Collaborate with the NSW State Government to ensure the renewal of 
the housing estates are well planned and delivers improved social 
outcomes. 

Following a NSW Government announcement in November 2019, the City is assessing planning proposals requests 
from NSW Land and Housing Corporation for a number of social housing sites in the council area. Requests for 
Elizabeth Street, Redfern and Cowper Street, Glebe, which provide additional social and affordable housing, have 
been reported to Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee seeking approval to publicly exhibit. The 
Cowper Street, Glebe proposal has been publicly exhibited and submissions are being reviewed. The request for 
Waterloo Estate, Waterloo is currently under assessment. 

On Track 

89



Page 53 of 67 

8.4 People who are homeless or at risk of homelessness have access to safe and sustainable housing and support.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Housing solutions and support services  

Advocate for innovative responses, and build the capacity of City 
staff, non-government services and the community to contribute to 
preventing and reducing homelessness. 

The City continued to advocate for the needs of individuals through ongoing case coordination meetings and 
improving the efficacy of the coordination groups such as Homelessness Assertive Response Team (HART).  The 
City is co-chair of the Non-Residents Rough Sleeper Coordination Group (with St Vincent’s Health Network) and a 
member of the Aboriginal Case Coordination Group and Sydney Covid-19 Rough Sleeping Taskforce. 
  
The City is a signatory to the Act to End Street Sleeping, and participated in the development and implementation of 
the By Name List tool in the City of Sydney area. The City participated in the Council of Capital City Lord Mayors 
(CCCLM) housing and homelessness working group. 

On Track 

Service coordination collaboration and capacity building  

Partner and support the delivery and coordination of specialist 
homelessness outreach services to link people sleeping rough with 
services and support. 

The Homelessness Assertive Outreach Response Team (HART), coordinated by the City, continued weekly patrols 
along with place based operations to ensure people sleeping rough have a coordinated approach to better access 
safe, long term housing with support. HART has also engaged with 1,725 people on outreaches since 15 March 2019. 
The City provided reusable cloth masks and the latest Covid-19 health information to people sleeping rough.  In 
partnership with the Department of Communities and Justice and St Vincent’s Health Network the City finalised the 
Emergency Response Protocol for People Sleeping Rough, conducted one heat response and supported St Vincent’s 
Hospital in developing a ‘Heat Hub’ to support vulnerable communities in extreme heat during Covid-19 restrictions. 

On Track 

Services  

Monitor patterns of homelessness, and services available for people 
who are homeless or at risk of homelessness to identify gaps and 
trends. 

The City's Homelessness services continue to be provided throughout the pandemic to support people sleeping 
rough. The City is a member of the Sydney Covid-19 Rough Sleeping Taskforce led by the Department of 
Communities and Justice and co-leads the Outreach and  Non-resident Coordination Groups that sit under the 
Taskforce. 

On Track 

90



Page 54 of 67 

8.S.1 Performance Measures  

Housing  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
New dwellings approved No. 1,048 1,661 - 163 379 - - 542  Indicator 

Only 

Affordable rental housing  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Affordable rental housing units resulting 
from NSW government operations 
including Redfern Waterloo affordable 
housing levy 

No. - - - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Affordable rental housing units resulting 
from affordable housing levies in the city 
area 

No. - - - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Homelessness  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
People assisted to exit homelessness 
into long term housing as a result of a 
program supported by the City of 
Sydney 

No. 220 264 - 74 63 - - 137 This represents an 18% decrease compared 
to the same period last year, noting that in Q2 
last year the number of people housed was 
significantly higher than average 

Indicator 
Only 

People prevented from becoming 
homeless through the City supported 
brokerage program 

No. 204 193 - 24 38 - - 62 This represents a 53% decrease compared to 
the same period last year, noting that 
significantly more temporary accommodation 
was provided by the NSW Government in this 
period. 

Indicator 
Only 

People sleeping rough in the city area No. 373 334 - - 0 - - - The Covid-19 pandemic prevented the City 
from conducting the winter street count 

Indicator 
Only 

Grants for Affordable and Diverse 
Housing Fund and homeless funding 
approved by the City of Sydney 

$ '000 2,800 1,200 - 1,200 0 - - 1,200 In the first half of the year, one grant was 
approved by Council for a year to date total of 
$1,200,000 cash. Support was provided 
through the Community Services Grant to the 
Department of Communities and Justice 
(formerly FACS) to provide Specialist 
Homelessness Services in the Inner City area. 

Indicator 
Only 

  

91



Page 55 of 67 

9 Sustainable development, renewal and design 
Our international iconic status will be maintained and our distinctive character enriched with great streets, vibrant public spaces, a rich cultural life and a well-planned and functioning city 
centre, both day and night. 

9.1 The City of Sydney leads by example to facilitate great places.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Advocacy  

Engage with government led urban renewal projects to deliver design 
excellence, high environmental performance and provide appropriate 
infrastructure. 

The City has prepared submissions on Blackwattle Bay Precinct, Central Station and Pyrmont Place Strategy and is 
engaging with relevant agencies to deliver design excellence, improved sustainability outcomes and appropriate 
infrastructure. The City's proposed planning controls for Elizabeth Street, Redfern and Cowper Streets, and Glebe 
social housing sites have set higher environmental benchmarks, design excellence strategies and space for 
community facilities. 

On Track 

Integration  

Collaborate with the private sector to deliver new or upgrade existing 
public infrastructure that supports renewal. 

The City has executed 11 new Planning Agreements with the private sector this financial year. The Agreements will 
deliver new and upgraded public infrastructure including roads, footpaths, public parks and public domain upgrades 
delivered in association with development. 

On Track 

9.2 The city is beautiful, sustainable and functions well.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Strategic Planning  

Update the Local Environment Plan and Development Control Plan to 
implement the sustainability actions in the Local Strategic Planning 
Statement. 

2021 50 A number of actions from the Local Strategic Planning Statement are being 
investigated in the forthcoming update to the Local Environmental Plan (LEP) and 
Development Control Plan (DCP). These include: developing planning controls to 
increase canopy cover on private land; defining biodiversity corridors and 
guidance for developments in those corridors; developing a pathway for the City's 
current planning controls to be strengthened over time to deliver net-zero energy 
buildings; developing NABERS water controls for non-residential buildings; and 
reviewing solar panel controls to reduce planning barriers that impact 
implementation. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Design partnership  

Facilitate the Design Panels to provide expert advice on public 
domain and major development applications. 

The Design Advisory Panel and Public Art Advisory Panel meet monthly and continue to provide valuable expert 
advice to the City on public domain design, park projects, major development applications and public art proposals. 
During Covid-19 all meetings have successfully been undertaken by video link. 

On Track 

92



Page 56 of 67 

Advocacy  

Develop opportunities with state agencies that support the 
development of transport related infrastructure. 

The City is continuing to work with state agencies on infrastructure planning through a number of place based 
precincts. This includes South East Sydney Transport Strategy, Pyrmont Place Strategy, Camperdown Ultimo 
Collaboration area and the Strategy for Streets. 

On Track 

Develop opportunities with state agencies that support the 
development of infrastructure for recreation and community facilities. 

The City has negotiated a joint-use agreement with the Department of Education for the shared use of indoor and 
outdoor sports fields and access to other community facilities in the new Alexandria Park Community School and 
Inner Sydney High School at Surry Hills. Both school projects are under construction. 
The City continues to work with the Department of Education on plans for the Green Square Integrated Community 
Facility and School in the Green Square town centre. A design competition for this project was completed in 2020. 
Indoor spaces and a multi-purpose court are being planned for shared use with the local community. 

On Track 

9.3 There are great public buildings, streets, squares and parks for everyone to use and enjoy.  

Major Projects Completion 
Date 

%  
Complete 

Progress To Date Status 

Public Domain Infrastructure  

Continue the implementation of the Wayfinding Strategy. 2023 98 The village packages and bus interchange wayfinding signage rollout are 
complete. Light rail corridor wayfinding signage also installed.. Wayfinding 
documentation also being prepared to support the Harbour Walk. Signage rollout 
in Green Square is also continuing to be co-ordinated with completion of public 
facilities, parks and new streets. 

On Track 

Crowded Place Protection - develop kit of parts and design guidelines 
to implement protection measures. 

2020 85 Draft design guidelines have been completed and reviewed and are now being 
finalised. Design and prototype of a City impact rated bollard that will form part of 
city suite of public domain furniture elements will commence in 2021. 

On Track 

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Public Domain Infrastructure  

Undertake periodic review of public domain design codes in the city. Revised Streets Code, Parks Code and Signage Code completed and undergoing internal stakeholder review On Track 

Update the Liveable Green Network Implementation Plan to reflect 
changes and completed projects. 

The installation of new street furniture, pedestrian lighting, access ramps, green verge, cycleways and new footways, 
are continuing on the Liveable Green Network routes. 

On Track 

Public space planning  

Develop initiatives arising from the City’s Open Space and Recreation 
Needs Study, and Public Domain Studies. 

The program for rollout of new and upgraded sports fields in the LGA was approved by Council. Assessment of 
properties for acquisition to provide additional sport and park amenity is undertaken as required. The George Street 
south pedestrianisation project is due to commence construction in early 2021. 

On Track 

Open space  

Negotiate provision of additional public open space through proposals 
to change planning controls (e.g. Planning Proposals with Voluntary 
Planning Agreements). 

The City considers opportunities for additional public open space alongside changes to planning controls. The 
planning proposal for 55 Pitt Street, Sydney included a public benefit offer for new public domain and has been 
approved by Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee. The planning proposal for 187 Thomas Street 
provided for new through site links and a publicly accessible plaza and the planning proposal for Elizabeth Street 
included through site links and public domain. The City is assessing the provision of public open space as part of the 
planning proposal request for the Waterloo Estate. 

On Track 

93



Page 57 of 67 

9.4 Sydney plans for the long-term and the benefit of future generations.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Stormwater infrastructure Program  

Continue to monitor the implementation of the actions from the Flood 
Studies and Floodplain Risk Management Plans for all catchments. 

The City has developed a flood policy and consistently implementing it across the LGA. The DCP is also under review 
to incorporate flood related controls. The flood studies for Alexandra Canal and Blackwattle Bay catchments have 
been updated incorporating new Australian Rainfall and Runoff (ARR) 2019. 

On Track 

Program delivery  

Develop and implement Public Domain Plans and Placemaking 
Strategies for urban renewal areas. 

The City continues to deliver in Green Square a network of new streets, infrastructure upgrades, community facilities, 
open spaces and pedestrian/bike links in line with our public domain strategies. These provide the setting for the 
community engagement and activation strategies the City would normally offer. The Covid-19 pandemic, however, 
has continued to prevent us from providing our usual programs and services. Community programs were developed 
for online engagement as part of the broader City response and some were run with a focus on the Green Square 
community. 
 
The public domain concept design for the Danks Street South Precinct in Waterloo is being developed. In November 
2020 the community provided feedback on design principles and project ideas through online consultation, which 
included an interactive mapping tool and a webinar. 

On Track 

Strategic planning  

Implement the Local Strategic Planning Statement through changes 
to the planning controls to provide for housing and jobs targets. 

Council adopted and published the Local Strategic Planning Statement and Housing Strategy in March 2020 as 
required by the NSW Government. Progress on key actions in the Local Strategic Planning Statement includes 
approval of the Central Sydney Planning Strategy in December 2020 and consultation on the Botany Road corridor 
and Oxford Street precinct studies. These studies and the review of the Southern Enterprise Area strategy will be 
incorporated into the update to the LEP and DCP. 

On Track 

9.5 The urban environment promotes health and wellbeing.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Planning policy  

Collect, analyse and report data within the Community Indicators 
framework to inform priority programs and services for the 
community. 

There have been no updates to the Community Wellbeing Indicators (CWI) in the past six months.  The existing CWI 
data has been used to inform the proposed Sydney 2050 targets.  The results from the Wellbeing Surveys (2011, 
2015 and 2018) have been included in a PowerBI app for internal use (available through urban analytics). 

On Track 

94



Page 58 of 67 

9.S.1 Performance Measures  

Development Assessments  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Average time to determine 90% of DA 
applications 

Days 62 72.4 55 64.6 56.8 - - 56.8  Watch 

Average processing time for 
construction certificates 

Days 6.68 6.85 10 6 9.23 - - 7.62 The mean average for the period has 
increased from Q1 however the average was 
below the established target of 10 days. 

On Track 

Average time to determine 90% of S4.55 
applications (previously S96 
applications) 

Days 41.6 42.9 40 37.03 33.08 - - 33.08  On Track 

Median (net) assessment time to 
determine DA & S4.55 applications 
(previously S96 applications) 

Days 50 55 45 49 43 - - 43  On Track 

Average time to determine 90% of 
footway applications 

Days 28.8 31.7 35 23.78 12 - - 12 There was an improvement against target in 
Q2. 

On Track 

Outstanding DA & S4.55 applications 
over 100 days (previously S96) 

% 22.8 24 20 18.5 12.36 - - 12.36  On Track 

Voluntary Planning Agreements  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Voluntary Planning Agreements offers No. 27 16 - 3 6 - - 9 The City received six new public benefit offers 

during the quarter. 
Indicator 

Only 

Voluntary Planning Agreements 
executed 

No. 18 16 - 9 2 - - 11 The City executed two new Planning 
Agreements during the quarter. 

Indicator 
Only 

  

95



Page 59 of 67 

10 Implementation through effective governance and partnerships 
Partnerships across government, academia, business and community sectors; leadership in local, national and global city forums; and a proactive, resilient, well-governed organisation. 

10.1 The City of Sydney is well governed.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Compliance  

Deliver programs to embed risk management principles into 
organisational decision making. 

The Risk Management Policy was updated during the quarter and will be implemented in Quarter 3.  The Team 
continues to provide ongoing risk management advice and support to City staff through the dedicated inbox and via 
project support, including the new Child Safe Standards, managing the impacts of Covid, compliance obligations, 
digital services and the al fresco city program. 

On Track 

Improve the health, safety and wellbeing of our workers through the 
implementation of the safety management system and a mentally 
healthy workplace plan. 

The City revised and updated Covid-19 risk assessments and NSW Health Covid-19 Safety Plans in line with revised 
Public Health Orders to ensure our facilities and workplaces were able to operate safely. Controls identified in these 
plans have been implemented. An increased proportion of our administrative and professional staff returned to Town 
Hall House with physical distancing, and other controls such as sanitiser, signage and appropriate cleaning in place. 
Facilities that were closed to the public were reopened when safe to do so in line with restrictions and Covid-19 Safety 
Plans. 

On Track 

Ensure Councillors have access to relevant information and 
assistance to enable them to fulfil their obligations to lead, govern 
and serve the community. 

Councillors receive regular information updates and comprehensive briefings on all current issues. This has been 
particularly relevant as the City responded to the Covid-19 pandemic. In addition, the City is committed to providing 
Councillors with access to ongoing training and professional development programs that meet their individual needs. 

On Track 

Monitor compliance with privacy legislation to ensure that personal 
information held by the City is managed appropriately. 

The team continues to provide regular advice to internal stakeholders in the area of privacy management, including 
review of the privacy protection notices and privacy project assurance for key digital transformation projects. Staff 
refresher Privacy training is being developed. 

On Track 

Monitor compliance with information provision legislation, identify 
frequently requested information and make publicly available where 
possible. 

The most frequently requested information continued to be development application related, which the City releases. 
The number of requests continued to be lower than pre-Covid. The expansion of content available online in the City’s 
Find a DA tool (begun Sept 2019) has contributed in whole or part to meeting 6.80% of information access requests. 
The City’s new Archives and History Catalogue (begun March 2020) has contributed in whole or part to meeting 
12.13% of information access requests. 

On Track 

Continue to implement a risk based and comprehensive annual 
Internal Audit plan for the City in accordance with the Internal Audit 
Charter. 

The three year Internal Audit Plan was approved by the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee on  02 July 2020 and 
is progressing well. A refresh of the three year Internal Audit Plan will begin in March 2021 and will be tabled at Audit 
Risk and Compliance Committee. 

On Track 

Ensure all electoral processes are well managed and meet legislative 
requirements. 

Action against the work plan continues on track. On Track 

Develop and implement a program of managing Crown Lands, to 
ensure compliance. 

Successful community engagement was completed in December 2020. A preliminary insights report has been 
prepared for both the broader and First Nations engagement to inform the priority plans of management.  
A comprehensive report is underway.  
 
The Plan of Management templates have been completed and streamlined content is available for immediate drop in. 
The strategic documentation review and heritage analysis is at 50%. 
 
It is proposed to delay the release of the draft Plans of Management to a single Council meeting for later in the year. 
The additional time will ensure that each plan is thoroughly prepared and adequately represents the community’s 
input. 

On Track 

96



Page 60 of 67 

Governance  

Continually review and adapt the elements of governance to maintain 
community confidence in the City. 

The updated Privacy Management Plan was approved, and staff communications on the new Plan and privacy laws 
resulted in an increase in requests for advice from the team and reviews of privacy practices across the City.  A new 
privacy refresher course for all staff is being developed, which will support the recent privacy review. Significant work 
has continued to systemise the following governance registers into the new CAMMS risk system: Fraud and 
Corruption Register, Delegation Register, Complaints & Allegation Register, Investigations & Complaints Outcomes 
Register, Conflicts of Interest Register and Policy Register.  Several additional temporary Covid-19 delegations to the 
CEO and staff were implemented in support of the Al Fresco City objectives, City grants programs and other 
temporary requirements.  The Code of Conduct and Procedures and Gifts and Benefits Policy were updated in 
response to recent amendments. A Code of Conduct new starter remote learning product was developed and 7 
sessions for 189 participants have been conducted .  An additional Gift and Benefit eLearn is also in development for 
new starters to complete separately from the Code of Conduct webinar. 

On Track 

10.2 The City of Sydney has the culture, capability and capacity to deliver Sustainable Sydney 2030 priorities.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Organisational Capability  

Partner with regional governments, business and the community to 
facilitate delivery of the Resilient Sydney Strategy for the greater 
Sydney region and incorporate elements into the City's strategic 
plans. 

During the Covid-19 disruption in 2020, the Resilient Sydney Office regularly hosted Resilience Ambassadors 
meetings to connect all the councils of Sydney and rapidly share emerging information and innovations in response 
across the city. Councils have shared community and organisational recovery plans as the crisis evolved. 
The Resilient Sydney strategy continues active implementation through key actions:  
• Action 1: The Resilient Sydney Office has provided coaching and support to a number of Resilience Officers in 
Sydney councils to develop local resilience plans.  
• Action 9: Cool Suburbs – Policy and action to cool homes and streets. Contractors working to this collaboration 
project have commenced development of a new rating tool to measure and encourage actions to reduce urban heat in 
the suburbs of Sydney. 
• Action 13: The Resilient Sydney Platform Phase 2 beta phase was launched in December 2020 and now has over 
200 users from councils across Sydney. New datasets are being added in early 2021.  
• Action 16: Resilient Sydney continue to work with four NSW Government agencies to source social cohesion and 
wellbeing data to monitor social resilience for every LGA in Sydney.  
• Action 23: Resilient Sydney liaised with Resilience NSW to promote a number of Get Ready campaigns to residents 
and businesses through councils in the led up to the summer emergency season. 

On Track 

Continue to deliver and enhance the Integrated Planning and 
Reporting and business planning framework to improve integrated 
long-term planning and sustainability. 

The 2020/21 Operational Plan and 2020 Resourcing Strategy were adopted by Council in June 2020, and reporting 
on progress has commenced.  
 
An addendum to the 2020/21 Operational Plan was adopted by Council in December 2020, outlining an extended 
grants and support program encompassing the Al Fresco City program. The extended program also includes a CBD 
Activation Grant, Cultural Sector Innovation Grant and Community Grant program.  
 
The City's 2019/20 Annual Report was also completed and published on the City of Sydney website. 
 
NSW Local Government elections are scheduled for September 2021 so an end of term report was not required in 
2020. 

On Track 

Implement and monitor priority actions within the People Strategy. Key actions focussed on supporting productivity and employee wellbeing in the context of Covid-19. Remote working 
resources and policies were developed and plans for non-essential workers safely returning to offices and centres 
were implemented. 

On Track 

97



Page 61 of 67 

Deliver programs to build a diverse and inclusive organisation. Key actions focussed on advancing the Reconciliation Action Plan; undertaking the City’s Gender Pay Equity Review, 
and continuing the Counting Culture project. 

On Track 

Implement and monitor priority actions of the Information and 
Technology Strategic Plan. 

The City's childcare services system was enhanced with new online features for parents such as online enrolment, 
and additional observation features for staff. The City also developed and released a virtual chat assistant to provide 
any time assistance via the website.   The virtual assistant has been designed to address the community’s most 
frequently asked questions including questions about rates, parking permits, waste and spaces for hire. 

On Track 

Enhance our digital capability implementing key actions from the 
Digital Strategy. 

Work included increased internal data centre capacity, completing the data centre hardware refresh, network 
upgrade, meeting room technology and AV upgrades, as well as enablement of wifi across staffed sites such as 
childcare centres, depots, community centres and libraries. IT infrastructure improvements were also delivered to 
meet employees' needs for working from home and IT security education continued as a key focus. Other projects 
included the upgrade of key enterprise platforms Infor Pathway and TechnologyOne CiA. 

On Track 

Implement actions and deliver programs to improve customer 
experience. 

Development of the City's digital channel continues, with the Virtual Customer Assistant (VCA) and Live Chat 
channels implemented in October 2020. 

On Track 

Refine and revise asset management policy, strategy and long term 
asset management plans for critical infrastructure assets, including 
climate change impacts and maturity assessment recommendations. 

The Asset Management Plan template is being socialised with asset owners and key stakeholders, with feedback 
being incorporated into the plan. Review of the Asset Policy and Strategy is ongoing. 

On Track 

Partner with business, communities, organisations and other levels of 
government to deliver the Community Recovery Plan – a plan for the 
social and economic recovery of our city from the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

All actions of the recovery plan are underway and 56 of the 57 actions of the Community Recovery Plan were active in 
the quarter October - December. 
Business confidence rose dramatically over November, and December saw an increase over the quarter at +44% 
since September 2020. Consumer confidence in December was the highest since September 2019. 
Highlight activities include: 
- Launch of three Covid-19 recovery grants programs in the areas of community services ($800k awarded), CBD 
activation ($3M awarded) and cultural sector innovation grants (to be awarded early 2021). 
- Announcement of a $20M partnership with NSW Government to activate the CBD with outdoor dining in new 
spaces, including streamlining of the applications process, a #rediscoversydney marketing campaign, the Summer 
Piazza outdoor stage featuring 32 nights of performance from Australian musicians and artists, including from local 
community groups, an expanded chairs-in-squares program, and Culture up Late where Sydney's major cultural 
institutions are staying open late. The program launched in December and will run until October 2021. 
- Continued collaboration with agencies to provide food relief to vulnerable people support with 7,800 meals and 
1,420 hampers delivered every week and ongoing promotion of the #feedsydney fundraising campaign with 
OzHarvest 
- Continued focus on timely and accurate community and business communications about Covid-19 in our local area. 
A full activity report is available in the Community Recovery Plan quarterly report. 

On Track 

Continuous Improvement  

Implement a business improvement program to improve efficiency 
and effectiveness of key services. 

The primary focus for improvement has been digitising key services to improve efficiency and user experience. On Track 

98



Page 62 of 67 

10.3 The City of Sydney is financially sustainable over the longer-term.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Financial Planning  

Undertake business case analysis to model the business and 
financial implications of all new major projects, programs and 
initiatives to ensure long term financial sustainability. 

The City continues to model the business and financial implications of major programs, projects and initiatives to 
understand any impact on our long term financial sustainability. Business case reviews incorporate analysis of 
underlying financial assumptions and consideration of strategic alignment and proposed options. 

On Track 

Rates  

Continue to proactively advocate for change in local government 
rating legislation and guidelines to improve equity amongst our 
ratepayers. 

The City continues to collaborate with other Councils and NSW Government, providing comment and feedback to 
Government reviews and reviews by the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal in relation to rates and annual 
charges. 

On Track 

Strategic Property Management  

Continue to work with property management service provider to 
optimise revenue opportunities. 

Property management is progressing with the City's service provider and financial tracking and reporting is now 
integrated through the City's financial system. A commercial strategy has also now been established for the 
commercial portfolio with outcomes tracked through a dedicated subcommittee. A new monthly report has been 
created to track and minimise vacancies, and this is tracked through monthly operational meetings with the City's 
service provider. 

On Track 

Fees and Charges  

Progressively review the cost of delivering the City’s major services to 
ensure appropriate fees and charges and ensure the level of council 
subsidy is identified. 

The program has been impacted by Covid-19 disruptions, however a timeline for the targeted major services in the 
first phase of the project has now been completed, with the program to commence in early 2021. 

On Track 

Procurement  

Ensure best practice procurement and contract management focused 
on value for money, optimised risk allocation and improved 
sustainability. 

The City continues to develop appropriate specifications that clearly define required outcomes and account for risks, 
to facilitate positive market responses that will achieve best value quality outcomes. A comprehensive update of all 
tendering & quotation documents has been completed for all stakeholders, including social & sustainable procurement 
assurance schedules. 
 
Contract reviews continue with key lessons learned used to improve performance under the contract and to improve 
future specifications and specialised training requirements. There is increased oversight on our strategic contracts 
focusing on performance, risk, costs and end of term transition considerations. Compliance assurance continues to 
promote best practice and governance. 

On Track 

99



Page 63 of 67 

10.4 The City of Sydney makes a positive contribution to the governance of metropolitan Sydney.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Governance Reform  

Contribute to governance forums and reviews by the Office of Local 
Government and participate in relevant state and federal government 
initiatives. 

The City continues to liaise with external agencies to implement and maintain best practice responses and advice for 
governance matters and to continue our professional networking and development. Staff attended an ICAC 
Corruption Prevention Forum, an ICAC presentation on Corruption Prevention Training Programs and a Corruption 
Prevention Network webinar on Conflicts of Interest. City staff also contributed to discussions within the Southern 
Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils (SSROC) Governance Forum on proposed changes to pecuniary interest 
disclosure returns. 

On Track 

Policy Reform  

Research, assess and make submissions on intergovernmental 
policy issues to NSW and federal governments where appropriate. 

The City continues to make submissions to the State and Federal Governments on matters impacting the city, our 
workers, visitors and residents. Most recently this has included making detailed submissions on Improving the 
telecommunications powers framework, IPART’s Domestic Waste Management Charges Discussion Paper and 
Inquiry regarding how they regulate monopoly water businesses, the Public Accounts Committee: Follow-up Review 
of the Management of NSW Public Housing Management Contracts, proposed amendments to the Liquor 
Amendment (24-Hour Economy) Bill 2020, and the Federal Government's Inquiry into Cultural and Creative 
Industries. 

On Track 

10.5 The community is engaged and active in shaping the future of the city.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Community engagement  

Deliver a high-value community engagement program, both face-to-
face and online, to inform decision making, build capacity and 
develop a shared responsibility for actions with the community. 

45 projects have been open for consultation on Sydney Your Say with over 14,300 submissions received. Projects 
include the Central Sydney planning framework; Oxford Street review of planning controls; community gardens policy; 
City Farm business plan review; 6 small parks; Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan; Crown Land plans of management; 
various cycleways; George Street pedestrianisation; the rainbow path in Prince Alfred Park and reconfiguring Moore 
Park golf course.  
 
In response to Covid-19 physical distancing requirements, engagement has been moved online or undertaken in a 
Covid-19 safe way in outdoor settings. Over 30 online sessions were held with community members ranging in format 
from workshops, briefings and webinars. 11 pop-up sessions were held in outdoor settings with Covid-safe plans in 
place. Over 1000 people took part in a consultation on the future of Oxford Street. Four online community workshops 
took place in November. Over 800 people took part in the Oxford Street cycleway consultation.  
  
Over 300 people participated in Crown land plans of management consultation between 17 November and 15 
December. The consultation program included an online survey, pop-ups, a discussion guide for community groups 
and schools and targeted online conversations with First Nations people, resident groups, and community garden and 
bush care groups. The public domain plan for Danks Street south precinct in Green Square consultation trialled a 
digital interactive mapping tool to receive feedback. Over 190 comments and surveys have been entered on the map. 
  
Overall, 239 people provided feedback to the George Street south pedestrianisation, with the majority of respondents 
(71%) supportive of the proposal. The International Association of Public Participation awarded the City of Sydney the 
Australasian Engagement Project of the Year for our work with the community in planning for 2050. The judges 
described the project as the core values of engagement in their purest form. 

On Track 

100



Page 64 of 67 

Deliver key projects as part of Sustainable Sydney 2030 and which 
contribute to the finalisation of Sustainable Sydney 2050. 

Due to Covid-19 the City did not deliver any events in Q1 and Q2 FY20-21 as part of Sustainable Sydney 2030 that 
contributed to the finalisation of Sustainable Sydney 2050. 

On Track 

Finalise the review of Sustainable Sydney 2030, that has engaged 
the community in setting the future direction for our city to 2050. 

The City of Sydney was recently awarded the 2020 International Association for Public Participation Australasian 
Project of the Year award for 'Planning for 2050', the City's engagement program to support the development of the 
forthcoming Sustainable Sydney 2050 strategy.  The insights from this engagement program, research findings and 
the analysis of the impacts from the Covid-19 pandemic will all inform the vision for our city, to be finalised by mid-
2021. 

On Track 

Public access to information  

Provide community information of new developments and/or changes 
in projects, programs and policies. 

We continue to provide regular updates to the community on a wide variety of City projects, programs and services 
through media releases, web and digital content, City of Sydney News digest and our social media channels.  
 
Key projects recently have included new/upgrades to our parks, our most detailed planning review in decades, new 
plan to progress reconciliation, inviting community feedback on new cycleway projects, workshops and seminars and 
lots related to Covid-19 recovery. 
 
Recently, the impact of the pandemic and new cases prior to Christmas, resulted in a series of changes to City's 
services, programs and operations and it was important that we communicate these new/temporary changes to the 
community as quickly and efficiently as possible. 

On Track 

Provide community access to relevant data through the City's open 
data portal. 

Six new open data sets and two other data products (interactive maps) were published to the City’s Data Hub.  The 
environmental data already on the Data Hub was updated. The Data Hub now contains 105 open data sets and 54 
other data products (interactive apps and maps, dashboards, and data stories) for use by the public. 

On Track 

10.6 Strategic partners and collaborators support the delivery of Sustainable Sydney 2030.  

Major Programs Progress To Date Status 

Local and regional government partnerships  

Strengthen local and regional partnerships through collaboration, 
consultation, advocacy and knowledge exchange to facilitate 
improved decision making and outcomes for the community, including 
mechanisms such as the Resilient Sydney Program. 

During the Covid-19 disruption in 2020, the Resilient Sydney Office has hosted regular Resilience Ambassadors 
meetings to connect all the councils of Sydney. Councils have shared good practice community recovery and 
economic investment programs. Collaboration projects with the NSW Department of Planning. Industry and 
Environment and Resilience NSW are improving engagement with local government in Sydney for programs on urban 
greening, resilience places and net zero planning. Discussions continue with NSW Government to share the learning 
of five years of the Resilient Sydney program in the development of Resilience NSW. The City continues to attend 
working group meetings of SSROC. 

On Track 

101



Page 65 of 67 

State and national partnerships  

Strengthen state and national partnerships through collaboration, 
consultation, advocacy and knowledge exchange to improve decision 
making and facilitate the achievement of shared objectives. 
Partnerships include Council of Capital City Lord Mayors and the 
Greater Sydney Commission. 

The City continues to engage with a wide range of state and national partners to ensure shared objectives are 
achieved. We have engaged with metropolitan Sydney councils as well as with Ministers and Departmental 
representatives on issues and projects relevant to the City, such as homelessness and transport, our response to 
Covid-19 and how we can support the recovery of our economy. Meetings continue with relevant stakeholders in 
Local and State Government about the implementation of the Resilience Plan for Sydney. The City continues to 
participate in the Council of Capital City Lord Mayors, attending meetings with capital city counterparts on the night 
time economy, economic development, homelessness and affordable housing and advocacy to the Federal 
Government. 

On Track 

International partnerships  

Utilise international partnerships programs to facilitate knowledge 
exchange and ensure the City benefits from the best and most 
current knowledge and processes to improve outcomes for the 
community and the area, including C40 and Global Resilient Cities 
Network. 

International partnerships and engagement: The City contributed to an international article on international education 
titled ‘The unsung benefits of attracting international students to your destination’.  
 
C40 network: Research co-funded by the City of Sydney and C40 Women4Climate was recognised at the 2020 
Greater Sydney Planning Awards. ‘On the Go – How Women Travel Around Our City’ study looked at the key drivers 
and barriers that are shaping women’s transport choices across Greater Sydney and was named winner of the 
Planning Disruptor Award at the 2020 Greater Sydney Planning Awards. The City continued to participate in a number 
of global thematic webinars and working groups. 
 
Resilient Cities Network: The global city resilience network remains active during the ongoing pandemic crisis, rapidly 
exchanging lifesaving emergency planning insights from cities on the front line of responding to Covid-19. Insights 
from global cities are being shared across metropolitan Sydney councils and the NSW government. Resilient Sydney 
continues to participate in a working group of cities sharing expertise on managing the impacts of extreme heat in the 
context of Covid-19 and social distancing measures. Implementation of the Resilient Sydney strategy continues. 

On Track 

102



Page 66 of 67 

10.S.1 Performance Measures  

Accountability and transparency  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
GIPAA Formal Access Applications 
received 

No. 61 55 - 12 12 - - 24 The number of section 41 access applications 
(formals) received was lower than usual. This 
is likely due to the impact of Covid-19. 

Indicator 
Only 

GIPAA Informal Access Applications 
received 

No. 4,400 3,946 - 969 851 - - 1,820 The number of information access requests 
(informals) received was lower than usual. 
The reason is likely to be the impact of Covid-
19 on business activity within the LGA. 

Indicator 
Only 

Public Interest disclosures received No 2 2 - 0 3 - - 3 1 PID October 2020 
2 PIDs November 2020 

Indicator 
Only 

Complaints processes  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Complaints upheld regarding breaches 
of the code of conduct by City 
Councillors 

No. - - - - - - - - Not yet due to report. Indicator 
Only 

Complaints regarding fraud or corruption 
by City staff upheld 

No. - 4 - 0 2 - - 2  Indicator 
Only 

Workforce  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Approved full time equivalent (FTE) 
establishment positions 

No 1,963.43 1,977.33 - 1,973.12 1,982.32 - - 1,982.32  Indicator 
Only 

Vacancy rate % 7.28 9.11 - 8.99 10.71 - - 9.85  Indicator 
Only 

Lost time injuries No 47 54 - 12 12 - - 24  Indicator 
Only 

103



Page 67 of 67 

Customer service  

Key Performance Indicator Unit 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 Result  Comment Status 
  Result Result Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD   
Customer contacts via Online Business 
Services (OBS) 

No. 183,514 224,942 - 57,981 56,512 - - 114,493 For the period July 2020 - December 2020 
114,493 contacts were made via digital 
channels; a 7% increase when compared to 
previous year. 

Indicator 
Only 

Customer contacts via Online Business 
Services (OBS) 

% 41.6 45.75 - 46 46 - - 46 For the period July 2020 - December 2020, 
on-line contacts accounted for 46% of total 
received. 

Indicator 
Only 

Customer contacts by other channels 
(calls, counter) 

No. 252,950 265,663 - 66,865 67,156 - - 134,021 For the period July 2020 - December 2020 
combined call and counter contact volumes 
decreased by 18,956 contacts when 
compared to same time in the previous year.  
This decrease was off-set by an increase in 
contacts via digital channels. 

Indicator 
Only 

Customer contacts by other channels 
(calls, counter) 

% 58.4 54.25 - 54 51 - - 52.5 For period July 2020 - December 2020, 
contacts received via telephone, mail, face to 
face and email accounted for 52% of total; 
compared to 56% for the same period in 
previous year. 

Indicator 
Only 

Calls answered within 30 seconds % 69.66 67.25 70 70 67 - - 68.5  Watch 

Calls completed at first contact % 83.46 87.5 80 93 94 - - 93.5  On Track 

Customer requests received No. 182,069 220,247 - 54,173 55,482 - - 109,655  Indicator 
Only 

Customer requests actioned within 
agreed service standards 

% 88.75 87.57 95 88 88 - - 88 88% (48,824) of customer requests lodged 
were actioned within agreed service standard.  
Those that were not had added complexity 
e.g. planning and projects. 

Watch 

 

104



Attachment D 

Second Quarter Supplementary Report 
2020/21   

 

 

 

105



• Major Legal Issues 
• Grants 
• International Travel 
• Contract Order Details 

106



Major legal issues – Quarter 2 2020/21 

Telstra Corporation Limited v Melbourne, Brisbane and Sydney City Councils 
In November 2020, the Councils won an appeal against Telstra, with the full Federal 
Court deciding that the phone booths Telstra has designed to install across Australia 
are not low-impact facilities. On 18 December 2020, Telstra filed an application for 
Special Leave to appeal to the High Court. In conjunction with the other city councils, 
the City has filed an appearance and submissions against Telstra’s application. 

Toplace Pty Ltd v Council of the City of Sydney and others (re Link Road / 
Epsom Road intersection) 
These proceedings relate to an application by Toplace to modify a condition of consent 
requiring the upgrade of the intersection of Link Road and Epsom Road in Rosebery 
to enable an apartment building to be occupied prior to the completion of a signalised 
intersection required to be built under their consent. There has been long-running 
litigation between Toplace and the City on this issue. 

Two other developers, Hifu Investments Pty Ltd and The Warehouse Group Pty Ltd 
also have obligations to deliver this intersection under a voluntary planning agreement. 
Transport for NSW, Hifu and The Warehouse Group were joined as parties to the 
proceedings. 

The City and the parties engaged in court ordered mediation to attempt to resolve this 
matter. 

In December 2020 the parties successfully negotiated an outcome to these 
proceedings whereby Toplace will undertake the intersection upgrade works. The 
parties exchanged a Deed of Agreement on 4 December 2020. On 14 December 2020 
the Court delivered a judgment reflecting orders that were agreed between the parties 
for Toplace to undertake the intersection upgrade works. The terms of the Deed of 
Agreement also provided security to Council that the works would be undertaken. The 
Applicant has also entered into a Voluntary Planning Agreement in relation to the 
intersection upgrade works. 

Landream Pyrmont Pty Ltd v City of Sydney Council – 14-26 Wattle St, Pyrmont 
The applicant is appealing the refusal of development application D/2019/649 by the 
Central Sydney Planning Committee on 25 June 2020. The concept proposal was for 
a building envelope spread across four buildings and indicative land uses include 
residential, commercial, retail, child care and recreational facilities. 

The City is the owner of the site (the former Fig and Wattle depot) and the applicant, 
Landream Pyrmont Pty Ltd, was awarded the purchase of the site subject to an option 
agreement. As the site is owned by the City, the development application was 
assessed by an external consultant planner. 

The applicant lodged the Class 1 appeal on 16 July 2020. Due to the circumstances 
of this appeal, the conduct of the appeal has been briefed to external solicitors and 
counsel, and external experts have been engaged. A s34 conciliation conference was 
held on 21 September 2020 and terminated. The applicant has amended the proposal 

107



and these plans are being reviewed. The appeal is listed for hearing on 14-16 and 19 
April 2021. 

108



GRANTS AND SPONSORSHIP   S118296.004 

Grants and Sponsorships Policy – Quarter 2 2020/21 
In a report adopted by Council on 15 September 2014, it was stated the following 
programs would be reported to Council as part of the quarterly financial reports: 

o Quick Response Grants Program 
o Venue Hire Support Grants and Sponsorship 
o Street Banner Sponsorship 

The remaining Grants and Sponsorships Programs require Council approval in 
advance. 
This Report 
The summary figures for outgoing grants and sponsorships programs in the 2nd 
quarter of the 2020/21 financial year are: 
 

Grants Approved 

Quick Response Grants $6,988 

Year to Date Total $6,988 
 
The approved total is the amount of cash approved (not paid) in Q2 and the year to 
date totals which includes grants approved in previous quarter/s. 

 
Revenue Foregone Approved Q2 Year to Date  

Street Banner Sponsorship $9,600 $15,072 

Venue Hire Support 
(Landmark & Community venues) 

$35,809 $344,156 

Totals $45,409 $359,228 
 
The attached report outlines: 

o the grants and sponsorships approved by the City in Q2 of financial year 
2020/21 for the Quick Response Grants Program, Street Banner Sponsorship 
and Venue Hire Support Grants and Sponsorship. 

 
1. Grants Information 
Table 1.1 – Q2 Quick Response Grants Summary 

Quarter 
Approved 

No of Applicants  Value Approved 

Q2 4 $6,988 

Total year to date 4 $6,988 
 
 

109



GRANTS AND SPONSORSHIP   S118296.004 

The following grants have been approved in the quarter, but not necessarily paid. 
 
Table 1.1.1 – Q2 Quick Response Grants in detail 

Applicant Project Value 

Company B Pty Ltd  External bench seating for 
Belvoir St Theatre $2,000 

Frier Bentley  Painted River Project – 
Johnstons Creek $2,000 

Seet Dance Pty Ltd Dancing-in-Place: Movement 
Penpals $1,988 

The Bower Reuse and 
Repair Centre  Art From Trash Exhibition $1,000 

 Total $6,988 

 
Table 1.2 – Q2 Street Banner Sponsorship Summary 

Quarter 
Approved 

No of Applicants Revenue Foregone 

Q2 1 $9,600 

Total year to date 2 $15,072 
 
Table 1.2.1 – Q2 Street Banner Sponsorship in detail 

Organisation Project Revenue Foregone 

Opera Australia Opera on Sydney Harbour – 
La Traviata $9,600 

 Total $9,600 
 
Table 1.3 – Q2 Venue Support Grants and Sponsorship Summary – Landmark 
Venues 

Quarter 
Approved 

No of Applicants Revenue Foregone 

Q2 1 $35,809 

Total year to date 8 $152,085 
 
  

110



GRANTS AND SPONSORSHIP   S118296.004 

Table 1.3.1 – Q2 Landmark Venue Program in detail 

Organisation Event Venue Revenue 
Foregone 

Red Line 
Productions Limited 

Red Line Productions 
presents OUR TOWN 
by Thornton Wilder 

Sydney Town 
Hall $35,809 

  Total $35,809 
 
Table 1.4 – Q2 Venue Support Grants and Sponsorship Summary – Community 
Venues 

Quarter No of Organisations Revenue Foregone 

Q2 0 $0  

Total year to date 20 $192,071 
 

111



International Travel Expenditure – Quarter 2 2020/21 
During the period 1 October to 31 December 2020 there was nil expenditure for 
international travel by Councillors and City employees representing the City. Due to 
Covid-19, international travel by Councillors or City employees representing the City 
will be on hold for the foreseeable future. 

112



Contract Order Details - Quarter 2 - October to December 2020
New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.

Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

Supplier: ABUD

PU248375 17 December 2020 $78,551.00 $78,551.00

Street Furniture Supply for Package 2A - Portman Street and Zetland Avenue upgrade

Supplier: AECOM AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

PU247511 28 October 2020 $96,751.60 $96,751.60

00001

Supplier: ALTUS GROUP COST MANAGEMENT PTY LTD

PU248289 14 December 2020 $57,873.75 $46,197.25

Altus group are engaged to deliver QS services for the Green Square to Ashmore connector road

Supplier: AMPYRE PTY LTD

PU247433 23 October 2020 $53,218.00 $38,604.50

00001

PU248245 10 December 2020 $51,678.00 $51,678.00

“ePlanning Phase 3” test activity to be conducted during the period of 15/12/2020 to 01/04/2021

Supplier: BELGRAVIA HEALTH & LEISURE GROUP PTY LTD

PU248449 23 December 2020 $1,320,000.00 $1,320,000.00

00001

Supplier: BENTLEY SYSTEMS PTY LTD

PU248387 18 December 2020 $56,000.00 $56,000.00

00001

Supplier: BIKE WISE

PU247775 13 November 2020 $167,200.00 $167,200.00

00001

Supplier: BING TECHNOLOGIES PTY LTD

PU247183 8 October 2020 $50,051.87 $5,483.85

00001

PU247310 15 October 2020 $144,839.66 $9,325.07

00001

PU248394 18 December 2020 $363,000.00 $363,000.00

00001

Supplier: BOLINDA DIGITAL PTY LTD

PU247345 17 October 2020 $50,000.00 $21,764.00

00001

Supplier: CAFE CULTURE AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

PU247572 2 November 2020 $115,217.30 $115,217.30

00001

Supplier: CA & I PTY LTD

PU247700 9 November 2020 $473,433.40 $328,527.01

00001

On Demand Print & Post Services open order - 3 years of 5 year contract

eAudiobooks FY2020/2021

Provide approved furniture to support Chairs in Squares - Alfresco city program

Kent Street at Gas Lane pedestrian works

Gunyama Park and Recreation Centre Management Fee 23/9/20 to 28/2/21

Graduated Enterprise License Sub Microstation SELECT subscription 31/12/2020 30/12/2021

Provide cycling courses for 2021

2021 Council election -  eligible voters - Annual confirmation mail out  31,495 by post, 25,155 by email (based on 10% bouncers and RTS)

Open & Creative Planning Proposals printing and postage of the notification letter

Oxford Street East Cycleway concept

User Acceptance Testing, Accessibility Testing & Production Verification Testing for the implementation and integration of Library and What’s On with Azure AD B2C CIAM system

113



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

Supplier: CITYWIDE SERVICE SOLUTIONS PTY LTD

PU247532 29 October 2020 $313,481.03 $252,321.03

00001

Supplier: CLOSED LOOP ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS PTY

PU248441 22 December 2020 $84,224.80 $84,224.80

00001

00002

Supplier: COX INALL RIDGEWAY

PU247257 13 October 2020 $50,911.30 $42,225.70

Desktop research and needs analysis for the Local Aboriginal Knowledge and Culture Centre at 119 Redfern Street

Supplier: DATACOM SYSTEMS (AU) PTY LTD

PU247304 15 October 2020 $158,150.30 $158,150.30

00001

Supplier: DOWNER EDI WORKS

PU247798 16 November 2020 $548,481.99 $287,809.91

00001

Supplier: EARTHPOWER TECHNOLOGIES PTY LTD

PU248482 31 December 2020 $180,895.00 $165,327.25

00001

Supplier: E GROUP SECURITY

PU247846 19 November 2020 $56,995.71 $56,995.71

00001

Supplier: ENHANCE ENTERTAINMENT

PU248473 24 December 2020 $54,450.00 $54,450.00

00001

Supplier: ENIGMA BUSINESS PRODUCTS

PU247476 27 October 2020 $95,499.25 $95,499.25

00001

00002

00003

00004

PU248061 1 December 2020 $95,499.25 $95,499.25

00001

00002

00003

00004

Supplier: ESRI AUSTRALIA

PU248425 22 December 2020 $324,500.00 $324,500.00

00001 Enterprise licence for ESRI spatial information software products

COSDEPLOY Pre-deployment Processing (Power up) x 35

FREIGHT Delivery of laptop to City of Sydney Council/device x 35

Lenovo X1 Carbon Laptops Lenovo Thinkpad X1 Carbon I5 8GB 256GB 4G 3 Year NBD  Extension Connector/Windows® 10 Professional 64bit/3 Year Onsite + Premier Support (ESS) x 35

5WS0W86745 Lenovo Thinkpad X1 Carbon 5  Year NBD Premier Warranty Uplift x 35

COSDEPLOY Pre-deployment Processing (Power up) x 35

FREIGHT Delivery of laptop to City of Sydney Council/device x 35

Road Renewal Package for delivery in Q2. Eleven jobs for asphalt road resurfacing were quoted under the Local Government Procurement Contract for bitumen, emulsions and asphalt materials and services 

(LGP 213-2).   Covid-19 - Fast-tracked Capital Works Program 

Food organics processing phase 2

Guard Martin Place tree static security guard, including Covid Marshall duties.   Duties from 6am Tue 24 Nov 2020 to 10am Sat 2 Jan 2021

Al Fresco Live Music Program - Jan-Mar

Lenovo X1 Carbon Laptops 20UACTO1WW x35

5WS0W86745 Lenovo Thinkpad X1 Carbon 5 Y x 35

SoR Contingency Additional Vehicle, Infrastructure and Bins available under SOR for use if required in an emergency

Azure AD B2C implementation for CIAM Azure AD B2Cimplementation for the Customer Identity and Access Management project

75 planter boxes for Pitt Street for Alfresco Dining

Event cleaning in parks at a reduced capacity for New Year's Eve 2020

114



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

Supplier: GORILLA CONSTRUCTIONS PTY LTD

PU247973 25 November 2020 $146,630.00 $102,641.00

Sydney Lunar Festival 2021 Build and delivery of 2 x Ox lanterns

PU248212 9 December 2020 $92,400.00 $46,200.00

Sydney Lunar Festival 2021- Re-stage of Horses, Rats & Rabbit Lanterns

Supplier: GREEN OPTIONS

PU247824 17 November 2020 $103,072.75 $103,072.75

00001

PU248456 23 December 2020 $80,542.00 $80,542.00

00001

Supplier: HUB AUSTRALASIA PTY LTD

PU247239 12 October 2020 $235,125.00 $195,933.66

Install, removal and storage of Star, and maintenance of Star and Beacons Smartpoles along George Street

PU247704 10 November 2020 $437,341.28 $298,934.78

00001

00002

00004

00005

Supplier: INNER WEST COUNCIL

PU247325 15 October 2020 $1,100,000.00 $1,100,000.00

00001

Supplier: IPROSPECT PTY LTD

PU247340 16 October 2020 $55,000.00 $55,000.00

00001

Supplier: JARRAH INTEGRATED SERVICES PTY LTD

PU248357 16 December 2020 $341,089.19 $341,089.19

Construction works at Ultimo Community Centre

Supplier: JCDECAUX AUSTRALIA TRADING PTY LTD

PU247099 2 October 2020 $6,650,000.00 $6,650,000.00

00001

PU248219 9 December 2020 $200,610.30 $200,610.30

00001

Supplier: JONES LANG LASALLE (NSW) PTY LTD

PU247202 9 October 2020 $66,637.65 $65,706.03

Rent charges for FY20/21, 21/22 and past charges

00001

00002

00003

00004

Supplier: LCBB PTY LTD

PU247918 23 November 2020 $90,585.00 $75,570.00

00001

Walla Mulla Reserve

Jubilee Park (Viaduct Rooms) 6 Chapman Rd

Daniel Dawson Playground

Repeater Station 2-26 Park Street

Head Design Consultancy - Pittsway Arcade refurbishment

Cleaning and maintenance costs of JCDecaux owned street furniture for 20/21 period

Citylights Posters - Alfresco City digital and print - Jan-Feb '21

Removal of S3SB Smartpoles Zetland mid

Supply of 39 Smartpoles Portman Street

Supply of 9 Smartpoles Zetland mid

Requisition for the City's cost share for the construction of the Booth Street widening works

Web analytics and Search Engine Opt Web analytics and Search Engine Optimisation 

3 year contract

Beare Park - remove and dispose of existing worn playground soft fall

Supply of 12 Smartpoles Zetland West

Parks East turf works x 7 sites

115



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

Supplier: LEADING INITIATIVES WORLDWIDE PTY LTD

PU247328 15 October 2020 $58,575.00 $58,575.00

00001

Supplier: LEARNING QUEST PTY LTD

PU247329 15 October 2020 $146,520.00 $146,520.00

00001

Supplier: LEONARDS ADVERTISING

PU248210 9 December 2020 $159,495.60 $159,495.60

00001

Supplier: MANCO ENGINEERING AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

PU247885 20 November 2020 $2,895,325.30 $2,895,325.30

00001

00002

00003

00004

Supplier: MARGOT NATOLI PROJECT MANAGMENT

PU248034 30 November 2020 $192,905.50 $192,905.50

00001

Supplier: MAXAM & CO PTY LTD

PU248359 17 December 2020 $86,818.60 $86,818.60

00001

Supplier: MELOCCO PTY LTD

PU247643 5 November 2020 $4,417,432.97 $4,417,432.97

00001

PU248310 15 December 2020 $111,754.11 $111,754.11

00001

00002

00003

00004

00005

00006

00007

00008

Supplier: MICROMEX SYSTEMS PTY LTD

PU247418 22 October 2020 $59,180.00 $32,010.00

00001

Supplier: MISURA METAL DESIGN STUDIO

PU248399 18 December 2020 $156,698.30 $155,312.30

00001

00002

Supplier: NANOCHEM PTY LTD

PU248283 11 December 2020 $99,000.00 $50,907.94

00001

Supply & install brass handrails at Hyde Park South Museum Café

Variation 1 - modify kick rail

Cost of leachate treatment plant management services

Austral black paving 897x447x50mm

Austral black paving 597x447x50mm

Verde Austral 897x447x50mm

Verde Austral 897x447x50

Verde Austral 597x447x50

Conduct two waves of 600 telephone surveys as part of the pop-up cycleway evaluation

Provision of turn-key programming, planning, management and delivery of a live music activation program across identified areas in the City of Sydney’s Local Government Area for Sydney Christmas

 City Recital Hall ceiling repairs

Supply and delivery of Austral black paver and Austral verde kerbs for George Street South Pedestrianisation project, in accordance with the Contract 1803

Austral black paving 897x447x50

Austral black paving 597x447x50mm

Austral black paving 297x447x50mm

Coaching and organisational development program

Al Fresco City - advertising (digital, print, radio) - Jan-Mar - '21

8m³ rear loading refuse collection compaction truck x 3

8m³  rear loading refuse collection compaction truck - 60lt bin lifter from ground level x 3

11m³   rear loading refuse collection compaction truck x 3

Registration costs

Coaching and organisational development program

116



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

Supplier: NBRS AND PARTNERS PTY LTD

PU248092 1 December 2020 $176,935.00 $118,442.50

00002

Supplier: NORTHROP CONSULTING ENGINEERS PTY LTD

PU248257 10 December 2020 $55,330.00 $43,230.00

00001

Supplier: NORWEST PRODUCTIONS PTY LTD

PU248464 23 December 2020 $476,105.08 $452,995.95

 Technical Services for Al Fresco performance venue

Supplier: OPTUS BILLING SERVICES PTY LTD

PU248426 22 December 2020 $1,105,978.86 $1,105,978.86

Supplier: OWNERS-STRATA PLAN 18382

PU247204 9 October 2020 $205,311.70 $159,491.60

Estimated outgoings FY20/21: various lots 309-313 Pitt Street Sydney

Supplier: QMETRIX PTY LTD

PU248059 1 December 2020 $225,976.30 $90,390.52

Unified Customer View project- Customer Master Record Solution software subscription - 3 year

Supplier: QUALITY MANAGEMENT & CONSTRUCTIONS PTY LTD

PU247120 2 October 2020 $77,635.63 $77,635.63

Repairs to Chard Stairs, Darlinghurst

PU247158 7 October 2020 $359,613.89 $359,613.89

00002

00003

PU247207 12 October 2020 $136,833.96 $136,833.96

00001

PU247208 12 October 2020 $179,888.72 $132,004.77

00001

PU247391 21 October 2020 $185,464.36 $185,464.36

00001

PU247392 21 October 2020 $89,703.46 $89,703.46

00001

PU247393 21 October 2020 $179,897.60 $126,761.71

00002

PU247394 21 October 2020 $132,662.25 $70,624.75

00001

PU247502 28 October 2020 $237,812.59 $184,677.26

00001

PU247790 14 November 2020 $221,083.38 $169,954.61

Paving works Kent and Market Street Sydney

Managed Security Services project implementation transition-in costs and 1
st
 year licensing costs

Reinstate CWO 43164

Reinstate CWO 42330 + 1 as per quote

Reinstate CWO 42603 + 17 as per quote

Reinstate CWO 40652 as per quote

Eglington Street, Glebe. Hilda Booler Child Care Centre - civil, drainage, gutter & softfall works. Supply & install synthetic Grass

Boyce Street Glebe

Additional Works No.1

Reinstate CWO 41559 + 7 others Batch 2101

Reinstate CWO 38697 + 18 as per quote Batch 2113

Parks Services fitout  - Alexandria Canal Depot. Architectural Head Design Consultant Services deliverable stages 1 - 3

343 George Street roof - services audit

117



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

PU247811 17 November 2020 $577,203.82 $577,203.82

Carry out works for supply and installation of lighting within the North Rosebery Park and Green Link

PU247892 20 November 2020 $235,811.22 $235,811.22

Hedge and defects work at Devonshire Street

PU248009 27 November 2020 $433,319.02 $433,319.02

00002

PU248010 27 November 2020 $194,143.97 $194,143.97

00001

PU248011 27 November 2020 $123,606.23 $123,606.23

00002

PU248163 7 December 2020 $2,305,726.76 $2,305,726.76

Al Fresco Dining Project - supply and installation of street and footway  barriers and ramps for footway dining - various locations 

PU248355 16 December 2020 $573,154.13 $573,154.13

00001

PU248424 22 December 2020 $553,606.23 $553,606.23

00001

PU248465 23 December 2020 $346,069.15 $346,069.15

00001

PU248466 23 December 2020 $130,180.85 $130,180.85

00002

PU248467 23 December 2020 $154,236.65 $154,236.65

00001

PU248468 23 December 2020 $242,572.25 $242,572.25

00002

PU248469 23 December 2020 $69,609.17 $69,609.17

00001

PU248470 23 December 2020 $165,188.65 $165,188.65

00001

00002

PU248471 23 December 2020 $195,304.77 $195,304.77

00001

Supplier: RECYCLESMART PTY LTD

PU247479 27 October 2020 $66,000.00 $60,500.00

00001

Supplier: RJC GROUP PTY LTD

PU248414 21 December 2020 $3,290,727.99 $3,241,329.74

00001

Betterment for existing cobbles Batch 2119

Reinstate CWO 41574 + 18 as per quote Batch 2122

Home recycling trial

Corporation building remediation works

Reinstate CWO 38581 + 15 as per quote Batch 2114

Reinstate CWO 43932 + 15 as per quote Batch 2115

Reinstate CWO 43309 + 16 as per quote Batch 2116

Reinstate CWO 38254 + 12 as per quote Batch 2117

Reinstate CWO 42553 + 12 as per quote Batch 2118

Reinstate CWO 41901 + 19 as per quote Batch 2119

Chalmers Cycleway Link - schedule of rates contract

Liverpool Street/Sussex Street cycleway link

Reinstate CWO 43301 + 19 as per quote

Reinstate CWO 41872 + 3 as per quote

Reinstate CWO 40694 + 19 as per quote Batch 2120

118



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

Supplier: ROGERS CONSTRUCTION GROUP PTY LTD

PU248264 11 December 2020 $229,823.19 $229,823.19

00001

00002

00003

00004

Supplier: RP DATA LTD - CITYSCOPE

PU248259 10 December 2020 $178,200.00 $178,200.00

00001

Supplier: RYAN WILKS PTY LTD

PU247271 13 October 2020 $307,281.84 $302,331.84

00001

Supplier: SKYLINE LANDSCAPE SERVICES PTY LTD

PU247281 14 October 2020 $166,100.00 $83,781.10

00001

Supplier: STANTEC AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

PU248260 10 December 2020 $57,938.76 $56,415.26

00001

Supplier: SYDNEY CIVIL PTY LTD

PU247543 30 October 2020 $32,882,946.80 $32,824,084.16

00001

PU247777 13 November 2020 $155,494.15 $155,494.15

00001

PU247887 20 November 2020 $2,576,817.10 $1,254,998.07

00001

Supplier: TELSTRA CORPORATION LTD

PU248189 8 December 2020 $88,901.53 $88,901.53

00001

00002

Design and construction of George Street South Pedestrianisation project in accordance with City’s Letter of Engagement and documents noted therein

Green Square to Randwick Cycleway - Completion of ASP1 Ausgrid scope.  Epsom Road

Road renewal - Stimulus and 2020/21 Road Renewal Program. Stimulus Additions: 3 Jobs totalling $152,880 + GST. 2020/21 Program: 7 Jobs totalling $2,189,681 + GST

Total Purchase Order: 10 Jobs totalling $2,342,561 + GST = $2,576,817.10  

Paver Infill Program - Sussex Street, Sydney. Sussex Street, Liverpool to Goulburn Street. Telstra to supply WT6 infill lids and frame

Sussex Street, King to Market Streets

Variation 2 - Floor framing repairs

Variation 3 - Demolition & disposal work

Mailing list of occupiers of business rated properties for local government election 2021

Design, supply & install chiller at Kings Cross Library

Maintenance service benches, BBQs 2020/21

Macdonald Street widening and trunk drainage - Stantec Design and Construction Consultancy Services

T-2020-405 Main contract value

Variation 1 Floor finishes

119



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

PU248246 10 December 2020 $69,859.47 $69,859.47

00002

00003

00004

00005

00006

00007

00008

00009

PU248247 10 December 2020 $83,860.00 $83,860.00

00001

Supplier: TENSILE CONSTRUCTIONS PTY LTD

PU248201 8 December 2020 $192,588.00 $8,968.30

00001

Supplier: THE GARDENMAKERS PTY LTD

PU247534 29 October 2020 $51,653.80 $51,653.80

Stimulus works package re-turfing Corning Park

PU248271 11 December 2020 $129,360.77 $129,360.77

00001

PU248273 11 December 2020 $102,962.75 $102,962.75

00001

PU248390 18 December 2020 $120,111.20 $120,111.20

00001

PU248419 21 December 2020 $106,827.16 $106,827.16

00001

Supplier: THE GREEN HORTICULTURE GROUP

PU247491 27 October 2020 $319,174.46 $52,606.40

00001

00002

PU247825 18 November 2020 $60,026.45 $60,026.45

00001

Supplier: TOTAL DRAIN CLEANING SERVICES PTY LTD

PU248015 27 November 2020 $392,000.00 $335,475.12

00001 Gross Pollutant Trap cleaning. This will cover all the regular and comprehensive cleans and inspections of GPTs as approved under the SSROC contract

Softfall playground works -Site No.3 - Flora and Knigh supply and install new playground softfall

Wentworth Park Playground works - 1 Wentworth Park Road 

Construction Paddington War Memorial - Barracks Reserve 75B Oxford Street Paddington

Contract #1896 Part B SOR Wentworth Park field renovations

Contract #1896 Part B SOR Wentworth Park west end field 1 renewal

Turf renovation at Edmund Resch Reserve

DAUX-1-50MS DatAdv Unix/Linux S&M supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

Software Maintenance and Support for 1 Users for 12 months

Samsung Xcover Pro x 140.  As per RFQ 

Sydney Park Skate Park - balustrade

Softfall playground works - Site No.2 -Turruwul Park Playground

DAW-2001-2500MS DatAdv for Windows S&M supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

DatAdvantage for Windows Service Software - User Band 2001-2500

DADS-2001-2500MS Datadv Directory S&M supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

Dat Advantage for Directory Services Service Software Maintenance & Support - User Band 2001-2005

 CL-1-5MS Collector Service S&M supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

Collector Service Software Maintenance and Support - User Band 1-5

DCF-2001-2500MS Data Class Service S&M supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

Data Classification Framework Service Software Maintenance & Support - User Band 2001 - 2500

DW-1-50MS DatAnswers Window Subscription supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

Windows Software Subscription and Support for 50 Users for 12 Months

DCFU-1-50MS Data Clas Frmwk for Unix S&M supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

Data Classification Framework for Unix Software Maintenance and Support for 1 users for 12 months

DL-2001-2500MS DataAlert S&M supplier contract from 31/12/2020 to 30/12/2021

User Band 2001 - 2500

120



New contracts approved within the Quarter over $50,000 and yet to be fully performed.
Order Date Order Amount Outstanding Amount

Supplier: TRINITY QUALITY INTERIORS PTY LTD

PU247535 29 October 2020 $252,080.17 $17,013.95

Contract works - Glebe Library and Neighbourhood Services Centre

Supplier: THE TRUSTEE FOR NEWGRO AUSTRALIA

PU247993 26 November 2020 $86,662.95 $14,135.00

00001

Supplier: THE TRUSTEE FOR THE MATTIOLI BROS UNIT TRUST

PU248411 21 December 2020 $81,493.50 $81,493.50

00001

Supplier: TURNKEY INNOVATIVE ENGIEERING PTY LTD

PU247421 22 October 2020 $132,212.30 $77,211.90

00001

Supplier: URBAN ART PROJECTS

PU247082 1 October 2020 $152,363.20 $118,408.78

00001

Supplier: UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY SYDNEY

PU248405 18 December 2020 $60,761.25 $60,761.25

00001

Supplier: VISUAL INSPIRATIONS AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

PU247904 20 November 2020 $1,305,993.78 $674,941.89

00001

00002

Supplier: VIVIENNE WEBB

PU248346 16 December 2020 $50,000.00 $25,000.00

00002

Supplier: WARD CIVIL & ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEEERING

PU247226 12 October 2020 $15,700,028.45 $12,971,792.59

The construction of Portman Street, Zetland Avenue West and Zetland Avenue Mid

PU247423 22 October 2020 $8,784,252.40 $7,909,323.76

00001

Supplier: WELSH AND MAJOR ARCHITECTS PTY LTD

PU248344 16 December 2020 $482,542.50 $480,898.00

Head Design Consultancy Services for the Pyrmont Community Centre upgrade. 3 years

Contract 1990: Macdonald Street widening and trunk drainage

Cook and Phillip Park control board upgrade

Moongate public art restoration paver fabrication

Deployment and maintenance of environmental sensors

Maintenance of Sydney Christmas Infrastructure for the 2020 season, per Schedule of Rates Revision 14 in Contract Variation no.4 of Major Services Agreement with Visual Inspirations (less $30,000 

allowance for Woolworths facade works to impact lighting activation costs)

Install & dismantle Sydney Christmas Infrastructure for the 2020 season, per Schedule of Rates Revision 14 in Contract Variation no.4 of Major Services Agreement with Visual Inspirations

City Art Laneways – temporary artwork

Sydney Park Skate Park 

Rainbow Pathway, Prince Alfred Park Surry Hills

121



Attachment E 

Environmental Sustainability Progress 
Report   

 

 

 

122



  

Green Environmental 
Sustainability Progress 
Report  
July 2020 to December 2020 
A detailed bi-annual overview of the City of Sydney’s 
progress against our environmental sustainability 
targets for both the Local Government Area (LGA) 
and the City’s own operations. 

123



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

1 

Contents 
1. Our environmental targets ................... 3 

2. Low carbon city .................................... 5 

3. Water sensitive city ............................ 14 

4. Climate resilient city ........................... 22 

5. Zero waste city .................................... 27 

6. Active and connected city ................. 34 

7. Green and cool city ............................ 39 

8. Delivering to the Community ............. 45 

9. Glossary .............................................. 53 

10. Appendix 1: Data management plan..55 

11. Appendix 2: Environment Policy ....... 59 
 
  
 
 
 
 
  

Cover Image: Sapphire Windfarm, NSW  
 

124



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

2 

Since 2008, Sustainable Sydney 
2030 has articulated the 
collective vision of residents and 
visitors, workers and 
businesses. The City then 
committed to ambitious targets 
and strong actions across six 
key environmental focus areas, 
set out in the Environmental 
Action 2016-2021 Strategy and 
Action Plan 
  
The Green Report outlines the progress of our 
environmental program. The Green Report is the City’s 
state of the environment report and fulfils the reporting 
requirements of the NSW Local Government Act 1993 No. 
30 Section 428A and the Integrated Planning and 
Reporting guidelines. 
The City’s Environment Policy 1  applies to all City of 
Sydney’s operations, assets, activities and staff.  
An Environmental Management System (EMS) supports 
the City’s commitment to sustainable asset management 
and operations.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
1 City of Sydney Environment Policy can be seen in Appendix 2. 

Message from the CEO 
The United Nations Environment Program (UNEP) 
Emissions Gap Report 20202 outlines that the COVID-19 
pandemic offers only a short-term reduction in global 
emissions and will not contribute significantly to emissions 
reduction by 2030 unless countries pursue an economic 
recovery that incorporates strong decarbonisation.  
The United Nations calls on governments to use their 
COVID-19 recovery as an opportunity to create more 
sustainable, resilient and inclusive societies, including 
commitment to net-zero goals before 2050. 
From July 2020, the City’s operations have been 100 per 
cent powered by renewables, using electricity generated 
from wind and solar farms in regional NSW. This is a 
significant step for the City’s operations to achieve it’s 
2030 carbon reduction target. 
The pandemic has presented challenges for City 
operations with heightened demand for cleansing and 
waste services due to increased generation of residential 
waste. There has been a decrease in electricity and water 
use in City operations, primarily due to reduced services 
in City operational areas like community and aquatic 
centres.  
Rainfall events increased along the east coast of Australia 
and resulted in reduced demand on potable water use for 
operational areas, particularly parks. In 2020, Australia 
recorded the fourth-hottest year on record. This reinforces 
UNEP’s message that short-term reduction in emissions 
due to COVID-19 should not cause the City, or any level 
of government, to lose focus on significant and increasing 
risk that climate change presents.  
This Green Report provides an update for the most recent 
period, July to December 2020, on our programs, 
initiatives, achievements and latest climate science. 
I encourage everyone to read and distribute this report 
widely to share ideas and inspire environmental 
leadership everywhere. 
 
 
 
 
Monica Barone, Chief Executive Officer

2 United Nations Environment Programme Emission Gap Report 2020 

125

https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2020


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

3 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 outlines the aspiration of our community 
and businesses for our local government area to be an environmental 
leader on a global scale.  
The following are environmental targets outlined in the Environmental Action 2016 - 2021 Strategy and Action Plan. 
 
City of Sydney Operations  
 

Low-carbon city 

– 44 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions by end June 2021 based on 
2006 levels 

– 70 per cent reduction in emissions by 2030 
based on 2006 levels 

– 50 per cent of electricity from renewable 
sources by end June 2021 

Water sensitive city 

– Annual potable water use of 180 L/m2 of 
irrigated open space by end June 2021 

– Zero increase in potable water use by end 
June 2021 from 2006 baseline, achieved 
through water efficiency and recycled water 

– Zero increase in potable water use by 2030 
from 2006 baseline, achieved through 
water efficiency and recycled water 

Zero waste city 

– 70 per cent resource recovery of waste 
from City-managed properties by end June 
2021  

– 80 per cent resource recovery of 
construction and demolition waste 
generated and managed by City operations 
by end June 2021 

– 50 per cent resource recovery of waste 
from City parks, streets and public places 
by end June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

1. Our environmental 
targets 

Active and connected city 

– Zero increase in fleet emissions from 
2014 baseline by end June 2021 

Green and cool city 

– The average total canopy cover is 
increased by 50 per cent by 2030 (from 
15 to 23 per cent), and increased by 75 
per cent by 2050 (to 27 per cent), from a 
2008 baseline  

– Plant 700 new street trees each year until 
2021 

– Plant 50,000 new trees and shrubs in City 
parks and street gardens each year until 
2021 

– Tree species diversity will not consist of 
more than 40 per cent for any particular 
plant family, 30 per cent for any genus or 
10 per cent for any one species by 2021 

– Habitat sites in the city are protected and 
the area of bush restoration sites is 
increased by 100 per cent by 2023 from a 
2012 baseline of 4.2 hectares  

– Indigenous fauna species diversity, 
abundance and distribution is maintained 
or increased by 2023 based on a 2012 
baseline  

– A progressive increase in the number of 
habitat features for priority fauna species 
is established along potential habitat 
linkages by 2023 

126

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision/towards-2030/sustainability


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

4 

 
 
Local Government Area 
Since the targets for Sustainable Sydney 2030 were set, 
the City of Sydney local government area (LGA) has 
undergone significant growth and is expected to continue 
to grow. 
Regardless of future growth, the 2030 targets set by the 
City of Sydney are absolute. 

 
 
3 Accelerated target of net zero by 2040 proposed February 2020 by 
the Lord Mayor Clover Moore will form part of the City’s new long-term 
strategic plan, Sustainable Sydney 2050 

 
  

 

Zero waste city 

– 70 per cent recycling and recovery of 
residential waste from the local government 
area by end June 2021 

– 70 per cent recycling and recovery of 
commercial and industrial waste from the 
local government area by end June 2021 

– 80 per cent recycling and recovery of 
construction and demolition waste from the 
city by end June 2021 

– 15 per cent reduction in per capita 
municipal solid waste generation by 2030 
compared to 2015 

Active and connected city 

– 33 per cent of trips to work during the AM 
peak undertaken by walking by 2030, by 
city residents  

– 10 per cent of total trips made in the city 
are undertaken by bicycle by 2030 

– 80 per cent of trips to work during the AM 
peak are undertaken by public transport by 
2030, by city residents and those travelling 
to Central Sydney from elsewhere 

– 30 per cent of city residents who drive (with 
an unrestricted drivers licence) are 
members of a car sharing scheme by 2030 

Green and cool city 

– The average total canopy cover is 
increased by 50 per cent by 2030 (from 15 
to 23 per cent), and increased by 75 per 
cent by 2050 (to 27 per cent), from a 2008 
baseline 

Low-carbon city 
 

– 70 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions by 2030 based on 2006 levels 

– Net zero emissions by 20503 

– 50 per cent of electricity demand met by 
renewable sources by 2030 

Water sensitive city 

– Zero increase in potable water use by 2030 
from 2006 baseline, achieved through water 
efficiency and recycled water 

– 50 per cent reduction in the annual solid 
pollution load discharged to waterways via 
stormwater by 2030 

– 15 per cent reduction in annual nutrient load 
discharged to waterways via stormwater by 
2030 

127



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report          July to December 2020 
 

5 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
What our cities do to address 
climate change sets the agenda 
everywhere for communities and 
governments to promote 
innovation and solutions to 
achieve a net zero future. 
In Sustainable Sydney 2030, we set a 2030 target to reduce 
emissions both across the city and in our operations by 70 per 
cent below 2006 levels. In our Environmental Action 2016-
2021 Strategy and Action Plan, we have strengthened our 
renewable energy targets for both our own operations and in 
our local government area and extended our emissions target 
to net zero emissions by 2050.  
In light of the climate emergency, we realise that even more 
urgent action is required, and in early 2020 proposed a target 
for the local government area of net zero emissions by 2040 
to be included in the City’s new long-term strategic plan, 
Sustainable Sydney 2050. 
The City’s ‘Asset Environmental Budget’ (AEB) translates 
operational carbon emissions targets into a detailed plan and 
is published in the Resourcing Strategy to promote 
transparency in monitoring of our emissions performance.  

 

City of Sydney goes 100 per cent renewable 
The City of Sydney has commenced using 100 per cent 
renewables to meet its grid electricity needs, from July 2020. 
The renewables commitment will see the City’s operations cut 
emissions by around 18,000 tonnes a year – equivalent to 
the power consumption of around 4,000 City households.  
The City’s 2019/20 emissions were 31 per cent below our 
2006 baseline.  Our 2020/21 emissions are expected to be 
around 66 per cent below 2006 levels as a result of using 100 
per cent renewable electricity (see Chart 1). 
The City purchases renewable power from Sapphire Wind 
Farm in the New England area, Bomen Solar Farm near 
Wagga Wagga and the community owned Repower 
Shoalhaven solar farm. 
Using 100 per cent renewable electricity is essential to 
achieve our commitment to reduce organisational emissions 
by 70 per cent.  
More broadly, the shift to renewable energy in the electricity 
sector is happening much faster than anyone imagined as the 
cost of new renewable energy continues to fall. The NSW 
Government Electricity Infrastructure Investment Act 2020 
now also provides significant support and investment signals 
to assist with the renewable energy transition.  The City 
estimates it may save up to $500,000 a year (compared to 
previous electricity bills) by sourcing its grid electricity from 
renewable energy.  

2. Low carbon city 

Bomen Solar Farm near Wagga Wagga, NSW 

128

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/council/publications-updates/integrated-planning-reporting/resourcing-strategy


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report          July to December 2020 
 

6 

City of Sydney is a founding member of 
BRC-A 

Business Renewables 
Centre Australia (BRC-A) 
provides a membership 
platform to simplify, 
streamline and 

accelerate corporate purchasing of large-scale wind and 
solar energy and storage. The City of Sydney is one of the 
founding members of this important organisation, along 
with over 60 other organisations, including councils, 
project developers and some of Australia’s best known 
and biggest companies. 
Working with its partners, the BRC-A will drive best 
practice principles for negotiating and delivering, and 
eventually standardising corporate renewable power 
purchase agreements (PPAs) that reduce costs for 
purchasers, deliver fair returns for developers and 
financiers, and contribute to local and regional economies. 
“It just goes to show that switching to renewable energy is 
a sound business decision, and one that is being 
considered in boardrooms and planning meetings all 
around Australia,” said Monica Richter, Project Director for 
BRC-A. 
 

Net zero and 100 per cent renewable energy 
commitments  
The City has set targets in line with 
what is necessary at the global scale 
to avoid the worst impacts of climate 
change. We all need to contribute to 
this outcome and the large and 
increasing number of organisations 

making these commitments is testament to the new 
opportunities from a clean economy.  
ClimateWorks Australia has identified that 25 per cent of 
Australia’s largest banks are working towards setting 
emissions targets which are consistent with a net zero 
pathway for both their operations and their investment and 
lending activities and almost half of Australia’s largest 
listed property companies have made commitments to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions that closely align with 
the Paris Climate Agreement.  
After only 1-year having an Australian presence, many 
prominent Australian companies - including all of the big-
four banks - have signed up to the RE100 program to use 
100 per cent renewable energy, many by 2025 or sooner.   
The City acknowledges leading organisations operating in 
our area who are using renewable energy and committing 
to net zero emissions targets. (Please let us know if your 
organisation is not shown here.) 

Timeframe Organisation Commitment 
Now GPT  Signs Net Zero Carbon Buildings Commitment 
 Bank Australia  100 per cent renewable 
 Frasers Property Australia  First carbon neutral certified building. All base buildings certified by 2020 
 Allens, ANZ, APN Outdoor, CBRE, Dexus, Frasers 

Property Australia, GPT, JCDecaux, NAB, Pangolin, 
PWC, Sydney Opera House, Westpac, WWF 

Certified carbon neutral 

 UNSW  100 per cent renewable 
 City of Sydney  100 per cent renewable 
 City of Melbourne, City of Adelaide 100 per cent renewable 
2025 GPT Wholesale Office Fund net zero by 2021 
 ANZ, Atlassian, Macquarie Group, NAB, QBE, Westpac  100 per cent renewable by 2025 
 Lendlease  Australian Prime Property Fund Commercial (APPFC) net zero by 2025 

and Carbon Positive Barangaroo 
2030 AMP Capital  Wholesale Office Fund net-zero property portfolio by 2030. 
 Dexus Net zero property portfolio by 2030 
 Frasers Property  Company-wide carbon zero target by 2028 
 GPT  Entire property portfolio to be zero carbon by 2030 
 Mirvac Net zero positive by 2030 and 100 per cent renewable energy buildings 
 Commonwealth Bank  100 per cent renewable by 2030 
2040 Investa Net zero organisation by 2040 with science-based targets 
 JLL  Reduce emissions from its own offices 80 per cent by 2040 

 

129

https://www.there100.org/


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report          July to December 2020 
 

7 

      
 
 
 
 
 
      City of Sydney Operations 
Carbon neutral program 
The City has been measuring, reducing and offsetting all 
of its operational greenhouse gas emissions since 
2006/07. In 2011, the City of Sydney became the first of 
any level of Government in Australia to be certified as 
Carbon Neutral under the Australian Government Climate 
Active program (previously called the National Carbon 
Offset Standard). 
The City remains carbon neutral by continuing to 
implement emissions saving projects, developing a 
greenhouse gas emissions inventory with independent 
verification each year, and through the provision of 
accredited offsets equivalent to 100 per cent of the 
organisation’s emissions. 
How we do it 
Measure 
We prepare a detailed emissions inventory each year and 
have it verified independently to ensure it is accurate. 
Avoid and reduce 
The City has been achieving energy and emissions 
savings in our buildings, street lighting, and fleet 
operations through energy efficiency upgrades, 
monitoring and management.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Renewable energy 
The City is rolling out solar PV to many sites and from July 
2020 began purchasing 100 per cent renewable electricity. 
This will make a significant reduction in the City’s 
emissions as depicted in Chart 1 below. 
Offset 
The City reduces its carbon liability by avoiding and 
reducing emissions and using offsets 
for emissions that cannot be 
avoided. Each year the number of 
offsets has reduced as we continue 
to implement energy efficiency, 
renewable energy and fuel switching 
programs despite providing a greater 
level of service to our community.  
The City has also started to purchase 
higher quality offsets to support 
regional areas to develop projects that absorb carbon 
back out of the atmosphere. In 2020 offsets purchased 
supported forest regeneration in NSW. In 2021 we are 
purchasing a share of offsets from Indigenous savannah 
fire and land management in northern Australia. 
Relevant links - Climate Active  

 
 

Advocacy  
The City has numerous successful partnerships and programs to deliver on our targets, and we are committed to leading by example in our own 
operations. However, the Australian government needs set a net zero target in line with Australia’s commitment to the Paris Agreement to keep global 
heating below 1.5 degrees, and to develop programs and support for communities affected in the transition. All state and territory governments in 
Australia have established zero targets.  

During the past six months the City prepared a submission in support of the Climate Change Bill 2020, calling for a net zero target for Australia before 
2050 and guidance around the accounting and fair apportionment of voluntary actions. We continue to work with a range of strategic partners including 
the Green Building Council of Australia and the Property Council of Australia to demonstrate the benefits of expanding the Commercial Buildings 
Disclosure scheme. Shared industry recommendations include reducing the threshold of disclosing energy performance; and expanding the scope of 
disclosure to include office tenancies and other building sectors. 

Note: Greenhouse gas emissions for 2019/20 
are an estimate and are currently being verified 
 

Chart 1: City of Sydney operations greenhouse gas emissions 

Estimated 
reduction by 
using 100% 
renewable 
electricity 

130

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision/sustainability/sustainable-city-living/carbon-neutral
https://www.climateactive.org.au/buy-climate-active/certified-members/city-sydney
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/image/0010/211600/Carbon-Netral-Vertical-White-jjj.jpg


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report          July to December 2020 
 

8 

Our operational targets 

 
Greenhouse 
gas emissions 

– 44 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by end June 2021, based on 2006 levels 
– 70 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2030 based on 2006 levels 

 
Renewable  
energy – 50 per cent of electricity demand met by renewable sources by end June 2021 

How we are tracking 
Annual greenhouse gas emissions 
Chart 1 tracks our annual operational emissions by 
category to the Sustainable Sydney 2030 target of a 70 
per cent emission reduction against the 2005/06 baseline. 
Greenhouse gas emissions from grid electricity for year 
2019/20 are calculated using market-based accounting. 
For forthcoming years, the grid electricity emissions will be 
calculated in two ways, using location-based emissions 
factors for NSW from the National Greenhouse Factors, 
and market-based accounting using the national 
renewable power percentage. The difference between 
these methods is how the emissions avoided by 
renewable energy are apportioned to the end user.  Using 
market-based accounting, the City can claim 100% 
emissions free electricity since it purchases 100% from 
renewable sources (by purchasing and surrendering 
LGCs - renewable energy certificates). 
The reduced emissions in 2019/20 are due to ongoing 
improvements in energy efficiency, onsite solar, switch to 
market-based accounting and the impacts of COVID-19 to 
business operations. 
Energy consumption data 
The table below shows energy consumption data for the 
organisation.  Whilst the use of gas has been increasing, 
total energy has reduced slightly. Gas represents 15% of 
the City’s emissions. The City’s use of gas has increased 
since the base year primarily due to the installation of gas-
fired co and trigeneration which produces fewer emissions 
than the electricity grid. However, emissions from the 
City’s use of electricity have now been negated since it 
began to use 100% renewable electricity.  
 

Organisation Electricity 
(MWh) 

Natural gas  
(GJ) 

Total energy 
(GJ) 

Baseline 42,427 21,894 174,631 

Last Year  
(Jun 2019)  31,250 75,853 188,353 

Most recent 
(Jun 2020) 28,594 84,811 187,749 

Difference 
(baseline) -13,833 (-33%) +62,917 (+287%) -13,118 (-8%) 

Difference 
(previous year) -2,265 (-9%)  +8,958 (+12%) -604 (0%) 

 

Procurement of a renewable gas supply will be one way 
to reduce the emissions from the City’s existing gas 
using equipment until it reaches end of life and is able to 
be replaced with zero emissions alternatives. 
The table below describes the sources for the annual 
operations greenhouse gas emissions data. For more 
information, see Appendix 1: Data management plan.  
 

  Title   Source 

Buildings, parks 
and street lighting 

SMART (Sustainability Management 
and Reporting Tool) 

Fleet Fleet services fuel consumption data. 

Other GHG Various systems are used to collect 
emissions from other business activities 
such as contractor fuel, waste, flights, 
taxi journeys and refrigerants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SMART: Sustainability Management and Reporting Tool 

 

131

http://www.environment.gov.au/system/files/resources/b24f8db4-e55a-4deb-a0b3-32cf763a5dab/files/national-greenhouse-accounts-factors-dec-2014.pdf


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report          July to December 2020 
 

9 

Environmental Management System (EMS) 
The City continues to improve its environmental management 
processes, in line with the ISO14001 standard and to ensure all 
City staff are aware of their environmental management 
responsibilities. During the period the following was undertaken: 
• The City is in the process of developing a suite of 

procurement documentation that will embed social and 
sustainable procurement practices as the norm. 
The Procurement Returnable Schedules have been 
developed for prospective suppliers to assess and provide 
assurance and/or commitment to the City’s legal and 
strategic objectives in relation to climate change, Local Buy 
Corporate Social Responsibilities, Chain of Responsibility, 
Modern Slavery Act, environmental impacts, recycling 
content and other elements to develop towards a Circular 
Economy. Other documents include a Supplier Code of 
Conduct for Suppliers  

• Council owned land that have an associated Contaminated 
Land Environment Management Plan (CLEMP) were 
loaded on the Dial Before You Dig (DBYD) platform. 
Ongoing construction works projects on the associated land 
will now have direct access to the CLEMPs through the 
DBYD request system.   

• The City has developed Sustainable Event Management 
Guidelines to support the delivery of major events and 
activations. The sustainable event guidelines are available 
online  

• All staff sustainability training has been rolled out to over 
620 staff from all areas of the City. The training is an 
interactive course focussing on the foundations of 
environmental sustainability and embedding outcomes into 
work processes and behaviour. 

 

SMART - Sustainability Management and 
Reporting Tool 
SMART is the City’s system to manage, monitor and report on 
utilities and other sustainability metrics for all assets owned or 
managed by City of Sydney. It provides City asset managers and 
staff with improved visibility on electricity, gas, water 
consumption, and waste generation. 
The platform has been implemented and is now in an operational 
phase with a process set up for regular utility monitoring, 
reporting and continual improvement. 
For the 2019/20, SMART identified utility variances within City’s 
portfolio in tune of 321-megawatt hour of electricity, 19 terajoules 
of natural gas, 29 mega litres of water. The electricity and natural 
gas variances equate to 1,285 tonnes of greenhouse gas 
emissions. 
 
 

Building upgrades 
The City has continued to improve on the energy efficiency of its 
property portfolio through building upgrades projects such as: 
• LED lighting replacements across key City properties 

including within its aquatic centres and community centres 
which has not only achieved energy efficiency, but also 
improved light levels, occupant safety, maintenance 
requirements and aesthetics. 

• Aquatic centre improvements including heat recovery from 
backwashing, new efficient heat pumps, UV modulation 
units and high efficiency motors for pumps. 

• Heating, Ventilation and Air-Conditioning (HVAC) 
improvements through better controls and sensors, 
installation of variable speed drives (VSDs), refrigerant 
management and targeted maintenance. 

• Proactive building management through Building Analytics 
(building management systems) where optimisation, fault 
detection and efficiency measures are identified and 
actioned. 

• Regular site inspections by City staff helps identify assets or 
systems for potential improvement as well as safety 
concerns. 

A key program for delivering energy and water efficiency within 
City buildings is the Major Properties Efficiency Project (MPEP). 
The program targets fourteen of the City’s highest energy and 
water consuming sites and is a four-year program running from 
2016/17 to 2020/21. The program is in its final year of delivery 
and to date has delivered approximately 1,597 tonnes of CO2 
emissions savings through the above projects. 
 
Fleet 
Fleet emissions continue to contribute approximately 7 per cent 
of the City’s total emissions and continuing efforts at emissions 
reductions focus on low-risk and eco-driving strategies. Low risk 
driving practices almost always contribute to lower fuel or battery 
use and fewer emissions. 
The City of Sydney has embraced electric vehicles, with 19 
Nissan Leaf vehicles in its fleet, as well as 40 hybrid cars and 70 
hybrid trucks. Earlier this year, the City also trialled its first 
electric garbage truck, with the hope that soon its garbage truck 
fleet can also be emissions free. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 City of Sydney Electric Fleet Vehicle 

 
132

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/322327/2019-485796-FINAL-Cos_Sustainable-Event-Guidelines_23-06_2020-Accessible-Version2.pdf


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report          July to December 2020 
 

10 

Project updates  
Solar PV and energy storage 
To date, the City has installed 43 solar PV systems at 
multiple Council sites including office buildings, childcare 
centres, libraries, works depots, community centres, 
sporting fields and other venues. 
Two solar PV systems, totalling up to 250 kW, were added 
on City buildings between July-December 2020. 
The City also hosts the first major customer-based battery 
storage facility in Sydney. In collaboration with TransGrid, 
a 500-kWh lithium Ion battery system has been installed 
at the new Alexandra Canal depot. The battery facility 
allows the depot to use more of the renewable energy 
generated via the massive on-site solar PV installation (if 
there were no batteries, more on-site generated energy 
would be exported to the grid). 

 

 
Ian Thorpe Aquatic Centre Heat pump replacement 
The City has also completed the replacement of all aged 
and end of life heat pumps at the centre. The new, highly 
energy efficient heat pumps were installed in December 
2020. The City is also looking to install a separate energy 
monitoring and power monitoring system for the heat 
pumps to track and manage the energy consumption and 
the overall performance of the new heat pumps. 

Cogeneration at Cook + Phillip Park Aquatic Centre 
The City has signed a contract to install a new 250 kW 
cogeneration unit, a new chiller with heat pump, new heat 
pumps and new boiler at Cook and Phillip Park Aquatic 
Centre. The installation and commissioning of the heating 
and cooling equipment along with the cogeneration plant 
was completed in November 2020. The cogeneration 
system will go in routine operation by March 2021. The 
energy services upgrade project will deliver up to 700 
tonnes CO2e a year of emissions reduction in total. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Advocacy 
LED streetlights 
The City aims to be the first council in Australia to replace all 
public lighting in its area with energy-efficient LEDs. Having 
completed the roll-out on City-owned lighting poles, the City is 
now partnering with Ausgrid (our local electricity utility) to 
upgrade utility-owned streetlights.  
The Ausgrid upgrade involves replacement of conventional 
streetlight fittings (e.g. mercury vapour, compact fluorescent) 
with more energy-efficient LED streetlights.  
Stage one of the program is now largely complete with 95 per 
cent of residential lights changed over at December 2020. 
Ausgrid is now accelerating stage two of the changeover of 
other streetlights (typically on major roads and in commercial 
areas).  
Ausgrid recommenced works in June 2020 to replace Ausgrid 
owned conventional streetlights in the City with energy efficient 
LED’s. In November, Ausgrid reported that 3,018 out of a total 
of 3,073 fittings were upgraded to LED on residential streets.  
Ausgrid are planning to upgrade the remainder of the fittings by 
March 2021. 
When both stages are complete by mid-2022, emissions will 
have been reduced by about 3,400 tonnes a year (based on 
standard grid emission factors).  
More information is on the Ausgrid website  
 

New Solar PV System at State Emergency Services Building, Erskineville 

 

New cogeneration unit at Ian Thorpe Aquatic Centre, Ultimo 

 

133

https://www.ausgrid.com.au/In-your-community/Streetlights/LED-Streetlight-Rollout


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July 2020 to December 2020 
 

11 

       The local government area
 

Local government area targets 

           Greenhouse gas emissions - 70 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2030 based on 2006 levels 
- Net zero emissions by 2050 

            Renewable energy 
– 50 per cent of electricity demand met by renewable sources by 20304 

 
How the local government area is tracking 
Annual greenhouse gas emissions 
Chart 3 tracks actual 
emissions from the local 
government area. Note 
that as at 2018-19 
emissions have reduced 
by 22 per cent since the 
2006 baseline. Prior to the 
Covid-19 pandemic there 
have been 45 per cent more 
residents5, 22 per cent more jobs and more than 50 per 
cent growth in the economy. This clearly shows that 
energy and emissions have been decoupled from growth. 
The City reports emissions based on the Global Protocol 
for Community-Scale Greenhouse Gas Emission 
Inventories (GPC) 6  – the international benchmark for 
reporting city emissions. 
 
Energy consumption data 

The table below shows energy consumption data for the 
LGA. Please note, LGA data is shown to June 2019, as 
Ausgrid have not provided June 2020 data at the time of 
publication.  
 

LGA Electricity 
(MWh) 

Natural gas 
(GJ) 

Total energy 
(GJ) 

Baseline 4,159,436    3,038,529  18,012,502  

Most recent  
(to June 2019) 

3,369,046    3,572,753  15,701,322  

Difference -790,389 +534,224 -2,311,177  

Difference 
(per cent) 

-19% +18% -13% 

    

For more information see Appendix 1: Data management plan.

 

 
 
4 The renewable electricity target incorporates renewable electricity both within the grid and classified as additional to the grid. 
5 Based on 2017/18 LGA population data for residents/workers/visitors compared to 2005/2006 baseline. 
6 http://www.ghgprotocol.org/city-accounting 

Local government area ANNUAL 
greenhouse gas emissions 

Below 2006 levels 

22% 
Decrease 

Chart 3: Local government area greenhouse gas emissions 

134



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

12 

How we will get there 
Chart 4 shows the estimated contributions of the initiatives we expect could lead to reduction of the city’s emissions by 
70 per cent by 2030. 
Since 2007 total greenhouse gas emissions across the local government area have continued to fall. 
Most greenhouse gas emissions in the City of Sydney local government area are due to buildings. Emissions are falling 
due to improved energy efficiency awareness and practices, and the increase of renewable energy in the grid and locally. 
However, as buildings become more efficient, and as more people live and work in the area, emissions from transport 
are growing as a proportion of the total.  
Achieving the target will require a major increase in focus on improving the energy efficiency of new and existing buildings 
and increasing the amount of renewable energy locally and in the grid, especially as Australia’s aging coal generation 
fleet reaches end of life. The electrification of transport powered by an increasingly renewable grid will make a notable 
contribution to reducing emissions from transport. 
 

– Energy efficiency (-34 per cent) calculated on the basis of 
existing and new state and federal government policies and 
programs 

– Renewable energy (-22 per cent) reflects 50 per cent of 
electricity being provided by renewable sources 

– Co/trigeneration (-3 per cent) is based on historic average 
installation rates 

– Waste diversion/advanced waste treatment (-7 per cent) 
reflects savings from avoided landfill emissions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

– Transport (-4 per cent) emissions reductions would be 
realised by use of vehicles with lower emissions intensity, 
and by changing the mode split to move away from car 
travel and towards public transport and walking and cycling 

– Offsets and future opportunities (-6 per cent) include 
savings that could be made from transport, waste, 
renewable energy, energy efficiency, regulatory and/or 
technological improvements, or other opportunities. 
Offsets could be purchased by those entities generating 
emission

Chart 4: Local government area greenhouse gas emissions target. Estimated contribution of initiatives.  

High voltage electricity data 
The electricity distributor has provided community-wide high-voltage (HV) electricity data for City of Sydney local government area. 
HV electricity is now around 14 per cent of total LGA electricity however we do not include this in the City's official GPC community 
inventory as it is unclear how reliable or replicable this data is due to confidentiality reasons. 
While electricity usage is generally declining as buildings and equipment become more efficient, HV electricity is on the increase, 
most likely due to increasing demand for rail public transport and data centres. More renewable energy supply will be key to 
reducing emissions from these sectors on a trajectory to net zero.  

Note: Updated emissions forecasts are currently being developed and will 
be released with the City’s new Environmental Action Strategy later in 2021 
 

135



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

13 

 
Take action 
Sydney needs to accelerate its transition from a city powered by 
coal, to an efficient low-carbon city, and ultimately to a net zero 
city by 2040 or sooner.. 
The 2020 Climate of the Nation Report, by the Australian 
Institute, reports that the majority of Australians are concerned 
about climate change and that Australia should be a world leader 
in finding solutions. This sentiment was echoed at a local level 
through the City’s Sustainable Sydney 2050 engagement report. 
Our community express a desire to be part of the solution, but 
they are looking for more information from trusted sources on the 
practical actions they can take.  
One way that we have been addressing this community need, 
and to achieve 50 per cent of electricity demand from renewable 
sources by 2030 through voluntary action, is through broad scale 
marketing.  
Here are some examples of the materials the City has produced 
to educate our community about renewable energy: 
- Development of the Renewable Energy Help Centre – an 

online knowledge base covering everything from solar 
panels to power purchase agreements. 

- A short video (Facebook login required) and article 
educating students about climate action. 

- An illustrated video explaining how GreenPower works and 
why it’s the quickest and easiest way to switch to 
renewables at home and work.

  

Advocacy 
Increase the building code targets 
BASIX and the National Construction Code are the 
mandatory planning instruments that set the minimum 
standard for energy and water efficiency of new buildings. 
The BASIX standard was set 12 years ago and has not 
kept pace with new technology and falls short of current 
best-practice. Standards must be raised now to ensure we 
don’t build more new poor-performing buildings that will 
lock-in carbon emissions for decades to come. The NSW 
government needs to increase BASIX targets for minimum 
environmental performance in residential buildings.  The 
National Construction Code also needs to develop a net 
zero trajectory with clear review and update milestones. 
The City is a member of the Australian Sustainable Built 
Environment Council (ASBEC) which has prepared a major 
report on building performance called Built to Perform: An 
Industry Led Pathway to a Zero Carbon Ready Building 
Code www.asbec.asn.au/publications/ - this will provide a 
good basis for City advocacy. 

Advocacy 
Standards for urban renewal precincts  
Upcoming urban renewal precincts in our local area – such 
as Waterloo Estate, Central Station precinct and the Bays 
Precinct – present the opportunity to deliver world-leading 
environmental sustainability outcomes. The NSW state 
government will be redeveloping these sites, and the City 
will advocate for high environmental standards for these 
areas as they will be bringing tens of thousands of new 
residents into our LGA – and we want their environmental 
footprint to be as small as possible. This is a keyway for 
the State Government to apply its own target for net zero 
emissions across the state by 2050. 

Relevant links 
– Sustainable Sydney 2030 

 

136

https://renewableenergy.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.facebook.com/36002998891/posts/10156944418788892/
https://news.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/articles/i-went-to-the-climate-strike-what-can-i-do-now
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LrR7LEhWwoY
http://www.asbec.asn.au/publications/
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision/sustainable-sydney-2030


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

14 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Water is crucial to the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of our city. 
Sydney is under pressure from rapid population growth and urban densification. 
Water sensitive approaches helps deliver a more sustainable and liveable city with 
green public spaces and healthy waterways. 
 
Our operational targets 

       City of Sydney operations 
Why reduce our potable water use? 
The predicted impacts of climate change and population 
growth will strain our potable water supplies, with potable 
water demand in the local government area estimated to 
be 30 per cent higher in 2030 than in 2006. 
To respond to this, the City is transforming to be a water 
sensitive city that is resilient, cool, green and productive. 
We aim to drought-proof our operations, so we can use 
water when it is hot and dry to help keep the City green 
and cool. The City’s non-potable water supplies will 
safeguard our water supplies so even in times of drought, 
we can help for use in the next century and beyond. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
What makes up City operational water use? 

Type Includes 

Parks and Public 
Domain 

Parks, open spaces, sports fields, street 
gardens and playgrounds. Also included 
are water features that are in the public 
domain. 

Commercial 
buildings 

Income producing buildings, such as 
Customs House, parking stations and 
retail shops. It also includes properties 
acquired for strategic purposes that do 
not fall into other categories 

Community 
buildings 

Includes childcare centres, libraries, 
community centres and town halls. 

Aquatic facilities Includes Victoria Park Pool, Andrew 
(Boy) Charlton Pool, Cook and Phillip 
Park Aquatic Centre, Ian Thorpe Aquatic 
Centre and Prince Alfred Park Pool. 

Operations Depots and workshops 

3. Water sensitive city 

 Water consumption – Zero increase in potable water use by end June 2021 from 2006 baseline, achieved 
through water efficiency and recycled water  

– Annual potable water use of 180L/m2 of irrigated open space by end June 2021 

What is potable water? 
Potable water, also called drinking water, is water suitable for 
drinking, cooking and personal bathing. 
What is non-potable water? 
Non-potable water is not the same quality as drinking water and can 
be used for purposes such as irrigation, toilet flushing and dust 
suppression. 

137



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

15 

The City of Sydney’s approach 
Our approach to meeting our water targets and becoming 
a water sensitive city involves: 
• Using less water through changes in behaviour and using 

water efficient fixtures and fittings 

• Capturing alternative water sources to recycle and use for 
non-potable purposes 

• Connecting our parks and buildings to non-potable water 
supplies, such as harvested stormwater and rainwater 

• Reducing stormwater pollution, minimising local flood risk, 
enhancing greening and urban cooling through retrofitting 
the stormwater management network with raingardens, 
wetlands, swales and gross pollutant traps 

• Regularly auditing and, where necessary, upgrading 
irrigation systems to be more efficient 

• Improved data management and monitoring to identify, 
investigate and rectify anomalies in water consumption. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chart 5: City of Sydney operations potable water use 
Chart 5 shows our organisation wide water use over the 
past 5 financial years. 
Water savings for FY 2019/20 are due to identification 
and rectification of leaks, results from our tenancy on-
charging program, improvements in water data 
management and water efficiency projects. 
A large portion of savings are also attributed to increased 
rainfall and COVID-19 related closures of water intensive 
City sites such as Aquatic centres and public buildings. 

 

How we are tracking 
Annual water consumption 
As at June 2020, it is estimated that the City operations 
potable water use has decreased by 12 per cent from the 
2006 baseline, from 431 to 378 ML per annum. 
The below table summarises the difference between our 
current and 2006 baseline water use. The data for 
2019/20 has been updated in December 2020 which 
include 3 per cent estimated accruals.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Notes for Chart 5: 

– The 2019/20 figure of 378 ML includes 3% accrued data. 

– All data sourced directly from Sydney Water and stored within the City’s 
SMART data management system. 

– Exceptions - Only sites where the City has ‘operational control’ are 
included. Properties where a whole building is leased and the tenant has 
full building operations and maintenance obligations, such as the Queen 
Victoria Building and the Capitol Theatre, are excluded.  

– Categorisation method – When allocating multi-purpose City buildings to 
one of the above categories, the dominant water use type for the reporting 
period is the determining factor for the reporting period. For example, 
Customs House has office, retail, library and exhibition uses, and is 
allocated to Commercial Buildings. Over time the categorisation of a 
property may change depending on the use. 
 
 

City of Sydney operations – water use comparison 

Baseline (FY 2006) 431 ML 

Current (FY 2020) 378 ML 

Difference (ML) -53 ML 

Difference (%) -12% 

138



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

16 

 
 

How we will get there 
Chart 6 shows the forecast change in the City’s operational water use in FY2021. Estimated increases in water use are 
due to the City’s growing portfolio of buildings, aquatic centres and parks. Estimated reductions in potable water use is 
associated with projects we plan to implement across our operational portfolio to meet our 2021 water target of 
maintaining our potable water use at 2006 levels. 
 

Chart 6: City of Sydney operations potable water use – How we are tracking against our target to 2021 

Projects and initiatives 
The City has a suite of projects underway to reduce 
potable water through efficiency measures and recycled 
water. These include: 
• FY2020 Potable Water Use - Based on actual 

consumption data from SMART with 3% accruals 
• COVID-19 impact – Estimated increase for FY2021 

based on reopening of community facilities and 
buildings after initial closure of services due to the 
pandemic 

• Property Portfolio Increase - Key building portfolio 
changes are new investments and VPA handovers 

• Aquatics Portfolio Increase - Gunyama Park Aquatic 
and Recreation Centre 

• Parks Portfolio Increase - Handover and upgrade 
completion of small parks 
 
 

 
• Cleansing & Waste Increase - Increased public 

domain cleansing and street litter bin cleaning due to 
COVID-19 

• Building Portfolio Savings - Building water fixture 
upgrades, tenancy water allocation and rainwater 
system upgrades, Also Oxford St Holdings (1,2,3) 
being removed from portfolio 

• Parks Portfolio Savings - Key savings due to Sydney 
Park water reuse scheme back online and increased 
recycled water use in City operations for tree and 
garden verge watering 

• Cleansing & Waste Savings - Upgrade of depot 
vehicle washing hose equipment at Bay St 

• The current outlook estimates that the City is on 
track to meet the operational potable water 
consumption target by 2 percent. 

 

139



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

17 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rainwater harvesting and reuse at Alexandra Canal Depot  

Project updates  
Water consumption in parks 
Since 2006, the area of parks and open spaces requiring 
irrigation in the LGA has increased by over 50 per cent. This 
includes Harold Park, Wentworth Park, Redfern Park, 
Redfern Oval, Pirrama Park, Harmony Park, Prince Alfred 
Park, Paddington Reservoir Gardens, Peace Park, Lillian 
Fowler Reserve, Mary O’Brien Reserve and Coulson Street 
Reserve.  
Despite these increases in green spaces, parks staff and 
our service providers have worked to reduce water use 
over the last two years through irrigation efficiency 
programs, prompt rectification of leaks and water losses 
and ensuring recycled water is used where possible  
The City’s target for water use in our parks is 180L per 
square metre of irrigated space by the end of 2021. 
Improved water data is being collected in SMART and more 
accurate asset area data in the City’s Corporate Asset 
Management System (CAMS). The accuracy of irrigation 
rates will be reviewed and revised if necessary, and when 
complete reported through future Green Reports. 
The table below provides estimated potable water usage 
in City Parks and Public Domain (as shown in Chart 5).   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Smart watering project 
The Smart watering project is focused on delivering 
automated, digital, close-to-real-time view of water usage 
needs in the City’s parks to inform water management 
decisions impacting the City’s potable water consumption 
targets. A proof of concept for Alexandria Park Oval is 
currently in implementation phase. Soil moisture sensors 
have been installed in Alexandria Oval and data from the 
sensors is being collected. Work to develop data 
visualisation of the captured and live data is underway. 
These visualisations will be provided to support operational 
staff and management to make better decisions about 
water use. 
 

Improving our data  
The organisation wide metering project commenced 
implementation in early 2020 and is delivering important 
benefits for the management of water in Parks, including: 
• Sub meters and data logging on our large irrigation 

systems. This data, combined with more accurate 
asset areas from CAMS, will be used to more 
accurately report on irrigation efficiency and fine tune 
irrigation practices. 

• Automated collection of water consumption data at 
major parks will give better visibility of how water is 
being used. At least 90 per cent of water consumption 
in parks and open spaces will be monitored daily, or 
even more frequently. This will help improve the City’s 
system for monitoring and controlling park irrigation, to 
further drive water efficiency and reduce water 
consumption.

City Parks and Public Domain 
Financial Year Potable water use (ML) 

2006 133 

2015 194 

2016 157 

2017 183 

2018  224 
2019  197 
2020  139 

140



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

18 

Projects updates 
Sydney Park water reuse scheme upgrade 
The Sydney Park water reuse project was originally 
completed in 2015 and enables around 850 million litres of 
stormwater each year to be harvested from our urban 
stormwater network and captured in a series of wetlands 
within Sydney Park.  
These wetlands provide several benefits to our community. 
They provide habitat for wildlife, enhance the park’s visual 
amenity, and naturally clean the stormwater before being 
discharged into the Cooks River via Alexandria Canal.  
The capture of stormwater in Sydney Park’s wetlands also 
provided the opportunity to treat and re-use this stormwater 
for non-potable water uses such as: irrigation of Sydney Park, 
growing plants at our nursery depot, and watering street trees 
and street gardens. There is also opportunity to improve the 
treated water quality better for ablution use.  
In 2017, the original water treatment plant at Sydney Park 
was removed to accommodate changing land use resulting 
from the NSW State Government’s WestConnex road project. 
This required the City to build a new fit-for purpose 
stormwater recycling treatment plant, so we could continue 
to utilise recycled water in and around Sydney Park. 
Installation of the new water recycling plant is now complete 
and is supplying recycled water for irrigation in Sydney Park, 
the nursery and for watering using tanker trucks.   
The new treatment plant even has the capability to expand in 
the future and increase the supply of recycled water to meet 
other demands in the area. 
 

 
 
Green Square water reuse 
The best opportunity to develop water recycling schemes is 
within urban renewal areas because they provide the density 
and scale required for efficient investment in recycled water 
infrastructure and can be planned and installed at the time of 
development, which is cheaper and more efficient than 
retrofitting. 
 

 
 
It also allows private water utilities to offer water services 
across an entire precinct, improving commercial viability. The 
City is investigating the use of planning controls to encourage 
the delivery of recycled water services.  
The City has successfully delivered Green Square Stage 1: 
In 2018, we switched on one of Australia’s first decentralised 
stormwater recycling schemes in an urban environment. The 
scheme currently provides recycled water to parks, 
community facilities and more than 3,000 apartments in the 
Green Square Town Centre for garden and turf irrigation, 
toilet flushing and clothes washing. 
 

The City supports efforts to expand water recycling in the 
Green Square area. It would like to see a Stage 2 project 
achieved, namely a utility-led water reuse scheme in the 
Greater Green Square area outside of the town centre. Unlike 
Green Square Water Reuse Stage 1 which captures 
stormwater for reuse, Stage 2 would collect locally generated 
wastewater for treatment and reuse. Further development of 
a Stage 2 scheme is currently hampered by 2016 changes to 
water pricing. Current pricing and regulatory barriers in the 
water sector continue to challenge the development of 
recycled water schemes like the one envisioned for Stage 2. 
 

CBD Water recycling scheme 
As part of the construction of the Sydney Light Rail project, 
at the request of the City, recycled water pipelines were 
installed along George Street between Circular Quay and 
Prince Alfred Park next to Central Station. Along with the 
recycled water pipeline installed along Wynyard Walk, the 
City has an invaluable opportunity to develop a recycled 
water scheme in Sydney’s centre. 
It is envisaged that selected City of Sydney assets and 
interested customers (such as building owners and 
developers) could connect to a recycled water pipe network 
and be provided with recycled water for non-potable (non-
drinking water) uses such as park irrigation, garden watering, 
toilet flushing and cooling tower use.  
A successful CBD water recycling scheme will require diligent 
planning and delivery, as well as approval and a license 
under the NSW Water Industry Competition Act. The City is 
currently working to understand how best to develop the 
recycled water pipelines into a successful water recycling 
scheme for our city centre. 
By replacing potable water with recycled water, this project 
has the potential to provide a valuable contribution to the 
City’s LGA target of zero increase in potable water use by 
2030 from 2006 baseline. 
 

New Water Treatment Plant at Sydney Park Nursery Depot, Alexandria 

 

141



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

19 

Local government area targets 

           Water consumption - Zero increase in potable water use by 2030 from 2006 baseline, achieved through water 
efficiency and recycled water 

           Stormwater quality 
– 50 per cent reduction in the annual solid pollution load discharged to waterways via stormwater 

by 2030 
– 15 per cent reduction in annual nutrient load discharged to waterways via stormwater by 2030 

 
          The local government area 
 
How are we tracking? 
Chart 6 7  shows annual 
potable water usage 
across the city has grown 
14% against our 2006 
baseline, during which 
time the city’s population 
has grown at least 50 per 
cent.8 This is an increase 
of one per cent on 
2017/18 consumption data, which was impacted by a dry, 
hot year. 
Water efficiency programs, environmental performance 
grants and recycled water schemes will continue to relieve 
pressure on our potable water supplies.  
Our policies to incorporate recycled water on a precinct 
scale will assist in keeping our city green and cool and use 
less potable water for non-potable uses.  
 
Chart 6 City of Sydney’s local government area potable 
water use 

 

 
 
7 All data sourced directly from Sydney Water 

 
 
Increased growth in the local area and the removal of state 
government-imposed water restrictions after the previous 
drought have led to annual consumption rising above the 
baseline in recent years.  
 
Water consumption data 
This table shows water consumption data for the local 
government area. Data for the local government (LGA) is 
based on actual data received from Sydney Water for 
consumption to end 2018/19. Data for 2019/20 will be 
available from Sydney Water by early 2021 and will be 
included in the next report. 

 Baseline 
(ML) 

Current (end 
18/19) (ML) 

Difference 
(ML) 

Difference 
(%) 

LGA 33,712 38,486 4,774 14 

For more information, see Appendix 1: Data 
management plan 

8 Based on 2018/19 LGA residential population compared to 2005/2006 baseline  

City of Sydney’s ANNUAL 
water consumption from LGA 

14% 
Increase 

Above 2006 levels 

142



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

20 

Estimated contribution of initiatives 
Chart 7 shows the estimated contributions of the initiatives we believe could minimise the amount of potable water 
consumed in the local government area by 2030, despite the growth that the area will see in that time. The City of Sydney 
will take a range of actions to achieve its target of zero increase in potable water use by 2030 from the 2006 baseline, 
however city-wide water consumption is influenced by several factors outside the City’s control. 
 

Chart 7 Local government area potable water use target. Estimated contribution of initiatives. 

   

Key points are highlighted below: 

– City of Sydney efficiency programs (-10 per cent) help residents and business to reduce water consumption 
– Existing and approved recycled water schemes (-4 per cent) include the City’s stormwater harvesting schemes, and private water recycling 

schemes, based on operations at full capacity 
– Potential recycled water schemes (-7 per cent) reflects opportunities for additional recycled water infrastructure; for example, the potential to 

include recycled water schemes in urban renewal areas that are redeveloped by the NSW state government 

– Even if all identified opportunities for recycled water infrastructure are implemented, 2030 potable water use across the city will likely exceed 2006 
levels by around nine per cent. We will need to work with Sydney Water, other government entities and private sector to identify water conservation 
opportunities, recycling and alternative water supply, to safeguard potable water supply and meet the predicted increased demand on water supplies 

143



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

21 

Stormwater quality improvements 
The City has some of the oldest stormwater drainage 
infrastructure in Australia. With the continued urbanisation 
and densification of Sydney, our natural landscape 
continues to be altered leading to increased stormwater 
run-off (with increased impervious surfaces) and declining 
waterway health due to high concentrations of nutrients, 
sediments and other pollutants such as litter entering our 
stormwater network and ultimately the Cooks River and 
Sydney Harbour. 
The City is committed to improving waterway health by 
reducing stormwater pollution entering downstream 
waterways. We’re achieving this by installing and 
maintaining stormwater treatment systems (such as 
raingardens, wetlands and swales) in our stormwater 
network, and using water sensitive urban design (WSUD) 
and management approaches, including: 
• Mandating WSUD in new developments  
• Installing gross pollutant traps (GPTs) in the 

stormwater network to remove litter and large solids 
from stormwater 

• Installing raingardens and wetlands in public open 
spaces to slow down and filter pollution from 
stormwater flows. 

• Incorporating raingardens into road renewal and 
streetscape upgrade projects. 

 

What we’ve already done 
We’ve installed 249 raingardens in the City of Sydney local 
area since 2005. These gardens treat stormwater, protect 
local waterways and green our streets. There are also 48 
council owned gross pollutant traps (GPTs) in the 
stormwater network that, together with 26 GPTs within our 
LGA owned by others, collect up to 700 tonnes of litter 
each year when fully operational. 

The City has begun a program of repair and upgrade to 
the City’s GPTs with an aim to restore and maintain peak 
performance. This program will take place over several 
years. The City has also reviewed the maintenance 
schedules of its GPTs, to optimise their cleaning regime, 
and established a program for regular inspection to 
maintain optimal performance.  

MUSIC model 
MUSIC9 is a water quality decision support tool that helps 
the City estimate stormwater pollutant generation and 
simulate the performance of our stormwater treatment 
systems (such as our stormwater harvesting schemes, 
GPTs, and raingardens) within our stormwater 
catchments.  
This water quality tool allows the City to make catchment 
management decisions that balance cost, runoff 
frequency and water quality improvements. So the City 
can, for example, select the optimal locations for new 
stormwater treatment systems that best contribute to our 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 water quality targets. 
The City now has MUSIC Link that improves efficiency for 
both developers and the City in meeting water quality 
targets. It allows for quicker confirmation that water quality 
infrastructure, installed as part of a development 
application, meets the City’s MUSIC modelling settings 
and pollutant removal targets. 
 

Award nominations 
Green Square Stormwater Drain 
The City of Sydney was nominated as a finalist in the Local 
Government New South Wales (LGNSW) Excellence in 
the Environment Awards 2020 in the Water Management 
category for Green Square Stormwater Drain: Enabling 
urban renewal through effective flood risk management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Green Square Stormwater Drain project was also a 
finalist at Australian Engineering Excellence Award (AEEA) 
2020.

 
 
9 MUSIC stands for Model for Urban Stormwater Improvement Conceptualisation. 

144



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

22 

 

Climate Emergency Response 
In an emergency, we must all act. Our leaders must 
rise to unite the community and drive the vision of a 
zero-carbon economy. We must speed up our 
responses in areas where we can have positive 
impacts on reducing the detrimental effects of climate 
change.  
In 2019 we joined 85 other councils to declare a climate 
emergency. Our Climate Emergency Response, endorsed 
by Council in February 2020, outlines how we will take 
swift and meaningful action on climate change, to ensure 
the future sustainability of the City of Sydney, its 
communities, economy and environment. In this Green 
Report, we summarise the actions we have taken in the 
last six months in each of the four focus areas of the 
Climate Emergency Response.  
Lead by example 
Action in this area is about ensuring consideration of the 
climate emergency is incorporated into the City’s decision-
making processes and operational activities. Recent work 
has included developing increased requirements for 
environmental and social performance in tender 
documentation to ensure that the City’s purchasing 
decisions have the best possible environmental outcomes. 
We have also been communicating more frequently with 
our staff about the climate emergency and encouraging 
them to identify ways their area of the organisation can 
respond. 
 
 
 

 

 
Support climate emergency priorities through 
planning 
The City is currently reviewing its key planning controls – 
the Local Environmental Plan and the Development 
Control Plan. As part of this review, we are looking at how 
we can use planning controls to increase tree canopy and 
vegetation on private property, protect bushland, 
maximise opportunities on onsite renewable energy 
generation and increase resilience to flooding. We’re also 
developing a performance standards pathway for net zero 
energy buildings. 
Work with and prepare our communities 
As part of our switchover to using 100% renewable 
electricity for our operations from 1 July 2020 (see the 
project updated in Low Carbon City) we have been 
sharing information with our residents and business to 
assist them to make the switch too. Our renewable energy 
help centre has tools and information to assist all 
members of the community, from large business to renters 
in apartment buildings.  
Build momentum and advocate  
We know we need to work together with other councils to 
take climate action at scale. The City is a founding 
member of Climate Emergency Australia – a national 
network of governments and section partners, to provide 
the climate leadership Australia needs. In its first year the 
network will focus on shared advocacy priorities and 
developing climate action tools for councils.  

4. Climate resilient city 

145

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/319606/climate-emergency-response.pdf
https://renewableenergy.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
https://renewableenergy.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

23 

Resilient Sydney  
The Resilient Sydney strategy (2018) continues in active 
implementation through key actions with the 33 
metropolitan councils of Sydney and key partners.  
A summary of a few key actions includes:  
• Action 1: The Resilient Sydney Office has provided 

coaching and support to a growing number of 
Resilience Officers in metropolitan Sydney councils to 
develop local resilience plans.  

• Action 9: Cool Suburbs – Policy and action to cool 
homes and streets. Contractors working on this 
collaboration project have commenced development 
of a new rating tool to measure and encourage actions 
to reduce urban heat in the suburbs of Sydney.  

• Action 13: The Resilient Sydney Platform Phase 2 
beta phase was launched in December 2020 with six 
years of data now available to local governments. 
There are now over 200 Platform users from councils 
across Sydney. New datasets are being added for use 
as evidence bases for action planning. 

• Action 16: Resilient Sydney continue to work with four 
NSW Government agencies to source social cohesion 
and wellbeing data to monitor social resilience for 
every LGA in Sydney.  

• Action 23: Resilient Sydney liaised with Resilience 
NSW to promote several Get Ready campaigns to 
residents and businesses through councils in the lead 
up to summer emergency season. 30 Councils took 
part in Resilient Sydney campaign to promote the Get 
Prepared app during Emergency Preparedness Week 
in September 2020. Over 24,000 Sydney residents 
have now created a household emergency plan. 

Responding to COVID-19 
During the COVID-19 disruption in 2020, the Resilient 
Sydney Office hosted regular Resilience Ambassadors 
meetings to connect all councils of Sydney. Councils have 
shared good practice community recovery and economic 
investment programs and approaches for a COVID-safe 
summer in Sydney. Discussions continue with NSW 
Government to share the learning of five years of the 
Resilient Sydney program in the future direction of 
Resilience NSW. 
Resilient Cities Network: The global Resilient Cities 
Network remains active during the ongoing pandemic 
crisis, rapidly exchanging lifesaving emergency planning 
insights from cities on the front line of responding to 
COVID-19. Insights from global cities are being shared 
across metropolitan Sydney councils and the NSW 
government. Resilient Sydney continues to participate in 
a working group of cities sharing expertise on managing 
the impacts of extreme heat in the context of COVID-19 
and social distancing measures.  
 

 
 
10 United Nations Environment Programme Emission Gap Report 2020 

Climate Adaptation Strategy 
The Council endorsed the Climate Adaptation Strategy in 
2015 to help us prioritise and plan actions to prepare the 
city for the environmental, social, cultural and economic 
impacts of climate change.  
The following provides an update of the trends and climate 
observations as at December 2020.  
• Under the Paris Agreement, most countries agreed to 

halt warming at well below 1.5°C in view of the 
predicted risks to the environment, our societies and 
our economies. The UNEP Emissions Gap Report 
202010 states that current levels of commitment are 
insufficient to meet this target.  

• The report outlines that the COVID-19 pandemic 
offers only a short-term reduction in global emissions 
and will not contribute significantly to emissions 
reduction by 2030 unless countries pursue an 
economic recovery that incorporates strong 
decarbonisation. The report estimates that CO2 
emissions could decrease by about 7 per cent in 2020, 
however atmospheric concentration of GHGs 
continue to rise, with the immediate reduction in 
emissions expected to have a negligible long-term 
impact on climate change. 

• Historic and ever-increasing burden of human activity 
on the Earth’s climate is observable in the continuing 
rise in extreme weather events. Including wildfires and 
hurricanes, and in the melting of glaciers and ice at 
both poles. The United Nations Secretary-General is 
calling on governments to use COVID-19 recovery as 
an opportunity to create more sustainable, resilient 
and inclusive societies, including commitment to net-
zero goals before 2050. 

• There is an urgent need for us to act globally now to 
reduce emissions, to avoid the devastating impacts of 
global warming that are forecast. Inaction comes with 
economic and social costs; disproportionately 
shouldered by those who can least afford it. 

• The City is fast-tracking priority actions of the Climate 
Adaptation Strategy to reduce the impacts of urban 
heat island effects through the urban canopy planting 
program and intense storm impacts through floodplain 
and stormwater management, along with myriad 
social and economic plans. 

• The strategy, titled “Adaption for Climate Change: A 
long term strategy for the City of Sydney” can be 
downloaded from our website. The strategy will next 
be updated in 2022 when the IPCC release updated 
climate reports. 

 
 
 
 

146

https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2020
http://sydneyyoursay.com.au/climate-change-adaptation
http://sydneyyoursay.com.au/climate-change-adaptation


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

24 

Impacts for Sydney 
Human activities are estimated to have already caused 
1°C 11 of global warming above pre-industrial levels. In 
2020, Australia’s climate has warmed on average by 1.44 
± 0.24 °C12 since national records began in 1910, leading 
to an increase in the frequency of extreme heat events. 
Across Australia we are witnessing this as alarming 
episodes of extreme heat, water shortage, flooding and 
bushfires, all of which impact our vulnerable populations, 
livestock, food production and of course, our native flora 
and fauna. 
In Sydney, our major climate hazards include extreme 
heat, drought and bushfire impacts  
 
Extreme heat 
2020 was Australia’s fourth-hottest year on record. The 
most extreme heat occurred in western Sydney, with 
Penrith experiencing 48.9 C on 4 January 2020. Penrith’s 
temperature was a new record high value for any 
metropolitan area in Australia. Such temperatures are 
dangerously hot, and place extreme thermal stress on 
humans and the environment.   
The overall climate of the City of Sydney local government 
area is considerably influenced by its coastal position and 
proximity to the ocean, despite the cooling sea breeze the 
city still suffers from Urban Heat Island impacts.  
The City commissioned the Cooling Sydney Strategy to 
provide urban overheating mitigation recommendations to 
support the strategic planning of Sydney. Appropriate 
design features include cool roof, cool facades, green 
roofs, vertical greenery, tree canopies, cool building 
materials, natural ventilation and smart use of water are 
some of the ways to mitigate urban heat island impacts. 
 
Rainfall 
Australian rainfall is highly variable and is strongly 
influenced by drivers such as El Niño, La Niña, the Indian 
Ocean Dipole and the Southern Annular Mode. Despite 
this natural variability, long-term trends are evident in 
Australia’s rainfall record. There has been a shift towards 
drier conditions across the southwest and southeast, with 
more frequent years of below average rainfall, especially 
for the cool season months of April to October. In 17 of the 
last 20 years, rainfall in southern Australia in these months 
has been below average. This is due to a combination of 
natural variability on decadal timescales and changes in 
large-scale circulation caused by increased greenhouse 
gas emissions.  
Rainfall in 2020 was above average for NSW.13  
Average rainfall for 2019, was extremely low - 40 per cent 
below the national average - comparable to the other 
driest periods in Australia’s recorded history including 
during the Federation Drought and the Millennium Drought.  

 
 
11 IPCC Special Report on the impacts of Global Warming  
12 Bureau of Meteorology State of Climate 2020 

 
Since 2017, much of NSW rainfall has been close to or 
below previous record low reading and the impacts of low 
rainfall in this multi-year period have been intensified by 
record high temperatures.  
In this setting, available water evaporates more quickly, 
and low soil moisture is experienced. This in turn 
adversely affects the filling of water catchments when it 
does rain.  
The City has committed to be a water sensitive city where 
we continue to identify opportunities for operational 
improvements in the use of water, to develop alternative 
water supplies and to advocate to the NSW Government 
to promote investment in recycled water schemes. The 
availability and smart use of water is just one way of 
making our city resilient when it is hot and dry.  
 
Bushfire 
The 2019–20 bushfires in New South Wales (NSW) have 
been unprecedented in their extent and intensity across 
multiple Australian states. A 60-kilometre long "mega fire" 
around Sydney was larger in size than the Sydney 
metropolitan area and the resulting air quality, even in the 
centre of Sydney, was deemed hazardous – the worst on 
record. 
In  May 2020, the NSW Fire and the Environment 2019–
20 Summary was published by the NSW Department of 
Industry and Environment, which details the first 
assessment of the effects of the fires on NSW biodiversity 
and landscape values.  
 
Why it is so important to act now 
Mitigating climate change is a fundamental challenge 
facing cities, governments and communities. On a city, 
state and national level we have made global 
commitments for action that will contribute to managing 
and mitigating extreme weather in Sydney. 
It is important to also keep in sight that action on climate 
change not only averts natural disasters. It brings social 
and economic benefits. Energy prices could be lower and 
more secure, cities cleaner, more people employed, and 
human health improved through better diet and cleaner air. 
The scale of the challenge outlined by the IPCC is that 
global emissions need to be half by 2030, and net zero by 
2050 – to have a 50 per cent chance to limit global 
warming to 1.5°C. 
The City of Sydney responds to this climate emergency by 
using all levers available to local government. However, 
the transformative change required cannot be delivered by 
local government alone. State and Federal government 
policy, legislation and funding need major changes to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions, manage the transition 
and adapt to climate impacts.  

13 http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/current/annual/aus/ 
147

http://builtbetter.org/node/7925
https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Headline-statements.pdf
http://www.bom.gov.au/state-of-the-climate/
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/fire-and-the-environment-2019-20-summary
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/fire-and-the-environment-2019-20-summary
http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/current/annual/aus/


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

25 

Sydney’s Air Quality Monitoring 
Researchers from the Land and Atmosphere Remote 
Sensing group at the Physical Technology Center in the 
Polytechnic University of Valencia in Spain 14  analysed 
satellite data to assess air quality changes that may be 
attributable to changes in human activity during the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  
Preliminary results show varied outcomes, with Sydney 
and Brisbane pollution falling by 30% on average (using 
nitrogen dioxide as an indicator) after COVID-19 
containment measures such as lockdowns came into 
effect. Nitrogen dioxide levels in the atmosphere are 
especially associated with motor vehicles and coal fired 
power generation.  
 

 
“COVID-19 has given us the rare opportunity to empirically observe the 
positive effects of changing our behaviours and slowing down industry 
and transport.  

But to make it last, we need permanent changes. We can do this by 
improving public transport to reduce the number of cars on the road; 
electrifying mass transit; and, most importantly, replacing fossil fuel 
generation with renewable energy and other low-carbon sources. These 
changes would bring us immediate health benefits.”15  

Many factors influence air quality in Sydney including 
weather, especially wind and rain events, and 
uncontrolled bushfires and back-burning activities.  
The Climate and Atmospheric Science branch of the NSW 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
publishes seasonal analyses of factors affecting major air 
pollution episodes in New South Wales. The reports may 
be viewed online or downloaded. 
As an example, the graph below shows hourly CO levels 
monitored at Bradfield Highway roadside monitoring 
station from 1 March to 11 May 2020, compared to the 
same period in 2019. 

 
 
14 Research from Polytechnic University of Valencia in Spain 
15 The Conversation article 

 

 
 
In September 2019 the NSW Government installed an air 
quality monitoring station at Cook and Phillip Park in the 
Sydney CBD.  This was a welcomed initiative which 
provided city residents and workers with real time air 
quality information, measuring: 

• Ozone (O3) 
• Oxides of nitrogen (NO, NO2 and NOx) 
• Sulfur dioxide (SO2) 
• Carbon monoxide (CO) 
• Visibility using nephelometry 
• Fine particles – PM2.5 and PM10 
• Wind speed, wind direction and sigma theta 
• Ambient temperature 
• Relative humidity 

Results can be viewed at 
https://www.dpie.nsw.gov.au/air-quality/air-quality-
concentration-data-updated-hourly  
The City is also trialling the deployment of low-cost air 
quality sensors with UTS.  In 2021 we are installing more 
sensors and developing a platform for public access to the 
data. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
148

https://theconversation.com/coronavirus-lockdowns-effect-on-air-pollution-provides-rare-glimpse-of-low-carbon-future-134685
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/air/air-pollution-episodes
https://phys.org/news/2020-03-air-pollution-declines-spain-covid-.html
https://theconversation.com/these-5-images-show-how-air-pollution-changed-over-australias-major-cities-before-and-after-lockdown-136723
https://www.dpie.nsw.gov.au/air-quality/air-quality-concentration-data-updated-hourly
https://www.dpie.nsw.gov.au/air-quality/air-quality-concentration-data-updated-hourly


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

26 

What are we doing to adapt to impacts of 
climate change? 
 

Urban Canopy 
The City planted 15,052 new street trees since 2005 and 
installed 7.902 square metres of landscaping throughout 
the city’s streets this reporting period. 
 

Floodplain management 
In NSW, local councils are generally responsible for 
managing flood prone land. The NSW Floodplain 
Development Manual and the Flood Prone Land Policy 
recognises the benefits that occupation and development 
of flood-prone land can have on improving the quality of 
life for current and future generations. With the 
establishment of Floodplain Risk Management Committee, 
ad hoc decision making has been eliminated which is the 
primary cause of many present-day flooding problems. 
The City has adopted detailed floodplain management 
plans and studies for all eight catchments within the LGA 
covering 2,666 hectares. These include catchments 
Alexandra Canal, Blackwattle Bay, Centennial Park, 
Darling Harbour, Johnstons Creek, Rushcutters Bay, 
Sydney City and Woolloomooloo.  
The flood studies including the implementation plan 
require periodic review to maintain up to date flood 
information based on the changes in the catchments; and 
newly available information and guidelines to estimate 
flood information. Accordingly, the Alexandra Canal and 
Blackwattle Bay flood studies are being reviewed to 
include the new rainfall revision by Australian Rainfall and 
Runoff (ARR) 2019 guidelines. 
 

Stormwater management 
The City has made significant investments to manage 
stormwater infrastructure in order to alleviate localised 
flooding and to improve the health of receiving 
waterbodies. The City’s stormwater network consists of 
12084 pits, 174km pipes, 249 raingardens and 74 gross 
pollutant traps. 
 
 
 

Climate change continues to place strain on the City’s 
drainage infrastructure. That is why the City places 
importance on condition and performance monitoring of 
stormwater assets through regular drain cleaning and by 
conducting stormwater CCTV inspections. Currently the 
condition-based assessment of the City’s stormwater 
network is approximately 54 per cent complete and is 
being used to guide capital works programs and overall 
strategic planning of the City’s stormwater network. 
The City’s stormwater asset management process 
includes the prioritisation and implementation of drainage 
improvement works based on community benefit and 
affordability.  Stormwater flows are being reduced through 
the siting of more raingardens to convert hard impervious 
surfaces to pervious surfaces, providing natural infiltration 
of stormwater runoff through water sensitive urban design 
practices. This reduces sediment build-up and 
maintenance costs to clean stormwater drains and 
increases nutrient uptake by plants. 
 
Other opportunities include extension, diversion or 
replacement of stormwater pipes with larger pipes for 
stormwater assets which have reached the end of their 
useful service life. This is done to adapt to more intense 
rainfall conditions due to climate change while minimising 
the risk to the community. Finally, stormwater pollution is 
being treated through the maintenance and siting of gross 
pollutant traps. These devices act as the last line of 
defence for stormwater pollutants and improves the health 
of the city’s receiving waterbodies.  
Accordingly, the City recognises effective management of 
stormwater assets is key to maintain optimum 
performance of the stormwater network. 
 

Relevant links 
• Climate Emergency Response  
• Community Recovery Plan  
• Adapting for climate change – a long term 

strategy for the  City of Sydney: 2015-2070 
• Resilient Sydney Strategy 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

149

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/floodplain-development-manual
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/floodplain-development-manual
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/topics/water/floodplains/floodplain-manual
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/floodplain-management-plans
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/floodplain-management-plans
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/319606/climate-emergency-response.pdf
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/322076/community-recovery-plan.pdf
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/250123/2016-022571-Adapting-to-Climate-Change_accessible.pdf
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/250123/2016-022571-Adapting-to-Climate-Change_accessible.pdf
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/250123/2016-022571-Adapting-to-Climate-Change_accessible.pdf


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

27 

 

Leave Nothing to Waste is our 
strategy for managing Sydney’s 
resources to 2030. The City is 
working to achieve its zero waste 
target by 2030, with a focus on 
waste avoidance, reuse and 
better recycling. 
The City of Sydney area produces more than 5,500 tonnes 
of waste every day from homes, offices, at the city’s many 
venues and events and during construction of buildings 
and transport infrastructure. Approximately 69 per cent of 
all waste is recycled but there are still opportunities to 
divert and exploit more than 2,000 tonnes which currently 
goes to landfill each day.  
To assist with achieving our zero waste targets the City 
has identified six priority areas: 

- promote innovation to avoid waste  
- improve recycling outcomes  
- sustainable design  
- clean and clear streets 
- better data management 
- future treatment solutions    
 

City of Sydney Operations 
Resource recovery from City owned 
buildings  
Waste and resource recovery management for the City’s 
property portfolio has improved over the past six months. 
Across the portfolio, an average of 92% resource recovery 
from our waste is achieved, meaning 92% is not sent to 
landfill.  This is a significant increase on the previous 
resource recovery average of 44%.  
 

 
Much of this has been achieved through recycling paper 
and cardboard, other mixed recyclable items such as drink 
and take away containers and recycling food scraps.  
Additionally, in separating and recycling food scraps from 
the general waste stream the general waste stream is kept 
‘drier’.  This in turn allows for a significant increase in 
resource recovery from the general waste that is usually 
sent to landfill.  
This has been achieved through the City’s new waste 
collection contractors who own and operate their own 
resource recovery facility, a facility that can process our 
‘dry general’ waste into a Resource Derived Fuel (RDF) 
that can be used in cement kilns.  This displaces the use 
of traditional fossil fuels normally used in cement 
production.  
Higher recycling rates and resource recovery from our 
general dry waste supports the reduction of carbon 
emissions associated with waste disposal from the City’s 
buildings.  
 

 
  

5. Zero waste city 

150



 

28 

Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 

 

Innovation grants 

 
 
DISPOSAL OF CONSTRUCTION SLURRY 
In 2020, one of the recipients of the 2019-20 round of the 
City’s Environmental Innovation Grants completed their 
demonstration project featuring a novel solution to reduce 
concrete slurry wash water from building sites entering 
street gutters and contaminating waterways.  
The slurry tub is a portable filtering system that provides a 
simple and cost-effective environmental solution for the 
disposal of cement slurry wash water on construction sites. 
The tub reduces the risk of builders tipping slurry water 
into garden beds which can negatively affect soils and 
vegetation. 
Thirty-four small to medium sized building site operators 
agreed to participate in the trial of the slurry tub. Building 
site managers received an explanation as to how the 
product worked and were advised that the trial was 
support by a City of Sydney Innovation grant.  
The slurry tub enables tools and equipment to be cleaned 
on a building site with reduced risk of environmental harm. 
The system captures and filters cement slurry, leaving 
visibly clear water to drain within designated washout 
areas. When dry enough the hardened waste contained 
within the tub’s biodegradable filter can be safely disposed 
of in the work site skip. 
 

 

151



 

29 

Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 

 

Our operational targets 

 Recycling and 
resource 
recovery 

– 50 per cent resource recovery of waste from City parks, streets and public places by end 
June 2021 

– 70 per cent resource recovery of waste from City managed properties by end June 2021 
– 80 per cent resource recovery of construction and demolition waste generated and 

managed by City operations by end June 2021 

How we are tracking 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

– City streets, public place and stormwater waste is not separated for disposal. Separate tonnages are based on waste audit 
estimates.  Waste data includes Q4 estimated accrual data. 

– City managed properties waste includes City of Sydney owned and managed buildings where the City has responsibility for the 
collection and management of the waste generated (approximately 65 buildings and five aquatic centres).  Waste data includes 
June 2020 estimated accrual data. 

– City Construction and Demolition includes estimates based on data provided by City managed works  

Chart 8. City of Sydney operations waste disposal and resource recovery in tonnes (totals Jul-19 to Jun-20) 

Recycling of waste from City parks, streets and public places has increased from 42 per cent to 46 per cent between 2018/19 and 
2019/20, closing the gap on our 2021 target of 50 per cent diversion from landfill. The City is continuing to look at additional 
changes to our operations to reach the 2021 target and beyond.  
City properties waste has achieved an increase in the resource recovery rate from 44 per cent in 2019/20 to 92% in Q1 and Q2 
for 20/21.  The increase in recovery is largely due to the increased recovery achieved from the general ‘dry’ waste stream, via a 
process that turns this waste stream into a Resource Derived Fuel that can be used in cement production, rather than being sent 
to landfill. Additionally, the food waste collection service continues to contribute to an increased recycling rate.  
Construction and demolition waste produced by the City continues to achieve high diversion rates and through increased validation 
of performance the City’s confidence in our reporting for this sector is improving. As a result of increased auditing we have adjusted 
the overall diversion rate down from 100 per cent to 83 per cent, this figure is based on the waste facility rate. We will continue to 
work closely with our contractors to improve diversion and the quality of waste data reporting. 
The Chart below provide details of recycling performance at June 2020 

152



 

30 

Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 

 

         The local government area 
How we are tracking  
Waste minimisation – since 2015 the per capita annual 
waste generation rate of our residents has reduced by 
more than 12 per cent per resident. This means that each 
of our residents is producing less waste (by weight) each 
year. The cause of this reduction is likely to be a 
combination of factors including; light weighting of 
products through the manufacturing process, home 
composting, the introduction of the container deposit 
scheme and more residents taking up waste avoidance 
initiatives. In the last 24 months the rate of reduction has 
slowed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The City is developing targeted waste avoidance 
programs to achieve greater reduction in waste 
generation.   
 
 

 

Recycling – as a result of recent EPA regulation 
changes the residential waste diversion from landfill has 
fallen to 48 per cent from July to December, and the 
source separated kerbside recycling rate is 28 per cent, 
the same as this time last year. 
The City is working on delivering enhanced community 
engagement programs to further increase recycling rates 
and reduce contamination.  
  
  

Local government area targets 
              Recycling and          
              Resource 
              recovery 

– 70 per cent waste diversion from operating businesses in the local government area away 
from landfill by end June 2021 

– 70 per cent waste diversion (with a minimum of 35% as source-separated recycling) away 
from landfill by end June 2021 

– 80 per cent waste diversion from construction and demolition activities in the local government 
area away from landfill by end June 2021 

153



 

31 

Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 

 

Residential Resource Recovery Updates 
 

 
 
New ‘Recycle It Saturday’ Drop-Off events 
Over 1600 attendees (including pedestrians, cyclists 
and vehicles) visited the City’s first expanded quarterly 
event in September this year, recycling over 44 tonnes.  
For the first time, in addition to electronic waste, residents 
could recycle soft plastics, used textiles and shoes, 
expanded polystyrene, large cardboard, garden organics, 
paint and gas bottles at the new ‘Recycle It Saturday’ 
drop-off event.  

The turnout exceeded expectations, demonstrating 
enormous demand from residents for drop-off recycling 
opportunities. The most popular items recycled were e-
waste, textiles, paint and cardboard as shown in the table 
below: 

Material Weight (tonnes) 
Textiles 11.4 
Soft plastics 0.408 
Electronic waste 27.93 
Expanded polystyrene 0.147 
Cardboard 1.66 
Paint 1.59 
Gas bottles 1.1 
TOTAL 44.23 

The City’s annual Household Chemical Cleanout Drop-
Off event was held shortly after on 17 October collecting 
17.8 tonnes of household hazardous waste from 492 
attendees. Paint, water and oil based, remain the top two 
items dropped off, followed by hydrocarbons and fuels, 
lead acid batteries, inert solids and gas cylinders. 

The second ‘Recycle It Saturday’ event was held on 5 
December with the event promotion rescaled to ensure 
shorter wait times for attendees. This event, which 
occurred shortly after the recent Chemical Cleanout 
event, resulted in 384 attendees recycling approximately 
7 tonnes.   

Recycling Helper Service for apartments 
kicks-off 

 
 
From September 2020 to August 2021, the City is piloting 
a recycling support service to 40 x apartment buildings 
across the City to make it easier for buildings to recycle. 
City staff will engage apartment communities through a 
range of engagement methods including educational site 
visits, bin audits, tailored info sessions for residents and 
providing education materials for the building (signage, 
posters, stickers, guides etc). 
The first phase was completed from September to 
December 2020 with 14 buildings. There were: 

• 32 site visits conducted 
• 28 bin audits completed 
• 2 x 2hr pop-up info sessions delivered 
• 1773 residents engaged through pop-up stalls, 

letters, guides & posters. 
Initial results show a clear reduction in contamination 
levels in the yellow bin and a reduction in recycling being 
placed in the red lid bin.  

  

154



 

32 

Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 

 

Home Recycling Service now available for 
tricky items 

To expand the items our residents can recycle easily, the 
City is trialling an on-demand recycling pickup service for 
tricky items including clothes, soft plastics, small 
electronics and expanded polystyrene for 12 months. 

From November 2020, City residents can choose to book 
a recycling pickup directly with RecycleSmart, through 
their app or by phoning RecycleSmart. RecycleSmart will 
provide contactless collection of these bagged items 
directly from the resident’s door for a nominal fee of $2 
per bag. The items will be sorted, contaminants removed, 
recorded and delivered to the City’s Alexandria Canal 
Depot by RecycleSmart, where the materials will be 
aggregated and collected by processors for recycling. 

The aim of this service model is to make it more 
convenient for residents to recycle common items the 
City currently doesn’t collect from the kerbside for 
recycling and to cater to those residents who can’t wait 
or travel to the City’s next quarterly recycling drop-off 
event.  

 
 

Talking rubbish to shoppers 
For National Recycling Week, the City’s Waste 
Avoidance staff delivered pop-up stalls in shopping 
centres to educate shoppers on recycling tips and tricks. 
These events are part of the City’s Waste Avoidance 
Action Plan and over the last six months City staff have 
delivered 17 face to face recycling education events 
reaching 667 residents where residents could chat face 
to face with our educators, play recycling games and 
recycle their mobiles, light bulbs and batteries 
Events included: 
• 7 x pop-up recycling stalls in Broadway and 

Tramsheds shopping centres and Newtown 
• 10 x info sessions for the food scraps recycling trial 

(and 3 x virtual info sessions attended by 56 
residents) 
 

 

Moving into the second year of the food 
scraps recycling trial 

 
The City’s foods scraps recycling trial progressed to 
Phase 2 in September 2020 which means the food 
scraps recycling service will be provided to an additional 
700 houses and 150 apartment buildings over the next 
12 months. At full roll out of Phase 2, the service will be 
available to more than 21,000 households across the City. 

155



 

33 

Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 

 

Results  
so far Current By Sept 2021  

Apartments 
117 buildings 
(8,492 
households) 

250 
(> 20,000 
households) 

Houses 1,025 1,000 

Food recycled 374t ~715t 

Contamination 1.0%  N/A 

Waste audit results 

Results of the second waste audit conducted on sample 
bins from properties participating in the food scraps 
recycling trial indicated that: 
• Houses are recycling 88% of all their food in their 

food scraps recycling bin. 
• Small apartment buildings are recycling 63% of their 

food; medium sized-buildings 40%; and large 
apartment buildings 27%.  
(Note that not all households within apartments are 
participating in the trial and it’s likely that individual 
participating households within apartment buildings 
would be achieving considerably higher recycling 
rates.) 

• Contamination of the food scraps recycling bin is very 
low at 0.7% for houses and 1.1% for apartment 
buildings. 

 
Relevant links 

– Leave Nothing to Waste, City of Sydney Waste 
Strategy 

– Waste Management Local Approvals Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Advocacy 
NSW 20 Year Waste Strategy 
The anticipated NSW Government 20-Year Waste 
Strategy is designed to be a whole-of-government 
initiative to provide a long-term strategic direction for 
communities, industry and all levels of government to 
work together to build resilient services and markets for 
waste resources. The strategy is not expected to be 
finalised until 2021. 
The City is advocating that the Draft 20 Year Waste 
Strategy provides the regulatory and investment 
certainty to support the delivery of a comprehensive plan 
that delivers long term environmental benefits and is 
underpinned by a strong economic foundation. 
The City believes regulatory action and investment is 
most required in the following ways: 
– Invest in commercialising innovation that will deliver 

alternatives that are better from a resource 
management perspective 

– Create clear procurement pathways for business 
and governments to stimulate demand for 
sustainable goods and services 

– Create a regulatory framework that shares the 
responsibility for end of life materials across 
manufacturers, retailers and consumers 

– Mandate data transparency supports industry to 
improve existing service levels, innovate for better 
environmental outcomes and provide consumers 
with confidence in their procurement decisions 

– Balance the cost of using sustainable materials by 
imposing tariffs on those products and services that 
have not been designed to adhere to circular 
economy principles and have a high environmental 
cost at end of life 

– Develop and implement a strategic plan for waste 
and recycling at a metropolitan level that identifies 
and secures land for existing and future waste 
treatment capacity requirements 

156

http://www.sydneyyoursay.com.au/waste-strategy-for-managing-sydneys-resources-to-2030
http://www.sydneyyoursay.com.au/waste-strategy-for-managing-sydneys-resources-to-2030
http://www.sydneyyoursay.com.au/waste-management-local-approvals-draft-policy


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

34 

We are committed to promoting 
the most sustainable modes of 
transport for residents, workers 
and visitors. 
 

City of Sydney Operations 
 
Fleet emissions 
The City’s motor vehicle fleet has continued to address 
greenhouse gas emissions through its Sustainable Fleet 
Management Program. The Program is focussed on 
maintaining emissions at 2013/14 levels by further 
reducing fuel use until new low-emission products and 
technologies become available in Australia. 
The City’s fleet has continued to reduce its size, balancing 
vehicle numbers with the demands placed on providing 
essential services to residents, workers and visitors. 

 

The combined fleet emissions for Q1 and Q2 2020/21 are 
on track to be 38 tCO2-e less than the same period last 
year, and the annual total remains below the target level.  
Blended biodiesel continues to be the prime fuel type used 
by the City’s diesel and diesel hybrid motor vehicle fleet. 
Petrol hybrids use Shell Unleaded E10 exclusively. 
 
Fuel efficient heavy vehicles 
Fleet Services has recently hard-coded some industry 
best practice standards into all heavy vehicle and major 
plant procurement documents, ensuring vehicles are 
procured with the following major criteria: 
Wherever possible, Fleet Services will procure vehicles 
and plant with international best practice emission 
standards to ensure the City’s impact on climate change 
is reduced.  
Fleet Services are also seeking the safest available 
vehicles, with particular regard to pedestrians, bike riders 
and other vulnerable road users.  

6. Active and connected city 

 Fleet 
emissions 

– Zero increase in emissions from the City’s fleet of vehicles by 2021, from 2014 
levels 

Our Operational Targets 

Artist impression of George Street, pedestrianised at Campbell Street 
Image: Virtual Ideas  

157

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision-setting/proposed-pedestrian-boulevard-george-street-sydney


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

35 

Telematics  
The City has finalised installing telematics technology 
across the City’s fleet and the project is now in trial phase.  
On completion of the trial the City will begin gathering 
crucial data which will assist with driver safety, 
environmental efficiencies and legal compliance.  
Gaining quality data through telematics will assist the 
Fleet team and its internal customers to make more 
informed decisions on efficiencies, strategy, and workflow 
planning which will help to further reduce overall 
emissions. 

  
 
Electric vehicle news 
The City is awaiting delivery of its first ever fully electric 
commercial vehicle – an electric Tipper Truck, which is 
due to arrive in the third quarter of 2021/22 and will be 
utilised by key business units in order to gain feedback on 
the viability of utilising electric technology in commercial 
vehicle applications across the City, including range, 
suitability, safety and user acceptance.  
This project was developed on the back of the City 
recently integrating 19 new fully electric Nissan Leafs into 
the Fleet and upgrading charge points to align with new 
industry type 2 charging points. The Leaf has an average 
range of 270kms, which can increase with urban driving 
thanks to regenerative power through city driving, and the 
e-pedal.  
Additionally, the Electric vehicle charge points for the 
City’s electric fleet have now been upgraded from type 1 
to type 2. The upgrade has aligned the City with the 
electric vehicle industry, which is now producing all new 
vehicles with type 2 connectivity as standard, bringing 
better reliability and faster charging capabilities. The 
upgrades are completed and are now available for use 
across multiple depots and Town Hall House Car Park. 

Active transport 
City staff continue to embrace greener transport options 
and are increasingly choosing to walk, cycle or use public 
transport to commute to work and travel within their 
working day.  
City staff plan their travel using a simple transport 
hierarchy: 

• Active Transport (walking or cycling using the City’s 
own bike fleet) 

• Public Transport (buses and trains) 
• Drive Green (the City’s own fleet of low emissions 

vehicles) 
To support the use of active transport, staff are 
encouraged to use City’s bicycle fleet in preference to fleet 
cars and taxis. The bike fleet includes a range of bikes 
suited to various operational requirements, including a 
cargo bike, some electric assist bikes and bikes with 
additional carrying capacity. Before using the fleet, staff 
members take part in a cycling confidence course and are 
provided with personal protective equipment and are 
encouraged to build their cycling skills with regular group 
rides. 
Most of the City’s bike fleet is housed in our end-of-trip 
facility provided for staff who walk or ride to work or 
exercising during work hours. The Pitstop includes 150 
bike parking spaces, 150 lockers, ensuite and accessible 
bathrooms, showers, change rooms and a water station.  
Since opening on 13 October 2014 an average of 94 
people have accessed the Pitstop daily. There are a total 
of 26 fleet bikes located at a variety of Council facilities 
including King George Recreational Centre, Epsom Rd 
and Bay St Depots. The fleet has travelled more than 
52,000 kilometres since 2011. 
The following table shows the kilometres travelled by staff 
using the City Bike Fleet since its introduction in January 
2012 and the number of staff members who have 
completed training to enable them to use the bike fleet. 
Distances travelled are measured using odometers 
mounted on each bike. 

 

Bike Fleet 20/21 Q1 20/21 Q2 Year to 
date 

Program 
to date 

Staff 
trained # 12 7 19 826 

Distance 
(km) 2,897 2,116 5,013 62,051 

158



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

36 

        The local government area 
Local government area targets 

             Walking – 33 per cent of trips to work during the AM peak undertaken by walking by 2030, by city residents 

             Cycling – 10 per cent of total trips made in the city are undertaken by bicycle by 2030 

             Public        
                transport 

– 80 per cent of trips to work during the AM peak are undertaken by public transport by 2030, by city 
residents and those travelling to Central Sydney from elsewhere 

             Car sharing – 30 per cent of city residents who drive with an unrestricted drivers licence are members of a car 
sharing scheme by 2030 

– Increase the number of car share bookings 
– Increase the number of on-street car share parking spaces 

 
          Walking 
Walking is a low cost, reliable, healthy and 
environmentally friendly transport option. Research 
confirms that walking accounts for around 90 per cent of 
trips in the city centre and plays a major role in the local 
transport hierarchy. 
The City recognises the importance of a safe walking 
environment, so we are continuously working to improve 
pedestrian safety throughout the city, including advocating 
to the NSW Government. 
We have worked with the State Government on the 5 Year 
City Centre Action Plan which includes a focus on 
pedestrian and cycling plans and actions in the city centre 
and Green Square. We have also worked with the State 
Government on the development of a business case for 
walking. 
The City has investigated how to increase space for 
people walking to access essential services, high streets 
and public transport as a response to COVID-19. This 
helped to inform the development of the City’s Al Fresco 
City Program (in partnership with the State Government), 
notably the road reallocation program related to outdoor 
dining.  
In collaboration with Transport for NSW, the City is 
undertaking the update of the City Centre Access Strategy 
with a focus on people and place.  
We are continuing to quantify the volume of walking in our 
area through counting and trialling new methods of 
gathering this data. We have undertaken walking counts 
at more than 100 locations and made this data available 
online. In addition, there is an ongoing trial of new 
counting technology in the city centre and walking counts 
and place observations were undertaken in conjunction 
with the roll-out of pop-up cycleways 
 

Proposed Pedestrian Boulevard - George St South  
More people-
friendly streets are 
being created, with 
wider footpaths and 
new spaces for 
businesses to 
operate, while 
attracting people 
back to the city 
centre. The 
proposal is 
supported by the 
NSW Government 
and will ensure 
everyone can move 
around comfortably 
while maintaining physical distancing. 
George Street, between Hunter and Bathurst streets, has 
been upgraded to a pedestrian boulevard following the 
construction of the light rail. To build on this success, we 
proposed to extend the pedestrian boulevard to Railway 
Square by restricting through traffic and widening the 
footpaths to install more trees and street furniture. 
The proposal also includes creating a pedestrian 
boulevard on Devonshire Street between Chalmers and 
Elizabeth streets, in Surry Hills. 
The project is currently completing the consultation phase 
and site surveys are in progress.  
 

159



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

37 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
         Cycling 
The City’s Cycling Strategy and Action Plan (2018-2030) 
sets ambitious targets for the City to substantially 
complete 11 regional routes to link the inner city, homes, 
schools, businesses and other destinations. The Strategy 
guides projects and programs to help more people ride 
bikes in Sydney. It prioritises connecting the bike network, 
supporting business and people to ride and lead by 
example.  
The City has worked closely with Transport for New South 
Wales to construct 7km of pop-up cycleways in our area 
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. These pop-up 
cycleways have encouraged people to travel by bike, 
offering an alternative to public transport and driving. 
The number of trips has increased along the pop-up 
cycleways since the completion of construction. For 
example, trips have increased 500% on Pitt St, 60% on 
Dunning Ave and 50% on Pyrmont Bridge Rd. One third 
of riders have been riding for less than six months, and 
more than 90% of people feel that the pop-up cycleways 
are safer than the previous road conditions. 
We continue to offer cycling courses and guided rides to 
increase the capability of riders, including courses for first 
time riders, 1-on-1 tuition, bike maintenance sessions and 
guided rides along pop-up cycleways. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 Q1 Q2 Year to date 

Share the Path sessions 35 28 63 

STP Tune Ups (#) 299 254 553 

STP maps issued (#) 1126 1054 2,180 

STP bells issued (#) 212 206 418 

Cycling courses (# participants) 100 89 189 

Maintenance courses 
(# participants) 28 28 56 

Project updates 
- Construction completed on Lawson Street cycleway in 

Redfern. 
- Construction underway on Miller and Saunders Streets in 

Pyrmont 
  

160



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

38 

 
          Public transport 
The City continued to work with Transport for NSW to 
improve transport infrastructure and services across the 
City of Sydney, with particular emphasis on the City 
Centre and Green Square.  
The City is collaborating with Transport for NSW to 
improve transport to Green Square. We are jointly 
investigating a trackless tram system, and the City is 
encouraging Transport for NSW to accelerate the 
introduction of electric buses in this area. 
Metro West stations are now confirmed, with a new station 
for Pyrmont by 2030-31. The City strongly pushed for this 
station. The Metro will connect Westmead and the City 
Centre via Parramatta, Olympic Park and the Bays 
Precinct. The City is calling for the line to extend as far as 
Zetland and Randwick, via Central and Sydney 
University/RPA Hospital, by 2031 as well. 
The City has supported the NSW Government in seeking 
ongoing recognition by the Australian Government 
(Infrastructure Australia) of the national importance of 
improved connections between the City Centre, Green 
Square and Southern Sydney. 
City Access and Transport addresses transport and land 
use integration by providing strategic transport advice and 
advocacy on major developments in the city. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

             
         Car sharing 
 

Almost 70,000 City of Sydney residents and businesses 
are members of a car share organisation. Around 45 per 
cent of city residents who drive (with an unrestricted 
drivers’ licence) are members. 
The City supports car sharing as part of Council’s strategy 
to make the City of Sydney sustainable.  
Car sharing enables multiple households and businesses 
to share the use of a vehicle. This reduces the number of 
cars parked on the street, as well as reducing overhead 
costs for those who rarely need a car (or a second car).  
As each journey is paid for at the time it is taken, drivers 
have an incentive to consider cheaper ways of travelling, 
which results in less car trips. This in turn reduces 
congestion, greenhouse gas emissions and air pollution. 
The key support provided by the City is the installation of 
clearly marked on-street parking spaces in strategic 
locations dedicated to specific car sharing vehicles. These 
enable residents to quickly find a vehicle and return it after 
use. The City installed its first car sharing parking space 
in 2008. Since then more than 850 dedicated on-street car 
share parking spaces have been added to the network.  
A new car sharing operator commenced operations at the 
beginning of this year, bringing the total to four operators 
in the City. 
While the pandemic reduced car sharing during the more 
stringent lockdown measures in March and April, usage is 
increasing again. 

Relevant links 
– Connecting our city: 2012 

– Walking Strategy and Action Plan: 2014 

– Cycle Strategy and Action Plan: 2007-2017 

– Liveable Green Network

161

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/124926/SummaryReport2012.pdf
http://sydneyyoursay.com.au/walking-strategy/documents/21576/download
http://cdn.sydneycycleways.net/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Cycle-Strategy-and-Action-Plan-2007-2017.pdf
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision/towards-2030/transport-and-access/liveable-green-network


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

39 

Dealing with heat is identified as 
a priority for reducing shocks 
and stresses on our city and its 
community. Greening our city is 
an important component of the 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 vision 
to be green, global and 
connected.  
 
Reducing the effects of urban heat through measures 
such as increasing shading and canopy, water misting, 
and careful selection of building and road materials are 
increasingly important to reduce the overall heat impacts 
for our communities. We are also focussed on increasing 
and preserving local indigenous plant and animal 
populations in our city, through parks and streets verges. 
The City maintains sensors in City locations that measure 
temperature and humidity to collect locally specific 
background data to monitor and evaluate the 
effectiveness of urban heat treatments.   
A collaborative effort between the City, the community and 
other land managers is needed to improve our city’s urban 
canopy and ecological value. We will continue to work with 
our community and others in the city to deliver this 
commitment.  
 
          City of Sydney Operations 
 

What we are doing 
The City is currently reviewing the Greening Sydney 
Strategy. A draft Strategy is being prepared and includes 
strategic directions to deliver a cool, calm and resilient city. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How we are tracking 
The City’s canopy cover was 15.5 per cent in 2008, 17.1 
per cent in 2013, and 18.1 per cent in 2019 and 19.1% in 
2020. Whilst the City is one of the few councils in Sydney 
that has managed to increase canopy cover over this time, 
we need the rate of canopy cover growth to increase more 
quickly to meet the urban canopy target of 23 per cent by 
2030. 
Progress against our fauna targets will be measured 
formally every five years through a comprehensive survey. 
Bush restoration sites in the city have increased to 12.3ha, 
from the baseline of 4.6ha in 2012. 
Photo: Living Colour display 

7. Green and 
cool city 

162



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

40 

Local government area target 

            Urban canopy – The average total canopy cover is increased by 50 per cent by 2030 (from 15 to 23 per cent), and 
increased by 75 per cent by 2050 (to 27 per cent), from a 2008 baseline 

 
           The local government area 
 
The City of Sydney recognises the importance of trees 
and other plants in providing significant environmental, 
social and economic benefits for the community. There is 
growing international recognition of the role of cities and 
local governments in supporting and promoting 
biodiversity. 
The City is committed to increasing tree coverage, 
improving urban ecology and biodiversity and supporting 
community greening to make Sydney one of the world’s 
leading green cities. To achieve this, the City has 
developed the Greening Sydney Plan. 

 
The Plan acknowledges the importance of ecology and 
biodiversity to city living and supports the development of 
the Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan. 
Three strategic focus areas have been identified informing 
the objectives and targets of the Plan:  
- Urban Canopy - developing and protecting the city’s 

urban forest 
- Urban Ecology - greening to improve habitat for 

biodiversity 
- Community Empowerment - to green and care for 

our urban landscape 
Relevant Links 

– Greening Sydney Plan: 2012 
 
 
 
 

Our operational targets 
 
            Urban canopy – The average total canopy cover is increased by 50 per cent by 2030 (from 15 to 23 per cent), and 

increased by 75 per cent by 2050 (to 27 per cent), from a 2008 baseline 
– Plant   700   street trees each year until 2021 
– Tree species diversity will not consist of more than 40 per cent for any particular plant family, 30 

per cent for any genus or 10 per cent for any one species by 2021 

Urban ecology 
 

– Habitat sites in the city are protected and the area of bush restoration sites is increased by 100 
per cent by 2023 from a 2012 baseline of 4.6 hectares 

– Indigenous fauna species diversity, abundance and distribution is maintained or increased by 
2023 based on a 2012 baseline 

– A progressive increase in the number of habitat features for priority fauna species is established 
along potential habitat linkages by 2023 

Urban 
greening 

– Plant  50,000 new trees and shrubs in City parks and street gardens each year until 2021 
 

163

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/135882/GreeningSydneyPlan.pdf


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

41 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Urban canopy 
The City of Sydney recognises that trees and green spaces 
are one of a city's most important natural assets. They are 
crucial to maintaining the high quality of our public realm and 
achieving Sustainable Sydney 2030, by assisting the creation 
of green corridors and increased canopy cover. 
In-road tree planting projects were completed within Reserve 
Street, Beaconsfield. Works are also 90% complete at Boyce 
Street Glebe and Jones Bay Road Pyrmont, with tree planting 
to occur in March 2021. Design and consultation work 
continue for streets in Camperdown and Redfern. 
A wider greening precinct approach has been completed in 
the eastern area around Danks Street Waterloo, with over 90 
street trees planted and extensive street gardens installed. 
Work to increase greening in the Crystal St plaza will be 
completed in autumn 2021. 
This planting is undertaken as part of the City’s Street Tree 
Master Plan 2011 16 , which is a blueprint for street tree 
plantings across the City of Sydney. 
The City is continuing to deliver a number of parks upgrades 
within the LGA to renew parks in poor asset condition and to 
improve community amenity. Under the renewal program, 
projects have been completed at Shannon Reserve, Fig Park 
Playground, Womerah Gardens, Kings Lane and Cardigan 
Reserve during Q1 and Q2 fitness stations have also been 
completed at Pirrama Park. Planning and design for over 20 
park renewal projects are currently underway. Under the 
Greening Sydney program various areas have been  
converted to increase the vegetated space within the City. 
During Q1 and Q2 in 2020-21 7,902m2 of landscaping (grass 
and planting installation) was completed. In Q1 and Q2, 
56,001 new plants were installed at parks and streetscapes 
across the local government area including Forbes St, Danks St, 

 
 
16 http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/live/trees/tree-policies  

Reserve St, Renwick St, Hiles St, Maddox St, Boyce St, Prince 
Alfred Park and Victoria Park. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Raingardens are one of the simplest forms of Water Sensitive 
Urban Design (WSUD), improving water quality and 
managing runoff to improve biodiversity and the liveability of 
urban environments. 

Please note numbers on the table above are compiled from various sources and may include 
adjusted totals as more accurate data is received.  

* Canopy cover is measured every two to five years. 2013 data was made available in 
2016, with new measurement undertaken in early 2020, and the data shown in the table 
above.  

Relevant links 
– City of Sydney Street Trees 
– Sydney’s Green Streets 
– Urban Forest Strategy 2013

Description  
Q1 
20/21 

Q2 
20/21 

20/21 
target 

Year to 
date 

Total to 
date 

Park upgrades 
(#) 

4 1  5 
85 since 

2008 

Landscaping 
(grass/planting) 
(m2) 

4,343 3,566 8,000 7,909 
115,137 

since 
2009 

New shrubs and 
grasses planted 
in parks and 
streets 

36,018 19,983 50,000 56,001 
8,16,363 

since 
2009 

Raingardens (#) N/A N/A trend N/A 249 

Street trees 
planted since 
2005 (#) 

 

360 

 

0 
700 360 

15,052 

  

Canopy cover 
(on current) (%) * 

N/A N/A 23.5 N/A 19.1 

164

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/live/trees/tree-policies
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/live/trees/tree-policies
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/explore/facilities/parks
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/live/trees/tree-policies
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/live/trees/street-trees
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/live/trees/street-trees
http://sydneyyoursay.com.au/green-streets
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/132249/Urban-Forest-Strategy-Adopted-Feb-2013.pdf


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

42 

Urban ecology 
The ecological health of urban areas influences not only 
the diversity and abundance of plant and animal species, 
but also the quality of life of urban residents. Improved 
urban ecosystems can consequently have both 
environmental and social benefits. 
The City’s Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan (UESAP) 
was adopted by Council in March 2014. The Plan outlines 
the City’s approach to identify, protect and rebuild locally 
indigenous plant and animal populations.  
During Covid-19 in 2020, the Urban Ecology Workshop 
Series was put on hold and hopes to resume in 2021.  
Bush restoration works continue to be implemented under 
the new bush regeneration contract. The City has targeted 
efforts at several bush restoration areas across the City. 
A total of 6954 native tubestock were planted across a 
number of sites in the north and south of the LGA from 
July – Dec 2020 to improve the structure and diversity of 
the bush restoration sites. Efforts in 2020 have been 
largely focused on renewing the Prince Alfred Park pool 
roof, with a program of improvements being carried out 
across 2020. The final stage for the PAP pool roof will 
commence in February 2021.  
A total of 78m of habitat fencing has also been installed at 
Blackwattle Bay to enable plants to establish. 
Programs to commence in early 2021 include the nest box 
and hollow implementation program, and the continuation 
of the ibis monitoring surveys to manage key sites across 
the LGA. The City’s Australian White Ibis Management 
Plan was finalised in 2020 and is used to guide decisions 
on how to sustainably manage the ibis populations found 
within the City.  
 
 

 
The urban biodiversity corridor project is also near 
completion as part of the 
Local Strategic Planning 
Statement review work. It 
has assessed the current 
linkages identified in the 
UESAP to determine their 
feasibility and identified 
possible future opportunities 
for enhancing connectivity 
across the LGA. A number of 
recommendations have been made to update the existing 
controls and provisions in the LEP and DCP. 

Relevant links 
– Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014  

 
Sydney Park Architizer A+ Awards 
Sydney Park, on the site of a former brick pit and rubbish 
tip, has taken out the Jury Award in the Architecture + 
Water category of the 2020 Architizer A+ Awards, in New 
York. The 44-hectare park harvests 850 million litres of 
stormwater a year from the surrounding suburbs of 
Newtown, Erskineville, Redfern and Alexandria, cleans 
and recycles the water as part of its water features 
throughout the park, and then re-uses it to top up wetlands, 
for irrigation and to supply the City of Sydney depot nearby. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Focal 
Group 

Total species 
recorded 

Butterflies 14 

Bees 14 

Spiders 12 

Cicadas 5 

Photo: Ibis nesting in the palms at Redfern Park, a key site being monitored in the City’s Ibis Management Plan 
 

The park recycles water from surrounding suburbs, some of which is 
reused in a nearby council depot. Photo: Ethan Rohloff Photography 

165

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision/towards-2030/sustainability/urban-ecology/urban-ecology-action-plan
https://www.commercialrealestate.com.au/news/sydney-park-wins-gong-at-architizer-a-awards-in-new-york-976369/#:%7E:text=Sydney%20Park%2C%20on%20the%20site,A%2B%20Awards%2C%20in%20New%20York
https://www.commercialrealestate.com.au/news/sydney-park-wins-gong-at-architizer-a-awards-in-new-york-976369/#:%7E:text=Sydney%20Park%2C%20on%20the%20site,A%2B%20Awards%2C%20in%20New%20York


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

43 

Community empowerment 
Community gardens and community planting 
The City of Sydney supports community gardens, verge 
gardens, community composting and urban Landcare 
groups within our City. Community gardens have provided 
an important role for City residents during Covid-19 with 
increased interest in membership and the 
acknowledgement of the important role gardening plays in 
physical and mental health, social connection and the 
provision of fresh organic produce.  
The City continues to support and implement community 
gardens in the local government area, with 23 gardens in 
total, including two community footpath verge gardens. 
In addition to the new garden in Elger Street Glebe, work 
on Stage 2 of the Kings Cross Community Garden in 
Lawrence Hargrave Reserve will commence in 2021 and 
a new garden is proposed for the Western Block in 
Camperdown. Wicking beds, that work like a big self-
watering pot, are water efficient and are now widely 
adopted within the City’s community gardens with three 
new wicking garden beds constructed in Frances Newton 
Reserve, Darlinghurst and conversion of existing garden 
beds to wicking beds at several other gardens.   
Our volunteer urban Landcare groups have continued to 
provide an invaluable role in restoring native vegetation, 
weeding and litter removal which in turn supports the 
development of nature corridors and improved biodiversity 
within the city. Whilst Covid-19 has restricted the ability to 
hold community planting events this year, the Pyrmont 
Ultimo Landcare group held a successful community 
planting of native plants at Maybanke Reserve, Ultimo. 
The City is looking forward to being able to offer 
community planting opportunities to schools and 
community groups next year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Sydney City Farm 

 

Sydney City Farm in Sydney Park, St Peters is a place to 
learn about urban agriculture and sustainable food 
production. From July – December 2020, 340 volunteer 
shifts were worked at the Farm. 130kgs of fresh food was 
communally grown by volunteers and donated to the 
Asylum Seekers Centre. 

Sydney City Farm education programs provide 
sustainable living content and practical solutions for 
organic waste management at home. From July to 
December 2020, four Compost Basics and Worm Farm 
Basics workshops were held online via zoom and one via 
face-to-face workshop was held at Sydney Park Pavilion. 

Sydney City Farm held 8 other education programs on 
urban farming topics from July to December 2020, 
involving 68 participants.  

 
Relevant links 

– City of Sydney Community Garden  
– City of Sydney Bushcare 

 
 

Performance Year to 
date 

Total to 
date 

Community Gardens (#) No new 21 

Landcare groups (#) No new 5 

Community footpath verge 
gardens (#) No new 2 

Community composting 
groups (#) No new 0 

 2020/21 Q1 2020/21 Q2 
Food grown at Sydney 
City Farm 

87kgs 62kg 

Number worm farm and 
composting education 
programs 

2 3 

Participants 42 45 

Photo: Sydney City Farm 

166

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/community-gardens
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/community-groups/biodiversity-volunteering-groups


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

44 

  
Green roofs and walls 
Green roofs and walls make an important contribution to 
the urban environment. They help mitigate the impacts of 
the urban heat island effect, slow and clean stormwater, 
improve air quality, increase habitat for biodiversity and 
create additional space for urban food production and 
recreation. The Green Roofs and Walls Policy – the first 
of its kind in Australia, was formally adopted by the 
Council in 2014. 
 

The City has developed resources to inform, inspire and 
encourage building owners to include green roofs and 
walls in their developments. These include a guide to 
waterproofing for green roofs and walls, a green roofs and 
walls inspiration guide and case studies showcasing two 
of the City’s own green roof projects, Surry Hills Library 
and Beare Park amenities block. The City’s work on green 
roofs and walls, including the policy, guidelines and its 
own green roofs and walls, was ‘highly commended’ in the 
NSW Government’s Green Globe Awards in October 2015. 
 

The guides, case studies and more can be downloaded 
from www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/green-roofs-and-
walls

 
 
Green roofs and walls are becoming a standard feature in 
new developments, as developers seek to make the most 
of rooftop spaces and provide attractive offerings for 
residents and workers. In 2020 the City approved 19 
developments featuring green roofs or green walls. 
 

Performance       
2018 

new sites 

2019 

new sites 

2020  

new sites 
Total to 
date[1] 

Green roofs in 
the LGA (#)  

11 5 15 171 

Green walls in 
the LGA (#) 

1 3 8 54 

Total green 
roofs and walls 
(#) 

12 8 19 221 

 
Relevant links 

– Green Roofs and Walls 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
[1] 2012/13 was the first year of measurement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

167

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/green-roofs-and-walls
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/green-roofs-and-walls


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

45 

 

8. Delivering to the         
Community 

In March 2019, our community ranked concern for climate 
change as the fourth most important issue facing Sydney. 
The importance of environmental action to our community 
was further emphasised in May 2020 consultation where 
the community ranked climate change as their second 
greatest concern. 
 
Throughout 2020 we have worked to support our 
communities as they seek to improve environmental 
performance while responding to the impacts of the Covid-
19 pandemic; aiming to ensure ‘Recovery is a catalyst for 
a green and sustainable future’. 
 
Sustainability and improving environmental performance 
remain core objectives for our community and program 
partners, many of whom have spent the last months 
developing strategy and planning projects which will 
underpin their continued achievements in resource 
efficiency and subsequent cost savings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Throughout the period the City has continued to support 
our residents and business community to improve 
environmental performance, including: 
• Forty-one buildings assessed for water saving 

opportunities that once implemented will save owners 
over 200 megalitres of drinking water each year 
through the Water Partnership Program, 

• Better Buildings Partnership has achieved in FY2020 
a more than 60% reduction in carbon emissions (from 
their 2005-06 baseline) 

• Release of a key research paper by the Better 
Buildings Partnership demonstrating practical 
solutions for industry adoption of a Circular 
Economy.   

• 89 residential strata apartment buildings have now 
been rated using the NABERS tool. Most supported 
by the City’s Environmental grants. Two buildings are 
now at the outstanding rating of 6-star performance. 

• Funding seven environmental innovation projects 
including two to help demonstrate circular economy 
solutions and one to demonstrate to the wider sector 
how a large office building owner can capture and 
reuse rainwater for use in their cooling towers and 
hence significantly ease the City’s water supply and 
stormwater system. 

• Assisting 167 food businesses to target food waste 
with training and an industry specific toolkit, through 
the Love Food program. 
 

Relevant links  
- Support offered to our residents and businesses to improve 

their sustainability 

 
 
 

The City’s survey of residential apartment stakeholders highlighted 
ongoing concern with environmental performance with energy, water 
and waste management, and uptake of renewable energy all ranking 
as important priorities. 

168

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/environmental-support-funding
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/environmental-support-funding


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

46 

Business sectors – Program update 
Sustainable Office Sector Plan  
Sydney’s Sustainable Office Buildings Plan was adopted 
by Council in 2018 and highlights 35 actions to achieving 
more sustainable buildings across the office sector. These 
actions are largely are largely delivered through the 
flagship programs of the Better Buildings Partnership 
and CitySwitch Green Office.   
 
In 2020, The City built capacity in the office sector by 
presenting at the Good Environmental Choice circular 
economy conference; The Energy Efficiency Council 
annual conference; and the World Energy Forum where 
the Better Buildings Partnership presented a safety study 
on installation of batteries.   
 
The Better Buildings Partnership continued to lead 
industry innovation with the release of research pieces on 
circular economy, energy demand, and battery safety.  
CitySwitch delivered a tool for better tracking of 
occupancy numbers and energy performance in response 
to the Covid-19 pandemic.   
 
The City continues to champion the expansion of the 
federal Commercial Building Disclosure program to 
include smaller buildings and office tenants, and  
The City continues to encourage Sydney LGA businesses 
to set net zero targets and commitments.   
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Better Buildings Partnership 
The Better Buildings Partnership released preliminary 
results for FY 2019-20, showing that the partnership 
had achieved an overall carbon emission reduction of 61 
percent from the FY 2006 baseline year and a 39 percent 
reduction in potable water consumption. It must be 
noted that the impact of people working from home from 
March 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in 
exceptional results for FY 2020, with a year on year 
reduction of 29% in carbon emissions and 17% reduction 
in water consumption compared to FY 2019. This year’s 
annual results must be considered as outliers to the 
overall progress that the Partnership is making in reducing 
its environmental impact.  
 
Performance 
  

2005 - 2006 
baseline 

2019-20 
results  

FY20 % saving 
achieved 

(from baseline) 
Carbon 
emissions 
(t CO2e)   

399,181 152,848 61% 
reduction 

Potable 
water kL   3,160,760 1,922,916 39% 

reduction 
 
The Partnership continued to facilitate the uptake of 
renewable energy by members and their tenants; 
defined pathways to achieve a circular economy; 
and accelerated targets for net zero 
emissions.  Highlights in 2020 include:  
• The CEOs of GPT, Dexus and Mirvac shared 

their achievements in these areas via video at 
the November Partnership annual event, 
to inspire others in the industry to follow their lead.  

• Four waste organisations (ORG, Haulaway  
Services, Cleanaway and iTreat) have now been 
certified by the Good Environmental Choice 
Australia’s waste services standard. This standard 
was developed in conjunction with the Partnership to 
help increase the capability and quality of services 
provided by the waste industry.  

• The Partnership delivered a research 
paper that defining practical solutions for industry 
adoption of a Circular Economy.   

• The partnership updated its National Construction 
Code (NCC) Section J Compliance checklist, a tool 
designed to help building owners comply with the 
NCC energy efficiency requirements.  

• The partnership identified barriers to increase energy 
demand flexibility and developed an energy demand 
management protocol which supports building owners 
to curtail energy demand during peak times.  

 
Relevant links  
• Better Buildings Partnership  
  

169

http://www.betterbuildingspartnership.com.au/


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

47 

 

 
 
 
 
CitySwitch Green Office NATIONAL 
The CitySwitch Green Office program now represents 
over 1,500 offices and over 20 per cent of the office floor 
space across Australia. 
 
In this period, CitySwitch signatories completed reporting 
and submitted projects for the CitySwitch annual awards, 
to be announced early in 2021. 
Preliminary results for 2020 indicate that signatories 
across Australia have achieved a reduction of 
approximately 130,318 tonnes of carbon emissions from 
energy efficiency improvements, and further abatement of 
approximately 826,008 tonnes of carbon emissions 
through the purchase of carbon offsets. 
 
The CitySwitch National program worked with the Energy 
Efficiency Council to deliver the Office Sector Spotlight 
report, as well as research into energy efficiency 
opportunities in commonly used office tenancy plant and 
equipment. The program also partnered with NABERS to 
explore the use of the Sustainable Portfolio Index to office 
tenants and Good Environmental Choice Australia to 
deliver an information session on the circular economy. 
 
Performance - 
Cumulative  

Q1 
20/21 

Q2 
20/21 

Signatories (#)  623 634 

Tenancies (#)  1,534 1,547 

Office floor Space - NLA 
(m2)  5,080,763 5,096,585 

Percentage of all Australian 
office space1  20.3 20.3 

Average NABERS Energy 
rating (stars)  - 4.5 

 
Relevant links 
• CitySwitch Green Office 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CitySwitch Green Office SYDNEY 
In 2020 the CitySwitch Green Office Sydney program 
continued to drive sustainability in commercial offices, 
including: 
• Collaborating with NABERS to develop expansion of 

their Sustainable Portfolio Index into office tenancies, 
• Presenting at the GECA circular economy conference 

in October to encourage businesses to measure and 
manage and set ambitious targets for waste 
improvement and supply chain strategy. 

• Sydney signatory EML participated in the Energy 
Efficiency Council and CitySwitch launch of the Sector 
Spotlight Report on office efficiency in November. 

• Sydney signatories were supported with their annual 
reporting, NABERS ratings and award submissions, 
with full results to be announced at the national 
awards scheduled for February 2021. 
 

Performance - 
Cumulative 

Q1 
20/21 

Q2 
20/21 

Signatories (#)  140  140  

Tenancies (#)  227  221  
Office floor space NLA 
(m2)  1,370,063 1,375,252 

Office floor space as 
proportion of Sydney 
(%)2  

27.2  27.2  

Average NABERS 
energy rating (stars)  -  4.6  

 

 

  

The Office Sector Spotlight Report was launched in December 2020 - 
A collaboration between the Energy Efficiency Council and CitySwitch 

170

https://cityswitch.net.au/


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

48 

Making Sydney a Sustainable Destination 
Plan  
The Making Sydney a Sustainable Destination Plan was 
adopted by Council in 2018 and highlights 28 actions to 
achieving more sustainable buildings across the 
accommodation and entertainment sector.  Many of the 
actions are delivered through the flagship program, the 
Sustainable Destination Partnership, which continued to 
deliver on the program workplan through 2020. 
 
Though the sector has been significantly impacted due to 
the health and economic impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic, the City continued to promote and offer 
subsidised building ratings to the sector through the 
provision of grants. The City did not participate in the 
Global Destination Sustainability Index this year but is 
working with the Sustainable Destination Partnership to 
promote Sydney as a safe and sustainable destination.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainable Destination Partnership   
The Sustainable Destination Partnership released 
preliminary results for the 2019-20 financial year showing 
reductions of 15 per cent carbon emissions and 20 
percent water consumption from the previous year - 
though these reductions are largely attributed to building 
shut-downs due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Many partners 
used this quiet period to continue sustainability action, 
including the State Library and Museum of Contemporary 
Art who developed sustainability strategies. The Crown 
Plaza also joined the partnership in 2020. 
The City facilitated two leadership panel meetings and one 
to one consultation to support partners in planning for a 
sustainable recovery. An event on Power Purchase 
Agreements (PPAs) was also convened to share expertise 
from the City's own recently implemented PPA and 
encourage members of the partnership to increase their 
uptake of renewable energy. 
Some partners also accessed the online training available 
through Love Food Sydney to maintain their commitment 
to halving food waste. 
 

Performance 
  

2017-18 
Baseline   

2019-20 
Preliminary 

 results   
2020-21 
Target   

Carbon 
emissions 
(tCO2e)   

287,334 232,706 
15% reduction 

10% 
reduction 

Potable 
water kL   2,570,437 2,025,331 

20% reduction 
Zero 

increase 
 
Relevant links  
 -  Sustainable Destination Partnership  Sustainable Destinations Partnership member Sydney Opera 

House is powered by 100% renewable energy through a power 
purchase agreement (PPA) 

171

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/build-your-skills-and-knowledge/business-programs/greening-your-business/sustainable-destination-partnership
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/build-your-skills-and-knowledge/business-programs/greening-your-business/sustainable-destination-partnership


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

49 

 
Community and Business – Program update 

 
 
Renewable Energy Program 
To address increasing community concern around the 
impacts of climate change, and deliver on Goal 8 in the 
City's Climate Emergency Response – “Help the 
community access onsite and offsite renewables, 
including 100 per cent  Greenpower”, the City has 
continued efforts to engage the community on their 
procurement of renewable electricity. 
 
Highlights from the past 6 months include:  
• Promotion of GreenPower through advertising and 

news articles published via City of Sydney channels. 
Two of these articles were used as part of online 
campaigns run by the NSW Government on 
GreenPower. 

• Continued promotion of the City of Sydney’s 
renewables leadership and information on the City’s 
Power Purchase Agreement, which came into 
operation on 1 July 2020. 

• In November, the City published a set of tailored 
guides focussed on assisting Residents, Workers, 
Students and Business to take climate action. 

 
Relevant links 

• Switching to renewable energy 
• Climate action for business, Climate action for 

residents, Climate action for students, Climate action 
for workers 

 

Building Tune-up Program 
The tune-up program seeks to support building owners 
improve their energy efficiency and reduce utility costs 
through low cost upgrades and tuning of their energy 
systems. The program delivered integrated environmental 
performance rating and implementation support to 4 
commercial buildings in 2020. 
 
The City is working with a further 26 Environmental 
Performance Grant Program recipients to ensure 
implementation of energy and water savings projects 
identified by energy audits and NABERS environmental 
performance ratings. 
  
Relevant links 

- Building Tune Up  

172

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/property-tree-maintenance/how-to-switch-to-renewable-energy
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/guides/climate-action-for-business
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/guides/climate-action-for-residents
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/guides/climate-action-for-residents
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/guides/climate-action-for-students
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/guides/climate-action-for-workers
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/guides/climate-action-for-workers
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/build-your-skills-and-knowledge/business-programs/greening-your-business/building-tune-up-program


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

50 

Water Savings Partnership 
The Water Savings Partnership program, in collaboration 
with Sydney Water, commenced in June 2019 and aims 
to engage with residents and businesses to improve water 
use efficiency and deliver water saving opportunities over 
the next two years. 
 
Despite building access restrictions due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, program performance is delivering well against 
targets, demonstrating the demand and opportunities for 
water savings in the business sector. 
 
Example work include a water efficiency assessment that 
for a major shopping centre that identified opportunities to 
save 63 kL/day. The centre has already implemented 
changes to achieve an estimated 22 kL/day. 
 

Performance Results to 
date Program Target 

Non-residential participants (#)   41  50  
Savings identified (kL per day)   551  -  
Savings achieved (kL per day)  88  150  

 

 

 

Love Food Sydney Pilot 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Love Food Sydney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Love Food Sydney, funded by the NSW EPA, will build the 
capacity of residents, businesses and tertiary institutions 
to avoid food waste.  The program launched in February 
2020; however, a reassessment of engagement methods 
was required due to restrictions in response to the Covid-
19 pandemic. Face to face business support for the 
project was put on hold for several months and two e-
learning modules were developed to upskill and engage 
staff on food waste avoidance interventions. 
Businesses from the Sustainable Destination Partnership 
and wider community registered to provide the training to 
their staff; and over 90 staff from 11 businesses, including 
the Opera House, The Langham Hotel and Sheraton 
Grand Hotel have completed the training. 
 
As Covid-19 restrictions eased, face to face consultant 
support to businesses was re-established to measure 
waste baseline volumes and implement a food waste 
action plan, and two businesses have undertaken the first 
phase. Engagement with the residential sector has been 
via the Smart Green Apartment program, the City’s 
organics waste trial and City Spaces teams, and has 
resulted in 364 resident registrations. Engagement with 
partner tertiary institutions will resume in 2021. 
  

Performance   Program 
Targets  

Performance 
to Jun-20  

Residential participants (#)   3,434  364  
Business participants (#)   167  141  
Businesses in tertiary 
institutions   20  -  

 Relevant links   
• Love Food Sydney  

 

Restaurant manager Rebecca Shave, at Rising Sun Workshop in Newtown, one 
of the Sydney businesses tackling food waste through the Love Food program.   

City of Sydney’s Ishita Singh has assisted 41 buildings to identify 
opportunities to reduce water consumption through the Water Savings 
Partnership with Sydney Water.  

173

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/environmental-support-funding/love-food-sydney


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

51 

Environmental Grants 
 

In the second half of 2020 the City awarded 69 
Environmental Performance and Knowledge Exchange 
Grants to facilitate action and catalyse solutions required 
to achieve the targets set by Sustainable Sydney 2030. 
 
Fifty nine Ratings and Assessments projects were funded 
that will assist building owners and managers better 
understand their environmental impact and identify 
opportunities for improvement 
 
Seven Environmental Innovation projects were also 
funded: 
1. Demonstration project aiming to salvage and 

transform plastic containers from businesses and 
homes into usable products. (Defy By Design Ltd). 

2. A demonstration project that aims to capture and 
reuse rainwater in cooling towers, easing the City’s 
water supply and stormwater system. (ISPT Pty Ltd) 

3. A feasibility study exploring the benefits of a fixed, 
low-cost air sensor network, generating localised air 
quality data across the city producing a road map for 
quality air monitoring. (University of Technology 
Sydney).  

4. A feasibility study into a CO2 transcritical refrigeration 
system within the hotel industry, where the system 
has the potential to provide refrigeration and heating 
hot water simultaneously. (Enman Pty. Ltd.). 

5. A feasibility study on diverting organic waste away 
from landfill into compost, with data informing 
restaurants, cafes and businesses of their waste 
produced, reducing overhead costs. (Localcyle Pty 
Ltd).  

6. A demonstration project that aims to develop a 
resources life-cycle engine for recycled and reused 
commercial fit outs, building a sophisticated tracking 
and industry awareness resource. (Profile Of Design 
Pty Ltd). 

7. A demonstration project that aims to lower an 
individual's carbon footprint via a mobile application 
by providing tools, programs and features to change 
behaviour. (The Neighbourhood Effect Pty Ltd). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

The City awarded three Knowledge Exchange grants for 
environmental outcomes, to: 
1. The development of best practice criteria for 

sustainable waste to help businesses reduce waste 
and enhance waste data management. (Good 
Environmental Choice - Australia Limited). 

2. The production of educational short videos providing 
the fundamentals for understanding strata living for 
new and existing residents and encouraging 
participation in strata communities, including social 
media platforms for interactive discussion. (Strata 
Answers Pty Ltd)  

3. The development of a series of e-learning modules 
that will be supported by short-form educational video 
demonstrations on best practice waste and recycling. 
(Edge Environment Pty Ltd).  

 
In this period the City also assisted four environmental 
projects through the Matching Grants program; helping to 
improve the sustainability of our LGA by supporting 2 
community gardens, a community compost trial and 
development of a community mural to raise awareness of 
urban biodiversity. 
 
 
Relevant links   

• Environmental Performance Grants  
• Knowledge exchange sponsorships 
• Matching grants 
• Environmental grants interactive map  

  

174

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/community/grants-and-sponsorships/environmental-grants
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/community/grants-and-sponsorships/environmental-grants
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/cultural-support-funding/knowledge-exchange-sponsorships
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/community-support-funding/matching-grants
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/b7ee6f43b9424f1f8e6d73c4d98b0933


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

52 

Smart Green Apartments  
 

 
Fleetview, in Pyrmont, won the Strata Community 

Association Environment Award this year. The building 
plans to install rooftop solar this year, which will be the 

largest solar PV system on a residential apartment building 
in the southern hemisphere. 

 
Smart Green Apartments is the City’s flagship retrofit 
program for apartment communities. To date, direct 
engagement has occurred with 141 strata plans, 172 
buildings and 27,182 residents in 13,876 apartments.  
  
Program participants from the 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 
intake years have implemented energy efficiency projects to 
save a total of 20,324 tonnes CO2e per year and saving 
participating owners corporations a total of $2.89 million per 
year. This includes 652kW of solar which saves 756 tonnes 
CO2e a year, $109,000 in reduced energy bills and 
represents $717,871 in community investment.  
 
Through the City’s Waterfix partnership with Sydney Water; 
3,026 individual apartments have been retrofitted within 14 
buildings. These upgrades will achieve water savings of 697 
ml per annum in reduced water bills. 
 
Owners’ corporations from all intakes have continued to 
implement waste improvement initiatives in their buildings, 
including nine Smart green Apartments buildings which are 
participating in the City’s food waste collection trial.  

 
 

Residential Sector – Program update 
Residential Apartment Sustainability Plan 
The Residential Apartment Sustainability Plan (RASP) 
adopted by Council in August 2015 contains 30 actions to 
drive demand for better performing buildings over a ten-
year period. 
 
The City has continued to collaborate with 18 stakeholders 
from the NSW State Government, industry and community 
organisations to reduce the environmental impact of 
apartment buildings through our Residential Apartments 
Sustainability Reference Group. This group met in August 
and November to discuss opportunities for improving 
sustainability in the strata sector. Particular focus was 
given to upcoming legislative changes to the Strata 
Schemes Management Act (NSW) and ongoing 
collaboration on flammable cladding and development in 
façade PV.  
   
The City continues to support the take-up of the NABERS 
tool for residential apartments, launched in June 2018, 
through Smart Green Apartments and the Environmental 
Performance Grants program. The City has directly 
supported 89 ratings (either individual strata buildings or 
layered schemes in precincts. The ratings are on a scale 
from 0 stars (poor) to 6 stars (market leading). 
 
The City sponsored the Environment Award at the 2020 
Strata Community Association Awards and supported a 
four-day online summit for apartment owners hosted by 
Your Strata Property. The City is collaborating with NSW 
Government to ensure energy efficiency stimulus, 
incentives and support include strata communities and also 
low-income communities.  
 
The City promoted the value of improved environmental 
performance and sustainability upgrades in residential 
strata through presentations at the following: 

• Owners Corporation Network’s electric vehicle 
charging webinar in December 2020 
• NABERS National Steering Committee 

 
Relevant links  
• Residential Apartment Sustainability Plan 2015 
 

175

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/strategies-action-plans/residential-apartments-sustainability-plan


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  January to June 2020 
 

53 

 
Active transport: Involves any physical activity that gets you 
from one place to another, such as walking and cycling. 
Annual Carbon Inventory: Internal database developed by 
the Sustainability Unit summarising annual greenhouse gas 
emissions from all City of Sydney assets and activities 
(buildings, street lighting, parks & other) resulting from 
consumption of electricity, gas and fuel and other sources. 
Arterial transport: A high-capacity urban road or route. 
BASIX or Building Sustainability Index: A NSW 
government index, to rate energy and water efficiency 
performance of residential buildings, that aims to reduce water 
consumption and greenhouse gas emissions by 40 per cent 
compared to pre-BASIX (2004) buildings. 
Biodiversity: Biological diversity including species richness, 
ecosystem complexity and genetic variation. 
Business-as-usual: A projection (e.g. greenhouse gas 
emission levels) based on the assumption that all existing 
policy measures remain in place with no new measures 
introduced. 
Canopy cover: The proportion of land area occupied by the 
tree’s crown or canopy, or combined canopies, when 
visualised from directly above. It is often expressed as a 
percentage or the total area covered. 
Carbon intensity: Electricity that has a high emissions 
concentration, or energy intensity, for example coal-fired 
electricity has a high emissions concentration, or carbon 
intensity. 
Carbon neutral or net zero emissions: Balancing the 
amount of carbon released with an equivalent amount offset 
by purchasing carbon credits to make up the difference. 
COP21: The 2015 United Nations Climate Change 
Conference held in Paris, December 2015 that negotiated the 
Paris Agreement - a global agreement on the reduction limiting 
global warming to less than 2˚C compared to pre-industrial 
levels and to drive efforts to limit the temperature increase 
even further to 1.5˚C. 
C40 Cities: is a network of the world’s megacities committed 
to addressing climate change.  
Dual plumbing: A plumbing system with two separate pipes 
supplying potable and reclaimed water to a building or 
precinct. 
Ecosystem: Animals, plants and microorganisms that live in 
one place, as well as the environmental conditions that 
support them. 
Energy efficiency: Using less energy to achieve the same 
output. 
 

 

Energy storage: The capture of energy produced at one time 
for use at a later time. 
Environmental Action 2016 – 2021 Strategy and Action 
Plan The strategy and action plan combines the insights and 
data from environmental master plans and strategies that the 
City developed between 2008 and 2015. The plan outlines 
our progress to date, and approach to achieving our bold 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 targets.  
Environmental Management System (EMS): is a structured 
system designed to help manage environmental impacts and 
improve the environmental performance of the City’s 
operations. 
Greenhouse gas emissions: Gases that trap heat in the 
atmosphere. Greenhouse gases from human activities are 
the most significant driver of observed climate change since 
the mid-20th century. 
Locally indigenous: A native plant that is limited to a 
particular geographic area and often confined to a specific 
habitat. 
Low-carbon energy: Electricity produced with lower amounts 
of carbon dioxide emissions than conventional fossil fuel 
power generation, such as wind, solar and hydro power. 
Mitigate: Taking action to reduce impact on the environment, 
as well as contributions to climate change (in this context). 
National Australian Built Environment Rating System or 
NABERS: An Australian government initiative that measures 
and rates the environmental performance of Australian 
buildings and tenancies. 
National Greenhouse Accounts (NGA) Factors: Published 
by the Department of Climate Change "The National 
Greenhouse Accounts (NGA) Factors” has been prepared by 
the Australian Government and is designed for use by 
companies and individuals to estimate greenhouse gas 
emissions for reporting under various government programs 
and for their own purpose. 
Net zero emissions: Balancing the amount of carbon 
released with an equivalent amount offset. Usually offsets 
are through purchasing carbon credits to make up the 
difference. The best practice approach is to reduce, or avoid, 
carbon emissions first, then offset any unavoidable 
emissions. 
Non-potable water: Water that is not of a quality for drinking 
and cooking purposes, used for purposes such as laundry, 
gardening, car washing and cooling towers. 
Paris Pledge for Action: At COP21 in Paris (December 
2015), a group of global cities, regions, companies and 
investors committed achieve climate stability, limiting global 
temperature rise to less than 2˚C. 

9. Glossary 

176



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  January to June 2020 
 

54 

Performance Planning: Performance Planning (PP) is a 
TechnologyOne product that stores measures, projects and 
targets. Data can be imported or manually entered 
depending on the source. Managers are responsible for 
ensuring accuracy of the data. PP also contains Corporate 
Plan KPI's and projects.  
Potable water: Treated water that is safe enough for 
consumption, use in kitchens and bathrooms. Water that is 
of drinking water quality for use in bathrooms, kitchens and 
for consumption. 
Raingardens: Gardens that allow rainwater runoff to be 
absorbed, providing rainwater for plants and improving water 
quality in waterways by up to 30 per cent. 
Recycled water: Former wastewater (sewage) is treated to 
remove solids and impurities and used for non-potable water 
needs, rather than discharged into waterways. 
Renewable energy: Energy from resources which are 
naturally replenished on a human timescale, such as sunlight, 
wind, rain, tides, waves, and geothermal heat. 
Resilience: The capacity to survive, adapt and grow no 
matter what kinds of chronic stresses and acute shocks are 
experienced. 
100 Resilient Cities: Pioneered by the Rockefeller 
Foundation (100RC) is dedicated to helping cities around the 
world become more resilient to the physical, social and 
economic challenges that are a growing part of the 21st 
century. 
Scope 1 GREENHOUSE GAS emissions: Emissions 
directly occurring "from sources that are owned or controlled 
by the institution, including: on-campus stationary 
combustion of fossil fuels; mobile combustion of fossil fuels 
by institution owned/controlled vehicles; and "fugitive" 
emissions. Fugitive emissions result from intentional or 
unintentional releases of greenhouse gases, including the 
leakage of hydro fluorocarbons from refrigeration and air 
conditioning equipment". 
Scope 2 GREENHOUSE GAS emissions: Indirect 
emissions generated in the production of electricity 
consumed by the institution. Scope 2 emissions physically 
occur at the facility where electricity is generated. 
Scope 3 GREENHOUSE GAS emissions: All the other 
indirect emissions that are "a consequence of the activities 
of the institution, but occur from sources not owned or 
controlled by the institution" such as commuting, air travel for 
university activities, waste disposal; embodied emissions 

from extraction, production, and transportation of purchased 
goods; outsourced activities; contractor owned- vehicles; and 
line loss from electricity transmission and distribution". 
Sea level rise: Long-term increases in the mean sea level 
due to global warming. 
Sustainability Management and Reporting Tool 
(SMART): SMART is a new utilities management system that 
will manage and record energy and water usage by directly 
extracting consumption data from relevant authorities.  
Stormwater harvesting: Water from intense rainfall events 
(stormwater) is captured, cleaned and typically re-used for 
non-potable purposes. 
Sustainable Sydney 2030: City of Sydney publication that 
sets the 2030 vision for the city aligned to the strategic 
priorities of Green, Global & Connected. Sets the direction, 
defines at the road map and articulates the step changes 
required to achieving a more sustainable future. 
Swales: Low, moist or marshy land, naturally landscaped 
feature or a human-created one, that manages water runoff, 
filters pollutants and increases rainwater permeation. 
The best practice approach is to reduce or avoid carbon 
emissions first, then offset any unavoidable emissions. 
Trigeneration: A system providing cooling, power and 
heating. Electricity is produced locally, the waste heat is used 
to supply heating and hot water and converted into cooling 
via a heat-driven chiller system. 
Urban heat island effect: Cities are often warmer than rural 
areas because vegetation is replaced with hard structures, 
such as pavements and buildings, which absorb and release 
more heat than the natural landscape. 
Urban renewal areas: A program of land redevelopment in 
areas of moderate to high density urban land use. 
Utility corridors: A passage built underground or 
aboveground to carry utility lines such as electricity, water and 
sewer pipes. 
Water efficiency: Using less water to achieve the same 
output. 
Water sensitive urban design: A design approach which 
integrates the urban water cycle into urban design to reduce 
environmental degradation and improve aesthetic appeal. 
Wetlands: A land area saturated with water that forms a 
distinct ecosystem of aquatic plants that manage water runoff, 
filter pollutants and increase rainwater permeation. 

 

177



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

55 

           Low-carbon city 
 
City of Sydney (Operations) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Electricity  Reporting underway from SMART. 

Electricity currently is reported quarterly in arrears. Data 
provided by electricity retailers.  

Daily monitoring occurring at all large electricity using sites 
(over 100,000 kWh per annum). 

Continue to implement and monitor data through Sustainability 
Management and Reporting Tool (SMART) 

Natural gas Gas data is reported quarterly in arrears. Additionally, gas 
account data (usage) may be estimated in cases where the 
gas retailer cannot read meters. 

Continue to implement and monitor data through Sustainability 
Management and Reporting Tool (SMART) 

Other sources Emissions sources including flights, taxis, contractor fuel, 
onsite fuel usage, and refrigerants are added to SMART 
quarterly. 

Events data is estimated on previous years’ performance. 

Improvement plan priorities include improving contractor 
reporting templates and consistency in recording staff travel 
data. 

Co/Tri 
generation and 
renewable 
energy 

The City is working to improve the measurement and reporting 
of, trigeneration and solar power generation. Data is estimated 
based on system size. 

Improvement plan being developed to improve metering and 
incorporate data into SMART. 

Asset 
Environmental 
Budget 
(Emissions) 

Asset Environmental Budget (emissions) has been developed 
based using baseline data from the NCOS report.  

Estimations for portfolio increases has been based on existing 
portfolio performance, Project projects for co/trigeneration, 
MPEP, Solar Photovoltalics program programs have been 
based on estimations for each program. In addition, Ausgrid 
lighting roll out program has been estimated based on the 
anticipated delivery program.  

The Asset Environmental Budget will be reviewed annually. 

 
Local Government Area (LGA) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Electricity  CCAP City - reported through the Environmental Sustainability 
Platform. 

The electricity distributor has provided community-wide high-
voltage electricity data for City of Sydney local government 
area at a high level. Due to confidentiality clauses, a 
breakdown of the high-voltage data by source has not been 
provided and hence is not included in the City's community 
inventory.  

Continue to monitor and report electricity data. 
 

 

Natural gas CCAP City reported through the Environmental Sustainability 
Platform 

Continue to monitor and report 

10. Appendix 1: Data 
management plan 

178



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

56 

Other sources CCAP 2.0 reported through the Environmental Sustainability 
Platform 

Continue to monitor and report 

Co/tri 
generation and 
renewable 
energy 

Information about renewable energy installations is available 
through the Clean Energy Regulator. The Australian PV 
Institute have developed a solar map with funding through 
ARENA at http://pv-map.apvi.org.au/  

Currently there is no formal mechanism in place for tracking 
installed co and trigeneration systems. 

Continue to monitor and report 

 
 
            Water sensitive city 
  
 
City of Sydney (Operations) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Water  The transition of water data to SMART, the new utility data 
management system is almost complete. First water utility data 
set has been released in this report and will be verified in 
future reports. 

Data is collated from water utility bills. Accruals for June have 
been calculated based on estimates from previous periods. 

The organisation-wide sustainable metering program will 
address key priorities to improve metering and monitoring of 
water, energy and other sustainability components including 
recycled water consumption.  

Annual potable 
water use by 
irrigated open 
space 

The irrigated areas are being reviewed and will be updated in 
the next report. 

 

Irrigated areas are being verified so the irrigation intensity can 
be accurately determined. 

 
Local Government Area (LGA) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Water  Reporting mains water consumption annually only. No existing 
process for accurately capturing and reporting non-mains 
water consumption except manually via IPART for WICA 
licensees only (annually in arrears). 

Data for LGA potable water usage available annually only. 

Continue to monitor and report  

 
 
 
           Zero waste city 
 
 
City of Sydney (Operations) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Waste  Commercial waste and recycling from 65 City of Sydney 
properties is reported quarterly. 

Construction and demolition waste reporting is limited.   

The City has recently completed an organisation wide review 
into the way in which it collects, reports and verifies recycling 
and landfill diversion performance data, to significantly improve 
the accuracy and transparency of our reporting. The City is 
committed to improved reporting processes and implementing 
solutions for increased recycling performance of the waste it 
manages. 

City managed 
property waste 

All City managed property waste reported from SMART with 
the exception of aquatic centres. 

Aquatic centres waste data to be incorporated into SMART 

179

http://pv-map.apvi.org.au/


Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

57 

 
Local Government Area (LGA) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Waste  Construction and demolition waste from the city reporting is 
limited.  

LGA commercial waste data capture to be improved and 
verified. 

Residential 
waste 

LGA residential waste data available and reported in the 
Corporate Plan. 

Residential and city streets waste tonnages are reported from 
processor reports and invoices that are extrapolated into local 
master spreadsheets. 

 

City parks, 
streets and 
public place 
waste 

City parks waste tonnages are reported directly from processor 
reports and invoices. 

City streets, public place and stormwater waste is not 
separated for disposal. Separate tonnages are based on 
estimates from the Operations Waste Databases Audit July 
2017. 

City parks, streets, public place and stormwater waste 
tonnages to be reviewed for incorporation into SMART. 

e-waste City runs e-waste drop off events tonnage collected is included 
in the report and also included in the corporate report. 

 

 
 
           Active and connected city 
 
City of Sydney (Operations) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Fleet  Provided from the City’s data management system Ausfleet. Improvement plan to be developed and data to be incorporated 
into SMART. 

Cycling Event data, attendance at training sessions and monitoring is 
collated by City staff and maintained in registers. 

Improvement plan to be developed to assess management of 
data. 

 
Local Government Area (LGA) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Car sharing Car share operators provide monthly usage and membership 
data to the City. Issues with reviewing data due to operator’s 
capacity to plots suburb boundaries, parking areas. Operators 
do not have common membership categories. Peer to Peer car 
share membership is not collected by the City.  

RMS publishes licensing data each quarter. 

City maintains database of on-street and off-street car share 
parking using Traffic Committee data and operator reports. 

Improvement plan to be developed to assess management of 
data.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

180



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

58 

           Green and cool city 
 
 
City of Sydney (Operations) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Green and cool 
city  

Organisational reporting currently not centralised. Improvement plan to be developed to assess management of 
data 

 
Local Government Area (LGA) 
Data type Current Status Forward Plan 

Urban canopy Urban canopy measurement is currently undertaken every five 
years, through the use of Lidar or other high-resolution aerial 
imagery.  

Tree planting figures are provided through the Corporate Asset 
Management System (CAMS) 

A review of the canopy cover timing will occur as part of the 
Urban Forest Strategy review.  

Improvement plan to be developed to assess management of 
data 

Urban ecology Event data and attendance data is collated by City staff and 
maintained in registers. 

Survey data collates as described in the City’s Urban Ecology 
Strategic Action Plan 

Improvement plan to be developed to assess management of 
data. 

Community 
Empowerment 

Event data and attendance data is collated by City staff and 
maintained in registers 

Improvement plan to be developed to assess management of 
data. 

Green roofs 
and walls 

Green roofs and walls data is collated by City staff and 
maintained in registers 

Improvement plan to be developed to assess management of 
data. 

 
 
Delivering to the Community 
 
 Local Government Area (LGA) 
PROGRAM NAME Current Status Forward Plan 
Better Buildings 
Partnership Program data collated from participants in spreadsheets and uploaded to 

CCAP 2.0 Environmental Sustainability Platform for archiving and analysis. 
Details of participants (individual buildings and floor space), energy use and 
energy savings implemented reported annually in arrears. 

Continue to monitor and report 

CitySwitch 
Program data collated in national CitySwitch CRM database for archiving and 
analysis. Sydney data entered to CCAP 2.0 Environmental Sustainability 
Platform. Details of participants (individual tenancies and floor space), 
energy use and NABERS ratings reported annually in arrears. 

Continue to monitor and report 

Sustainable 
Destination 
Partnership 

Program data collated from participants in spreadsheets and uploaded to 
CCAP 2.0 Environmental Sustainability Platform for archiving and analysis.  

Continue to monitor and report 

Smart Green 
Apartments Program data collated in SUMS data platform. Details of participants 

recorded annually, energy and water use data uploaded monthly and details 
from assessment reports recorded through phases of assessment process. 

NABERS ratings numbers provided by NSW Government Household and 
Small Business Program 

Archiving and analysis to be improved 
through inclusion in CCAP 2.0 
Environmental Sustainability Platform 

Environmental 
Grants Program data collated in SmartyGrants platform and in program manager 

spreadsheets. Information recorded as prompted by phases of grant process 
(application to acquittal). 

Ease of analysis to be improved through 
inclusion in Programs CRM database 

181



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

59 

11. Appendix 2: 
Environment Policy 

182



Green Environmental Sustainability Progress Report  July to December 2020 
 

60 

This report is published biannually for January to June and July 
to December by the City of Sydney at: 

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/council/forms-and-
publications/environmental-plans-reports 

 

Please direct any questions about this report to:  
Mary Watt 
Manager Environmental Projects 
ems@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 
+61 2 92659713 
 

  

LEGEND 
CO2 Carbon dioxide 

GWh Gigawatt hours 

Kg Kilogram 

kL Kilolitres 

kWp Kilowatt peak 

LED Light Emitting Diode 

LGA Local Government Area 

m2 Square meters 

ML Megalitres 

MWh Megawatt hour 

MWe Megawatt equivalent 

t Tonne 

tCO2-e Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 

183

mailto:mwatt@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

184



Attachment F 

Second Quarter Community Recovery Plan 
Report 2020/21 

 

  

 

185



 

Community 
Recovery Plan 

Quarterly Report #2 
 

 

Activity Report to December 2020 
January 2021  
 

The City’s Christmas marketing campaign featured a bike-riding Santa touring local businesses to show off our vibrant 
range of retailers who received a Covid-19 relief grant. The City granted a further $3.8M to local businesses in the 
quarter to help them adapt to new ways of trading and adopting new business models in the wake of the pandemic. 
Chris Moore (pictured), owner of Omafiets Dutch Bicycles survived 2020 using a City of Sydney grant to adapt his 
business model and develop the business’s website. In the lead up to Christmas, 20% of his sales were online. 

186



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #1 

2 

 

Contents 
 
 

Where are we now? 3 
 

Summary of the plan 6 
 

What we have done 7 
Action Area 1: Safely manage public space   7 

Action Area 2: Equitable access to essentials 12 

Action Area 3: Community resilience 16 

Action Area 4: Protect creative sector 20 

Action Area 5: Rebuild visitor economy 24 

Action Area 6: Support business innovation 28 

 

187



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

3 

Where are we now? 
State of the city update 
Note regarding this data 

Currently only limited up-to-date data is available at the City of Sydney level on the impact of 
Covid-19 and much of the data is at different points in time. This is particularly so this quarter with  
many collecting agencies deferring data release until later in January 2021. The current situation 
continues to evolve rapidly – making much of the available data quickly out of date. Every attempt 
has been made to present the most recent data. 

 

 City Output (GDP): Compared to December Quarter 2019, the quarterly modelled City 
Output is down about 3.0%. Whilst perhaps a little ahead of expectations, this is cumulatively 
a total decline of about $7 billion since pre-Covid-19. The restoration of international visitor 
caps and the emergence of new, more transmissible strains will see growth momentum ease 
in Q1 2021, with potentially a further $1.5- 2 billion decline (compared to 2019) expected. 

 JobKeeper: According to the latest statistics from the Taxation Office, over 20,000 
businesses with a registered head office in the City of Sydney are still receiving the 
JobKeeper payment. This remains the highest number for any LGA in Australia. 

 Employment: The ABS Payroll Tax Data Index for the end of the calendar year shows a 
decline of about 7% since Feb/Mar which is only exceeded Australia-wide by City of 
Melbourne with a decline of 10%, within major urban areas. Regional parts of Queensland 
and Victoria also suffered in early January from the interstate mobility restrictions and other 
parts of Sydney were affected by ‘lockdown restrictions’. 

 Workforce: Transport authorities indicate that transport patronage remained 40-50% down 
on 2019 numbers. This is confirmed by City of Sydney pedestrian count figures (-49%), Opal 
card usage (-44%) and Property Council estimates of office occupancy levels 46% of pre-
pandemic levels in early December. Anecdotally, many businesses are requiring staff to 
return to work-offices more frequently in January. 

 Industry Impacts: Given the City economy’s reliance on tourism (both international and 
domestic) and visitors, as well as the hospitality sector, the industries most affected by 
decreased employment (Australia-wide) between March and December 2020 (the latest 
available data) are: 

– Arts and Recreation Services decreased by 10% 

– Accommodation and Food Services decreased by 17% 

Notably these industries also have the highest proportion of local residents employed and so 
the impact on the City is likely to have been even greater. However, this was an improvement 
on the results of June-September quarter. 

  

188



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

4 

 Spend: Confidential spend data sighted by Council indicates that for the period from March 
to the end of December (compared to the same period in 2019): 

– Total retail spending decreased by 21% 

– Total retail spending by international visitors decreased by 83% 

– Total retail spending by domestic consumers decreased by 10% 

– Spending at eating places fell by 22% 

– Spending on accommodation fell by 70% 

– Spending at clothing stores fell by 4% 

Again, this was a significant ‘improvement’ on the quarter-on-quarter decline in the 
September quarter, indicating growth in the October-December period, generally in the 
order of about 20% in comparison. 

 International Students and Travel: The re-imposition of caps on international arrivals 
represents the largest immediate threat to economic recovery facing the City and is likely to 
slow and delay recovery further. 

As an illustration, the latest arrivals data for November (Australia-wide) indicated that, 
compared to 38,000 international student arrivals in November 2019, there were just 150, of 
which 90 came to NSW. Whilst it is estimated that approximately one-third of existing 
international student enrolments are still residing in Australia (albeit without income support 
and/or employment in casual jobs), this indicates the likely impact on on-site campus 
numbers. Significantly, this also impacts on local businesses and shops servicing the 
resident student community. 

Confidence 
 Business Confidence: Not surprisingly, business confidence declined significantly through 

the pandemic period. Between February and the end of September, the Index of Business 
Confidence has fallen by 18.2% and by 22.6% compared to September 2019. However, in 
response to the economic recovery as well as prospective budget measures, it rose 
dramatically in November and December.  

In fact, the December figure was the second highest for over 7 years. Business Confidence 
has now increased strongly for three straight months and is up 38pts (+44%) since 
September. Business Confidence is now 19pts higher than a year ago in Dec 2019 and is 
10pts above the long-term average. On a state-based level, NSW now has the highest 
Business Confidence of any state at 128.2 up 34pts (+36%) since September. 

 Consumer Confidence: Consumer confidence has also increased compared with the 
September Quarter. In fact, Consumer Confidence levels in November and December were 
the only times in 2020 that the levels exceeded the corresponding 2019 levels. The 
December figure was the highest since September 2019.  

 Recent Trends - ‘Green Shoots’ of Recovery?: With the decline in new Covid-19 cases 
indicating greater success in addressing the health crisis, there has been an substantive 
tentative increase in confidence levels in recent times.  

Consumer confidence in Sydney is now at its highest level in more than 15 months. By far 
the largest contribution came from confidence in ‘current economic conditions’ which has 
jumped almost 20% over the latter part of September (albeit from a low base). 

This is reflected in spending in the city which (while still substantially down compared to a 
year before) is significantly less than the full pandemic decline in total retail spend and 
spending by domestic consumers. This may continue to expand as workers and shoppers 
become more confident of the health situation.  

189



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

5 

However, the likelihood of minimal international travel in 2021 and the subsequent impact on 
the food, hospitality and visitor-dependent businesses means the overall rate of further 
recovery is likely to be slow. In addition, the employment impact may spike again when 
JobKeeper ends for these businesses in March, unless selective assistance is continued. 

190



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

6 

Summary of the plan 
 

 
  

Recovery goals 

– Recovery is inclusive and equitable 

– Recovery supports a resilient economy and community wealth building 

– Recovery is a catalyst for a green and sustainable future 

– Recovery is strengthened by a robust and diverse cultural sector 

Action Areas 

 
 
Safely manage public 
places and streets to 
support community life and 
business 

 
 
Provide equitable access to 
the essentials for safe and 
comfortable daily life for all 
residents 

 
 
Strengthen community 
cohesion to build the 
resilience of local 
communities 

 
 
Protect and empower the 
cultural sector by prioritising 
the role of local creativity, 
cultural spaces, talent and 
knowledge 

 
 
Rebuild the visitor economy 
through promotion of our 
vibrant and safe city with 
activated main streets and 
nightlife 

 
 
Support businesses and 
organisations to innovate 
and adapt so that industries 
can evolve and grow  

Guiding principles 

People are actively involved in recovery, 
shaping change in their city and their future 

Recovery is responsive to the government health directions, 
led by stewardship and collaboration 

Decisions are evidence-based and allow a 
flexible response 

191



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

7 

What we have done 
This section provides an overview of activity under each of the recovery plan actions for the period 
1 October - 31 December 2020: 

 Total Actions Actions Activity 
  Underway this Quarter 

Business as usual/transformed actions: 39 39 39 

New actions: 18 18 17 

Recovery plan total actions: 57 57 56 

Action Area 1 
Safely manage public places and streets to support 
community life and business 
People can move in and around the city safely because space is re-allocated and 
businesses can successfully reopen. 

 

What we are doing to support recovery 

1.1 Prioritise our business 
concierge service to support 
businesses to open and 
operate safely 

 382 contacts to business concierge service October – 
December 2020 comprising 175 calls and 207 emails. 

 The majority of enquiries relate to eligibility for the 
Covid-recovery grants program. 

1.2 Continue the acceleration of 
the capital works program to 
upgrade city streets, parks 
and playgrounds 

 Parks renewal stimulus package: LGA North. 
$1.96M of $2.4M of accelerated landscape works 
completed by 4 head contractors (plus 
subcontractors/suppliers also supported). Projects 
underway include: 

• Infrastructure, planting and returfing packages in 
northern parks 
• Ada Place wall deconstruction and fence installation   
• Prince Alfred Park rainbow pathway  
• Sandringham Gardens Drainage Works 

 Parks renewal stimulus package: LGA South. 
$1.3M of accelerated landscape works commenced: 

• Turf projects in Rosebery, Waterloo, Redfern  
• Rubber soft-fall projects in Rosebery, Darlinghurst, 
Elizabeth Bay, Surry Hills, Erskineville, Redfern, 
Darlington  
• Landscape projects in Waterloo, Woolloomooloo, 
Fitzroy Gardens, Selwyn Street closure 
• Paddington War Memorial surrounds 

192



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

8 

What we are doing to support recovery 

1.3 Clean public places and 
streets to a high standard 

 Waste collections have continued as per regular 
schedules with minimal missed collections despite 
the increased waste generated by residents staying 
at home. 

 Held recycling events in Q2 with Covid-19 safety 
measures: 

• Household Chemical Cleanout – 17 October 
• Recycle It Saturday – 5 December 

 Commenced Home Recycling Trial allowing residents 
to have items collected from their front door and 
recycled via RecycleSmart. 

 Cleansing operations were increased in areas 
identified with high pedestrian traffic flows; including 
transport hubs, hospitals, schools and commercial 
businesses such as grocery shops, medical centres 
and pharmacies. Additional focus on cleaning of 
egress points, walkways, handrails, seating and 
street litter bins in these areas. 

 Where areas were identified as ‘hot spots’ by NSW 
Health, cleansing crews attend the immediate area to 
the identified premises removing any illegal dumps, 
steam cleansing footpaths, street furniture and 
emptying and cleaning street litter bins. 

 Additional mobile street litter bins have been provided 
outside hospitals and testing venues to assist with the 
removal of additional waste generated by people 
attending for testing. 

1.4 Promote safe alternatives to 
single-use items to address 
emerging waste issues 

 As part of National Recycling Week, the City 
partnered with Mirvac to deliver 4 recycling pop-up 
events at their Broadway and Tramsheds shopping 
centres. Residents were encouraged to bring their old 
batteries, light bulbs, mobile phones and soft plastics 
for recycling to these events and were educated 
about safe reuse options.  

A recycling ‘sorting challenge’ activity offered deeper 
engagement and the opportunity for participants to 
win one of two Mirvac sponsored zero-waste prize 
packs featuring reusable products, including 
stainless steel lunchboxes, reusable drink bottle, 
silicon zip-lock bags, reusable produce mesh bags 
and bees-wax wraps. 

221 people attended and City outreach officers 
engaged directly with 196 people and collected 
26.5kg of recyclables. 

 Planning commenced to deliver ‘Better Buying’ pop-
up stalls each week from Feb – Mar 2021 to promote 
safe alternatives to single use directly to the public. 

193



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

9 

What we are doing to support recovery 

1.5 Communicate that Sydney is 
safe, clean and open for 
business 

 Weekly meetings with NSW Government (dept of 
customer service and dept of health) to ensure 
coordinated approach to delivery of timely and clear 
public health alerts on City channels. 

City staff provided feedback to the NSW Government 
on the negative impact businesses can experience 
when they have a confirmed Covid-19 case visit their 
premises. The City’s recommendations and 
discussions have led to several changes in 
government communications and the development of 
toolkits for businesses and local councils to support 
businesses to get back on their feet and open as 
quickly as possible. 

 Content articles on City of Sydney News promoted 
via City’s social channels and to over 14,000 weekly 
email digest subscribers: 

Page Views: Q2 Total 

• Public health alerts as required:  33,195    37,317 
• Covid-19 – how we’re responding:   1,480  139,652 
• Covid-19 page on CoS website:    2,217      2,217 
• Become a Covid-19 safe small business: 
       105         692 
• New Covid-19 rules for businesses:     105      1,515 
• Mandatory changes to business check-in: 
       547         547 
• Download the Service NSW app for check-in: 
       404         404 
• Going out – tips for a safe & fun night: 
       175         978 
• Face mask recommendations:       534      2,092 
• How it feels to be back in the theatre:  294         294 
• Covid-19 restrictions to ease:       303         303 

1.6 Work with NSW Government 
on city management 
initiatives such as mobility 
and transport, temporary 
footpath widening, 
cycleways, change signal 
timing, lower speed limits, 
travel demand planning and 
reprioritisation of roads 

 The City opened online applications for outdoor 
dining in new spaces, including reallocated road 
space on 30 November. As at 15 January, 92 
applications have been received, of which 42 relate to 
reallocated road space (such as Pitt St, Barrack St, 
Foster St, Stanley St, Crown St, Goulburn St and 
Lower Fort St) and 50 relate to reallocated footway 
space. Of these, 46 have been approved, 8 not 
approved/withdrawn and 38 are being assessed. 

The initiative is receiving positive feedback on social 
media. 

 The City continues to successfully advocate to the 
Minister for Transport and Transport for NSW for the 
installation of 40km zones on Oxford St, Moore Park 
Rd, Pyrmont Bridge Rd and in Pyrmont, Ultimo, 
Darlington, Camperdown and west Paddington. 

194



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

10 

 

Other actions we will take  

1.7 Review and determine if 
current fee waivers should be 
extended to continue to 
support activation of space 
for community life, cultural 
participation and commercial 
use while maintaining 
accessibility 

 Fees waivers extended to March 2021: 

• The City has assisted 3,347 businesses this 
financial year with relief of inspection, registration, 
application and administrative fees for health and 
building regulatory and compliance activities such as 
food premises, temporary food stalls, mobile food 
vendors, skin penetration, cooling towers and annual 
fire safety statements.  
• Footway dining, market permits and filming fees on 
grounds of hardship. 
• Return of venue hire and banner fees for bookings 
that have been unable to proceed. 
• Waived/discounted venue hire fees for events that 
were able to proceed 

 Value of fees waived: 

• Waived inspection, registration, application and 
administrative fees relating to Health and Building 
regulatory and compliance activities, such as:  
food premises, temporary food stalls, mobile food 
vendors, skin penetration, cooling towers and annual 
fire safety statements: 

  Fin YTD Since commencement 
Fees waived $557,935 $   649,034 

• Waived filming fees, markets rental fees and venue 
hire cancellation fees: 

 Since commencement 
Filming fees foregone $   161,059 
Market rental waived $     60,361 
Venue hire cancellation fees waived $1,383,646 
Venue hire fees waived/discounted $   187,625 

• Waived footway dining fees: 

 Since commencement 
Fees waived $1,236,641 

 Rent relief on commercial properties extended to 
December 2020. 
Rent relief on commercial properties (excluding 
QVB): 

 Apr – Dec 2020 
Total rent relief forecast $5,237,649 
Total rent deferral estimate $5,300,000 

1.8 Invest in the pedestrianisation 
and activation of south 
George Street  

The 9,000m2 of additional pedestrianised space has 
been activated with decorative road painting, roving 
musicians and temporary seating to encourage 
pedestrians to use the additional space and disperse 
crowds on footpaths. 

195



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

11 

Other actions we will take  

 The City has held ongoing conversations with 
businesses and property owners on the newly 
pedestrianised section of George Street since the 
initiative was announced. Formal consultation on the 
permanent closure was conducted from 23 
September to 21 October 2020, which indicated the 
majority of people support the proposal. Comments 
supporting the proposal welcomed the opportunity to 
improve pedestrian access, the local amenity and 
outdoor activation and dining.  

 The proposal was endorsed by Council on 14 
December 2020. Construction will be completed 
stages and is expected to start early 2021. 

 The initiative is viewed as a positive step in the 
recovery by providing space for physical distancing, 
creating new outdoor space for businesses to utilise, 
improving the look and feel of the street for people 
and a project that will help reinvigorate the southern 
CBD.  

 A risk assessment for outdoor dining on south 
George Street has been submitted to the light rail 
operator for endorsement. Once approved, the City 
can work with businesses on George Street to 
provide outdoor dining.  

  

196



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

12 

Action Area 2 
Provide equitable access to the essentials for safe and 
comfortable daily life for all residents 
Address rising inequality within our community by advocating for and supporting access to 
essential services for all. This includes housing, food, community services, digital 
resources and skills development. 

 

What we are doing to support recovery 

2.1 Direct existing grant support 
towards addressing emerging 
community issues and funding 
those most in need 

 A new round of Covid-19 recovery grants for 
community services to meet the needs of vulnerable 
residents impacted by the pandemic opened for 
application from 29 October to 7 December. 
Applicants were able to apply for up to $50,000 with 
organisations applying through a collective impact 
model able to apply for more. 

In total for this program: 

• Grant applications received:       77 
• Grant applications supported:         23 
• Value of support requested: $3,423,320 
• Value of support invested:    $800,000 

 As part of the grants pre-assessment process, all staff 
assessing applications were briefed on the City’s new 
unconscious bias reference guide developed in 
consultation with City’s Indigenous leadership team 
and workforce planning & diversity advisor. 

 The Covid-19 community services grant guidelines 
included funding priorities for applications that: 

• Build capacity and empower the community to 
address sustainable food security. 
• Have collective impact approaches with multiple 
organisations partnering to achieve a shared goal. 
• Meet the needs of and are led by Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
• Support vulnerable community groups including 
temporary visa holders, social housing residents and 
people at risk of or experiencing homelessness. 

2.2 Continue to provide online 
and face-to-face programming 
with a focus on supporting 
health and wellbeing, digital 
literacy, social inclusion, 
reskilling and employment  

 Provided 269 sessions of virtual community groups 
online for 10,775 people following the reduced 
operation of libraries and community centres. 

 The City continues to develop programs that support 
the outcomes of this action such as: 
• Children’s Storytime and Rhymetime in Auslan 
• Craft and art classes 
• Digital and computer courses 
• Physical activity programs such as yoga, after 
dinner walks, boxing, bootcamp and Zumba. 

197



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

13 

What we are doing to support recovery 

2.3 Manage community spaces, 
services and facilities to 
ensure safe, equitable and 
affordable access and 
participation 

 Community venues reopened with reduced capacity 
and utilisation under Covid-safe plan requirements,  

 All City of Sydney libraries were re-opened with 
limited operating hours and services under Covid-
safe plan requirements including mandatory check-in, 
contactless reserve and collect and maximum visit of 
4 hours for the libraries, study desks and Wi-Fi. 

 A NSW Health pop-up testing clinic continues to 
operate from East Sydney Community & Arts Centre. 

2.4 Increase utilisation of internet 
and digital access and 
participation through City 
libraries and community 
facilities and explore 
opportunities to support digital 
training and advocate for 
subsidised internet access 
beyond our own facilities 

 Customs House, Surry Hills, Darling Square and 
Green Square libraries provide computer access with 
a 3-hour limit. 

 Digital literacy and skills programs across a range of 
topics such as coding, how to spot fake news, the 
dark web explained, Photoshop and cyber security. 

 The libraries’ digital collections including ebooks, 
music streaming services and online newspapers as 
well as computer and Wi-Fi facilities are actively 
promoted on the libraries page on the City’s website. 

2.5 Work with other government 
agencies and organisations 
working in the homelessness 
sector to support those at risk 
of or experiencing 
homelessness  

 Seven-day coverage provided by the City’s 
homelessness unit and public space liaison officers 
who continue to engage with people experiencing 
homelessness. Staff are providing rough sleepers 
with the most up to date information from NSW 
Health, along with information about service provision 
and accommodation available: 

 Q2 20/21 Since commencement 
• People supported to access temp accommodation: 
 50   53 
• People supported to access long term housing: 
 62 137 

2.6 Continue to leverage the City’s 
existing Supported 
Accommodation, Affordable 
and Diverse Housing Fund to 
create more affordable 
housing 

 A review of fund policy and guidelines is underway to 
ensure it meets the requirements of the community in 
context of the pandemic and future community 
needs. 

Council approved a $3M grant to Wesley Mission’s 
RJ Williams affordable housing development in 
Glebe. 

2.7 Advocate to federal and state 
governments for increased 
investment in social and 
affordable housing as well as 
no forced evictions and 
tenants' rights 

 The City made a submission to the Review of the 
Management of NSW Public Housing Maintenance 
Contracts advocating for increased investment in new 
and old social housing stock, ongoing positive 
collaborations with the City to enhance safety, 
liveability and amenity of social housing 

198



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

14 

What we are doing to support recovery 

neighbourhoods and the importance of place based 
community development workers. 

 At the December meeting, Council discussed their 
commitment to Aboriginal social and affordable 
housing targets for the Waterloo redevelopment. In 
relation to advocacy for social and affordable 
housing, Council resolved to: 

• Strongly advocate for public housing tenants living 
in the Redfern/Waterloo redevelopment area to be 
offered affordable or social housing within the LGA 
for the duration of the development. 
• Work to ensure new or renewed partnerships with 
community housing providers in the LGA deliver ten 
per cent Aboriginal affordable housing. 
• Formally advise the NSW Government of these 
decisions through the CEO and Lord Mayor. 

2.8 Prioritise the provision of food 
security services for our 
vulnerable communities 
through partnerships, 
networks, grants and existing 
services 

 Continued partnership with over 60 agencies to 
provide meals and food hampers across the LGA. 
Continue to provide on average 7,800 meals and 
1,420 hampers every week. 

 Delivered 11,401 Meals on Wheels meals to 247 
residents and continued service uninterrupted. 

 Team of redeployed City staff delivered 6,117 meals 
and 18 online shopping vouchers as part of the City’s 
temporary home meal delivery program to vulnerable 
residents, 56% of whom were under 65. 

 Continue to support the OzHarvest free Supermarket 
in Waterloo who have extended the service to 5 days 
per week supporting an average of 1200 people per 
week. 

 The City provided access to Green Square 
Community Hall to Viral Kindness for the packing and 
distribution of food to vulnerable people. 

 Approximately 18 not for profit agencies and 
businesses supported through Covid-19 relief grants 
to provide food support to the community. 

 

Other actions we will take  

2.9 Work with charities to support 
their fund-raising to provide 
ongoing services to people in 
the local area 

 Continued to support the #feedsydney fundraising 
campaign for OzHarvest, including promotion 
directly to City of Sydney staff. Every dollar donated 
provides 2 meals. $102,846 raised so far towards a 
goal of $200,000. 

199



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

15 

Other actions we will take  

 Working with volunteer and non-government 
agencies to link offers of donations and volunteers 
with organisations requiring additional support. 

2.10 Advocate to the federal 
government for the 
continuation of financial and 
other support packages and 
broadening access to 
assistance 

 No new activity scheduled this quarter. 

2.11 Connect impacted 
international students to 
accommodation and mental 
health support services 

 The City collaborated with StudyNSW on the 
Summer Engagement Program for international 
students, which provides online resources, 
programs and services to support international 
students over the summer period when education 
providers traditionally are closed. 

2.12 Advocate to the NSW 
Government to direct energy 
efficiency support to low-
income residents and strata 
communities in the local area 

 The City is collaborating with NSW Govt to ensure 
energy efficiency stimulus, incentives and support 
include strata communities and low-income 
communities. 

 Work is underway with the Energy Savings Scheme 
to trial an increase in financial incentives for Owners 
Corporations to retrofit apartment buildings. 

 The City is advocating for changes to strata 
legislation to drive improved building performance 
and cost-savings (note a Sustainability Infrastructure 
Bill to amend the Strata Schemes Management Act 
is currently with NSW Parliament). 

 The City is promoting utility bill-support programs to 
our residents. 

  

200



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

16 

Action Area 3 
Strengthen community cohesion to build the resilience of 
local communities 
Communities are connected, engaged and empowered to manage their own recovery and 
ready to respond to shocks and emergencies. 

 

What we are doing to support recovery 

3.1 Provide grants that facilitate 
community engagement in 
City owned spaces and public 
places 

 The City is providing rent relief for childcare centre 
providers until 31 March 2021 for an approximate 
value of: 
  Fin YTD Since Commencement 
 $731,758          $1,058,758 

3.2 Provide residents with links to 
support services and practical 
assistance 

 Provided information and referral pathways to 
residents in a range of formats online and in print 
with links to relevant health, safety and support 
contacts. 

 Continued the community hotline which received 46 
calls for requests to information or support. 

 Continued the welfare check-in service for 
vulnerable groups with 557 check-in calls made. 

 Completed the distribution of 26,500 city purchased 
reusable facemasks to vulnerable communities 
including: social housing residents, rough sleepers, 
boarding house residents, food distribution charity 
partners and young people engaged in City 
summer programs. 

 Coordinated the donation of 10,000 facemasks to 
charity partners through Viral Kindness. 

3.3 Support the provision of health 
and safety information to 
residential strata owners 

 The City continues to leverage the significant 
government, community and strata networks 
developed through the Smart Green Apartments 
program and the Residential Strata Sustainability 
group to provide resources and support focused on 
pandemic management for high density strata 
communities via 8 e-newsletter publications to a 
database of 3,016 people.  

 The City participates in a working group convened 
by NSW Government to discuss ongoing issues for 
strata and community schemes in the context of 
Covid-19. The group creates tailored pandemic 
management collateral for start communities 
through the Fair Trading website. 

 

201



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

17 

What we are doing to support recovery 

3.4 Advocate to ensure 
environmental sustainability is 
of high importance in fast-
tracked urban renewal 
programs 

 Advocacy has continued to NSW Government for  
environmental outcomes aligned to City targets in 
the following renewal projects: 

• Pyrmont Place Strategy 
• Circular Quay Renewal 
• Waterloo Estate 
• Waterloo Metro Quarter 

3.5 Coordinate local emergency 
response through Local 
Emergency Management 
Committee 

 The City continues to facilitate monthly meetings of 
the City of Sydney Local Emergency Management 
Committee to coordinate response and recovery 
activities. 

 The City waived parking fees for essential workers 
and converted on-street parking for pop-up 
cycleways and workzones, foregoing revenue 
totalling $515,181 in quarter 2 20/21 and $1,508,228 
since commencement, as follows: 

• Free on-street parking 
 Q2 20/21 Since Commencement 
Hospitals: $184,277 $471,978 
Cycleways: $  50,558 $102,737 
Workzones: $  14,948 $  47,650 

• Free Goulburn St car park parking 
 Q2 20/21 Since Commencement 
Police: $187,290 $646,035 
Health: $    5,372 $  11,356 
Charity: $       238 $       374 

• Free Kings Cross car park parking 
 Q2 20/21 Since Commencement 

Police: $  26,700 $  90,330 
Health: $  24,718 $  76,449 
Charity: $  21,080 $  61,319 

3.6 Work with the Resilient Sydney 
network to share best practice 
and establish cross boundary 
recovery initiatives 

 Resilient Sydney Ambassadors Network: 

• During the Covid-19 disruption, the Resilient 
Sydney office has hosted regular Resilience 
Ambassadors meetings to connect and equip all 
councils of Sydney to respond and recover.  
• Meetings in October and December were 
attended by >75% of Sydney councils and 
focussed on local activation investments for a 
resilient recovery, social cohesion to combat 
increasing racism in Sydney and protocols for 
managing summer emergencies during the 
pandemic.  

 Resilient Sydney liaised with Resilience NSW in 
December 2020 to promote the Get Ready Business 
campaigns to businesses through councils in the 
lead up to the summer emergency season. 

202



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

18 

What we are doing to support recovery 

Councils have shared good practice emergency 
management and business continuity response 
planning when they needed it most. 

 Resilient Sydney Platform: 

• The Resilient Sydney Platform Phase 2 was 
launched in December 2020 with new standardised 
datasets providing metropolitan wide environmental 
footprints to assist councils in community recovery 
planning and risk management. The Platform has 
over 200 users from councils across Sydney. 
(Action 13 of Resilient Sydney Strategy) 
• Resilient Sydney is collaborating with four NSW 
Government agencies to source 
standardised  social cohesion and wellbeing data to 
monitor social resilience for every LGA in Sydney 
(Action 16 Resilient Sydney Strategy), which will 
support councils’ recovery reporting. 

 

Other actions we will take  

3.7 Empower communities to 
manage their own recovery 
by strengthening local 
connections through 
networks, events and 
forums, for example 
supporting community 
celebrations at the end of 
the pandemic 

 The City’s new rounds of Covid-19 recovery grants 
programs were designed to deliver resilience 
outcomes for communities, with a focus on recovery 
rather than emergency relief. 

 The City hosted a free online talk with Jess Hill, award-
winning author of See What You Made Me Do: Power, 
Control and Domestic Abuse, to discuss the signs and 
impacts of domestic violence. The talk was scheduled 
on 2 December to coincide with the UN’s 2020 16 Days 
of Activism against Gender-based Violence to address 
the growing number of cases of violence against 
women during the global pandemic. 

 To acknowledge the importance of continuing annual 
community rituals and celebrations, the City provided 
information and advice on how to celebrate safely at 
Halloween, Christmas and New Year’s Eve. 

3.8 Facilitate capacity building 
workshops with the 
community sector and 
community led 
organisations to support 
their planning for the 
reopening of their services 

 The City continued to host workshops with 60 agencies 
involved in food relief to discuss learnings, gaps and 
future collective impact to support food relief. The 
intention is to develop a collective operational plan to 
continue to provide food relief for the most vulnerable 
in Sydney. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

203



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

19 

Other actions we will take  

3.9 Explore with the local 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander community the idea 
to facilitate a culturally 
sensitive commemorative 
event due to the impacts on 
participating in Sorry 
Business during the 
pandemic, and to provide an 
opportunity for support, 
collective reflection and 
acknowledgement for 
community members who 
have passed away. 

 The City supported the local Aboriginal community to 
host two community wakes in Redfern Community 
Centre. City staff assisted families in developing the 
required Covid-safe plans according the current health 
orders and were present on the day to assist with 
monitoring safety requirements and support 
community members. 

3.10 Celebrate the work of the 
community groups and 
volunteers including at the 
annual Lord Mayor 
volunteer thank you event 

 The City’s Meals on Wheels volunteers were provided 
with a token of appreciation for their contribution to the 
community, including through the pandemic. 

 

  

204



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

20 

Action Area 4 
Protect and empower the cultural sector by prioritising the 
role of local creativity, cultural spaces, talent and 
knowledge 
The resilience of our cultural sector is strengthened through involvement in recovery efforts, 
sustaining diverse cultural practice, protecting creative spaces and thriving community 
participation. 

 

What we are doing to support recovery 

4.1 Direct existing grant support 
to sustain cultural 
organisations and stimulate 
development opportunities 
for local creatives 

 The City has provided Destination NSW with 123 
banner locations in highly visible areas to promote the 
musical Frozen at the reduced government rate. 

 The City opened a new cultural sector innovation grant 
to support small to medium cultural and creative 
organisations to pilot new operational models, 
transform program or project delivery, collaborate and 
initiate innovative projects. Recommendations for these 
grants will be considered by Council in early 2021. 

4.2 Advocate to federal and 
state governments for 
targeted support for culture 
and no net loss of cultural 
space  

 In October the City raised the need for more targeted 
support for culture and no net loss of cultural space in a 
submission to The House of Representatives Standing 
Committee on Communications and the Arts inquiry 
into Australia’s creative and cultural industries and 
institutions. 

4.3 Support Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultural 
practices and knowledge 
sharing 

 The City’s annual NAIDOC in the city event was 
presented online on 14 November under the theme 
“Always Was, Always Will Be” to recognise First 
Nationals people have occupied and cared for this 
continent for over 65,000 years. The event supports the 
City’s commitment to reconciliation and shares the 
stories of the world’s longest living culture. 

 As busking started to return to the city streets in line 
with public health orders, the City can reboot support of 
cultural practice in the public domain by Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander performers. 

 The City is working to better support Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander grant applications by focussing on 
4 key areas: 

• Promotion 
• Training 
• Application 
• Assessment 

 

 

205



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

21 

What we are doing to support recovery 

 During Q2, the City provided the following support 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander grant applications: 

• 22 City staff who assess grant applications, including 
12 who assessed the current round of Covid-19 
recovery grants attended Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Cultural Respect training. 
• The City’s grants team provided a concierge to First 
Nations applicants to provide proactive support and 
follow-up. 
• A dedicated Covid-19 recovery grant information 
webinar was held for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in addition to the public webinar 
in November. 
• A public grant information drop-in service for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities was 
offered at Redfern Town Hall. 
• First Nations staff assessed all applications from 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander applicants.  
• 2 verbal community services grant applications were 
received from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
applicants which is the first time the City has offered this 
accessible applications option. Both were approved to 
receive grants. 
• 11 community services cash grants that support 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities were 
approved at a value of $262,916. 
• 6 CBD activation cash grants to Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander-led organisations were approved at a 
value of $205,000. 

4.4 Continue work to maximise 
opportunities for cultural 
sector in City owned spaces 
and community venues 

 The City is providing rent relief for creative spaces, 
short-term empty property, creative accommodation 
grant and live/work Waterloo and William St tenants 
until 31 March 2021 for an approximate value of: 

   Fin YTD Since Commencement 
• Creative spaces: $  87,186         $130,779 
• Other cultural: $145,436         $218,154 
• Other social: $  68,390         $102,585 

 All tenants are being provided proactive contract 
management support through a challenging period for 
the creative industries. 

4.5 Enable diverse local cultural 
infrastructure and activation 
through the City’s Open and 
Creative planning reforms 

 The Open and Creative planning reforms, a set of 
measures to make it easier for small businesses to 
trade later, or host performances and shows were 
exhibited for community feedback from 19 October – 18 
November 2020. Submissions are being reviewed and 
will be reported to Council in 2021. The reforms are also 
being reviewed against similar NSW Government 
reforms introduced in the Liquor Act Amendment in 
November. 

 

206



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

22 

 

Other actions we will take  

4.6 Facilitate opportunities for 
collaboration and capacity 
building to ensure cultural 
sector resilience and 
sustainability 

 The Covid-19 cultural sector innovation grant 
guidelines included funding priorities for applications 
that: 

• Demonstrate effective strategies to transform 
operations and services during and beyond the current 
restricted trading environment. 
• Strengthen and sustain venues or workspace for the 
production or presentation of cultural products. 
•  Assist with generating income despite ongoing 
restrictions on public events and programs. 
•  Deliver programs or services that encourage active 
participation in cultural activity (such as workshops, 
classes, creative developments and residencies) and 
service diverse creative communities. 
• Build the capacity of the cultural sector by sharing 
skills, research and resources. 
• Work with diverse communities, including Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples, people with 
Culturally Linguistically and Diverse (CALD) 
backgrounds and LGBTIQ+ communities. 

4.7 Continue to explore 
opportunities for making 
space for culture in 
partnership with public and 
private sectors 

 The Council of Capital Cities Lord Mayors have 
prioritised Making Space for Culture in their 2021 - 
2024 strategic plan. 

 The City has an ongoing dialogue with Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences regarding the potential 
future use of the Harwood Building for creative 
industries as part of the Camperdown Ultimo 
innovation precinct. 

 The Bathurst Street Creative Hub is due to handed 
over to the City in late February 2021 for completion of 
the fitout and supply of the equipment. The City is 
currently completing the final stages of a procurement 
process to appoint an operator for the facility which is 
expected to open in late 2021. 

 The City contributed $40,000 as a Knowledge 
Exchange grants to: 

• Left Bank for the Making Space for Culture 
Incubation program to connect the cultural and 
property sectors 
• Music NSW for a Live Music Venue Accessibility Pilot 
to support music venues through the process of 
improving accessibility and inclusion for audience 
members, participants and artists. 

 The City provided input to masterplanning for Waterloo 
and Pyrmont that includes making space for cultural 
infrastructure. 

207



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

23 

Other actions we will take  

4.8 Set up a working group 
comprising representatives of 
the cultural sector to agree 
sites for pop-up or future 
cultural activity and prepare a 
report to Council to approve 
these sites as Covid-19 
recovery activity sites 

 Working group comprising representatives from 
Sydney Festival, Belvoir Theatre, Sydney Opera 
House, Bangarra Dance Theatre, Anzarts Institute, 
supported by City staff established Cathedral Square 
as the most appropriate for an outdoor performance 
stage – the Sunset Piazza. 

 The City has partnered with the NSW government to 
develop a $20M CBD reactivation program. This 
program is funding the Sunset Piazza program, curated 
by Sydney Festival. It will comprise 32 nights of live 
performances from local Sydney artists for 395 
audience members per night (according to current 
public health orders) from late January – March 2021. 

 An EOI for community groups to perform on the Sunset 
Piazza stage opened in December and 34 submissions 
were received for a wide range of performing artforms 
including music, dance, poetry and singing. 

 In addition, roving performers activated the city centre 
around the chairs-in-squares sites to bring vibrancy to 
the city streets. 

  

208



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

24 

Action Area 5 
Rebuild the visitor economy through promotion of our 
vibrant and safe city with activated main streets and 
nightlife 
People in the city are supported to safely return to a 24-hour Sydney through a phased and 
integrated approach, with government and industry working together. 

 

What we are doing to support recovery 

5.1 Use our communications 
channels to promote shop 
local and visit local to 
residents, workers and 
visitors 

 Continued option for online events to be promoted on 
What’s On(line). 

 Leveraged What’s On as primary event platform: 

• Events submitted:     1,401 
• Page views per month: 142,915 
• Sessions per month: 106,571 
• Email subscribers:   30,174 

 The 365 days of local economies partnerships with 
local publications have continued throughout the 
pandemic to support local businesses. 

 Shop local campaign focused on supporting local 
retailers for Christmas shopping. The City’s marketing 
campaign featured a bike-riding Santa touring local 
businesses who received Covid-19 relief grants to 
show off the vibrancy of the local retail offering. The 
video alone reached 564,447 people and had 2,521 
engagements with our post on facebook. 

5.2 Continue to invest in local 
festivals and major events 
that demonstrate Sydney’s 
vibrancy and encourage local 
Sydneysiders and others 
from around the state and 
country to visit 

 The City’s CBD 94 activation grants will fund a wide 
range of festivals, small events and programs that 
contribute to this action. Refer to action 5.7 for full 
details. Examples include: 

• The Aboriginal Legal Services 50th year anniversary 
• Alliance Française de Sydney X The Argyle Bastille 
Day celebrations 
• The National Maritime Museum’s Ocean Spirit 
Rising program 
• Biennale of Sydney Waterhouse Community Space 
program 
• The Bulgarian Cultural Social & Patriotic 
Association Rodina Martenitsa Festival 
• Good Food Month, Sydney 
• Erth’s Art Bomb in Alberta Street Laneways – an 
interactive family festival 
• Brickfields Live Music Precinct 
• The World Square Live Music Series 

 

209

https://news.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/videos/santas-sydney-shopping-spree
https://news.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/videos/santas-sydney-shopping-spree


Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

25 

What we are doing to support recovery 

5.3 Continue to partner with 
Business Events Sydney to 
build the pipeline of business 
meetings for Sydney 

 Business Events Sydney briefed City staff on their 
new domestic events strategy and marketing 
campaign to bridge the gap while international 
borders remain closed to business events. The 
campaign launched on 24 October with phase 1 
running to the end of 2020. The campaign is 
designed to: 

• Profile Sydney to the domestic market through a 
three-phase marketing campaign. 
• Connect domestic planners and suppliers via a 
dedicated microsite which includes a supplier search 
platform. 
• Provide planners with a central authoritative 
resource library. 
• Attract events through a competitive bid process. 

 Business Events Sydney continues to build the 
pipeline of international events. 70% of meetings 
originally scheduled in 2020 have been rescheduled 
into future years. 85 meetings and incentives are 
confirmed from 2021-2026. 

5.4 Continue to engage with the 
accommodation and 
entertainment sector to 
ensure sustainability is 
promoted and prioritised 

 The City continues to focus on 3 primary goals: 

• Activate Upgrades: 
The City has continued to promote and offer 
subsidised building ratings to the sector through the 
provision of grants. 
• Build Capacity and Foster Leadership: 
The Sustainable Destination Partnership is the key 
platform through which the city builds the sector 
capacity and demonstrates leadership. The City 
conducted a workshop with the sector on renewable 
power purchase agreements. 
• Promote and Recognise: 
Ongoing promotion of Sydney as a safe and 
sustainable destination. 

5.5 In line with health advice, 
welcome people back to 
Sydney through roaming 
ambassadors, maps and 
digital services  

 The City is working with the NSW Government as part 
of an advisory committee for the development of a 
new Dine & Discover digital voucher scheme. 

Every NSW resident over 18 will be eligible for four 
$25 vouchers to use at Covid-safe registered 
businesses. Two vouchers can be used for dining at 
restaurants, cafes, bars, pubs and clubs and two for 
entertainment and recreation including cultural 
institutions, live music and arts venues. 

To redeem, visitors scan their digital vouchers directly 
into an app at registered businesses. 

Pilots will be run in The Rocks and CBD during 
February. Statewide rollout will commence in March.  

210



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

26 

What we are doing to support recovery 

5.6 Advocate to state and federal 
governments for ongoing 
support for international 
students while they continue 
to be impacted by the 
pandemic 

 In November a request was made to the State 
Emergency Operations Centre (SEOC) to support 
international students and other temporary visa 
holders, who are sleeping rough or at risk of sleeping 
rough. 

 

Other actions we will take  

5.7 Engage local creatives in the 
City’s programs and work 
with others to do the same to 
activate precincts to support 
local businesses, sustain 
local culture and drive footfall 
on main streets 

 In November the City signed a $20m CBD 
revitalisation program in partnership with NSW 
government which includes: 

• 32 nights of outdoor live performance at the Sunset 
Piazza in Cathedral Square. 
• An expanded rollout of the popular “chairs in 
squares” activation in Martin Place, Regimental 
Square and Pitt St with more locations to come. 
• Roving musicians throughout the CBD. 
• New outdoor dining on reclaimed streets and 
footways, facilitated by streamlined application 
processes and fast-tracked approvals. 
• The City has also commissioned 4 new temporary 
public artworks in laneways. 
• A major marketing #rediscoversydney marketing 
campaign to complement Destination NSW’s Love 
Sydney campaign. 

 The City has advocated for cultural institutions to 
operate extended hours during summer through the 
Culture up Late program. The Powerhouse, MCA, 
Australian Museum, Museum of Sydney, Justice & 
Police Museum, Hyde Park Barracks and the State 
Library of NSW are all offering evening programs. 

 A new round of Covid-19 recovery grants specifically 
to support the reactivation of the CBD opened for 
application on 29 October and closed 7 December. 

The grant is designed to support creative activations 
within shops, retail centres, and venues as well as on 
footpaths and public space near businesses. There 
are opportunities for CBD-based activations by 
businesses in events, arts and culture, entertainment, 
tourism and accommodation, retail and hospitality 
sectors. Activations may include pop-up events, 
installations, exhibitions, DJs, live music 
performance, fashion shows, design talks, artistic 
performances and roving entertainment. 

Applicants were able to apply for up to $50,000 in 
support with sole traders limited to $10,000. 

 

211



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

27 

Other actions we will take  

In total for this program: 

• Grant applications received:     171 
• Grant applications supported:         94 
• Value of support requested: $6,065,240 
• Value of support invested: $3,000,000 

 The Covid-19 CBD activation grant guidelines 
included funding priorities for applications: 

• From live music and cultural organisations, creative 
companies and cultural operators including sole 
traders. 
• From applicants that have not already received 
funding from the City this year or can demonstrate 
financial hardship due to Covid-19. 
• From Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
applicants or partners. 
• That provide evidence of financial benefit for artists 
as part of their proposal. 
• That provide opportunities for live music and 
performance. 

5.8 Partner with Destination NSW 
to develop a local and 
domestic visitor marketing 
campaign for Sydney, with 
focus on the cultural offering 
over the 2020–2021 summer 

 “Love Sydney like you mean it” campaign launched 
by Destination NSW to promote Sydneysiders and 
intrastate visitors. 

 The City is developing a major “rediscover Sydney” 
campaign as part of the CBD activation partnership 
with NSW Government. This campaign is being 
developed in consultation with Destination NSW to 
ensure an integrated approach. It will be launched in 
January 2021. 

5.9 Encourage and facilitate the 
return of international 
students back to Sydney in 
partnership with education 
sector 

 At the International Education Association of Australia 
(IEAA) Research Summit in November, the City 
presented 'Beyond Campus Life' as part of a panel 
discussion on support for international students 
during the pandemic and moving forward. 160 
people registered for the virtual event. 

 In December the City was invited to be part of the 
NSW Vice Chancellors Committee (NSWVCC) 
Student Wellbeing Working Group, which is working 
on pilot plans to safely return international students to 
campuses in NSW when it is possible to do so. 

 

  

212



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

28 

Action Area 6 
Support businesses and organisations to innovate and 
adapt, so that industries can evolve and grow 
Connecting people to new ways of thinking and working, harnessing their creative capacity 
to solve problems, pivot and transform through skills development, new models and 
partnerships so more businesses can share in the benefits. 

 

What we are doing to support recovery 

6.1 Facilitate dialogue with 
heavily impacted sectors to 
support their recovery 

 Regular and ongoing engagement with stakeholders 
from all impacted sectors to ensure City staff remain 
informed and involved in supporting recovery. 

6.2 Direct existing grant support 
for organisations, businesses 
and industry, including those 
dominated by women, to 
assist them to innovate, 
adapt and grow 

 The City’s new cultural sector innovation grant is 
designed to support small to medium cultural and 
creative organisations to pilot new operational 
models, transform program or project delivery, 
collaboration and initiate innovative projects. Funding 
is prioritised to applications that demonstrate 
effective strategies to transform operations and 
services during and beyond the current restricted 
trading environment. 

Recommendations for these grants will be 
considered by Council in early 2021. 

6.3 Continue to support 
collaboration across the 
innovation precincts within 
the Camperdown Ultimo 
collaboration area 

 The City’s CEO chairs monthly meetings of the 
Camperdown-Ultimo Collaboration Area Alliance 
which represents all major partners in the precinct 
and represents the City on the Tech Central industry 
advisory group. 

 City staff from the economic strategy team are 
contributing to the development of an economic 
strategy for Tech Central within the collaboration 
area. 

 The Alliance is considering the opportunity for the 
collaboration area as a centre for excellence for 
medtech and pharma. This strategy will build on the 
significant assets and expertise in the precinct, while 
addressing biotech infrastructure gaps including wet 
labs where Sydney lags Brisbane and Melbourne.  

6.4 Implement the Central 
Sydney planning strategy to 
support a pipeline of 
development and investment 
certainty 

 Central Sydney planning strategy and planning 
proposal were approved by Council and the Central 
Sydney planning committee in December 2020. The 
planning proposal will be forwarded to the NSW 
Government for drafting and finalisation of the 
planning controls and contributions plan. 

 

213



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

29 

What we are doing to support recovery 

6.5 Continue to use City 
procurement to support local 
businesses and a shift to a 
circular economy 

 The City has finalised the returnable schedules of 
procurement documentation for governance, 
environmental outcomes, First Nations suppliers, 
corporate social responsibility and local buy. 

 Procurement conducted a webinar with the 
Association of Proposal Management Professionals 
to improve and assist local suppliers bidding for 
Council tenders. 

 The City of Sydney local suppliers database has been 
further refined. 

 The procurement team is developing a reporting 
mechanism to track local buy by post codes and 
divisions. 

6.6 Continue to support 
communities and businesses 
to accelerate their uptake of 
renewable energy to 
stimulate the green economy 

 There is 14.4 MW of rooftop solar installed in the City, 
including 270kW installed by the Power2U 
community program and 652kW though the Smart 
Green Apartments program. We continue to support 
the provision of solar feasibility reports, case studies 
and to promote offsite renewables through our sector 
programs. 

 The City produced online articles on GreenPower 
which received 9,652 views.  

 The City is accelerating access to renewables 
through innovation grants. For example, the Ultimo 
community is using a grant to develop a roadmap to 
100% renewables and a Sydney-based clean tech 
company is developing a world-first energy software 
solution which is being trialled by 20 households to 
enable the purchase of renewable energy directly 
from the solar/wind farm. 

6.7 Continue to assist 
businesses and apartment 
buildings owners’ 
corporations to implement 
retrofits for increased 
efficiency 

 In 2020, 32 ratings grants were awarded to owners’ 
corporations and 89 apartment buildings now have a 
NABERS rating. 

 The City delivered an energy efficiency webinar to 45 
residential building managers, and jointly with the 
Owners Corporation Network, delivered a webinar to 
128 attendees on electric vehicle charging in 
apartment buildings to 128 attendees. 

 The City continued to educate and inspire 
residents  and managers to  take action through a 
range of other measures including the 2020 Strata 
Community Australia Gala Awards, that the City 
sponsors; a four-day online summit for apartment 
owners hosted by Your Strata Property; and a new 
grant that the City awarded to Strata Answers that will 
increase the provision of trusted information to 
residents on the fundamentals of strata living.  

214



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

30 

What we are doing to support recovery 

 Support for businesses is primarily delivered through 
activity of the Better Buildings Partnership and 
CitySwitch Green Office programs which included: 

• Report from CitySwitch on office energy at the 
Energy Efficiency Council annual conference. 
• Delivery of a tool from CitySwitch for better tracking 
of occupancy numbers and energy performance of 
commercial tenancies in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
• Presentation by the Better Buildings Partnership of 
a safety study on the installation of batteries at the 
World Energy Forum. 

6.8 Prioritise investment in City 
projects that provide 
significant local green 
economy benefits 

 City projects in the LGA were fast-tracked including 
LED lighting and water management piping and 
metering. 

 

Other actions we will take  

6.9 Produce skills development 
programs to enhance 
innovation, collaboration, 
digitisation and e-commerce 

 In October, the City launched a new skills program 
“Reboot Series” delivered as a series of online 
webinars. The program has been developed in direct 
response to feedback received from businesses 
through a business needs survey conducted in June. 

Key industry experts featured in the seminars 
included: Andre Eikmeier (co-founder Vinomofo) and 
Chris Wirashina (co-founder pedestrian.TV) who 
provided training in strategy, operations, finance and 
growth, digital marketing, e-commerce, customer 
relations, innovation and resilience.  

The first 6 webinars were held from 12 October to 16 
November 2020, attracting over 2,800 registrations 
with a total of 1,173 attendees (55% business owners 
and entrepreneurs, 29% professionals). The majority 
came from the retail and hospitality, tech startups, 
arts and culture and professional services sectors, 
which were most affected by the pandemic. 

85% of responses to a post-event survey reported 
they gained new knowledge and skills, 88% stated 
the knowledge gained will help grow their businesses 
and more than 90% stated they would recommend 
the series to a friend or colleague. 

All Reboot webinar videos are available to view 
online. The Reboot weekly series will continue in 
February 2021 for another 12 webinars. 

 

215



Community Recovery Plan – Quarterly Report #2 
 

31 

Other actions we will take  

6.10 Advocate to federal and state 
governments to invest in 
green economy as major 
generator of jobs 

 The City made a submission to the Australian 
Government Technology Investment Roadmap 
discussion paper to identify priority low emissions 
technologies for commercialisation. Key points: 
• Energy efficiency, demand management, 
renewable electricity integration, regenerative 
agriculture, green manufacturing, circular economy 
and low emissions transport should be prioritised. 
• Taxpayer subsidising of fossil fuel industries should 
be avoided - alternative approaches should 
encourage these industries to reduce emissions. 
• The roadmap should address technologies which 
are already cost-effective yet not widely deployed 
due to non-financial barriers as well as technologies 
that require commercialisation. 
• Technologies and industries with higher 
employment multipliers should be prioritised to 
ensure jobs are created as a result of the investment. 
• Technologies should be assessed by their ability to 
improve community resilience to shocks and stresses 
• The Australian Government needs to ensure a just 
transition and support for communities that are 
impacted by technology changes. 

 
 

 

216



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 Investments Held as at 31 December 2020 

File No: X020701 

This report provides details of the City’s investment portfolio and performance to 31 
December 2020. 

The City’s total Investment and Cash position was $638.5M at 31 December 2020, with 
investments earning interest of $0.4M for the month. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has created significant uncertainty in financial markets. One of the 
measures the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) has used to respond to the crisis is to reduce 
the official cash rate downward. It was reduced first on 3 March 2020 to 0.50 per cent and 
again on 20 March 2020, when it was further reduced to 0.25 per cent. On 2 November 
2020, the RBA announced a further drop in the official cash rate to 0.10 per cent. In addition, 
the RBA launched its Term Funding Facility. This facility, now in the order of $200 billion, 
has reduced the funding costs of Authorised Deposit-Taking Institutions (ADIs). The market 
has responded by reducing the rates on offer and the resultant lower investment yields 
continue to have a sustained adverse impact on the City's portfolio return. 

The City's cash inflows have also been negatively impacted as the economic consequences 
of the pandemic affect major revenue streams, including parking services, commercial 
property income and the timely payment of rates and annual charges. A greater focus on 
maintaining adequate liquidity with shorter investment maturities, and increasingly limited 
opportunities to invest funds at adequate rates of return will continue to affect the City's 
interest revenue. 

The majority of the City’s cash and investments portfolio is held as internally restricted 
($278.5M) or externally restricted ($115.5M) cash reserves, to satisfy the City’s legislative 
responsibilities and to set aside specific funds for Council’s funding commitments to the 
major initiatives within the Sustainable Sydney 2030 Community Strategic Plan. 

Key commitments within the City’s Long Term Financial Plan include public domain works in 
the CBD, infrastructure and community facilities in the Green Square urban renewal area 
and open space acquisitions. The balance of investment funds represents working capital 
and funding required for the City’s operating and capital expenditure commitments, including 
the Covid-19 relief grants program.  

The City achieved an annualised monthly return of 0.75 per cent for December, above the 
30 Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) of 0.02 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index (published 
by Bloomberg) of 0.00 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.47 per cent (BBR + 0.45 
per cent) as endorsed in October 2020 as part of the Investment Strategy.  

  

1

Item 3.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

The City’s annual rolling return of 0.87 per cent also continues to exceed the 12 month 
average 30 Day Bank Bill Rate of 0.24 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index of 0.37 
per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.69 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as endorsed 
in the Investment Strategy in October 2020.  

This quarterly report includes graphs demonstrating that the City's liquidity profile continues 
to satisfy the requirements of the Policy, and charts that identify the distribution of the City's 
portfolio across credit ratings, investment product types and financial institutions. Separate 
charts depicting the City’s cumulative portfolio returns over and above both the 90 day 
Bloomberg AusBond and 30 day Bank Bill Rate benchmarks have also been included to 
provide further insight into the City’s total investment portfolio performance. 

The structure of the City's investment portfolio continues to reflect the conservative approach 
outlined in the Investment Policy and Strategy, which remains appropriate for the current 
global and domestic economic conditions. The Policy and Strategy also maintain the City’s 
commitment to sustainable investments where returns and risks are equivalent, under the 
environmentally and socially responsible investment criteria.  

Recommendation 

It is resolved that the Investment Report as at 31 December 2020 be received and noted. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Register of Investments and Cash as at 31 December 2020 

Attachment B. Investment Performance as at 31 December 2020 

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Background 

1. In accordance with the principles of financial management, cash that is surplus to the 
City's immediate requirements is invested within acceptable risk parameters to 
optimise interest income while ensuring the security of these funds. 

2. Surplus cash is only invested in authorised investments that comply with governing 
legislation and the City's Investment Policy and Strategy. 

3. The benchmark performance goal of the City's Investment Policy and Strategy is to 
surpass the 30 Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) by 45 basis points while performance also 
continues to be measured against the Bloomberg AusBond Bank Bill Index. 

4. The City's total Investment and Cash position as at 31 December 2020 is $638.5M, an 
increase of approximately $27M from the $611.8M reported as at 30 November 2020, 
reflecting operating income and proceeds from property divestment, offset by capital 
works expenditure, property acquisition and other operational payments. A schedule 
detailing all of the City's investments as at the end of December is provided at 
Attachment A. 

5. A substantial portion of the City’s cash and investments portfolio is held as internally 
restricted ($278.5M) or externally restricted ($115.5M) cash reserves, to satisfy the 
City’s legislative responsibilities and to set aside specific funds for Council’s funding 
commitments to the major initiatives within the Sustainable Sydney 2030 Community 
Strategic Plan. 

6. Key commitments within the City's Long Term Financial Plan include public domain 
works in the CBD, infrastructure and community facilities in the Green Square urban 
renewal area and the acquisition of open space. The balance of investment funds 
represents working capital and funding required for the City's operating and other 
capital expenditure commitments. 

7. The City achieved an annualised monthly return of 0.75 per cent for December, above 
the 30 Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) of 0.02 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index 
(published by Bloomberg) of 0.00 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.47 per 
cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as endorsed in October 2020 as part of the Investment 
Strategy. 

8. The City’s annual rolling return of 0.87 per cent also continues to exceed the 12 month 
average 30 Day Bank Bill Rate of 0.24 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index of 
0.37 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.69 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as 
endorsed in the Investment Strategy in October 2020.  

9. In response to the global Covid-19 pandemic, the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) 
adjusted the official cash rate on 3 March 2020, and again on 20 March 2020 to 0.25 
per cent. On 2 November 2020, the RBA announced a further drop in the official cash 
rate to 0.10 per cent. In addition, the RBA launched its Term Funding Facility. This 
facility, now in the order of $200 billion, has reduced the funding costs of Authorised 
Deposit-Taking Institutions (ADIs), in turn helping to reduce the interest rates for 
borrowers. The market is responding by reducing the rates on offer, and the resultant 
lower investment yields continue to have a sustained adverse impact on the City's 
portfolio return. The low interest rates are anticipated to continue for the foreseeable 
future given the current challenging economic conditions. 

  

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

10. The City's cash inflows, whilst reasonably resilient and showing signs of recovery, 
have been negatively impacted for a prolonged period, as the economic consequences 
of the pandemic continue to affect major revenue streams, including parking services, 
commercial property income and timely payment of rates and annual charges. A 
greater focus on maintaining adequate liquidity with shorter investment maturities, and 
increasingly limited opportunities to invest funds at adequate rates of return will also 
continue to affect the City's interest revenue. 

11. This quarterly report includes graphs within Attachment B which demonstrate that the 
City's liquidity profile continues to satisfy the requirements of the Policy, and charts 
that identify the distribution of the City's portfolio across credit ratings, investment 
product types and financial institutions. Separate charts depicting the City’s cumulative 
portfolio returns over and above both the 90 day Bloomberg AusBond and 30 day 
Bank Bill Rate benchmarks have also been included to provide further insight into the 
City’s total investment portfolio performance. 

12. The structure of the City's investment portfolio continues to reflect the conservative 
approach outlined in the Investment Policy and Strategy, which remains appropriate 
for the current global and domestic economic conditions. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

13. The City's investments accord with all legislative and policy requirements, as detailed 
below, and continue to achieve returns above minimum benchmark rates. 

Financial Implication 

14. The City’s investments earned interest of $0.4M for the month of December 2020 
against budgeted earnings of $0.5M. While the 2020/21 interest revenue budget 
anticipated a lower interest rate environment over the financial year, the extent of rate 
reductions and the impact of the RBA Term Funding Facility on investment returns has 
exceeded predictions. Diminished investment returns were partly offset by a higher 
than forecast cash balance for the month. For the same month in 2019, the City 
earned interest of $1.1M on a slightly higher cash balance. 

Economic 

15. The extent of the local and global economic impact resulting from Covid-19 has 
created significant uncertainty in financial markets. Many Governments and central 
banks, including the Australian Government and the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA), 
are implementing large scale responses to the economic crisis, including coordinated 
stimulus measures involving significant increases in government spending and 
borrowing combined with large scale buying of bonds by central banks. 

16. The RBA reduced the official cash rate downward twice in March. It was reduced first 
on 3 March 2020, to 0.50 per cent, and again on 20 March 2020, when it was further 
reduced to 0.25 per cent. As noted above, the RBA has further dropped the cash rate 
to 0.10 per cent, as of 2 November 2020. 

17. The RBA has continued to indicate that the 0.10 per cent official cash rate is unlikely to 
be lifted until it is confident the economy has recovered sufficiently to lift annual 
inflation inside its target 2 per cent to 3 per cent range.   

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

18. Historically, returns on cash (i.e. “at call” accounts) and short term investments have 
been quite strong. However, with the low official cash rate, market variability in monthly 
returns may mean the short to medium term investment returns could be flat or 
potentially slightly negative. The capacity for City staff to invest in a manner that meets 
liquidity requirements whilst achieving the “enhanced” benchmark returns (as detailed 
in the Investment Policy) is increasingly limited. However, the best available returns 
are still actively sought when surplus funds are invested. 

19. On occasion, financial institutions will not offer term deposit rates as their own liquidity 
requirements are already satisfied. Since the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, this 
has occurred with increased frequency, further limiting the available range of 
institutions able to offer adequate returns at an acceptable credit risk under the City's 
Investment Policy. 

Relevant Legislation 

20. Council is authorised to invest its surplus cash under Section 625 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 

21. The Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 (Clause 212) requires the City to 
provide a written monthly report of all monies invested, under Section 625 of the Act. 

22. The Investment Policy and Strategy was last revised in October 2020, maintaining 
Council's commitment to give preference to sustainable investments where returns and 
risks are equivalent to other investments. The revision also maintained the broadened 
definition of environmentally harmful activities to include specific reference to coal, gas 
and oil. 

23. The City's investments accord with the Minister's Investment Order, the Office of Local 
Government's Investment Policy Guidelines, and the City's own Investment Policy and 
Strategy as adopted by Council on 28 October 2020. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

24. A monthly investment report must be submitted for Council's information and review 
within the following month. 

  

5



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Public Consultation 

25. Consultation is regularly undertaken with a number of financial institutions and 
investment advisers to consider options and ensure the City continues to maximise its 
investment return within appropriate risk parameters. 

26. City staff meet regularly with representatives of each of the ‘Big 4’ banks and NSW 
TCorp. At these meetings City staff actively advocate for Socially Responsible 
Investment (SRI) opportunities. 

27. The banks acknowledge the appetite in the market for these products and they 
continue to investigate the development of suitable products, however it has been 
challenging to match the level of funds to available Socially Responsible Investment 
opportunities that meet the credit risk and maturity profile requirements of the City.  

28. As noted in previous Investment Reports, Westpac were able to bring a Green 
Tailored Deposit product to market, which delivers a comparable return while 
achieving the City's preferred outcomes. Since November 2018, the City has invested 
$90M in fourteen tranches with this Green Tailored deposit.  

29. In January 2020, the City invested $5M in a Floating Rate Note (FRN) / Sustainability 
Bond issued by Bank Australia, based on an investment framework that meets the 
main guidelines for issuance of Green, Social and Sustainability Bonds in the global 
capital markets. This Socially Responsible investment opportunity met both the credit 
risk and maturity profile requirement of the City. 

30. Since March 2020, the City has invested in fourteen tranches, totalling $80M, in 
Climate Bond-certified Green Term Deposits with the Commonwealth Bank of 
Australia (CBA), whilst also meeting the City's risk / return profile.  

31. It is evident from these opportunities that the market is endeavouring to respond to 
demand and meet investors need to satisfy their financial risk / return requirements, 
while at the same time promoting their preferred investment profile outcomes. 

BILL CARTER 

Chief Finance Officer 

6



Attachment A 

Register of Investments and Cash  
as at 31 December 2020 

7



Institution
Rating Face Value $

Amortised Value 

$

Monthly 

Net 

Returns

Monthly Net 

Return 

Annualised

Net Returns 

Rolling 12 

Months

Maturity 

Date

Investment 

Date

Term 

(months)

Call Account

Westpac Bank AA 31,830,182                 31,830,182              0.03% 0.35% 0.35% 1-Jan-21 22-May-12 0

Commonwealth Bank AA 21,124,902                 21,124,902              0.03% 0.35% 0.35% 1-Jan-21 11-Jun-20 0

Macquarie Bank Ltd AA 10,027,035                 10,027,035              0.03% 0.35% 0.35% 1-Jan-21 21-Sep-20 0

Total 62,982,119 62,982,119 0.03% 0.35% 0.35%

Term Deposits (TD)

Credit Union Australia A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 11-Jun-21 7-Dec-20 6

Credit Union Australia A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 29-Jun-21 7-Dec-20 7

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Jul-21 21-Dec-20 7

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 23-Jul-21 4-Dec-20 8

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 6-Aug-21 1-Dec-20 8

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Sep-21 21-Dec-20 9

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 24-Sep-21 1-Dec-20 10

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 1-Oct-21 1-Dec-20 10

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 8-Oct-21 9-Dec-20 10

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 23-Nov-21 22-Dec-20 11

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 1-Dec-21 1-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 10-Dec-21 11-Dec-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 14-Dec-21 15-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 17-Dec-21 18-Dec-20 12

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.74% 0.74% 4-Jan-21 3-Jul-20 6

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 8-Jan-21 6-Jul-20 6

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 11-Jan-21 14-Jul-20 6

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 12-Jan-21 6-Jul-20 6

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.80% 0.80% 15-Jan-21 9-Jul-20 6

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.40% 1.40% 22-Jan-21 29-Jan-20 12

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 9-Feb-21 9-Oct-20 4

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 16-Feb-21 18-Sep-20 5

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 26-Feb-21 28-Aug-20 6

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 2-Mar-21 31-Aug-20 6

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 26-Mar-21 27-Aug-20 7

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.66% 0.66% 29-Mar-21 28-Aug-20 7

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.67% 0.67% 6-Apr-21 31-Aug-20 7

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 4-May-21 8-Sep-20 8

ME Bank A 2,000,000.00             2,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 11-May-21 16-Nov-20 6

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 18-May-21 16-Oct-20 7

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 4-Jun-21 8-Sep-20 9

ME Bank A 7,000,000.00             7,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 8-Jun-21 6-Nov-20 7

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 25-Jun-21 29-Sep-20 9

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 9-Jul-21 13-Oct-20 9

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 30-Jul-21 30-Nov-20 8

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 3-Aug-21 4-Nov-20 9

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 10-Aug-21 4-Nov-20 9

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 0.83% 13-Aug-21 14-Aug-20 12

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 7-Sep-21 11-Nov-20 10

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.64% 0.64% 14-Oct-21 14-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.63% 0.63% 19-Oct-21 20-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.57% 0.57% 26-Oct-21 27-Oct-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 11-Nov-21 11-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 12-Nov-21 9-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 16-Nov-21 11-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 19-Nov-21 13-Nov-20 12

Westpac Bank (3 months BBSW + 88 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.90% 1.24% 14-May-21 16-May-19 24

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.80% Fixed 1 year & 90 days BBSW + 82 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 1.19% 21-Sep-21 21-Sep-18 36

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.90% Fixed 2 years & 90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.20% 11-Oct-21 12-Oct-17 48

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.94% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 82 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.88% 2.60% 8-Nov-21 6-Nov-18 36

Westpac Banking Corporation (3% Fixed 2 years & 90 days BBSW + 133 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.11% 1.35% 1.71% 15-Dec-21 15-Dec-16 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (3% Fixed 2 years & RBA cash rate + 126 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.11% 1.35% 1.72% 31-Aug-22 31-Aug-17 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.80% Fixed 1 year & 90 days BBSW + 85 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.87% 1.16% 27-Sep-22 28-Sep-18 48

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.98% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 82 points 2 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.84% 2.62% 21-Nov-22 21-Nov-18 48

Term Deposits (TD) 'Green Tailored Deposits'

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.07% 0.78% 0.78% 15-Jan-21 13-Jul-20 6

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.74% 0.74% 29-Jan-21 24-Jul-20 6

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.42% 1.42% 4-Feb-21 5-Feb-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.62% 0.62% 9-Mar-21 9-Sep-20 6

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.71% 0.71% 17-Jun-21 21-Aug-20 10

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.63% 0.63% 6-Jul-21 7-Oct-20 9

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit- Quaterly payments AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 0.83% 13-Jul-21 13-Jul-20 12

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 16-Jul-21 19-Aug-20 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.67% 0.67% 27-Jul-21 1-Oct-20 10

Westpac Bank - Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 20-Aug-21 22-Sep-20 11

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.73% 0.73% 27-Aug-21 27-Aug-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.73% 0.73% 2-Sep-21 2-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.71% 0.71% 17-Sep-21 22-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.69% 0.69% 28-Sep-21 28-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Sep-21 1-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Sep-21 30-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 1-Oct-21 1-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.53% 0.53% 29-Oct-21 27-Nov-20 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 18-Nov-21 18-Nov-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.46% 0.46% 23-Dec-21 23-Dec-20 12

Register of Investments and Cash for December 2020 period 

8



Institution
Rating Face Value $

Amortised Value 

$

Monthly 

Net 

Returns

Monthly Net 

Return 

Annualised

Net Returns 

Rolling 12 

Months

Maturity 

Date

Investment 

Date

Term 

(months)

Register of Investments and Cash for December 2020 period 

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (0.50% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 47 points for year 1)AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Dec-22 21-Dec-20 24

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (0.47% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 45 points for year 2)AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.47% 0.47% 23-Dec-22 23-Dec-20 24

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (3 Months BBSW + 93 points) AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.08% 0.96% 1.27% 27-Nov-23 26-Nov-18 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.97% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 93 points 3 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.25% 2.97% 2.97% 29-Nov-23 30-Nov-18 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (3.00% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 105 points 4 years)AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.09% 1.11% 1.34% 24-Jan-24 25-Jan-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.85% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.10% 1.47% 28-Feb-24 1-Mar-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.75% Fixed 1 year & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.02% 1.66% 11-Mar-24 13-Mar-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.65% Fixed 1 year & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.02% 1.48% 22-Mar-24 25-Mar-19 60

Total 439,000,000 439,000,000 0.06% 0.73% 0.82%

Floating Rate Notes (FRN) 

Commonwealth Bank (90 days BBSW + 115 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.10% 1.23% 1.44% 18-Jan-21 20-Jan-16 60

Heritage Bank (90 days BBSW + 123 points) BBB 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.10% 1.25% 1.58% 29-Mar-21 29-Mar-18 36

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 118 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.11% 1.27% 1.51% 7-Apr-21 7-Apr-16 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 138 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.47% 1.70% 12-Apr-21 12-Apr-16 60

ME Bank (90 days BBSW + 127 points) BBB 2,500,000.00             2,500,000.00          0.11% 1.35% 1.57% 16-Apr-21 17-Apr-18 36

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank  (90 days BBSW + 146 points) BBB 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.13% 1.51% 1.74% 20-Apr-21 20-Apr-16 60

Bank of China - Sydney Branch (90 days BBSW + 103 points) A 4,500,000.00             4,500,000.00          0.09% 1.06% 1.39% 15-Nov-21 15-Nov-18 36

Commonwealth Bank (90 days BBSW + 85 points) AAA 4,600,000.00             4,600,000.00          0.07% 0.88% 1.21% 17-Nov-21 17-Nov-16 60

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 88 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.24% 8-Feb-22 8-Feb-19 36

Credit Union Australia (90 days BBSW + 123 points) A 1,500,000.00             1,500,000.00          0.10% 1.25% 1.58% 4-Mar-22 4-Mar-19 60

ME Bank (90 days BBSW + 98 points) BBB 3,000,000.00             3,000,000.00          0.09% 1.06% 1.27% 18-Jul-22 18-Jul-19 36

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 97 points) A 2,500,000.00             2,500,000.00          0.08% 1.00% 1.33% 16-Aug-22 16-Aug-17 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 97 points) A 4,000,000.00             4,013,240.00          0.08% 1.00% 1.33% 16-Aug-22 31-Oct-18 45

Bank of Queensland (90 days BBSW + 105 points) BBB 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.09% 1.11% 1.40% 3-Feb-23 5-Feb-18 60

Credit Union Australia (3 monts BBSW + 90 bps) BBB 2,800,000.00             2,800,000.00          0.08% 0.92% 1.20% 21-Feb-23 21-Feb-20 36

Westpac Bank (90 days BBSW + 83 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.85% 1.19% 6-Mar-23 6-Mar-18 60

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.93% 1.26% 9-May-23 9-May-18 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.96% 1.26% 16-May-23 16-May-18 60

Commonwealth Bank (90 days BBSW + 93 points) AA 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.08% 0.96% 1.29% 16-Aug-23 16-Aug-18 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) A 4,500,000.00             4,500,000.00          0.07% 0.79% 1.16% 13-Sep-23 13-Sep-18 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 93 points) AA 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.08% 0.95% 1.29% 26-Sep-23 26-Sep-18 60

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 103 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.05% 1.39% 6-Dec-23 6-Dec-18 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 104 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.09% 1.07% 1.38% 26-Feb-24 26-Feb-19 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 92 points) AA 3,200,000.00             3,200,000.00          0.08% 0.93% 1.31% 19-Jun-24 20-Jun-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (90 days BBSW + 88 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.24% 16-Aug-24 16-May-19 63

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.07% 0.86% 1.10% 29-Aug-24 29-Aug-19 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.82% 1.15% 21-Jan-25 21-Jan-20 60

Macquarie Bank (3 months BBSW + 84 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.88% 1.15% 12-Feb-25 12-Feb-20 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 112 points) AAA 1,500,000.00             1,500,000.00          0.10% 1.18% 1.21% 24-Apr-25 27-Apr-20 60

Macquarie Bank (3 months BBSW + 48 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 9-Dec-25 9-Dec-20 60

Floating Rate Notes (FRN) 'Green/Climate Bonds/Sustainability Bond'

Commonwealth Bank Climate Bond (90 days BBSW + 92 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 1.00% 1.33% 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-17 60

Bank Australia - Sustainability Bond (3months BBSW + 90 points) BBB 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.99% 1.32% 2-Dec-22 2-Dec-19 36

Total 130,100,000 130,113,240 0.08% 1.02% 1.30%

Total Investments 632,082,119 632,095,359 0.06% 0.75% 0.87%

Benchmark:  30 Day Bank Bill  Index 0.00% 0.02% 0.24%

Benchmark:  Bloomberg AusBond Bank Bill Index 0.00% 0.00% 0.37%

City of Sydney's available bank balance as at 31 December 2020 6,457,251            6,457,251

TOTAL INVESTMENTS & CASH 638,539,370 638,552,610

9



Financial Institution
Fund 

Rating
Commentary

General Fund

Westpac Bank
AA

(8,000,000)
December closing balance was lower compare dto November, due to high volume of 

rates receipts recived in that month

Call Account

Westpac Bank
AA

6,000,000
Funds redeemed from CBA  Call Account for operational use, or reinvested in Westpac 

Call account
Commonwealth Bank AA (11,000,000)

Term Deposits (TDs)

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A (10,000,000)

IMB
A

(5,000,000)
Redemption of matured Term Deposits, utilised for operational use or reinvested with 

higher yielding products.
Suncorp Bank A (5,000,000)

Macquarie Bank Ltd A (10,000,000)

Bank of Queensland A 10,000,000

Commonwealth Bank AA 10,000,000 Redeemed matured investments and placed in higher yielding Term Deposits.
Credit Union Australia Ltd A 10,000,000

National Aust Bank AA 15,000,000

Westpac Banking Corporation AA 20,000,000

Floating Rate Note (FRN)

Macquarie Bank Ltd A 5,000,000 Redeemed matured investments and placed in higher yielding Floating Rate Note

Summary of Net Investment Movements -December 2020

Net

Invest/(Recall) Amount $

10



Attachment B 

Investment Performance 
as at 31 December 2020 

 

11



0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Portfolio 12 Month Rolling Return Strategic 45 point enhanced rolling return

AusBond 12 Month Rolling Avg 30 Day BBR 12 Month Rolling Return

12 Month Rolling Averages
Actual Portfolio vs Strategic Enhanced Benchmark vs AusBond Benchmark vs 30 Day BBR Benchmark

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Portfolio Monthly Return Strategic 45 point enhanced monthly return

AusBond Monthly Return 30 Day BBR Monthly Return

Monthly Results
Actual Portfolio vs Strategic Enhanced Benchmark vs AusBond Benchmark vs 30 Day BBR Benchmark

December 2020

12



0

20

40

60

80

100

1Mth 2-12Mth 1-3Yr 3-5Yr >5Yr

Max % of Portfolio Actual % of Portfolio

Portfolio Liquidity - Maximum Allowances as at 31 December 2020

%

0

20

40

60

80

100

1Mth 2-12Mth 1-3Yr 3-5Yr >5Yr

Cum Min % of Portfolio Cum Actual % of Portfolio

Portfolio Liquidity - Minimum Allocations as at 31 December 2020

%%

13



AAA
1.0%

AA
68.7%

A
26.0%

BBB
4.3%

Risk Profile as at 31 December 2020

Term Deposits
67.9%

Floating Rate Notes
22.2%

Funds at Call
10.0%

Investment Product Profile as at 31 December 2020

14



 

INVESTMENT AND CASH DISTRIBUTION BY 
FINANCIAL INSTITUTION        
AS AT 31 December 
2020         

     

Institution Category Financial Institution 
Amount 

$M 
Financial Inst. 

% 

Institution 
Cat. 

% 

Australian Big 4 Bank ANZ Bank 43.0 6.8   
(and related 
institutions) 

Commonwealth Bank-
related: 154.2 24.4   

  National Aust Bank 170.8 27.0   

  
Westpac Banking 
Corporation 70.7 11.2   

Big 4 Total   438.7   69.4 

Other Australian ADIs Bank Australia Limited 5.0 0.8   
and Australian 
subsidiaries 

 
Bank of China 4.5 0.7   

of foreign institutions Bank of Queensland 44.0 7.0   
  Bendigo & Adelaide Bank 25.0 4.0   
  Credit Union Australia Ltd 14.3 2.3   
  Heritage Bank 3.5 0.6   
  Macquarie Bank Ltd 30.0 4.7   
  ME Bank 49.5 7.8   
  Suncorp Bank 17.5 2.8   

Other ADI Total   193.3   30.6 

Grand Total   632.0 100.0 100.0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15



 

 

 

 

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

$
M

Cumulative Outperformance over AusBond Benchmark - 2015-2020

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

$
M

Cumulative Outperformance over 30 Day BBR Benchmark - 2015-2020

16



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Investments Held as at 31 January 2021 

File No: X020701 

Summary 

This report provides details of the City’s investment portfolio and performance to 31 January 
2021. 

The City’s total Investment and Cash position was $646.4M at 31 January 2021, with 
investments earning interest of $0.3M for the month. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has created significant uncertainty in financial markets. One of the 
measures the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) has used to respond to the crisis is to reduce 
the official cash rate downward. It was reduced first on 3 March 2020 to 0.50 per cent and 
again on 20 March 2020, when it was further reduced to 0.25 per cent. On 2 November 
2020, the RBA announced a further drop in the official cash rate to 0.10 per cent. In addition, 
the RBA launched its Term Funding Facility. This facility, now in the order of $200 billion, 
has reduced the funding costs of Authorised Deposit-Taking Institutions (ADIs). The market 
has responded by reducing the rates on offer and the resultant lower investment yields 
continue to have a sustained adverse impact on the City's portfolio return. 

The City's cash inflows have also been negatively impacted as the economic consequences 
of the pandemic affect major revenue streams, including parking services, commercial 
property income and the timely payment of rates and annual charges. A greater focus on 
maintaining adequate liquidity with shorter investment maturities, and increasingly limited 
opportunities to invest funds at adequate rates of return will continue to affect the City's 
interest revenue. 

The majority of the City’s cash and investments portfolio is held as internally restricted 
($278.5M) or externally restricted ($115.5M) cash reserves, to satisfy the City’s legislative 
responsibilities and to set aside specific funds for Council’s funding commitments to the 
major initiatives within the Sustainable Sydney 2030 Community Strategic Plan. 

Key commitments within the City’s Long Term Financial Plan include public domain works in 
the CBD, infrastructure and community facilities in the Green Square urban renewal area 
and open space acquisitions. The balance of investment funds represents working capital 
and funding required for the City’s operating and capital expenditure commitments, including 
the Covid-19 relief grants program.  

The City achieved an annualised monthly return of 0.69 per cent for January, above the 30 
Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) of 0.01 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index (published by 
Bloomberg) of 0.00 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.46 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per 
cent) as endorsed in October 2020 as part of the Investment Strategy.  

  

1

Item 4.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

The City’s annual rolling return of 0.80 per cent also continues to exceed the 12 month 
average 30 Day Bank Bill Rate of 0.17 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index of 0.29 
per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.62 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as endorsed 
in the Investment Strategy in October 2020.  

The report includes graphs depicting that the City’s cumulative portfolio returns over and 
above both the 90 day Bloomberg AusBond, and 30 day Bank Bill Rate benchmarks have 
also been included to provide further insight into the City’s total investment portfolio 
performance. 

The structure of the City's investment portfolio continues to reflect the conservative approach 
outlined in the Investment Policy and Strategy, which remains appropriate for the current 
global and domestic economic conditions. The Policy and Strategy also maintain the City’s 
commitment to sustainable investments where returns and risks are equivalent, under the 
environmentally and socially responsible investment criteria.  

Recommendation 

It is resolved that the Investment Report as at 31 January 2021 be received and noted. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Register of Investments and Cash as at 31 January 2021 

Attachment B. Investment Performance as at 31 January 2021 

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. In accordance with the principles of financial management, cash that is surplus to the 
City's immediate requirements is invested within acceptable risk parameters to 
optimise interest income while ensuring the security of these funds. 

2. Surplus cash is only invested in authorised investments that comply with governing 
legislation and the City's Investment Policy and Strategy. 

3. The benchmark performance goal of the City's Investment Policy and Strategy is to 
surpass the 30 Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) by 45 basis points while performance also 
continues to be measured against the Bloomberg AusBond Bank Bill Index. 

4. The City's total Investment and Cash position as at 31 January 2021 is $646.4M, an 
increase of approximately $8M from the $638.5M reported as at 31 December 2020, 
reflecting operating income and proceeds from property divestment, offset by capital 
works expenditure, property acquisition and other operational payments. A schedule 
detailing all of the City's investments as at the end of January is provided at 
Attachment A. 

5. A substantial portion of the City’s cash and investments portfolio is held as internally 
restricted ($272.0M) or externally restricted ($67.9M) cash reserves, to satisfy the 
City’s legislative responsibilities and to set aside specific funds for Council’s funding 
commitments to the major initiatives within the Sustainable Sydney 2030 Community 
Strategic Plan. 

6. Key commitments within the City's Long Term Financial Plan include public domain 
works in the CBD, infrastructure and community facilities in the Green Square urban 
renewal area and the acquisition of open space. The balance of investment funds 
represents working capital and funding required for the City's operating and other 
capital expenditure commitments. 

7. The City achieved an annualised monthly return of 0.69 per cent for January, above 
the 30 Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) of 0.01 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index 
(published by Bloomberg) of 0.00 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.46 per 
cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as endorsed in October 2020 as part of the Investment 
Strategy.  

8. The City’s annual rolling return of 0.80 per cent also continues to exceed the 12 month 
average 30 Day Bank Bill Rate of 0.17 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index of 
0.29 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.62 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as 
endorsed in the Investment Strategy in October 2020.  

9. In response to the global Covid-19 pandemic, the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) 
adjusted the official cash rate on 3 March 2020, and again on 20 March 2020 to 0.25 
per cent. On 2 November 2020, the RBA announced a further drop in the official cash 
rate to 0.10 per cent. In addition, the RBA launched its Term Funding Facility. This 
facility, now in the order of $200 billion, has reduced the funding costs of Authorised 
Deposit-Taking Institutions (ADIs), in turn helping to reduce the interest rates for 
borrowers. The market is responding by reducing the rates on offer, and the resultant 
lower investment yields continue to have a sustained adverse impact on the City's 
portfolio return. The low interest rates are anticipated to continue for the foreseeable 
future given the current challenging economic conditions. 

  

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

10. The City's cash inflows, whilst reasonably resilient and showing signs of recovery, 
have been negatively impacted for a prolonged period, as the economic consequences 
of the pandemic continue to affect major revenue streams, including parking services, 
commercial property income and timely payment of rates and annual charges. A 
greater focus on maintaining adequate liquidity with shorter investment maturities, and 
increasingly limited opportunities to invest funds at adequate rates of return will also 
continue to affect the City's interest revenue. 

11. The report includes graphs depicting that the City’s cumulative portfolio returns over 
and above both the 90 day Bloomberg AusBond, and 30 day Bank Bill Rate 
benchmarks have also been included to provide further insight into the City’s total 
investment portfolio performance. 

12. The structure of the City's investment portfolio continues to reflect the conservative 
approach outlined in the Investment Policy and Strategy, which remains appropriate 
for the current global and domestic economic conditions. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

13. The City's investments accord with all legislative and policy requirements, as detailed 
below, and continue to achieve returns above minimum benchmark rates. 

Financial Implications 

14. The City’s investments earned interest of $0.3M for the month of January 2021 against 
budgeted earnings of $0.5M. While the 2020/21 interest revenue budget anticipated a 
lower interest rate environment over the financial year, the extent of rate reductions 
and the impact of the RBA Term Funding Facility on investment returns has exceeded 
predictions. Diminished investment returns were partly offset by a higher than forecast 
cash balance for the month. For the same month in 2019, the City earned interest of 
$1.1M on a slightly higher cash balance. 

Economic 

15. The extent of the local and global economic impact resulting from Covid-19 has 
created significant uncertainty in financial markets. Many Governments and central 
banks, including the Australian Government and the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA), 
are implementing large scale responses to the economic crisis, including coordinated 
stimulus measures involving significant increases in government spending and 
borrowing combined with large scale buying of bonds by central banks. 

16. The RBA reduced the official cash rate downward twice in March 2020. It was reduced 
first on 3 March 2020, to 0.50 per cent, and again on 20 March 2020, when it was 
further reduced to 0.25 per cent. RBA further dropped the cash rate to 0.10 per cent on 
2 November 2020. 

17. The RBA has continued to indicate that the 0.10 per cent official cash rate is unlikely to 
be lifted until it is confident the economy has recovered sufficiently to lift annual 
inflation inside its target 2 per cent to 3 per cent range.   

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

18. Historically, returns on cash (i.e. “at call” accounts) and short term investments have 
been quite strong. However, with the low official cash rate, market variability in monthly 
returns may mean the short to medium term investment returns could be flat or 
potentially slightly negative. The capacity for City staff to invest in a manner that meets 
liquidity requirements whilst achieving the “enhanced” benchmark returns (as detailed 
in the Investment Policy) is increasingly limited. However, the best available returns 
are still actively sought when surplus funds are invested. 

19. On occasion, financial institutions will not offer term deposit rates as their own liquidity 
requirements are already satisfied. Since the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, this 
has occurred with increased frequency, further limiting the available range of 
institutions able to offer adequate returns at an acceptable credit risk under the City's 
Investment Policy. 

Relevant Legislation 

20. Council is authorised to invest its surplus cash under Section 625 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 

21. The Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 (Clause 212) requires the City to 
provide a written monthly report of all monies invested, under Section 625 of the Act. 

22. The Investment Policy and Strategy was last revised in October 2020, maintaining 
Council's commitment to give preference to sustainable investments where returns and 
risks are equivalent to other investments. The revision also maintained the broadened 
definition of environmentally harmful activities to include specific reference to coal, gas 
and oil. 

23. The City's investments accord with the Minister's Investment Order, the Office of Local 
Government's Investment Policy Guidelines, and the City's own Investment Policy and 
Strategy as adopted by Council on 28 October 2020. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

24. A monthly investment report must be submitted for Council's information and review 
within the following month. 

Public Consultation 

25. Consultation is regularly undertaken with a number of financial institutions and 
investment advisers to consider options and ensure the City continues to maximise its 
investment return within appropriate risk parameters. 

26. City staff meet regularly with representatives of each of the 'Big 4' banks and NSW 
TCorp. At these meetings City staff actively advocate for Socially Responsible 
Investment (SRI) opportunities. 

  

5



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

27. The banks acknowledge the appetite in the market for these products and they 
continue to investigate the development of suitable products, however, it has been 
challenging to match the level of funds to available Socially Responsible Investment 
opportunities that meet the credit risk and maturity profile requirements of the City.  

28. As noted in previous Investment Reports, Westpac were able to bring a Green 
Tailored Deposit product to market, which delivers a comparable return while 
achieving the City's preferred outcomes. Since November 2018, the City has invested 
$90M in fourteen tranches with this Green Tailored deposit.  

29. In January 2020, the City invested $5M in a Floating Rate Note (FRN) / Sustainability 
Bond issued by Bank Australia, based on an investment framework that meets the 
main guidelines for issuance of Green, Social and Sustainability Bonds in the global 
capital markets. This Socially Responsible investment opportunity met both the credit 
risk and maturity profile requirement of the City. 

30. Since March 2020, the City has invested in fifteen tranches, totalling $85M, in Climate 
Bond-certified Green Term Deposits with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA), 
whilst also meeting the City's risk / return profile.  

31. It is evident from these opportunities that the market is endeavouring to respond to 
demand and meet investors need to satisfy their financial risk / return requirements, 
while at the same time promoting their preferred investment profile outcomes. 

BILL CARTER 

Chief Finance Officer 

6



Attachment A 

Register of Investments and Cash  
as at 31 January 2021 

7



Institution
Rating Face Value $

Amortised Value 

$

Monthly 

Net 

Returns

Monthly Net 

Return 

Annualised

Net Returns 

Rolling 12 

Months

Maturity Date
Investment 

Date

Term 

(months)

Call Account

Westpac Bank AA 22,830,182                22,830,182             0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1-Jan-21 22-May-12 0

Commonwealth Bank AA 34,124,902                34,124,902             0.03% 0.35% 0.35% 1-Jan-21 11-Jun-20 0

Macquarie Bank Ltd AA 10,031,288                10,031,288             0.03% 0.35% 0.35% 1-Jan-21 21-Sep-20 0

Total 66,986,372 66,986,372 0.02% 0.23% 0.23%

Term Deposits (TD)

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 9-Feb-21 9-Oct-20 4

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 16-Feb-21 18-Sep-20 5

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 26-Feb-21 28-Aug-20 6

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 2-Mar-21 31-Aug-20 6

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 26-Mar-21 27-Aug-20 7

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.66% 0.66% 29-Mar-21 28-Aug-20 7

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.67% 0.67% 6-Apr-21 31-Aug-20 7

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 4-May-21 8-Sep-20 8

ME Bank A 2,000,000.00             2,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 11-May-21 16-Nov-20 6

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 18-May-21 16-Oct-20 7

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 4-Jun-21 8-Sep-20 9

ME Bank A 7,000,000.00             7,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 8-Jun-21 6-Nov-20 7

Credit Union Australia A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 11-Jun-21 7-Dec-20 6

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 25-Jun-21 29-Sep-20 9

Credit Union Australia A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 29-Jun-21 7-Dec-20 7

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 9-Jul-21 13-Oct-20 9

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Jul-21 21-Dec-20 7

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 23-Jul-21 4-Dec-20 8

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 30-Jul-21 30-Nov-20 8

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 3-Aug-21 4-Nov-20 9

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 6-Aug-21 1-Dec-20 8

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 10-Aug-21 4-Nov-20 9

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 0.83% 13-Aug-21 14-Aug-20 12

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 7-Sep-21 11-Nov-20 10

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Sep-21 21-Dec-20 9

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 24-Sep-21 1-Dec-20 10

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 1-Oct-21 1-Dec-20 10

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 8-Oct-21 9-Dec-20 10

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.64% 0.64% 14-Oct-21 14-Oct-20 12

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.03% 0.40% 0.40% 15-Oct-21 12-Jan-21 9

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.63% 0.63% 19-Oct-21 20-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.57% 0.57% 26-Oct-21 27-Oct-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 11-Nov-21 11-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 12-Nov-21 9-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 16-Nov-21 11-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 19-Nov-21 13-Nov-20 12

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 23-Nov-21 22-Dec-20 11

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 1-Dec-21 1-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 10-Dec-21 11-Dec-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 14-Dec-21 15-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 17-Dec-21 18-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 27-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 28-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 29-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 3-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 4-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 5-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 6-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 7-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 10-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 10-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 11-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 11-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 12-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 12-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 13-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.42% 0.42% 14-Jan-22 15-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 14-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 17-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 17-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.03% 0.41% 0.41% 28-Jan-22 25-Jan-21 12

Westpac Bank (3 months BBSW + 88 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.90% 1.16% 14-May-21 16-May-19 24

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.80% Fixed 1 year & 90 days BBSW + 82 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 1.11% 21-Sep-21 21-Sep-18 36

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.90% Fixed 2 years & 90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.92% 1.13% 11-Oct-21 12-Oct-17 48

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.94% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 82 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.88% 2.43% 8-Nov-21 6-Nov-18 36

Westpac Banking Corporation (3% Fixed 2 years & 90 days BBSW + 133 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.11% 1.35% 1.64% 15-Dec-21 15-Dec-16 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (3% Fixed 2 years & RBA cash rate + 126 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.11% 1.35% 1.65% 31-Aug-22 31-Aug-17 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.80% Fixed 1 year & 90 days BBSW + 85 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.87% 1.08% 27-Sep-22 28-Sep-18 48

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.98% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 82 points 2 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.84% 2.45% 21-Nov-22 21-Nov-18 48

Term Deposits (TD) 'Green Tailored Deposits'

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.42% 1.42% 4-Feb-21 5-Feb-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.62% 0.62% 9-Mar-21 9-Sep-20 6

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.71% 0.71% 17-Jun-21 21-Aug-20 10

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.63% 0.63% 6-Jul-21 7-Oct-20 9

Register of Investments and Cash for January 2021 period 

8



Institution
Rating Face Value $

Amortised Value 

$

Monthly 

Net 

Returns

Monthly Net 

Return 

Annualised

Net Returns 

Rolling 12 

Months

Maturity Date
Investment 

Date

Term 

(months)

Register of Investments and Cash for January 2021 period 

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit- Quaterly payments AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 0.83% 13-Jul-21 13-Jul-20 12

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 16-Jul-21 19-Aug-20 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.67% 0.67% 27-Jul-21 1-Oct-20 10

Westpac Bank - Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 20-Aug-21 22-Sep-20 11

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.73% 0.73% 27-Aug-21 27-Aug-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.73% 0.73% 2-Sep-21 2-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.71% 0.71% 17-Sep-21 22-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.69% 0.69% 28-Sep-21 28-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Sep-21 1-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Sep-21 30-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 1-Oct-21 1-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.53% 0.53% 29-Oct-21 27-Nov-20 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 18-Nov-21 18-Nov-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.46% 0.46% 23-Dec-21 23-Dec-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.03% 0.41% 0.41% 24-Dec-21 25-Jan-21 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.42% 0.42% 14-Jan-22 15-Jan-21 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.43% 0.43% 25-Jan-22 25-Jan-21 12

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (0.50% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 47 points for year 1)AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Dec-22 21-Dec-20 24

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (0.47% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 45 points for year 2)AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.47% 0.47% 23-Dec-22 23-Dec-20 24

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (3 Months BBSW + 93 points) AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.08% 0.96% 1.20% 27-Nov-23 26-Nov-18 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.97% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 93 points 3 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.95% 2.80% 29-Nov-23 30-Nov-18 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (3.00% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 105 points 4 years)AA 10,000,000.00           10,000,000.00        0.09% 1.06% 1.27% 24-Jan-24 25-Jan-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.85% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.10% 1.32% 28-Feb-24 1-Mar-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.75% Fixed 1 year & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.02% 1.52% 11-Mar-24 13-Mar-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.65% Fixed 1 year & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.02% 1.34% 22-Mar-24 25-Mar-19 60

Total 448,000,000 448,000,000 0.06% 0.67% 0.76%

Floating Rate Notes (FRN) 

Heritage Bank (90 days BBSW + 123 points) BBB 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.10% 1.25% 1.50% 29-Mar-21 29-Mar-18 36

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 118 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.10% 1.20% 1.44% 7-Apr-21 7-Apr-16 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 138 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.39% 1.63% 12-Apr-21 12-Apr-16 60

ME Bank (90 days BBSW + 127 points) BBB 2,500,000.00             2,500,000.00          0.11% 1.28% 1.50% 16-Apr-21 17-Apr-18 36

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank  (90 days BBSW + 146 points) BBB 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.47% 1.67% 20-Apr-21 20-Apr-16 60

Bank of China - Sydney Branch (90 days BBSW + 103 points) A 4,500,000.00             4,500,000.00          0.09% 1.06% 1.32% 15-Nov-21 15-Nov-18 36

Commonwealth Bank (90 days BBSW + 85 points) AAA 4,600,000.00             4,600,000.00          0.07% 0.88% 1.13% 17-Nov-21 17-Nov-16 60

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 88 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.16% 8-Feb-22 8-Feb-19 36

Credit Union Australia (90 days BBSW + 123 points) A 1,500,000.00             1,500,000.00          0.10% 1.25% 1.50% 4-Mar-22 4-Mar-19 60

ME Bank (90 days BBSW + 98 points) BBB 3,000,000.00             3,000,000.00          0.08% 0.99% 1.20% 18-Jul-22 18-Jul-19 36

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 97 points) A 2,500,000.00             2,500,000.00          0.08% 1.00% 1.25% 16-Aug-22 16-Aug-17 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 97 points) A 4,000,000.00             4,013,240.00          0.08% 1.00% 1.25% 16-Aug-22 31-Oct-18 45

Bank of Queensland (90 days BBSW + 105 points) BBB 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.09% 1.11% 1.33% 3-Feb-23 5-Feb-18 60

Credit Union Australia (3 monts BBSW + 90 bps) BBB 2,800,000.00             2,800,000.00          0.08% 0.92% 1.28% 21-Feb-23 21-Feb-20 36

Westpac Bank (90 days BBSW + 83 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.85% 1.19% 6-Mar-23 6-Mar-18 60

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.93% 1.26% 9-May-23 9-May-18 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.96% 1.26% 16-May-23 16-May-18 60

Commonwealth Bank (90 days BBSW + 93 points) AA 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.08% 0.96% 1.29% 16-Aug-23 16-Aug-18 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) A 4,500,000.00             4,500,000.00          0.07% 0.79% 1.16% 13-Sep-23 13-Sep-18 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 93 points) AA 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.08% 0.95% 1.29% 26-Sep-23 26-Sep-18 60

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 103 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.05% 1.39% 6-Dec-23 6-Dec-18 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 104 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.09% 1.07% 1.38% 26-Feb-24 26-Feb-19 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 92 points) AA 3,200,000.00             3,200,000.00          0.08% 0.93% 1.31% 19-Jun-24 20-Jun-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (90 days BBSW + 88 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.24% 16-Aug-24 16-May-19 63

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.07% 0.86% 1.10% 29-Aug-24 29-Aug-19 60

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.78% 1.06% 21-Jan-25 21-Jan-20 60

Macquarie Bank (3 months BBSW + 84 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.88% 1.23% 12-Feb-25 12-Feb-20 60

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 112 points) AAA 1,500,000.00             1,500,000.00          0.09% 1.13% 1.20% 24-Apr-25 27-Apr-20 60

Macquarie Bank (3 months BBSW + 48 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 9-Dec-25 9-Dec-20 60

Floating Rate Notes (FRN) 'Green/Climate Bonds/Sustainability Bond'

Commonwealth Bank Climate Bond (90 days BBSW + 92 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.94% 1.18% 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-17 60

Bank Australia - Sustainability Bond (3months BBSW + 90 points) BBB 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.92% 1.17% 2-Dec-22 2-Dec-19 36

Total 125,100,000 125,113,240 0.08% 0.99% 1.26%

Total Investments 640,086,372 640,099,612 0.06% 0.69% 0.80%

Benchmark:  30 Day Bank Bill  Index 0.00% 0.01% 0.17%

Benchmark:  Bloomberg AusBond Bank Bill Index 0.00% 0.00% 0.29%

City of Sydney's available bank balance as at 31 January 2021 6,292,086            6,292,086

TOTAL INVESTMENTS & CASH 646,378,458 646,391,698

9



Financial Institution
Fund 

Rating
Commentary

Call Account

Westpac Bank AA (9,000,000)

Commonwealth Bank
AA

13,000,000

Funds redeemed from Westpac  Call Account for operational use, or reinvested in CBA 

Call account

Term Deposits (TDs)

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A (10,000,000)

Redemption of matured Term Deposits, utilised for operational use or reinvested with 

higher yielding products.

Macquarie Bank Ltd A 19,000,000 Redeemed matured investments and placed in higher yielding Term Deposits.

Floating Rate Note (FRN)

Commonwealth Bank AA (5,000,000) Redeemed matured investment, placed in higher yielding Term deposits

Summary of Net Investment Movements -January 2021

Net

Invest/(Recall) Amount $

10



Attachment B 

Investment Performance 
as at 31 January 2021 

 

11



 

 

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21

Portfolio Monthly Return Strategic 45 point enhanced monthly return

AusBond Monthly Return 30 Day BBR Monthly Return

Monthly Results
Actual Portfolio vs Strategic Enhanced Benchmark vs AusBond Benchmark vs 30 Day BBR Benchmark

January 2021

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21

Portfolio 12 Month Rolling Return Strategic 45 point enhanced rolling return

AusBond 12 Month Rolling Avg 30 Day BBR 12 Month Rolling Return

12 Month Rolling Averages
Actual Portfolio vs Strategic Enhanced Benchmark vs AusBond Benchmark vs 30 Day BBR Benchmark

January  2021

12



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Land Reclassification - Harold Park, Forest Lodge 

File No: X030693.001 

Summary 

On 11 July 2014, the City of Sydney (the City) received 3.8 hectares of land for public open 
space as part of the redevelopment of the former Harold Park Paceway and Rozelle tram 
depot site (Harold Park). Prior to acquisition, Council resolved to temporarily classify the land 
as operational to facilitate the City's construction of the new public park. This was completed 
in 2018. 

On 14 December 2020, Council endorsed the public notification of a proposed resolution to 
reclassify Lot 104 in Deposited Plan 1179442 being known as Harold Park, Forest Lodge, as 
community land with a park categorisation in accordance with sections 31, 33 and 36(4)(c) of 
the Local Government Act 1993. 

The proposed land reclassification was publicly notified for a period of 36 days, commencing 
21 December 2020 and concluding 25 January 2021. No submissions were received. 

This report seeks to finalise the reclassification of Harold Park as community land in 
accordance with the Resolution of Council dated 12 May 2014.  

Recommendation 

It is resolved that Council reclassify Lot 104 in Deposited Plan 1179442 being known as 
Harold Park, Forest Lodge, as community land with a park categorisation, in accordance 
with sections 31, 33 and 36(4)(c) of the Local Government Act 1993. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Resolution of Council - 12 May 2014 - Land Classification - Harold Park, 
Forest Lodge 

Attachment B. Identification Plan - Harold Park, Forest Lodge 

Attachment C. Resolution of Council - 14 December 2020 - Land Reclassification - 
Harold Park, Forest Lodge 

  

1

Item 5.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. On 17 August 2011, the City and Mirvac entered into a voluntary planning agreement 
in relation to the provision of public benefits associated with the proposed Harold Park 
redevelopment including, but not limited to, the dedication of not less than 3.8 hectares 
of land to the City for use as open space. The City was required to complete the 
construction of the new public park. 

2. In July 2012, the Central Sydney Planning Committee approved the overall master 
plan for the site, known as the stage 1 development application, and subsequently 
approved detailed development applications for buildings in precincts 1 and 2 in 
September 2012. 

3. On 12 May 2014, Council resolved to classify Lot 104 of Deposited Plan 1179442 
(Harold Park), as operational land on the basis that: 

 the primary use of the land is for park, open space, and active and/or passive 
recreation; 

 the classification is on an interim basis to minimise any delay in construction of 
the new park; and 

 following completion of the park and conclusion of obligations set out in the 
planning agreement, the open space will be reclassified as community land. 

4. Lot 104 of Deposited Plan 1179442 was transferred in ownership to the City of Sydney 
on 11 July 2014.  

5. Upon completion of the park embellishment works and developer obligations set out 
within the planning agreement, Harold Park was officially opened to the public on 27 
October 2018. 

6. In accordance with the Resolution of Council dated 12 May 2014, it is proposed to 
reclassify Harold Park as community land, as noted in the identification plan 
(Attachment B), applying a park categorisation is consistent with its intended use of 
public recreation. 

7. In accordance with the Resolution of Council dated 14 December 2020 (Attachment 
C), Harold Park is to be included in the Johnstons Creek Parklands Plan of 
Management currently in development, which covers both City-owned land and 
adjoining Crown reserves. The Plan of Management will be finalised, reported to 
Council and put on public exhibition once it is completed in accordance with the 
requirements of applicable legislation, including the Crown Land Management Act 
2016.  

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Key Implications 

Social / Cultural / Community 

8. Community land is intended to be managed for use by the community for purposes 
including environmental protection, recreational, cultural, social and educational 
activities. Community land is intended to benefit the community, both now and in the 
future.  

9. The reclassification of Harold Park to community land will ensure this land is preserved 
for community use and managed in accordance with an adopted Plan of Management 
for the precinct.  

Financial Implications 

10. The reclassification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 does not have any 
direct funding implications.  

Relevant Legislation 

11. The following sections of the Local Government Act 1993 are relevant: 

(a) Section 25 requires all public land to be classified as either community or 
operational land; 

(b) Section 31 requires Council to classify land as either operational or community 
land on acquisition;  

(c) Section 33(1) permits Council to resolve that public land classified as operational 
land is to be reclassified as community land;  

(d) Section 34 requires the proposed resolution to reclassify be publicly notified and 
made available for inspection by the public for a period of 28 days; 

(e) Section 35 requires community land to be used and managed in accordance with 
a plan of management; and 

(f) Section 36 provides that the City must prepare a draft plan of management for 
community land and the plan of management must categorise the land. The land 
will be included within the proposed Johnstons Creek Parklands Plan of 
Management and will be managed in accordance with section 36G core 
objectives for management of community land as a park.  

12. Division 3 of the Crown Land Management Act 2016. 

  

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

13. The proposed resolution to reclassify must be publicly notified for a minimum period of 
28 days.  

Public Consultation 

14. The proposed resolution to reclassify Harold Park was publicly notified in the Sydney 
Morning Herald and on Sydney Your Say for a period of 36 days, commencing 21 
December 2020 and concluding 25 January 2021. 

15. No submissions were received. 

AMIT CHANAN 

Director City Projects and Property 

Cailin Martin, Crown Lands Manager 

4



Attachment A 

Resolution of Council – 12 May 2014 – Land 
Classification – Harold Park, Forest Lodge  

 

 

 

5



Resolution of CouncilResolution of Council

12 MAY 2014 

ITEM 6.6 LAND CLASSIFICATION – PUBLIC RESERVE LAND, HAROLD 
PARK (S120438) 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council classify all public reserve land within the Harold Park development 
which is currently referred to as lot 104 and stratum lot 302 within a proposed 
plan of subdivision and being the aggregate total of Harold Park public reserve 
lands as operational land in accordance with section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 1993, and on the basis that: 

(i) the primary use of the land is for park, open space, and active and/or 
passive recreation; 

(ii) the classification is an interim basis to minimise any delay in construction 
of the new park; and 

(iii) following completion of the park and conclusion of obligations set out in 
the planning agreement, the open space be reclassified as community 
land; and 

(B) Council note the strategy to develop a draft plan of management for the Harold 
Park parklands referenced to the adopted Johnston Creek Parklands Master 
Plan and make recommendation to Council on the proposed land 
categorisation for its ongoing management. 

 
Carried unanimously. 
 
 

6



Attachment B 

Identification Plan –  
Harold Park, Forest Lodge  

 

 

 

7



A
4.

01
5

8.
87

18
.9

25

2.99

2.99

2.99

28
.4

3.435

2.
99

5

15
.25

5

9.4
05

7.84

3.
75

5

3.
76

5

29.405

(Z
)

66.87

P
t. 

30
1

3.
37

32
.7

2

56.73

8.815
14.21

53
.2

8

41
.2

12.74

19
.8

4

4.2

68
.2

35

59
.7

75

4.2

19
.0

8

(19.42 WIDE)

(19.42 WIDE)

(2
0 

W
ID

E 
& 

VA
R

IA
BL

E)

(20 WIDE)

(16 WIDE                         & VARIABLE)

(16 WIDE                          & VARIABLE)

74
.1

45

21
.6

45

75
.3

0

17
.4

2

3.
86

5

123.975

A1
6.

30
5

11
.4

7

8.01

A2
.0

45

00.02

11
.4

7

11.645

6.835

18.89
12.105 22.775

35.825
6.835

18.89 12.105

30.875

A5.295

A
3.

78

8.
13

0.
71

5
0.

71
5

0.
71

5
0.

71
5

11.165 13.765

CHANNEL

STORMW
ATER

21
.7

4

99
.6

65

20
.4

35
7.

59

12.15

10.22

A
6.

72
5

60
.3

5

A
4.

24

26.82 A25.925

59.17
63

.9
25

11.04

9.
62

5

6. 97

33
.8

5

20
.6

7

16
.5

75

76
.1

45

21.555

22.70

N
E

E
WT

E
B 24. 0

S
EI

R
A

D
N

U
O

B

44.04

(1
6.

39
5)

(4)(4
)

(4)

(4
)

(2
0.

49
)

(4)(4
)

(4)

(4
)

(4)(4
)

(1
6.

39
5)

(4)

(4
)

107.095

5.0
05

67
.3

05

6.24 127.84

5.0
05

111.2356.24

5.0
05

68
.3

3

119.52

5.
27

5

43.765

48
.4

4

6.69

61.99

21.05
33

.8
9

N
E

E
WT

E
B 503. 0

S
EI

R
A

D
N

U
O

B
N

E
E

WT
E

B 544. 0

S
EI

R
A

D
N

U
O

B

12

10.83

531.2
40

.4
05

49
.2

65

24.485

512.5
547.4

72
.1

7

6.24
27.76

81
.3

1

16
.6

35
10

.67

18
.1

95

17
.0

95
A7

.1
45

20
.03

5

95
.26

5

7.185

73.33

43.64

20
.1

4

43
.2

75

20.19

38.16

39
.9

8

21
.4

75

38.22
17

.4
05

16
.2

45

9.
84

5
31

.8
15

9.75

A7.115 13.68
3.87

588.3

5.
21

5
A1

0.
21

53
.3

7

6.135 6.
23

5

A2
4.

98

20
.03

5

24
.9

25

29.405

17.37

36.875

20
.4

35

A3
4.

64
5

594.3

36.61

1.
36

5

12
7.

98
5

592.1
18

.90

7.925

17
3.6

35

594.3

30.69

10
0.

13
5

92.38
62

.0
55

51.3

6.6
7

20.19

9.
76

1

6.565

11

7

6

5

4

3

2

44
.5

35

P
t. 

30
1

ROAD 2 ROAD 2

R
O

AD
 1

ROAD 3 ROAD 3

LO
T 

50
1

 L
O

T 
10

1

LO
T 

50
3

LO
T 

40
1

LO
T 

20
1

LO
T 

10
3

LO
T 

10
2

LO
T 

50
2

ROAD 4

R
O

S
S

  S
TR

E
E

T

TOXTETH   ROAD

JO
HN

ST
O

N'
S 

   
   

   
   

   
CR

EE
K

TH
E 

   
   

  C
R

ES
C

EN
T

D
A

O
R  

  LL
E

W
X

A
M

CHAPMAN

MIN
OGUE 

 

    
  C

RES
CEN

T

WIGRAMROAD

E
N

AL     
K

C
O

R
E

N
AL  

  
N

EL
G

BOYCE STREET

ARCADIA  ROAD

ARCADIA   LANE

4.53

A
0.

65
5

A1
.4

2

14.54

2.
17

5

A1
.5

6

ROAD

p 
h 

:  
 ( 

0 
2 

)  
 4

 3
 0

 5
 4

 3
 0

 0
   

  f
 a

 x
 : 

  (
 0

 2
 ) 

  4
 3

 0
 5

 4
 3

 9
 9

   
 c

 o
 a

 s
 t 

@
 a

 d
 w

 j 
o 

h 
n 

s 
o 

n 
. c

 o
 m

 . 
au

   
   

a 
b 

n 
  6

 2
  1

 2
 9

  4
 4

 5
  3

 9
 8

0m

10

20

80

40

Ba
r 

Sc
al

e 
  1

: 
80

0 
(A

1)
, 

1:
 1

60
0 

(A
3)

P
T.

 1
04

north

A5.295

20
.4

35

21.555

21.05
92.38

A1
.4

2

14.54

2.
17

5

15
.25

5

66.87

A2
.0

45

11
.4

7

21
.7

4

99
.6

65

12.15

A
6.

72
5

A
4.

24

26.82 A25.925

11

44
.5

35

A1
.5

6

1

17
.4

2

2.
99

5

8.815
14.21

16
.3

05
A1

6.
30

5
A1

6
30

5
AA1

6.
30

5

11
.4

7

0.
71

5
0.

71
5

0.
71

5
0.

71
5

13.765

59.17
20

.6
7

16
.5

75
1515

0.
7

0.

44.04

5.
27

5

49
.2

65

73.33

20
.1

4

38.16

39
.9

8

21
.4

75

38.22
17

.4
05

16
.2

45

9.
84

5
31

.8
15

9.75

20
.4

35

10
0.

13
5

20.19 20.19

9.
76

LE
G

EN
D

C
om

m
un

ity
 L

an
d 

- H
ar

ol
d 

Pa
rk

 (L
ot

 1
04

 o
nl

y)
 

Th
e 

bo
un

da
ry

 o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

 p
ar

k 
is

 d
ef

in
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

Tr
am

 S
he

ds
 

ea
st

er
n 

an
d 

no
rth

er
n 

fa
ca

de
.

Th
e 

bo
un

da
ry

 o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

 p
ar

k 
is

 d
ef

in
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

Tr
am

 S
he

ds
 

so
ut

he
rn

 fa
ca

de
 in

 th
is

 s
ec

tio
n 

on
ly.

PT
. 1

04

PT
. 1

04

P
T.

 3
02

P
T.

 3
02

H
A

R
O

LD
 P

A
R

K

P
ro

po
se

d 
R

ec
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n 
H

ar
ol

d 
Pa

rk

H
A

R
O

LD
 P

A
R

K

8



Attachment C 

Resolution of Council – 14 December 2020 
– Land Reclassification – Harold Park, 

Forest Lodge  

 

 

 

9



14 December 2020

Item 6.5

Land Reclassification - Harold Park, Forest Lodge

It is resolved that Council:

(A)        endorse the proposed resolution: "It is resolved to reclassify Lot 104 of Deposited Plan 
1179442 being known as Harold Park, as community land with a park categorisation in 
accordance with sections 31, 36(1) and (4)(c) of the Local Government Act 1993" for 
public notification; 

(B)        endorse the inclusion of Harold Park into the proposed Johnstons Creek Parklands 
Plan of Management; and

(C)       note that a further report to inform the outcomes of public notification and a 
recommendation on the reclassification to Council will follow a public notification period 
of 28 days.

Carried unanimously. 

X030693.001

 

10



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Land Classification - 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria 

File No: X036061.006 

Summary 

On 24 August 2020, Council endorsed the acquisition of 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria, and 
the notification of a proposed resolution to classify this land as operational land under the 
Local Government Act 1993.  

The City completed the purchase of 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria, on 21 December 2020 
and finalised an acquisition program that included 30 and 33-39 Mandible Street, Alexandria, 
endorsed by Council on 15 June 2020. These properties, together with the City-owned 41 
Mandible Street, Alexandria, acquired in 2012, will be consolidated for future redevelopment 
as a recreational precinct within 500 metres of the Green Square Railway Station.  

The properties at 30 and 33-39 Mandible Street, Alexandria, have been leased back to the 
vendor, Murrays Australia Pty Limited, with the City agreeing to similarly leaseback 25 
Mandible Street, Alexandria, to the vendor, Concrite Pty Ltd.  

A community land classification is intended to support the management of recreational open 
space and reserves. It is intended that once the properties comprising the larger 
development site are redeveloped by the City into a passive and recreational sporting 
precinct, Council’s approval will be sought to reclassify the properties as community land. 

Until the redevelopment of the site by the City is completed and the new recreational facility 
is operational, the application of a community land classification to the properties would be 
inconsistent with the management of the other City-owned land acquired for similar 
purposes. 

The properties at 30 and 33-39 Mandible Street, Alexandria, were classified as operational 
land on 14 December 2020.  

The proposed resolution to classify 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria, as operational land was 
publicly notified for an extended period of 36 days, commencing 23 December 2020 and 
closing 28 January 2021. No submissions were received. 

This report recommends the endorsement of the operational land classification to the land at 
25 Mandible Street, Alexandria.  

 

1

Item 6.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that Council classify the land known as 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria (being 
Lot 42 in Deposited Plan 789768), as operational land in accordance with section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 1993.  

Attachments 

Attachment A. Identification Plan 

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. On 15 June 2020, Council was briefed on the opportunity to acquire three contiguous 
sites adjoining the City owned property at 41 Mandible Street, Alexandria. Together, 
with a partial closure of Mandible Street, these properties have the potential to create a 
23,000 square metre passive and recreational sporting precinct. Refer to Attachment 
A: Identification Plan.  

2. On 29 June 2020, Council: 

(a) endorsed the acquisition of 30 and 33-39 Mandible Street, Alexandria, and the 
leaseback of both properties to the vendor, Murrays Australia Pty Limited 
(Murrays); 

(b) endorsed a proposed resolution to classify the properties at 30 and 33-39 
Mandible Street, Alexandria, as operational land; and 

(c) noted the negotiations with the vendor, Concrite Pty Ltd (Boral), for 25 Mandible 
Street, Alexandria, and endorsed in principle the acquisition of 25 Mandible 
Street, Alexandria, with a future report to Council to endorse the acquisition 
when commercial negotiations were finalised and a nonbinding heads of 
agreement was executed. 

3. On 24 August 2020, Council endorsed:  

(a) the acquisition of 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria, and the leaseback of the 
property to the vendor, Boral; and  

(b) a proposed resolution to classify 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria, as operational 
land in accordance with section 31 of the Local Government Act 1993. 

4. On 14 December 2020, Council resolved to endorse the classification of 30 and 33-39 
Mandible Street, Alexandria, as operational land in accordance with section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 1993. 

Classification of 25 Mandible Street Alexandria 

5. On 21 December 2020, the City completed the purchase of 25 Mandible Street, 
Alexandria.  

6. For the property to be classified as operational land under the Local Government Act 
1993, the City is required to classify the acquired land within three months of the 
acquisition, being no later than 19 March 2021. 

7. As the City has agreed to a leaseback to Boral as part of the acquisition of 25 
Mandible Street, Alexandria, the property must be classified as operational land to 
enable this lease to be granted. 

8. This approach is consistent with the classification of 30 and 33-39 Mandible Street, 
Alexandria, which was leased back to the vendor, Murrays.  

  

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

9. A community land classification is intended to support the management of recreational 
open space and reserves. Until the redevelopment of the site by the City is completed 
and the new recreational facility is operational, the application of a community land 
classification to the properties would be inconsistent with the management of the other 
City-owned land acquired for similar purposes. 

10. Once the properties comprising the larger development site are redeveloped by the 
City into a passive and recreational sporting precinct, Council’s approval will be sought 
to classify the site as community land. 

Key Implications 

Organisational Impact 

11. There is no organisational impact arising from this resolution to classify 25 Mandible 
Street, Alexandria, as operational land under the Local Government Act 1993. 

Relevant Legislation 

12. The following sections of the Local Government Act 1993 are relevant:  

(a) Section 25 requires all public land to be classified as either community or 
operational land; 

(b) Section 31(2) requires Council to classify newly acquired land as either 
operational or community land before the date of acquisition of the land or within 
three months from the date of acquisition of the land; 

(c) in satisfaction of section 31(3), the proposed resolution is consistent with other 
Acts applying to the land; and 

(d) Section 34 requires the proposed resolution to classify be publicly notified and 
made available for inspection by the public for a period of 28 days. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

13. The land must be classified by no later than 19 March 2021.   

Options 

14. If the land is not classified as operational land within three months of transfer to the 
City, it will revert to a community land classification in accordance with section 31(2A) 
of the Local Government Act 1993.  

15. As the City has agreed to a leaseback to Boral as part of the acquisition of 25 
Mandible Street, Alexandria, the property must be classified as operational land to 
enable this lease to be granted. 

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Public Consultation 

16. The proposed resolution to classify 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria, as operational land 
was publicly notified for an extended period of 36 days, commencing 23 December 
2020 and closing 28 January 2021.  

17. No submissions were received. 

AMIT CHANAN 

Director City Projects and Property 

Nicholas Male-Perkins, Commercial Manager 

5



Attachment A 

Identification Plan     

6



 

 

 

 

 

 

7



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Affordable Housing Opportunity - City Owned Land 

File No: X034484.004 

Summary 

Affordable rental housing is critical social infrastructure necessary to support a diverse and 
well-functioning city. Increasing the amount of affordable rental housing available for lower 
income households is an urgent priority for the City. Sustainable Sydney 2030 aims for a 
"wider range of housing so people who provide vital city services can afford to live in the 
city". It has a target of 7.5 per cent of all private dwelling stock to be affordable (rental) 
housing and 7.5 per cent to be social housing. 

The City has been investigating and implementing opportunities for promoting the 
development of affordable and diverse housing. Initiatives implemented include planning 
agreements, development agreements, rezoning, affordable housing levy programs, 
development on its own surplus land, establishing the Affordable and Diverse Housing Fund 
and making direct financial contributions.  

On 14 December 2020, Council resolved to commit to work to ensure affordable housing 
developed from City-owned land or from land provided to affordable housing providers with 
in-kind support from the City of Sydney, delivers ten per cent Aboriginal Affordable Housing. 

The City has a strong commitment to affordable housing and over the last 10 years has 
divested of several properties that were identified as surplus to the City's service needs or 
were transferred to the City through voluntary planning agreements. 

The City's recent property divestments  to increase the supply of affordable housing include 
the former Redfern Depot site and surplus sites along the Green Square to Ashmore 
Connector. At Redfern, St George Community Housing is currently constructing 160 
affordable and social housing units for delivery in mid-2021. At Green Square, negotiations 
are being finalised with City West Housing for delivery of approximately 200 units, whilst St 
George Community Housing is planning to delivery of approximately 106 units by late 2022. 

The City's ongoing review of its property portfolio as part of its Strategic Asset Management 
objectives tests the suitability of individual properties to meet the City's core service delivery 
objectives.  

Properties identified as possible sites for affordable housing  are tested to determine if they 
present viable opportunities to increase the supply of affordable housing within the local 
area.   

  

1

Item 7.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Where viable opportunities are identified, the City's principal objective is to expedite the 
delivery of affordable housing into the market which it achieves through:  

(a) pricing reflecting a substantial reduction from market value; 

(b) selecting well-funded, highly experienced development and management 
partners with a strong track record in construction delivery, design quality and 
sustainability, coupled with an ongoing management of the building and 
residents; and  

(c) a caveat registered on title that legally requires the land to be used for affordable 
and social housing in perpetuity. 

This report identifies a surplus site, being part of a site at 44-54 Bourke Road, Alexandria, 
which is suitable for affordable housing development within proximity to Green Square 
Station. The City has been approached by Bridge Housing Pty Limited to acquire and 
develop this surplus parcel to assist in meeting the need for affordable housing.  

This report recommends entering negotiations with Bridge Housing Pty Limited for the sale, 
development and ongoing management of this property for affordable housing in perpetuity.  

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council endorse the sale and transfer of the property identified herein as proposed Lot 
3 in unregistered plan (being part of 44-54 Bourke Road, Alexandria) to Bridge 
Housing Pty Limited to be developed and managed as affordable housing in 
perpetuity;  

(B) Council endorse that at the time of sale the property will be subject to registration of a 
restriction on the title to the land to ensure the land is used in perpetuity for affordable 
housing; 

(C) Council note that 10 per cent of dwellings developed are to be for Aboriginal 
Affordable Housing; 

(D) Council endorse the initial price for the property to be negotiated at market value as 
supported by valuation and to contract at an adjusted market value reflecting a 
reduction of 50 per cent of the market value, noting the comments within this report 
and within Confidential Attachment B to the subject report;  

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, execute and 
administer the contract of sale and all relevant documentation relating to the sale and 
development of the property, including registration of a restriction on the title to the 
land to ensure this property is used in perpetuity for affordable housing;  

(F) Council endorse the allocation of sale proceeds to be placed into the Commercial 
Properties Reserve to allow for future reinvestment in commercial property, further 
supplementing the City’s non-rate-based income; and 

(G) Council note the subsidy of 50 per cent of the market value as the City's contribution to 
affordable housing within the Local Government Area.  

Attachments 

Attachment A. Identification Plans 

Attachment B. Commercial Considerations (Confidential) 

Attachment C. Expression of Interest - Bridge Housing (Confidential) 

  

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. Affordable rental housing is critical social infrastructure necessary to support a diverse 
and well-functioning city. Increasing the amount of affordable rental housing available 
for lower income households is an urgent priority for the City. Sustainable Sydney 
2030 Direction 8 – Housing for a Diverse Population– aims for a "wider range of 
housing so people who provide vital city services can afford to live in the city". It has a 
target of 7.5 per cent of all private dwelling stock to be affordable (rental) housing and 
7.5 per cent to be social housing. 

2. The City's Local Housing Strategy – Housing for All – adopted by Council in February 
2020, establishes a 20-year vision for housing. It seeks to increase the diversity and 
number of homes available for low-income households and maintains the Sustainable 
Sydney 2030 social and affordable housing targets. Based on a private dwelling target 
of about 160,000 to 2036, an estimated 12,000 affordable rental dwellings are required 
to achieve the City’s target. A substantial increase in the number of affordable housing 
dwellings is required. 

3. The City has been investigating and implementing opportunities for promoting the 
development of affordable and diverse housing. Initiatives implemented include: 
planning agreements, development agreements, rezoning, affordable housing levy 
programs, development on City of Sydney-owned surplus land, establishing the 
Affordable and Diverse Housing Fund and direct financial contributions.  

4. As a result, the City of Sydney will have directly, or indirectly, contributed to affordable 
and diverse housing projects which include: 68 Bay Street and 14 Cowper Street in 
Glebe; 895 Bourke Street, Waterloo; 74 Botany Road, Alexandria; Common Ground, 
Camperdown; South Sydney Hospital site; Harold Park; Hammond Care, Darlinghurst; 
and 11 Gibbons Street, Redfern. 

5. These projects account for more than 1,000 dwellings. Other projects underway 
include the development of the surplus lands along the Green Square to Ashmore 
Connector Road at Green Square.  

6. The City uses its planning powers to facilitate the delivery of affordable rental housing. 
Three affordable rental housing contribution schemes currently operate in the city, 
including at: 

(a) Ultimo/Pyrmont, introduced in 1996, which requires that 0.8 percent of residential 
floor area and 1.1 percent of commercial floor area be provided as affordable 
rental housing; 

(b) Green Square, introduced in 1999, which requires that three per cent of 
residential floor area and one per cent of commercial floor area be provided as 
affordable rental housing; and 

(c) Southern Enterprise Area (called the Southern Employment Lands in the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012), introduced in 2015, which requires that three 
per cent of residential floor area and one per cent of commercial floor area be 
provided as affordable rental housing. 

7. In September 2018, Council approved a contribution scheme across the local area that 
will apply to land outside Green Square, Ultimo and Pyrmont or the Southern 
Employment Lands. The scheme will facilitate over 1,000 additional affordable rental 
dwellings if approved by the NSW Government.  

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

8. The City also introduced preferential zoning for affordable rental housing on land 
zoned B7 – Business Park, where residential development is not otherwise permitted. 
This keeps land affordable for community housing providers and government who are 
seeking to purchase land in these areas to develop affordable rental housing. The 
property subject of this report benefits from this zoning.   

9. The City uses planning agreements for affordable rental housing outcomes when 
changes are being made to planning controls, for example in Harold Park when it was 
rezoned in 2009 and for Bay Street, Glebe in 2014. 

10. In addition to using the planning framework to encourage affordable rental housing, the 
City also materially supports the provision of affordable rental housing and has 
contributed approximately $27.5 million over the last 10 years. This has included 
grants to non-government organisations, as well as granting or selling land below cost 
to community housing providers. 

11. As at December 2020, the following affordable rental dwellings are estimated:   

(a) 1070 affordable housing dwellings have been built since 1995, of which 859 are 
owned and managed by City West Housing; 

(b) 629 affordable rental housing dwellings are in the pipeline, including 
developments where a development application has been lodged or has been 
approved, or where the development is under construction; and 

(c) 1,925  affordable rental housing dwellings are projected under exiting planning 
controls or planning controls currently under consideration by the NSW 
Government.  

12. Altogether, 3,624 affordable rental dwellings are built, in the pipeline or projected. This 
equates to 30 percent of the 7.5 percent affordable rental dwelling target (12,000 
dwellings) for 2036.  

The Property: Proposed Lot 3 Part 44-54 Bourke Road, Alexandria 

13. The property identified is residual surplus land from the acquisition of property to form 
the Green Square to Ashmore Connector Road extending from Botany Road across 
O'Riordan Street to Bourke Road.  

14. The surplus land is a prominent irregular shaped parcel of approximately 803 square 
metres with frontage to Bourke Road and adjoining the Green Square to Ashmore 
Connector Road along its southern boundary and the City-owned community facility at 
32-42 Bourke Road to the north.  

15. The property is within walking distance of Green Square Station and the Town Centre, 
local amenities and recreational facilities.  

16. The property lies to the west of surplus lands between Botany Road and O'Riordan 
Street that are being developed as affordable housing by St George Community 
Housing and City West Housing.  

17. Further detail including indicative values is captured in Attachment B - Commercial 
Considerations (Confidential).  

5



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Asset Disposal for Affordable Housing - Key Objectives  

18. The City's principal strategic objective in the sale of surplus or undeveloped land for 
affordable housing is the expeditious delivery of quality affordable housing.  

19. The City's criteria in this respect is driven by achieving a financial outcome relative to 
the primary objective of increasing stock and ensuring its longevity.  

20. The criteria applied to determining a delivery and managing partner to meet the City's 
strategic objectives are:  

(a) experience delivering affordable and/or social housing developments on both 
high and low density and complex sites; 

(b) the operating model for affordable and/or social housing, including target 
group(s), proposed rentals, dwelling types and number, and proposed 
commercial strategy;  

(c) demonstrated capacity to deliver and implement expeditiously to high standards; 

(d) demonstrated design quality on previous projects and strategy to achieve design 
excellence and ecologically sustainable outcomes; and  

(e) capability of the project team, including previous partners, consultants and 
contractors used. 

Bridge Housing 

21. Bridge Housing Pty Limited (Bridge Housing) is a leading Tier 1 registered Community 
Housing Provider (CHP) under the National Regulatory System, with a proven capacity 
to develop and manage housing to the highest standard.  

22. Bridge Housing currently manages 3,400 properties across Sydney, housing over 
5,000 people with over 450 of these properties within the City's local government area. 

23. Bridge Housing has actively participated in previous Expressions of Interest for 
development and management of affordable housing on City-owned land.  

24. Bridge Housing has previously successfully demonstrated its capacity to meet the 
City's criteria. Further details of the prospective purchaser's funding capacity are 
provided in Attachment B - Commercial Considerations (Confidential). 

  

6



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

25. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - the City of Sydney 
aims to achieve an affordable housing development well located near existing 
and future services. These developments will provide low cost accommodation 
for the key workers who are essential to the efficient functioning of the city. 

(b) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - the City of Sydney is 
seeking to contribute to housing diversity, providing low cost accommodation to 
ensure a mix of people can live in the city, not only the very wealthy. 

(a) Direction 8 - Housing for a Diverse Population - the City of Sydney is seeking 
to provide affordable housing for a diverse population on low incomes. The 
proposed sale and transfer of the City's properties for development and 
management of social and affordable housing in perpetuity will contribute to 
increase the stock of rental housing. 

(b) Direction 10 - Implementation through Effective Governance and Partnerships - 
the City of Sydney works to identify well-funded, highly experienced and 
reputable development and operational partners to ensure this much needed 
affordable housing stock is delivered expeditiously into the market. 

Organisational Impact 

26. There is limited impact on service, staffing and facilities with the sale and development 
of this property for affordable housing in perpetuity. 

Risks 

27. The City mitigates delivery risk by selecting partners that have a strong track record in 
development and management with demonstrated funding and acceptance of the 
City's covenant requiring the use in perpetuity as affordable housing. 

Social / Cultural / Community 

28. Redevelopment of these sites for affordable housing will create valuable new stock in 
the City's local area for a diverse range of residents.  

29. Council has committed to work to ensure affordable housing developed from City-
owned land or land provided to affordable housing providers with in-kind support from 
the City of Sydney, delivers ten per cent Aboriginal Affordable Housing. Bridge 
Housing shares the City's values and this initiative will be a contractual obligation 
forming part of the proposed sale to Bridge Housing.  

  

7



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Environmental 

30. Bridge Housing shares the City's commitment to environmental sustainability, actively 
implementing initiatives to reduce environmental impact, carbon emissions and 
resource impact across all areas of its business.  

31. Bridge Housing's sustainability focus is embedded in the Bridge Housing Design 
Guidelines which go beyond minimum BASIX compliance and aim to achieve an 
average NatHERS rating of seven stars across all developments.  

Financial Implications 

32. This property is identified as surplus to the City's needs.  

33. The discount on disposal from full market value, as part of this transaction, represents 
a further contribution by the City to affordable housing. 

34. The proceeds from the disposal of this surplus property will be dedicated to the City's 
Commercial Property Reserve to allow future investment in commercial property, 
further supplementing the City's non rate-based income.  

Relevant Legislation 

35. The proposed Lot 3 forms part of land that is classified as operational under the Local 
Government Act 1993 (the Act) and as such there is no legislative impediment to 
Council endorsing the sale.  

36. Under section 377 of the Act (which contains the general power of a council to 
delegate), a council may, by resolution, delegate certain functions, but not the function 
to sell land or other property. 

37. Section 55(3)(d) of the Act provides that Council does not have to invite tenders before 
selling land. Council can choose not to sell by tender, auction or similar public process.  

38. The contract documentation will be prepared in accordance with the Conveyancing Act 
1919. 

39. Local Government Act 1993 - Section 10A provides that a council may close to the 
public so much of its meeting as comprises the discussion of information that would, if 
disclosed, confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the council is 
conducting (or proposes to conduct) business.  

40. Attachments B and C contain confidential information which, if disclosed, would: 

(a) confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the City is conducting (or 
proposes to conduct) business; and  

(b) prejudice the commercial position of the person who supplied it.  

8



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

41. Bridge Housing have confirmed secured funding for the acquisition and development 
of this property. Design works and planning approvals are expected to take around two 
years, with construction commencing thereafter.    

42. Bridge Housing will provide a detailed project program subject to endorsement of the 
recommendation. 

Options 

43. The City's approach in Expressions of Interest for its most recent transactions has 
been to nominate the price therefore ensuring applicants are focused on 
demonstrating funding capacity, sustainability, delivery experience and management 
quality. 

44. Whilst the affordable housing market is maturing, the City's risk management requires 
the highest level of certainty around the funding and delivery capacity of proponents. 
The most recent Expressions of Interest in 2017 identified a handful of top tier 
community housing providers (including Bridge Housing) that meet the criteria required 
to limit the City's exposure to financial and delivery risk. The proposal by Bridge 
Housing provides an opportunity to engage with an alternate Community Housing 
Provider. 

Public Consultation 

45. The disposal of property does not require public consultation in the form of exhibition 
or notification. 

AMIT CHANAN        KIM WOODBURY 

Director, City Projects and Property    Chief Operating Officer 

Lila Contziu, Manager Green Square and Urban Renewal 

Nicholas Male-Perkins, Commercial Manager 

9



Attachment A 

Identification Plans       

 

 

 

10



Moore Park Road

Crescent Street

St James Road

Lin
k Roa

d

Bou
rk

e
Roa

d

Raglan Street

Railway Parade

Hunt Street

Burton Street

Phillip Street

Cowper

W
ha

rf
R

oa
d

Market Street

W
entworth

Park R
oad

Lang Road

Jo
yn

to
n

Av
en

ue

Vi
ct

o r
ia

S
tre

e t

B
ou

rk
e

S
tre

et

Bridge Street

C
ro

w
n

S
tre

e t

M
ac

qu
ar

ie
S

tr e
et

Carillon Avenue

Wentw
orth

Ave
nue

Devonshire Street

Pier Street

H
ar

bo
ur

S
t re

e t

Collins Street

Albion Street

Ea
st

er
n

Di
st

rib
u t

or

W
es

t e
rn

D
i s

tr
ib

ut
or

Western Distributor

R
eg

en
t S

tre
et

King
Street

W
yndham

Street

Cahill Expressway

C
ro

w
n

St
re

et

So
ut

he
rn

C
ro

ss
D

riv
e

Abercrombie Street

Ne
ild

 A
ve

nu
e

Sydney Park Road

Henderson Road

Ea
st

er
n

D
i s

tr
ib

ut
or

Le
e

St
re

et

Lachlan Street

W
attle

Street

Minogue Crescent

Pyrmont Brid
ge Road

W
es

te
rn

D
is

tr
ib

ut
or

Parramatta Road

Copeland Street

Druitt Street

The
C

rescent

Bayswater Road

Mclachlan Avenue

Swanson Street

G
ib

bo
ns

S t
re

et

Dacey Avenue

Pr
in

ce
s

H
ig

hw
ay

Oxford Street

King Street

Cross City Tunnel

Gardeners Road

Broadway

Bourke Stre
et

City
Road

Erskineville Road

Railw
ay Squar

e

Mcevoy Street

Bathurst Street

Cleveland Street

Fountain Street

A
nza c

Para de

Ross Street

William Street

So
ut

h
D

ow
lin

g
St

re
et

Sy dne y
H

a rbou r Tunnel

Br
ad

fie
ld

Hi
gh

wa
y

Grosvenor Street

York
St r eet

Park Street

C
ol

le
ge

S
tr e

et

Cahill Expressway

Liverpool Street

G
eo

rg
e

St
re

et

Goulburn Street

G
e o

rg
e

S t
re

e t

Py
rm

on
t B

rid
ge

Road

Fig Street

Bellevue Road

Willia
m Henry Street Harris

Street

Brid
ge Road

St Johns Road

Wigram
Road

G
lebe

Point Road

Wilson Street

M
itc

he
ll R

oa
d

Huntley Street

R
ot

h s
ch

ild
Av

e n
ue

D
al

m
en

y
A

ve
nu

e

Epsom Road

Bourke Road

Bot
an

y Road

B
o t

an
y

R
o a

d

El
iz

ab
et

h
St

re
et

El
iz

ab
et

h 
St

re
et

B
ap

t is
t S

t r
ee

tC
ha

l m
er

s
S

t re
e t Cleveland Street

La
ng

 R
oa

d

Flinders S
treet

Foveaux Street

E
liz

ab
et

h 
S

tre
et

P
itt

S
tr

e e
t

D
ar

lin
gh

ur
st

R
oa

d

M
ac

l e
ay

S
t re

et

Bound ary Stre
et

Salisbury Road

O'DeaAvenue

O'R
io

rd
an

St
re

et

O
'R

io
rd

an
St

re
et

CockleCockle
BayBay

AlexandraAlexandra
CanalCanal

DuckDuck
PondPond

SydneySydney
CoveCove

FarmFarm
CoveCove

Wool loomoolooWool loomooloo
BayBay

WalshWalsh
BayBay

RozelleRozelle
BayBay BlackwattleBlackwattle

BayBay

WhiteWhite
BayBay

El izabethEl izabeth
BayBay

RushcuttersRushcutters
BayBay

Darl ingDarl ing
HarbourHarbour

JohnstonsJohnstons
BayBay

PortPor t
JacksonJackson

MarrickvilleMarrickville
CouncilCouncil

City ofCity of
Botany BayBotany Bay

RandwickRandwick
CityCity

CouncilCouncil

WoollahraWoollahra
MunicipalMunicipal
CouncilCouncil

LeichhardtLeichhardt
MunicipalMunicipal
CouncilCouncil

Sydney
Aquarium

Cockle
Bay Wharf

Sydney
Convention

Centre

Sydney
Entertainment

Centre

Central
Railway
Station

Sydney
Tower

Sydney
Cricket
Ground

Sydney
Town Hall

Queen
Victoria
Building

Sydney
Exhibition

Centre

State
Library
of NSW

Sydney
Opera
House

Sydney
Harbour
Bridge

Harold
Park

Raceway

Royal South
Sydney Health

Complex

Royal Prince
Alfred

Hospital

The
University
of Sydney

Wentworth Park
Greyhound Track

The
Powerhouse

Museum

University of
Technology,

Sydney (UTS)

Australian
Technology

Park

Hordern
Pavillion

Royal
Hall of

Industries

The
Enterntainment

Quarter

UNSW College
of Fine Arts

St Vincents
Hospital

Caritas Centre
National

Art School

St Vincents
Private

Hospital

Star City
Casino Hotel &

Enterntainment Centre

Land
Titles
Office

Sydney Hospital
& Sydney

Eye Hospital

St Lukes
Hospital

Australian
National

Maritime Museum

Aussie
Stadium

Art Gallery
of New

South Wales

Australian
Museum

Sydney
Passenger
Terminal

Anzac
Bridge

TAFE NSW Sydney
Institute -

Ultimo College

University
of Notre Dame

Australia

NSW Cricket
Academy & Indoor

Cricket Centre

Sydney
Fish

Markets

Chinese
Gardens

Paddy's
Markets

ICity of Sydney Local Government Area - LGA Boundary
Copyright ©2015 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2015 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or 
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high 
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS 
Group of any map discrepancies.  No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0 0.5 10.25
Kilometres

Date: 14/04/20
File: GraffitiLGA.mxd

M
itc

he

dddPrP oposed Loooot t t t 

hhee
llll RR

ooaa
dd 3333   

PaaaartPaaaart 44 5444444-54 4 4 4 BoBoBoBoururururkekekekeBoBoBoBoururururkekekeke RdRd, AlAlAlleeexe andrrrriaiaiaiaAlexexexexandrdrdrdriiaiaia
GREENNNGREEEENN SQSQSQUUUAREEESQQUAUU RERERE

u

GGGGGaaaarrrrddddeeeeennneeerrrrrssss RRRRRRRoooooaaaaaaddddd

RRRRRR
ooott

hh sss
cchh

iillldddddddddddddd
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvAAAAAAAA

eeeee nnnnnnnnnnn
uuuuuuuuuuuuuuueeeeeeeeeeeee

DDDDDDDDDDDDDD
aaaaaaaalll

mmmmm
eeeeeeeennnnnnn

yyyyy
AAAAAAAAAAA

vvvvvvvveeeeeeeeeee
nnnnnnnnnuuuu

eeeeeeee

BBBooott
aaaaaaaannnnnn

yyyyyyyyyyy RRoaaaaaaaaddddddddddddddddddddddddd

OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
''''RRRRRRRRRRRRR

iiiiiiiiiooooooooooooo
rrrrrddddddddd

aaaaaaaaaaaaaaannnnnnnnnnnnnn
SSSSSSnnnnnnnnn

ttttttrrrreeerrrr
eeeeetttttttttt

AAAAAlexandrAlexandrexandraaaAlAl dAlAl dddAl ddA aaaaaaaaAl dAl dAl dddAl ddAlAAAAlllAlexaAlexandrexandanndrrrexandraaaaAAl dAl dddAl ddAlAAlAlexaAlexandrexandandrrrexandraaaa
CCCCaCanCCanC aalCaCanC nnnalnaallC nnaallCCC llC llllC lllCCanCanalCaanaaaaaallCanCanaCCanCanCanaaaallalCanaCaCCannnnaaanaallCCananalaanaaallCaCanaCanCanCanaaaallalCanaCaCCannnaanal CityCityCitCitCityyyCityC yyyCitCitCCitCiCitCitCit ofofofofofofoffffCityCityCityCityCityCityCityCityCitytytCCityityCityitytyityty ofofofofofoffoffoffofofofofoCityCityCityCityCityCityyCityCityttCCitytyyytyyy ofofoffoffoffofoofofo

BotaBotaBotaBotaBBo yyyyyyyy yyyyyB tB tB tB tBBB ttBB t BBBBBBBBayayayayayayyyyyyyBotaBotaBotaBBBotaBotaBotaBotaBotaBotBotataBo ny Bny Bny Bny Bny y Bny Bny BBynyny By BayaayayaaayayyayaaaaayayyyayaBotaBBotaBBBotaBotaBotaBotaBotaBotBotatBo y Bny Bny Bny Bny Bny Bny BBy By Bayaayayayayayaaaaayyyyaya

11



Document is Restricted

12

CONFIDENTIAL 
By virtue of the Local Government Act 1993 Section 10A Paragraph 2



Document is Restricted

15

CONFIDENTIAL 
By virtue of the Local Government Act 1993 Section 10A Paragraph 2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2020 
 

Exemption from Tender - IT Maintenance and Support Contract 

File No: S064539 

Summary 

The City utilises a broad range of IT applications and appliances that are critical to the 
delivery of its business functions. Most of these have maintenance and support contracts in 
place that were established with suppliers at the time the products were procured and which 
have been updated as required since then. 

One of the City’s maintenance and support agreements now requires renewal. This 
agreement exceeds $250,000 over a five-year period as detailed at Attachment A.  

The existing supplier was evaluated as best value for money from a competitive tender 
process, and a repeat tender process is unlikely to yield a different outcome. 

The requirement to invite tenders in section 55(1) of the Local Government Act 1993 does 
not apply to those contracts if Council decides by resolution that, because of the 
unavailability of competitive or reliable tenderers, a satisfactory result would not be achieved 
because of the unavailability of successful tenderers (section 55(3)(i) of the Local 
Government Act 1993). 

This report recommends that Council grant the exemption from tender for the IT 
maintenance and support agreement detailed at Attachment A. 

  

1

Item 8.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2020 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve an exemption from tender for the agreement for the provision of the 
maintenance and support for the Online Business Services (OBS) and Non-Resident 
Register (NRR1) systems as detailed in Confidential Attachment A to the subject report 
upon the expiry of the current term, for a three-year period, with the option of an 
extension of two years if appropriate, noting that because of extenuating 
circumstances, a satisfactory result would not be achieved by inviting tenders in this 
case; 

(B) Council note the reason a satisfactory outcome would not be achieved by inviting 
tenders is that the existing supplier was previously evaluated as best value for money 
from a competitive tender process, and a repeat tender process is unlikely to yield a 
different outcome; 

(C) Council enter into the maintenance and support agreement with the supplier as 
detailed in Confidential Attachment A to the subject report, for annual renewal over a 
three-year period, with the option of an extension of a two-year period if appropriate; 
and 

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, execute and 
administer (including exercising options if appropriate) the maintenance and support 
agreement with the relevant supplier as detailed in Confidential Attachment A to the 
subject report. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. IT Maintenance and Support Agreement (Confidential) 

                                                
1 Council Electoral Roll 

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2020 
 

Background 

 The City has many software applications and hardware appliances that are in daily use 
and are critical to the delivery of its services to the community. The maintenance and 
support agreements associated with these IT applications and appliances have been 
established with suppliers and require periodic renewal.  

 Maintenance and support are essential to ensure the availability and reliability of 
software through guaranteeing vendor availability to troubleshoot and rectify errors. 
They also extend the lifecycle of an application or appliance through product 
enhancement and are in many cases integral to the licensing of the software.   

 In this case, the existing supplier was evaluated as best value for money from a 
competitive tender process, and a repeat tender process is unlikely to yield a different 
outcome.  

 This supplier was originally engaged in accordance with the City's procurement 
policies and procedures with the original maintenance and support agreement 
established for a three-year period with two fully exercised one-year options. This 
agreement extension exceeds $250,000 over the five-year period, as detailed in 
Confidential Attachment A.    

 This report recommends approval of renewal of the contract for the listed supplier for 
an additional three years, commencing on the expiry of the current contract periods, 
with the option of an extension of a two-year period if appropriate. 

Performance Measurement 

 Performance is reviewed annually and measured against the following criteria: 

(a) key outcomes / deliverables; 

(b) quality of work; 

(c) timeliness; 

(d) reporting; and 

(e) communication. 

Financial Implications 

 There are sufficient funds allocated for this maintenance and support agreement within 
the current year's operating budget and in future years' forward estimates. 

Relevant Legislation 

 The exemption from tender process is in accordance with the Local Government Act 
1993, the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 and the City’s Procurement 
and Contract Management Policy. 

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 15 February 2020 
 

 The Local Government Act 1993 - Section 10A provides that a council may close to 
the public so much of its meeting as comprises the discussion of information that 
would, if disclosed, confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the council 
is conducting (or proposes to conduct) business.  

 Attachment A to the subject report contains confidential commercial information which, 
if disclosed, would confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom Council is 
conducting (or proposes to conduct) business. 

 Discussion of the matter in an open meeting would, on balance, be contrary to the 
public interest because it would compromise Council's ability to negotiate fairly and 
commercially to achieve the best outcome for its ratepayers. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

 Renewal of this maintenance and support agreement can commence upon receipt of 
Council's approval. 

 The current maintenance and support agreement listed in Attachment A is due to 
expire in March this year (as further detailed in Attachment A). 

Options 

 The option exists to Tender for a new maintenance and support supplier for the Online 
Business Services (OBS) and Non-Resident Register (NRR) bespoke applications. 
However since both were designed, developed and have since been supported and 
maintained by the incumbent supplier, it would not be in the best interests of the City to 
change to a supplier with no knowledge of the applications, or how and why they were 
developed in the manner they were. This supplier was originally evaluated as best 
value for money from a competitive tender process, and a repeat tender process is 
unlikely to yield a different outcome. For these reasons, this option is not 
recommended. 

 There are no other substantially different options to this proposal. Maintenance and 
support extend the lifecycle of an IT application or appliance through product 
enhancements. 

Public Consultation 

 No public consultation has been undertaken. 

SUSAN PETTIFER 

Director People, Performance and Technology Services 

Kevin Wingrave, IT Project Manager, Technology and Digital Services 

4



Document is Restricted

5

CONFIDENTIAL 
By virtue of the Local Government Act 1993 Section 10A Paragraph 2



Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Ad Hoc Grant - Western Harbour Precinct - Business Improvement District 
Trial 

File No: X078788 

Summary 

Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited has approached the City of 
Sydney to support the establishment and trial of an adaptation of the internationally proven 
Business Improvement District model for Sydney’s Western Harbour. 

Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited (BID) is a newly formed 
company, formerly known as the Western Harbour Alliance. It has been established for the 
purpose of establishing and managing the Business Improvement District trial and its 
program of work in the Western Harbour. 

Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited aims to work with all 
stakeholders – government, local community and business – to bring together the raft of 
NSW Government and City of Sydney plans, and private sector capital investment projects, 
flagged across the precinct. It aims to optimise the precinct as it develops, as a great place 
to live, as well as a multi-dimensional but holistic strategic asset for Sydney and New South 
Wales. 

It is proposed that a three-year formal trial of the Business Improvement District model and 
approach commences in the first half of 2021. Genuine public sector and local community 
participation is essential for the effectiveness of this initiative. This report provides a 
summary of the proposed model and governance structure, consultation and engagement 
opportunities, program of activity, participation, and approach to implementation. 

This report recommends a $40,000 (excluding GST) cash grant by the City to the Sydney 
Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited. The cash grant will support the 
establishment of the Business Improvement District and initial launch budget over the three-
year trial. The trial will be evaluated rigorously and systematically by the University of 
Technology Sydney (UTS) (The Institute for Public Policy and Governance and member of 
the Business Improvement District) which has developed an evaluation methodology 
consistent with City of Sydney and NSW Treasury evaluation guidelines and latest 
evaluation best practice (see Attachment B).  

  

1

Item 9.



Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve a cash grant of $40,000 (excluding GST) to Sydney Western Harbour 
Business Improvement District Limited to support the establishment of the three-year 
Business Improvement District trial and initial launch budget; and 

(B) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive officer to negotiate, execute and 
administer an agreement with Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District 
Limited in relation to the grant described in (A) above. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Western Harbour Precinct - Business Improvement District Trial 

Attachment B. Western Harbour Business Improvement District Evaluation  

Attachment C. Western Harbour Precinct - Prospectus  

  

2



Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee 15 February 2021 
 

Background 

1. Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited, a company limited 
by guarantee, has proposed establishing and trialling a version of the internationally 
proven Business Improvement District model for Sydney's Western Harbour. This 
model was identified following detailed consultation between Western Harbour Alliance 
and its stakeholders, including the Committee for Sydney, who hosted Dr Julie Grail, a 
global expert on Business Improvement Districts, in Sydney in 2018. 

2. The proposed Western Harbour Business Improvement District trial provides the 
opportunity to design and test a tailored approach to the model specifically for the 
circumstances of the Western Harbour and Sydney, and to capture formally, the 
learnings of the trial.  

3. The Business Improvement District is currently working with a coalition of stakeholders 
across the Western Harbour. Participating organisations include UTS, Sydney Fish 
Market, Accor/Sofitel Darling Harbour, Australian National Maritime Museum, Google, 
Celestino, Markhams, Lendlease, Greaton Development, ICC Sydney, Mirvac, GPT, 
IMAX, The Star Entertainment Group and TransDev. The Business Improvement 
District is supported by the Accommodation Association of Australia, Committee for 
Sydney and Sydney Business Chamber. 

4. Importantly, the Business Improvement District has received significant support from 
the NSW Government of $150,000 per year for the three-year trial of the program to 
establish the trial and implement identified launch program initiatives. 

5. The Business Improvement District model proposed will offer the following benefits. It 
will: 

(a) recognise, align and harness the range of state and local government authorities 
and their jurisdictions, with local community and private sector interests in the 
precinct, under a common strategic vision and purpose to optimise the precinct 
and its value; 

(b) enable the Business Improvement District to leverage private sector funds with 
public sector resources to enable and accelerate already developed, “shovel-
ready” local amenity improvement, and job-, investment- and visitor-driving 
programs; 

(c) effectively and cost-efficiently stimulate the Western Harbour to play a key role in 
Sydney and NSW’s Covid-19 response, including as a major node in the 24-hour 
economy strategy’s “neon grid”; and 

(d) capture trial intellectual property through UTS evaluation methodology, to enable 
learnings to be applied to future enhanced Business Improvement District 
applications in other relevant locations. 

6. Clear and empowered governance is critical for the establishment, promotion and 
success of precincts that cross jurisdictional boundaries and is a current gap in this 
precinct in particular, and in Sydney generally.  

7. The Business Improvement District trial will be managed by a dedicated incorporated 
entity, Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited (BID). The 
Company is expected to provide voluntary membership classes for business members, 
as well as public sector and community organisation membership.  

3



Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee 15 February 2021 
 

8. The company mechanics under development recognise the difficulty (impossibility in 
some cases) of public sector representatives joining a corporate board, and therefore 
the critical interface between the private sector members, the local resident community 
and the public sector participants is intended to be administered via a “Business 
Improvement District Steering Committee” which will respect and sit between the 
Company on one hand, and the NSW Government and City of Sydney on the other. 
This mechanism will also enable appropriate and important local resident community 
participation and engagement. 

9. Dedicated advisory committees or working groups are planned to oversee the primary 
elements of the Business Improvement District's program of work and prioritisation. 
Local resident members and relevant officers from the City of Sydney will participate 
where appropriate in these working groups. 

10. The Business Improvement District seeks to deliver a range of initiatives, under three 
interrelated themes: 

(a) Mobility: a connected and legible precinct; 

(b) Activation: a vibrant 24/7/365 precinct; and 

(c) Promotion: a precinct recognised, sought-after and loved as a signature Sydney 
postcard. 

11. The program of initiatives is supported in principle. However, the detail of the program 
of activities as outlined in the accompanying draft prospectus needs to be further 
examined and tested to ensure there is a clearly identified user need for the proposed 
tactic; there is an established evidence base for the recommended program; and there 
is no existing platform/program that can be leveraged to avoid duplication in the 
market. This will be a condition of the grant being approved. The City of Sydney will 
work closely with the organisation to prioritise the program of work. 

12. Funds will be sourced on a voluntary basis from the major stakeholders located in the 
precinct, based on floor space under management together with consideration of the 
nature, function and purpose of the organisation concerned. The principal relationships 
will be between the Business Improvement District organisation and the major 
operators/landlords. Major landlords will opt in on behalf of their organisations, and 
their tenants, based on their evaluation of the program.    

13. The City will work closely with the Business Improvement District to ensure 
consultation and engagement with the local resident community, small to medium 
sized businesses in the precinct and the Pyrmont Chamber of Commerce. It is 
essential that in developing the agreed program of work, all groups and businesses 
are consulted, particularly if they are asked to contribute to funding. 

14. The footprint contemplated for the Western Harbour Precinct Business Improvement 
District trial is represented in the map below. The map responds to the need for the 
Business Improvement District to have a defined geographical footprint but is not 
intended to be rigidly set in stone. Adjacent complementary experience providers 
wishing to be involved could be included, while the voluntary nature of the trial means 
that some parties within the defined footprint may opt out. For example, the lease 
holders for Wharves 7 and 8 at Walsh Bay have sought to participate and are 
welcome.  

4



Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee 15 February 2021 
 

 

Figure 1: Western Harbour BID Geographical Footprint (indicative) 

15. The recommended grant of $40,000 to support the Business Improvement District 
three-year trial is commensurate with levels of funding provided via Business Support 
Grants for Chamber of Commerce organisations. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

16. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - Supporting the three-
year trial of the Business Improvement District responds to actions outlined in 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 - revitalised western edge of the city centre. 

(b) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - A key theme of the 
Business Improvement District is Mobility - to provide a connected and legible 
precinct and Pyrmont Metro responds to this direction. 

(c) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - Support for the Business 
Improvement District will see further development of the integrated and 
connected waterfront of the western harbour precinct. 

(d) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - The Business 
Improvement District includes the village area of Pyrmont and will seek to 
analyse local and visitor data to align all actions to support the 24-hour economy. 

(e) Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - Support for the Business 
Improvement District will ensure places of significant cultural importance are 
connected and provide a strong visitor experience for locals and visitors. 

5



Economic Development and Business Sub-Committee 15 February 2021 
 

(f) Direction 10 - Implementation through Effective Governance and Partnerships - 
Support for the Business Improvement District trial will allow the City to 
determine the effectiveness of this mechanism as a means of prioritising, 
enabling and accelerating strategic place-optimising programs in changing urban 
planning and management environments. 

Social / Cultural / Community 

17. Support for the Business Improvement District has the potential to positively impact 
Pyrmont and the surrounding local community and business communities to drive 
amenity and connectivity improvements, drive visitation, dwell time and spend, and 
make the Western Harbour precinct an even more attractive place to live, work, and 
play.  

Economic 

18. Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited was formed in 
response to opportunities and challenges emerging from several billion dollars of 
imminent development and investment across the Western Harbour.  

19. If strategically coordinated, the Western Harbour could generate an additional $2 
billion per annum for the NSW and Sydney economy and 10,000 new jobs by 2036, as 
determined by research from PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2015 (PwC). 

Financial Implications 

20. Funding for the grant amount of $40,000 (excluding GST) will be drawn from the 
2020/21 grants and sponsorship budget. This is a one-off payment to support the 
three-year trial. 

Relevant Legislation 

21. Section 356 of the Local Government Act 1993 provides that a council may, in 
accordance with a resolution of the council, contribute money or otherwise grant 
financial assistance to persons for the purpose of exercising its functions. The Sydney 
Western Harbour Business Improvement District Limited has been established as a 
not for profit corporate entity. 

KIM WOODBURY 

Chief Operating Officer 

Jennie Harris, Economic Strategy Advisor 

6



 

Attachment A 

Western Harbour Precinct – Business 
Improvement District Trial 

  

7



 

 

Western Harbour Precinct – Business Improvement District trial 
City of Sydney Ad Hoc Grant proposal – January 7, 2021 
 
Executive summary 
 
Establishing (and formally trialling) a version of the internationally-proven Business 
Improvement District model for Sydney’s Western Harbour has been proposed by the draft 
Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy, the Pyrmont Economic Development Strategy, and the 
Western Harbour Alliance, the Committee for Sydney and the Sydney Business Chamber. 
 
The model offers the following benefits: 
• Recognise, align and harness the range of state and local government authorities and their 

jurisdictions, with the major private sector interests in the Precinct and the local community, 
under a common strategic vision and purpose to optimise the Precinct and its value 

• Provide a mechanism to consolidate and align the large programs of work in progress – 
including the new Sydney Fish Market, Barangaroo Central and the Pyrmont Station on 
Metro West – across multiple Government jurisdictions, to optimise the experience – 
both during and after the development works – for local residents and visitors. 

• Leverage private sector funds with public sector resources to enable and accelerate 
already developed, “shovel-ready” local amenity improvement, and job-, investment- 
and visitor-driving programs 

• Effectively and cost-efficiently stimulate the Western Harbour to play a key role in 
Sydney and NSW’s COVID-19 response, including as a major node in the 24-hour 
economy strategy’s “neon grid” 

• Proactive NSW Government and City of Sydney response to the recommendations of 
Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy, the Pyrmont Economic Development Strategy, and 
the Western Harbour Alliance, the Committee for Sydney and the Sydney Business 
Chamber, continuing the commitment to optimising Pyrmont and the Western Harbour 
as the gateway to the CBD and a signature shopfront for Sydney 

• Captured trial intellectual property through UTS evaluation methodology, to enable 
learnings to be applied to future enhanced BID application in other relevant locations. 

 
This paper summarises the proposed program, model, participation, governance and 
approach to implementation. Its companion piece is a three-page summary slide deck, 
providing a rapid reference for the time poor reader. It seeks to balance the need to 
demonstrate substantial and mature planning, with the desire to enable further NSW 
Government and City of Sydney input to the final model, program of work and governance. 
 

It supports the launch of a three-year formal trial of the model and approach, commencing 
in the first half of calendar 2021. The trial will be evaluated rigorously and systematically 
using NSW Treasury-recognised methodology developed by UTS.  
 

Genuine public sector and community participation is essential for the effectiveness of this 
initiative. To this end, a formal commitment of $450,000 support and has been secured 
from the NSW Government (three years @ $150,000 per year). The Sydney Western 
Harbour Business Improvement District companyi is seeking a one-off $40,000 investment in 
the venture, to complete the required enabling budget, and to demonstrate the City’s 
intention to fully participate. 

8



 

 

Responses to City of Sydney Knowledge Exchange Sponsorship specific criteria 
 
1. Demonstrated need for the project and the impact of the proposed outcomes 

The need for, and opportunity available via the proposed Western Harbour BID Trial was 
initially identified by the Western Harbour Alliance with PwC in 2015, and since 
described in plans developed by the Alliance with Roberts Day (2018-19), and by NSW 
Government (Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy, 2020; Pyrmont Economic Development 
Strategy 2020).  The need for the project and the impacts expected to be generated are 
expanded upon under Why trial a BID in Sydney’s Western Harbour Precinct? (p4 below) 
and Western Harbour BID Trial concept – opportunity and approach (p6 below). 

 
2. How the project is innovative in content, design or approach, and/or how it 

contributes to the reputation of Sydney as an innovative city 
Formal, legally enabled Business Improvement Districts are an established and proven 
model for precinct-optimising collaborations, operating in more than 3,000 individual 
locations across the world, largely concentrated in Canada, the United States, United 
Kingdom and New Zealand. They do not yet exist in this way in Australia. The proposed 
Western Harbour BID Trial provides the opportunity to design and test a tailored 
approach to the model specifically for the circumstances of the Western Harbour and 
Sydney, and to capture formally the learnings of the trial. By doing so, Sydney has the 
opportunity to join and even lead the international BID movement, by innovating the 
model in a rigorously evidenced manner, that will allow Sydney to provide a credible 
contribution to the BID conversation in international city planning and management.  

 
3. Alignment with our community recovery plan and other strategic directions, sector 

strategies and action plans 
The Western Harbour BID Trial responds directly and specifically to the State’s COVID19 
response strategy and CBA Activation Plans by enabling and accelerating already 
developed, “shovel-ready” local amenity improvement, and job-, investment- and 
visitor-driving programs, and enabling sustained activation and promotion of the 
Western Harbour as a key destination for Sydney’s economy and visitor economy. It will 
stimulate the Western Harbour to play a major role in Sydney and NSW’s COVID-19 
response, including as a feature node in the 24-hour economy strategy’s “neon grid”, 
and support collaborative response to the recommendations of Pyrmont Peninsula Place 
Strategy, and the Pyrmont Economic Development Strategy. 

 
4. Evidence of partnerships with other government agencies, universities, peak 

organisations, business or community organisations and their contribution to the 
project 
NSW Government Treasury and the Department of Planning and Environment, Place 
Management NSW, Transport for NSW, Department of Customer Service and 
Destination NSW are all actively engaged participants in the Western Harbour BID Trial 
venture and will be collaborators in the program delivery. UTS is a foundation partner, 
and active provider of Program monitoring and evaluation. The Sydney Business 
Chamber and the Committee for Sydney have been longstanding active participants and 
supporters of the initiative, providing strategic advice and advocacy, as well as logistical, 
legal and administrative support. 

9



 

 

 
5. Contribution to the development of the industry sector and local community 

The Western Harbour BID Trial initiative exists explicitly and specifically to optimise the 
Precinct as a place to live, work and visit and as a strategic asset for Sydney, by 
supporting the development of the relevant priority industry sectors identified in the 
Pyrmont Economic Development Strategy (including the Knowledge Sector and the 
Visitor Economy), and encouraging complementary enhancements of resident amenity 
(including those described in the Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy, such as transport 
access, connectivity, legibility and mobility). While by definition a Business-led initiative, 
this is not incompatible with the BID’s aspiration to optimise Pyrmont for residents as a 
place to live. On the contrary, the need to engage and enthuse the resident community, 
and recognise, protect and promote the heritage character of Pyrmont Village, will be an 
important differentiating element of the Western Harbour’s authentic, quintessentially 
Sydney attraction proposition. The local community will be fully engaged in planning, 
prioritisation and communication of the BID programs of work. 

 
6. The projected outcomes of marketing initiatives associated with the project, including 

those of partners and supporters 
Activating and promoting the Western Harbour is one of the three primary areas of 
activity within the BID Program of Work. High-level target outcomes are outlined under 
Program of Work (p7 below) and captured in the Program Logic summary attached 
separately. These include positioning the Western Harbour as a major entertainment 
and tourism hub, with global profile and national and international recognition as a 
world class waterfront. A key performance indicator for the Program will be the Precinct 
attracting more international and interstate tourists and retaining them in Sydney for 
longer. 

 
7. Demonstrated capacity and expertise to carry out the project 

As the Western Harbour Alliance has evolved into the SWHBID Co, it has retained the 
high qualified capability of senior executives from participating companies, and the 
support for senior state and local government personnel. The BID Co Foundation Board 
directors are all CEOs or equivalent. The BID Co has contracted the consultancy services 
of Dr Julie Grail, the UK-based world expert on Business Improvement Districts, to advise 
the company on key establishment and planning matters. The establishment phase 
anticipates the recruitment of relevant qualified and experienced executive personnel, 
to manage the company and the program of work. 
 

8. Extent to which the event minimises impact on the environment or raises awareness 
of the environmental issues that align with our Sustainable Sydney 2030 
environmental targets if relevant 
While the initiative is not fundamentally an event, any major events implemented under 
the BID’s Activation and Promotion workstream will respect the City’s Sustainable 
Sydney 2030 aspirations. 
 

9. Provision of required supporting documentation. 
All relevant support documentation is attached.  

10



 

 

Introduction 
 
What is a Business Improvement District? 
 
A business improvement district (BID) is a defined area within which businesses contribute a 
levy in order to fund agreed projects within the district's boundaries. The BID is often 
funded primarily through the levy but can also draw on other public and private funding 
streams. These districts typically fund services and activities which are perceived by the 
businesses as being inadequately performed by government with its existing tax revenues. 
The services provided by BIDs are supplemental to those already provided by the 
municipality. The BID model emerged in North America in the 1950s, and there are now an 
estimated 3,000 individual BIDs across the world, largely concentrated in Canada, the 
United States, United Kingdom and New Zealand. BIDs in those places rely on legislation 
that obliges all relevant landowners and/or businesses in a prescribed area to contribute the 
levy, if more than 50% of landowners/businesses vote to do so. (No such legislation is 
proposed at this time in NSW). New York City, for example, has 74 districts operating under 
BIDs, including the world-renowned Meatpacking District with its signature Highline Park.  
 
 
Why trial a BID in Sydney’s Western Harbour Precinct? 
 
The Committee for Sydney and the Western Harbour Allianceii have advocated for the trial 
of a BID for the Western Harbour Precinct in Sydney since the Committee hosted Dr Julie 
Grail, a global expert on BIDs, in Sydney in October 2018. The trial would necessarily be on a 
voluntary basis for participating landowners/businesses, as no enabling legislation is 
contemplated at this time. 
 
The Alliance’s 2018-2019 foundational planning highlighted the need for appropriate co-
ordinated oversight to enable the strategic potential of the Precinct to be realised. That 
potential (and the challenge) is derived from a unique confluence of circumstances right 
now – including the potential for further private sector investment in the Precinct by 2030. 
This further stimulus (on top of several billion dollars recently/currently being invested in 
the ICC Sydney, Barangaroo South and Darling Square) will augment the existing mature 
high-value precinct in its prime harbour front location. It is amplified by the complementary 
release of the Pyrmont Place Strategy and Economic Development Strategy, and NSW’s 24-
hour economy strategy (in which the Western Harbour can play a feature role in the “neon 
grid”). At the same time, there is a critical requirement for the alignment and co-ordination 
of these major programs of work, to ensure that the day-to-day amenity and liveability of 
the Precinct for residents is maximised. If these factors are systematically and strategically 
co-ordinated, the Western Harbour will become a Sydney signature shopfront, generating 
an additional $2bn per annum for the NSW economy (per PwC 2015), while providing one of 
Sydney’s most attractive places to live. A BID is the ideal mechanism to enable and drive 
this.  
 
The opportunity and approach described below is framed to balance demonstrating mature 
and substantial plans developed over several years, while still leaving appropriate 
opportunity for Governments to contribute to the final scope, governance and approach. 

11



 

 

Fulfilling the Western Harbour’s full potential has been hindered historically by the 
fragmentation of oversight responsibility.  This has arisen from multiple responsible 
authorities without a resourced and empowered vehicle to align their strategic direction.  
This situation has improved more recently, with the absorption of responsibilities of the 
BDA and Urban Growth for Barangaroo and the Sydney Fish Market respectively by 
Infrastructure NSW, the government agency co-ordination efforts of Place Management 
NSW, and the long-term planning and stakeholder engagement of the City of Sydney.  
Despite this, the Precinct lacks holistic strategic and operational oversight, and programs of 
work and priority initiatives have remained piecemeal. They have not been collectively 
supported, nor their implementation responsibilities shared or sustained by all 
stakeholders. State and local government-led efforts have failed to engage business 
effectively, and their programs of work have lacked strategic direction and co-ordination, a 
whole-of-precinct view, and potential private sector financial support as a result. 
 
In response to this, in December 2019 at a “Western Harbour Summit” event at the ICC 
Sydneyiii, NSW Government endorsed the Western Harbour Alliance and the Committee for 
Sydney’s recommendation to conduct a formal pilot of a BID for the Western Harbour 
precinct, including Pyrmont. The pilot was due to launch in July 2020, but due to the severe 
impact of COVID-19, was temporarily paused in April this year.  
 
At the end of July 2020, the draft Economic Strategy and draft Pyrmont Peninsula Place 
Strategy, both promoted the establishment of a BID to provide “a collaborative voice” and 
to improve amenities and public domain.  
 
The composition and the character of the Western Harbour position the Precinct ideally as a 
candidate for a BID trial. The Precinct is a multi-faceted district, housing a diverse set of 
community, business and public sector interests in a strategically significant, intensive 
business/tourism/residential harbour-front location. The Western Harbour has long been a 
place of continual development and change, with a progressive character well-suited to 
piloting new ideas in pursuit of continuous improvement.  
 
UTS, a Western Harbour landholder and Alliance member, has developed robust, systematic 
trial evaluation methodology, with the input of Treasury and other state and local 
government, and private sector stakeholders. This assessment framework is in a NSW 
Treasury-recognised format and is intended to enable the lessons of a Western Harbour BID 
trial to be captured systematically, to enable them to be applied to support potential 
further BID model implementations in relevant other precincts in NSW. 
 
The Western Harbour, like many urban planning precincts or zones has arbitrary boundaries 
(illustrated in the “Footprint and considerations on overlapping/adjacent jurisdictions” 
section on Page 7) that overlap with and span a range of jurisdictions. The BID vehicle 
respects and recognises this, offering a collectively resourced prioritising and co-ordinating 
capability, aligning a set of initiatives behind an understood and shared strategic 
vision/purpose for the place. The formal trial approach with robust evaluation methodology 
enables a low-risk/high-reward means of accelerating the Precinct optimisation agenda right 
now (when this is arguably most needed by NSW) while systematically capturing knowledge 
that can be applied to other relevant places in the future.  

12



 

 

Western Harbour BID Trial concept – opportunity and approach 
 
The schematic below provides an overview of the opportunity and planned approach for the 
trial of a Business Improvement District in the Western Harbour Precinct 
 

 
Figure 1 Western Harbour BID Trial Overview 

13



 

 

 
Program of work 
 
The initial BID trial will be a three-year program (with some flexibility to respond to 
programs and priorities of the private sector and Government participants). 
 
It will provide the near-term launch pad for the growth foreshadowed in the Pyrmont 
Economic Development Strategy (which has a 20-year horizon), and drive the immediate 
NSW COVID19 response by: 
 

• Prioritising, co-ordinating and providing strategic alignment for all relevant 
stakeholder plans and activities across the Precinct, including those identified by the 
Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy and Economic Development Strategy 

• Providing a clear collaborative voice for the Western Harbour 
• Increasing qualitative measures of experience and perceptions for residents, visitors 

and workers in the Precinct 
• Increasing awareness of the Precinct as a destination and of its key venues and 

attractions  
• Increasing Precinct visitation levels 
• Increasing dwell duration and expenditure. 

 
In addition, and specifically, it would deliver a range of initiatives, under three interrelated 
themes: 
 
1. Mobility: a connected and legible precinct 
2. Activation: a vibrant 24/7/365 precinct 
3. Promotion: a precinct recognised, sought-after and loved as a signature Sydney postcard 
 
These initiatives will include: 
 

• Co-ordination, prioritisation and optimisation of Alliance members’ programs of 
work (capital and operational; private and public sector) to ensure alignment with 
the Precinct vision and optimised resident and visitor experience 

• Analysis of consolidated visitor data, to identify/validate, quantify, scope and 
prioritise immediate mobility issues and opportunities 

• The design and implementation of bespoke within-Precinct mobility and connectivity 
solutions/enhancements (including wayfinding) in response 

• The creation of an “experience inventory” database for the Precinct, including 
consolidated events calendar (this to inform and help prioritise further new planned 
assets and experiences for the Precinct) 

• The co-ordinated presentation and promotion of Precinct experiences, packaged as 
connected itinerary options and/or extensions of primary visit-drivers 

• Establishment of collaborative planning arrangements to integrate event and 
experience planning and delivery 

• Development and launch of new major Sydney festival event anchored in the 
Precinct. 

 

14



 

 

 
 
 
 
Funding model 
 
The above program of work will be partly funded by BID, partly funded by “business as 
usual” Government department budgets (with the benefit of the strategic programming and 
prioritisation delivered through the BID), and partly funded as bi-product of the multi-billion 
dollar capital works projects planned for the Precinct. Resources will also be supplemented 
by a range of grants for which a BID entity may be eligible. 
 
 
BID Funding Model 
 
The elements of the program to be funded directly via contributions from the BID 
participants will substantially comprise planning, coordination, activation and promotion for 
the Precinct.  The participant program co-ordination, people mass movement analysis, 
experience audit and design, precinct presentation and promotion, and activation/event 
content co-ordination and enhancement are examples.  
 
Funds will be sourced on a voluntary basis from the major stakeholders located in the 
Precinct. The principle relationships will be between the BID organisation and the major 
operators/landlords. Major landlords will opt in on behalf of their organisations, and their 
tenants, based on their evaluation of the program.  
 
A “rate card” is being finalized, to enable a fair and consistent distribution of the 
contributions. This will be based on floor space under management together with 
consideration of the nature, function and purpose of the organization concerned.  
 
For example, a commercial landlord with 200,000m2 under management may contribute $1 
per m2 per annum. That landlord may levy 50% of that contribution onto their tenants. Such 
an arrangement might reflect that landlord’s equal recognition of both the immediate term 
commercial value of the program (visitor numbers, dwell time and expenditure which their 
tenants benefit from) and the medium term strategic value of the program (enhanced 
perception and profile of the Western Harbour driving value into their assets). 
 
Tenants may be levied based on a formula developed with their landlord, to recognise the 
size, nature and capacity of each tenant’s business.  
 
For stand-alone major operators with relatively large footprints (e.g. ICC Sydney, The Star, 
ANMM) an alternate turnover-based model may be applied in parallel, tiered to reflect the 
size of their businesses. (This is the approach used in some BIDs overseas, for example, the 
North Bank bid in central London). Smaller turnover and/or not-for-profit organisations 
might be levied, say, $1,000 per annum, $25,000 for medium and $100,000 for large. 
 
 

15



 

 

Funding from business as usual budgets of Government departments/agencies 
 
The program of work anticipated by the BID and including that implied by the Pyrmont 
Peninsula Place Strategy would reasonably expect to draw on the regular budgets of 
relevant State government departments and agencies, and local government. Capital works 
to improve connectivity/legibility and wayfinding, or enhance the amenity of the public 
domain (including for example, the new pedestrian connections and upgrades of existing 
streetscapes, active transport corridors, wider footpaths and cycle lanes, new crossings, 
ramps and lifts at existing barriers to movement – all recommended in the draft Place 
Strategy) would normally be provided for by both state and local government. The role of 
the BID mechanism will be to strategically contextualise, prioritise and advance schedule 
demands on these budgets. The BID trial evaluation capability may also support business 
cases for capital expenditure if required. 
 
Funding as bi product of planned private sector developments 
 
Major projects in planning across the precinct offer further significant opportunities to 
contribute to the value, appeal, functionality and user experience of the Western Harbour. 
These capital projects incorporate significant proposed enhancements to public spaces 
within those development footprints, and improvement of the adjacent and connecting 
public domain. The Place Strategy references the delivery of new connections and open 
spaces, activation of street frontages, enhanced shopfronts, streetscape and public space 
programs, contributing to transformation of the Precinct into a high amenity pedestrian 
environment. The role of the BID mechanism in this regard will be to strategically 
contextualise, prioritise, co-ordinate and schedule these development programs, and 
demands on their program budgets, to maximize the benefits of strategic alignment and 
collaboration, and minimize the negative impacts of the developments on the visitor 
experience in the meantime. 
 
Governance and Government participation 
 
The BID Trial will be managed by a dedicated incorporated entity, Sydney Western Harbour 
Business Improvement District Limited. It will be overseen by a Board of directors. The 
company is expected to provide membership classes for business members, as well as public 
sector and community organisation membership. The company mechanics under 
development recognise the difficulty (impossibility in some cases) of public sector 
representatives joining a corporate board, and therefore the critical interface between the 
private sector members and the public sector participants is planned to be administered via 
a “BID Steering Committee” which will respect and sit between the Company on one hand, 
and the State Government and City of Sydney’s own governance machinery on the other. 
Indicatively, the BID Steering Committee could comprise the following members, 
representing: 
 

• BID Company directors and CEO (representing major and 
smaller investing participants) 

• City of Sydney 
• Community   

• State Government 
o Whole-of-government oversight/co-ordination 
o Relevant landowners/program stakeholder agencies 

• Independent chair 

16



 

 

Under this arrangement, the City of Sydney and the local community would have a 
dedicated place on the Steering Committee. State Government representation would be 
affected via representatives of the major public sector participants (e.g. Place Management 
NSW) and a dedicated State Government oversight position which could be filled by 
Treasury’s Precincts lead.  
 
Dedicated Advisory Committees or Working Groups are planned to oversee the primary 
planks of the BID’s program of work (e.g. Activation and Promotion; Mobility and 
Connectivity; Program and Development Co-ordination). Relevant stakeholders, including 
local community representatives, will be invited to join the working groups, which will plan, 
prioritise and communicate the BID programs of work. 
 
State and local government may have other preferences in terms of the most appropriate 
and effective interfacing arrangements, and these are options that remain open and can be 
designed to suit the government preferences and the needs of the BID organisation and 
trial. 
 
 
 
Footprint and considerations on overlapping/adjacent jurisdictions 
 
The footprint contemplated for the Western Harbour Precinct BID trial is represented in the 
below map developed with the assistance of Steven Hillier, the Research Manager, Strategy 
and Urban Analytics at the City of Sydney. The map responds to the need for the BID to have 
a defined geographical footprint but is not intended to be rigidly set in stone. Adjacent 
complementary experience providers wishing to be involved could be included, while the 
voluntary nature of the trial means that some parties within the defined footprint may opt 
out. For example, the lease holders for Wharves 7 & 8 at Walsh Bay have sought to 
participate and are welcome.  
 
Over time, the BID approach, if deemed effective, and the footprint could be extended – 
potentially to include other adjacent compatible precincts. The key criteria is commonality 
of interest amongst participants in the defined and understood strategic vision or purpose 
of the Precinct. 
 

17



 

 

 
Figure 2 Western Harbour BID Geographical Footprint (indicative) 

 
  

18



 

 

The context plan included in the draft Place Strategy is also provided below for ease of 
reference.  
 

 
 

Figure 3 Western Harbour, Pyrmont and the Innovation Corridor – draft Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy 
 

Clearly, the Western Harbour, like many urban planning precincts and “corridors” has 
arbitrary boundaries that overlap with other zones and span a range of jurisdictions. A 
rationale for both the adapted BID model and for the trial, is to determine the effectiveness 
of this mechanism as a means of prioritising, enabling and accelerating strategic place-
optimising programs in complex, high-potential changing urban planning and management 
environments.  These complex and evolving circumstances are a key factor supporting the 
implementation of a BID Trial in the Western Harbour at this time (rather than a cause for 
deferral or further delay). 

19



 

 

Approach to implementation 
 
Following formal NSW Government commitment and financial support in early December, the Alliance has progressed necessary planning to 
establish the corporate entity to manage the program and the trial, and to program the approach to implementation. 
 
Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Ltd (SWHBID Co) is the newly created not for profit company limited by guarantee, 
established solely for the purpose of establishing and managing the BID Trial and its program of work in the Western Harbour. The company 
was incorporated on January 27th, 2021. Its constitution is provided separately as required in this application. 
 
The indicative BID Trial implementation schedule follows at Figure 4 below. 
 
The indicative FY2021 BID Trial implementation budget follows at Figure 5 below. 
 

 

20



Figure 4 Western Harbour BID Implementation program and schedule (indicative) 

The image part with relationship ID rId17 was not found in the file.

Figure 4 Western Harbour BID Implementation program and schedule (indicative)

21



Figure 5 Western Harbour BID Implementation program budget (indicative) 

22



 

 

 
Notes: 

i Sydney Western Harbour Business Improvement District Ltd (SWHBID Co) is a newly created not for profit company limited by guarantee, 
established solely for the purpose of establishing and managing the BID Trial and its program of work in the Western Harbour. The foundation 
board of the new SWHBID Co comprises eight (8) previous participants of the Western Harbour Alliance. The role of the Alliance is expected 
now to be superseded by the SWHBID Co, although the broader group of former Alliance members may meet from time to time to share views 
and exchange information. 
 
ii The Western Harbour Alliance is a coalition of major stakeholders across the Western Harbour. Participating organisations have included 
Accor/Sofitel Darling Harbour, Australian National Maritime Museum, Google, Celestino, Sydney Fish Market, Markhams, UTS, Lendlease, 
Greaton Development, ICC Sydney, Mirvac, The Star and TransDev. The Alliance is supported by the Accommodation Association of Australia, 
Committee for Sydney and Sydney Business Chamber. It was originally convened in 2015, in response to opportunities and challenges 
emerging from several billion dollars worth of then-imminent prospective investment across the Western Harbour, and the desire to optimise 
the precinct as it developed, as a multi-dimensional but holistic strategic asset for Sydney and New South Wales. Since it was more formally 
reconstituted in 2018, the Alliance has commissioned two pieces of substantive planning: a foundation vision and strategy prepared by 
Roberts Day in 2018-19; and a draft Business Plan for the program of work to be undertaken under a proposed Business Improvement District 
governance trial, in 2019. 
 
The Alliance’s vision for the Precinct as articulated and pursued in those documents is:  
 
For the Western Harbour to realise its potential as a key strategic and economic asset for Sydney and NSW, by becoming a truly world class 
waterfront. The Western Harbour will provide the best of contemporary Sydney experiences in one place, as a fully integrated, officially 
designated “Sydney-signature” Entertainment and Tourism Precinct, loved by locals and visitors alike. 
 
iii Keynote speakers at the December 2019 Western Harbour Summit event included the Lord Mayor of Sydney, the NSW Treasurer, and the 
NSW Planning Minister. 

 

23



Attachment B 

Western Harbour Business Improvement 

District Evaluation 

24



 

ADDENDUM: 

Western Harbour Business Improvement District 

Evaluation 

 

Overview 

The BID Trial will include a rigorous program evaluation to assess the success of the trial. 

Evaluation is a vital part of any project or program. It provides a common basis to align stakeholder 

expectations, and for understanding and defining what success looks like, as well as a systematic 

and objective way to assess effectiveness, efficiency, appropriateness and sustainability in working 

towards desired outcomes. 

The Institute for Public Policy and Governance at UTS (a Western Harbour landholder and Alliance 

member) has already developed a robust, systematic trial evaluation methodology, consistent with 

NSW Treasury evaluation guidelines and latest evaluation best practice.  

This includes a detailed Draft Monitoring and Evaluation Framework, developed with the input 

of NSW government and private sector stakeholders. This sets out a proposed Program Logic and 

Evaluation Framework identifying BID outcomes and potential measures and data sources to 

support the evaluation.  

These will be further tested and refined with key government and Alliance stakeholders in parallel 

with implementation to produce a Final Evaluation Plan. This will include seeking alignment with 

wider NSW Government strategic plans and outcomes for the Precinct, as articulated in the 

Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy and Economic Development Strategy.  

As well as providing an effective tool for measuring the success of the BID Trial outcomes, a key 

goal for the evaluation is to develop evidence and demonstrate the effectiveness of a BID model 

for potential wider application to other precincts in NSW.  

Evaluation approach 

The evaluation methodology is using a results-based accountability approach – a data driven, step-

by-step process to identify the best means for achieving desired results. It is an effective, goal-

oriented and practical means of rapidly determining the what, why, how and when – together with 

the ‘how will we know we are getting there’. 

The approach is being implemented in parallel with the BID Trial implementation process and 

starts with defining the desired results/outcomes – whether customers/a community are better off 

as a result – and works backwards, through a collaborative action-planning process. 

Performance measures and indicators are then developed, focused on a limited number of priority 

indicators that represent where the program is attempting to ‘turn the curve’. These are used as an 

essential tool to assess: 

 How much did we do? 

 How well did we do it? 

 Is anyone better off? 

25

https://www.uts.edu.au/research-and-teaching/our-research/institute-public-policy-and-governance


 

Defining and measuring BID Trial success 

In the context of the Alliance’s vision and discussions with Alliance members and stakeholders, the 

following ‘headline’ outcomes have been developed as the focus of success for the Alliance’s 

efforts: 

 

The ultimate impacts that the BID Trial is working towards: 

Outcome 1: 
Ensure the Western Harbour Precinct’s status as NSW’s second largest 

economy 

Outcome 2: 
Establish the Western Harbour as an internationally significant entertainment 

and tourism Precinct 

Outcome 3: Deliver a world-class, holistic experience for locals and visitors 

 

In the context of a time-limited (e.g. three-year) BID Trial program, these headline outcomes 

represent ‘impacts’. That is, they are outcomes that it seeks to contribute to – but, as there are so 

many other factors outside the program’s control that may also affect them, the program cannot be 

solely accountable if they are not realised. They are ‘downstream’ from the program’s direct effects 

– but are the ultimate focus of the program, and how it might link with other programs trying to 

achieve the same impact. 

Based on these three ‘impact’ outcomes, a Draft Program Logic (see below) has been developed 

to map the interim outcomes, outputs, key activities and inputs that together constitute the key 

elements of the proposed BID Trial, and demonstrate how these will contribute to the intended 

longer term outcomes and impacts. 

As the BID governance model itself is both a cross-cutting enabler of the Trial outcomes and also 

something to be evaluated in its own right, the BID governance has been captured as a separate 

strand at the base of the logic model as a distinct part of implementation to be evaluated. This will 

also help to ensure that the assessment of the merits of the BID governance model can be 

effectively separated out, where appropriate, from evaluating wider outcomes.  

In addition to the Program Logic, UTS has developed a set of key evaluation questions for the Trial 

together with a suite of over 115 existing or potential performance measures and indicators that 

are relevant and could be used to support the Trial evaluation, as well as identifying potential 

primary and secondary data sources for the evaluation.  

These details are set out in a Draft Monitoring and Evaluation Framework document developed by 

UTS and will be refined to determine the priority evaluation measures, and associated evidence-

gathering and analysis plans, in a Final Evaluation Plan. 

 

 

26



 

BID Trial – Draft Program Logic 

 

THREE YEAR BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT TRIAL POST-TRIAL

Inputs Outputs / Activities

• Western Harbour 

Alliance Vision

• Pyrmont Peninsula 

Place Strategy

• Economic Development 

Strategy

• Other strategic planning 

strategies and 

documents (e.g. Greater 

Sydney Region Plan, 

existing night-time, 

retail, culture and 

health/wellness 

strategies) 

• Existing Alliance 

governance, 

relationships and 

collaborations 

• Individual Alliance 

member engagement, 

investment and in-kind 

support

• State and local 

government 

engagement, advisory, 

investment and in-kind 

support

• Existing publicly-

available, member-held 

or otherwise obtainable 

information and data 

sources

Immediate outcomes Intermediate outcomes
Long term 
outcomes

Ultimate outcomes

• Strategic alignment and integration of 
BID Vision and state and local 

economic development and place 

strategies and plans
• Incorporate and implement the 

Precinct’s part of a coordinated night-
time economy plan for the City

• Conduct local business baseline 

surveys and data analysis
• Conduct Precinct floor space and 

usage mapping

• Key stakeholders are all aligned on the vision 
for the Precinct’s economic development 

• Increased awareness of the BID Trial 

amongst stakeholders and local businesses
• A robust, comprehensive baseline evidence 

base on the Precinct economy and 
businesses is in place

• A collaborative, integrated approach to 

planning is in place and operating

• The Precinct achieves enhanced economic 
status

• Reduced red tape for businesses operating in 

the Precinct
• The Precinct has a successful and sustainable 

24-hour economy
• The total number/turnover of businesses in 

the Precinct has increased 

• The Precinct’s economy is buoyed by 
increased visitor numbers, spending and 

overnight stays
• Employment in the Precinct has increased

• The Precinct is a major 
economic hub

• The Precinct creates over $20 

billion in economic output by 
2036

• The Precinct’s economy 
creates 10,000 new jobs by 

2036

• The Precinct attracts significant, 
sustained inward investment 

OUTCOME 1:
Ensure the 

Precinct’s status 

as NSW’s second 

largest economy

• Develop and implement a promotion 
and marketing plan for the Precinct

• Precinct-wide communications 

“channel” audit
• Develop and implement a Tourism 

plan
• Develop and launch signature “Sydney 

Harbour of Life” Festival

• Develop and implement collaborative 
planning and community engagement 

strategy on the BID/Precinct
• Conduct community/user/visitor 

surveys and data analysis

• A Western Harbour Brand narrative is in place 
and awareness of the Precinct as an 

entertainment and tourism destination has 

increased
• Stakeholders have a cohesive and 

collaborative approach to promoting and 
marketing the Precinct to increase public and 

international awareness

• The total number of tourism, hospitality and 
leisure businesses/operators in the Precinct 

has increased 

• Visitor numbers from priority markets have 
increased

• Harbour Walk is upgraded in accordance with 
the Place Strategy

• The Precinct is seen as a clean, safe and 

secure environment for all, day and night

• The Precinct is a major 
entertainment and tourism hub

• The Precinct has global profile 

and national and international 
recognition as a world class 

waterfront
• The Precinct is attracting more 

international and interstate 

tourists, and retaining them in 
Sydney for longer

OUTCOME 2: 
Establish the 

Western Harbour 

as an 

internationally-

significant 

entertainment and 

tourism Precinct

• Analyse visitor data, to identify mobility 
issues and opportunities 

• Design bespoke within-Precinct 

mobility and connectivity 
solutions/enhancements

• Develop and implement a Mobility 
Develop Wayfinding and Cycling 

Strategy

• Develop and implement an Activation 
Program

• Create co-ordinated events calendar 
and “experience inventory”

• Improve public amenities and 

waterfront structures/activation

• Increased number and improved coordination 
of activation activities and events

• Precinct experiences are promoted by being 

packaged as connected itinerary options 
and/or extensions of primary visit-driver

• Priority public realm improvements are 
identified and are being implemented

• Priority mobility service and connectivity 

improvements are identified, with funded 
plans in place to address them

• Stakeholders are aligned in their support and 
advocacy for Pyrmont Metro 

• Satisfaction among local community and 
businesses has increased

• Satisfaction among visitors with Precinct 

experiences – and desire to return – has 
increased

• Visitor dwell times and average number of 
activities per visitor has increased

• The Precinct has an enhanced, more 

accessible and legible environment
• Priority mobility/connectivity issues in the 

Precinct have been resolved – and digital 
mobility solutions (e.g. on-demand services) 

are being rolled out

• The Precinct is a fully-activated, 
vibrant and world-class place 

that operates 24/7, 365 days a 

year
• The Precinct is perceived as a 

great place to live, work and 
visit

• The Precinct is an attractive 

destination that offers diverse 
experiences for local residents, 

workers, businesses and 
domestic and foreign tourists

OUTCOME 3:
Deliver a world-

class, holistic 

experience for 

locals and visitors

• Develop BID governance and 
determine membership 

• Deliver modelling and determine 

funding model for BID Trial
• Attract a critical mass of Precinct 

businesses and operators to 
participate in the BID 

• BID M&E Framework is established 

and implemented
• Confirmed BID member contributions 

in terms of funding, data and in-kind 
support

• Fully functioning BID governance model 
established and operating

• Revenue stream (e.g. levy) in place and 

achieves revenue-raising goals
• BID Trial work program confirmed, with 

funding, and implementation underway
• BID model achieves desired levels of 

participation from Precinct businesses and 

neighbouring Precincts are engaged
• BID members remain committed contributors 

and actively engaged in implementation

• The BID governance model is perceived – by 
members and other stakeholders – as an 

appropriate and effective vehicle for enabling 

collaboration in achieving short and longer 
term outcomes

• BID members are highly satisfied with the 
Trial’s success

• Funding raised and initiatives delivered by the 

Trial has delivered tangible progress and 
impact in improving the Precinct and unlocking 

its current and future economic potential

• BID Trial outcomes 
demonstrate that the Business 

Improvement District model is a 

proven mechanism for enabling 
places to unlock their full 

economic and social potential.

27



Attachment C 

Western Harbour Precinct - Prospectus  

 

 

 

28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 2020/21 Quarter 2 Review - Delivery Program 2017-2021
	Attachment A -  Financial Results Summary
	Att A - Current CAPITAL TEMPLATE FY 2021 Q2
	Attachment A
	Att A - Q2 Current Income and Expenses Budget Review Statement (delete unused tabs)
	Attachment A
	0 Attachment A 1
	2 Att A - Q2 Corp Plan by Activity updated (002)
	4 Att A - Q2 Contingency report 2020-21 (rebuild)
	5 Q2 RAO (Unsigned)


	Att A - Q2 Contingency report 2020-21 (rebuild).pdf
	Contingency report


	Attachment B - Capital Expenditure Financial Results
	0 Attachment B 1
	1 Att B - Capital 2020 2021 (002)
	2 Att B - $5M report_Q2 (002)
	3 Q2 Budget Adjustments - reformat

	Attachment C - Second Quarter Operational Plan Report 2020/21
	Cover Page
	Final Consolidated Operational Plan Q02_2021

	Attachment D - Second Quarter Supplementary Report 2020/21
	1. Cover Page
	2. Legal Matters
	3. Grants and Sponsorship
	4. International Travel
	5. Contract Order Details

	Attachment E - Environmental Sustainability Progress Report
	1. Cover Page
	Green Report - July-December 2~Final - For Council - 29012021
	Message from the CEO
	City of Sydney Operations
	1. Our environmental targets
	Local Government Area

	2. Low carbon city
	City of Sydney goes 100 per cent renewable
	City of Sydney is a founding member of BRC-A
	Net zero and 100 per cent renewable energy commitments
	City of Sydney Operations
	How we do it
	Relevant links - Climate Active
	Our operational targets
	How we are tracking
	Energy consumption data
	Environmental Management System (EMS)
	SMART - Sustainability Management and
	Reporting Tool
	Building upgrades
	Fleet
	Project updates
	Solar PV and energy storage

	The local government area
	Take action

	Advocacy
	Advocacy
	LED streetlights
	Local government area targets
	Advocacy
	Advocacy
	Relevant links
	3. Water sensitive city
	Our operational targets
	City of Sydney operations
	Rainwater harvesting and reuse at Alexandra Canal Depot
	Project updates
	Water consumption in parks
	Smart watering project
	Improving our data

	Projects updates
	The local government area
	Estimated contribution of initiatives
	Stormwater quality improvements
	What we’ve already done
	MUSIC model

	What is potable water?
	What is non-potable water?
	Local government area targets
	4. Climate resilient city
	Climate Emergency Response
	Lead by example
	Support climate emergency priorities through planning
	Work with and prepare our communities
	Build momentum and advocate

	Resilient Sydney
	Climate Adaptation Strategy
	Impacts for Sydney
	Why it is so important to act now
	Sydney’s Air Quality Monitoring
	Relevant links

	5. Zero waste city
	City of Sydney Operations
	How we are tracking
	The local government area
	Residential Resource Recovery Updates
	Relevant links
	City of Sydney Operations

	Advocacy
	NSW 20 Year Waste Strategy
	6. Active and connected city
	Fleet emissions
	Telematics
	Electric vehicle news
	Active transport
	The local government area
	Walking
	Cycling
	Public transport
	Car sharing
	Relevant links

	Our Operational Targets
	Project updates
	7. Green and cool city
	City of Sydney Operations
	What we are doing
	How we are tracking
	Relevant Links
	Urban canopy
	* Canopy cover is measured every two to five years. 2013 data was made available in 2016, with new measurement undertaken in early 2020, and the data shown in the table above.
	Relevant links
	Urban ecology
	Relevant links
	Sydney Park Architizer A+ Awards
	Community gardens and community planting
	Sydney City Farm
	Relevant links
	Green roofs and walls
	Relevant links

	8. Delivering to the         Community
	Throughout the period the City has continued to support our residents and business community to improve environmental performance, including:
	Business sectors – Program update
	Sustainable Office Sector Plan
	Better Buildings Partnership
	CitySwitch Green Office NATIONAL
	Relevant links
	CitySwitch Green Office SYDNEY
	Making Sydney a Sustainable Destination Plan
	Sustainable Destination Partnership
	Community and Business – Program update
	Renewable Energy Program
	Building Tune-up Program
	Water Savings Partnership
	Love Food Sydney Pilot

	Love Food Sydney
	Environmental Grants

	Residential Sector – Program update
	Residential Apartment Sustainability Plan
	9. Glossary
	10. Appendix 1: Data management plan
	11. Appendix 2: Environment Policy


	Attachment F - Second Quarter Community Recovery Plan Report 2020/21
	Quarterly Report #2
	Where are we now?
	State of the city update
	Note regarding this data
	Confidence


	Summary of the plan
	What we have done
	Action Area 1
	Safely manage public places and streets to support community life and business
	Action Area 2
	Provide equitable access to the essentials for safe and comfortable daily life for all residents
	Action Area 3
	Strengthen community cohesion to build the resilience of local communities
	Action Area 4
	Protect and empower the cultural sector by prioritising the role of local creativity, cultural spaces, talent and knowledge
	Action Area 5
	Rebuild the visitor economy through promotion of our vibrant and safe city with activated main streets and nightlife
	Action Area 6
	Support businesses and organisations to innovate and adapt, so that industries can evolve and grow



	3 Investments Held as at 31 December 2020
	Attachment A - Register of Investments and Cash as at 31 December 2020
	ATTACHMENT A COVER - INVESTMENTS_December 2020
	Register of Investments and Cash as at 31  December 2020

	Attachment B - Investment Performance as at 31 December 2020
	ATTACHMENT B COVER - INVESTMENTS_December 2020
	Investment Graphs


	4 Investments Held as at 31 January 2021
	Attachment A - Register of Investments and Cash as at 31 January 2021
	ATTACHMENT A COVER - INVESTMENTS_January 2021
	Register of Investments and Cash as at 31 January 2021

	Attachment B - Investment Performance as at 31 January 2021
	ATTACHMENT B COVER - INVESTMENTS_January 2021
	Investment Graphs


	5 Land Reclassification - Harold Park, Forest Lodge
	Attachment A - Resolution of Council - 12 May 2014 - Land Classification - Harold Park, Forest Lodge
	Attachment B - Identification Plan - Harold Park, Forest Lodge
	Attachment B - NMP
	Attachment B - NMP

	Attachment C - Resolution of Council - 14 December 2020 - Land Reclassification - Harold Park, Forest Lodge

	6 Land Classification - 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria
	Attachment A - Identification Plan
	Attachment 1 for Land Classification - 25 Mandible Street, Alexandria
	Doc4


	7 Affordable Housing Opportunity - City Owned Land
	Attachment A - Identification Plans
	Attachment B - Commercial Considerations (Confidential)
	Attachment C - Expression of Interest - Bridge Housing (Confidential)

	8 Exemption from Tender - IT Maintenance and Support Contract
	Attachment A - IT Maintenance and Support Agreement (Confidential)

	9 Ad Hoc Grant - Western Harbour Precinct - Business Improvement District Trial
	Attachment A - Western Harbour Precinct - Business Improvement District Trial
	Attachment B - Western Harbour Business Improvement District Evaluation
	Attachment C - Western Harbour Precinct - Prospectus




